

## A MIXED-INTEGER LINEAR PROGRAMMING APPROACH TO THE AC OPTIMAL POWER FLOW IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS

Rafael de Sá Ferreira

Dissertação de Mestrado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Engenharia Elétrica, COPPE, da Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, como parte dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do título de Mestre em Engenharia Elétrica.

Orientador: Carmen Lucia Tancredo Borges

Rio de Janeiro Março de 2013

## A MIXED-INTEGER LINEAR PROGRAMMING APPROACH TO THE AC OPTIMAL POWER FLOW IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS

Rafael de Sá Ferreira

DISSERTAÇÃO SUBMETIDA AO CORPO DOCENTE DO INSTITUTO ALBERTO LUIZ COIMBRA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO E PESQUISA DE ENGENHARIA (COPPE) DA UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO DE JANEIRO COMO PARTE DOS REQUISITOS NECESSÁRIOS PARA A OBTENÇÃO DO GRAU DE MESTRE EM CIÊNCIAS EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA.

Examinada por:

Prof. Carmen Lucia Tancredo Borges, D.Sc.

Prof. Djalma Mosqueira Falcão, Ph.D.

Eng. Mario Veiga Ferraz Pereira, D.Sc.

RIO DE JANEIRO, RJ - BRASIL MARÇO DE 2013 Ferreira, Rafael de Sá

A mixed-integer linear programming approach to the AC optimal power flow in distribution systems/ Rafael de Sá Ferreira. Rio de Janeiro: UFRJ/COPPE, 2013.

XVIII, 245 p.: il.; 29,7 cm.

Orientador: Carmen Lucia Tancredo Borges

Dissertação (mestrado) – UFRJ/ COPPE/ Programa

de Engenharia Elétrica, 2013.

Referencias Bibliográficas: p. 171-179.

1. Sistemas de distribuição. 2. Fluxo de potência ótimo. 3. Programação inteira mista. I. Borges, Carmen Lucia Tancredo. II. Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, COPPE, Programa de Engenharia Elétrica. III. Título.

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

Gostaria de expressar minha gratidão a todos que me apoioaram, direta ou indiretamente, na elaboração desta dissertação: Aureo Ferreira, Tiago Ferreira, Maria Izabel Sá, Beatriz Amorim, Carmen Borges, Mario Pereira, Luiz Augusto Barroso, Martha Carvalho, Luiz Mauricio Thomé, André Dias, Sergio Granville, Rafael Kelman, Lujan Latorre, Raphael Chabar, Gerson Oliveira, Luiz Carlos da Costa, Fernanda Thomé, Priscila Lino, Silvio Binato, Djalma Falcão, Wadaed da Costa, Alessandro Moreira, Maria Helena Vale, Antônio Braga, Daniele Oliveira, Ronald Voelzke, Andreas Ettlinger, Ralph Hendriks, Guntram Schultz, Estevão Cruz, Antônio José Lima, Vitor Haase, Raul Duarte, Gabriel Cunha e todos os familiares, amigos, colegas de trabalho e de estudo que merecem sinceros agradecimentos.

Resumo da Dissertação apresentada à COPPE/UFRJ como parte dos requisitos necessários para a obtenção do grau de Mestre em Ciências (M.Sc.)

#### UMA ABORDAGEM DE PROGRAMAÇÃO INTEIRA MISTA PARA O FLUXO DE POTÊNCIA ÓTIMO CA EM REDES DE DISTRIBUIÇÃO

Rafael de Sá Ferreira

Março/2013

Orientador: Carmen Lucia Tancredo Borges

Programa: Engenharia Elétrica

O problema de fluxo de potência ótimo em redes de corrente alternada (FPO-CA) está dentre as ferramentas computacionais necessárias para o suporte à tomada de decisão no contexto do planejamento da operação e expansão de sistemas de distribuição. Nesta dissertação, emprega-se técnicas de linearização e convexificação para obter uma reformulação da versão não-linear do FPO-CA como um problema de programação inteira linear mista (PLIM). A formulação proposta: (i) captura o comportamento não-linear do sistema de distribuição através de aproximação cuja acurácia pode ser arbitrada pelo usuário; (ii) dá suporte a decisões discretas e contínuas; (iii) é construída com base em variáveis convencionalmente utilizadas para a descrição do comportamento da rede elétrica, o que resulta em flexibilidade na definição de funções objetivo e estende a aplicabilidade da formulação proposta a um conjunto elevado de problemas; e (iv) pode ser tratada por meio de pacotes comerciais para a solução de problemas de programação inteira mista, podendo-se obter soluções ótimas globais. Características físicas específicas de sistemas de distribuição são extensamente exploradas para obter-se uma formulação PLIM que concilie acurácia e desempenho computacional. A aplicabilidade e as características principais da formulação proposta são demonstradas com o auxílio de estudos de caso.

Abstract of Dissertation presented to COPPE/UFRJ as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (M.Sc.).

#### A MIXED-INTEGER LINEAR PROGRAMMING APPROACH TO THE AC OPTIMAL POWER FLOW IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS

Rafael de Sá Ferreira

#### March/2013

Advisor: Carmen Lucia Tancredo Borges

Department: Electrical Engineering

The alternating current (AC) optimal power flow (ACOPF) is among the computational tools required to support decision making in distribution system operations and expansion planning. In this dissertation, linearization and convexification techniques are employed in order to reformulate the non-linear version of the ACOPF for distribution systems, and a mixed-integer linear programming reformulation of this problem is proposed. The proposed formulation: (i) captures the non-linear behavior of the distribution system with an arbitrarily accurate approximation, with attention to the AC nature of the distribution system; (ii) supports both continuous and discrete decisions; (iii) is constructed with basis on conventional physical variables that describe network behavior, yielding significant flexibility in the definition of objective functions and extending its applicability to a number of different problems; and (iv) can be solved to global optimality with the use of widely employed and commercially available mixed-integer linear optimization solvers. Specific physical characteristics of distribution systems are extensively explored for achieving a MILP formulation that conciliates the desired attributes of accuracy and computational performance. The applicability and the main characteristics of the proposed formulation are showcased with help of several case studies.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

| NOMENCLATURE  | XII   |
|---|-------|
| Indices and sets  | . xii |
| Parameters  | xiii  |
| Continuous decision variables   | xvi   |
| Binary decision variables   | viii  |
| 1 INTRODUCTION  | 1     |
| 1.1 Background and motivation   | 1     |
| 1.2         Bibliographic review  | 3     |
| 1.3 Objective and contributions of this dissertation                    | . 10  |
| 1.4 Organization of the dissertation                                    | . 12  |
| 2 THE (NON-LINEAR) ACOPF IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM OPERATIO                | ONS   |
| AND EXPANSION PLANNING  | . 14  |
| 2.1 Relevant characteristics of distribution systems                    | . 14  |
| 2.1.1 Shunt susceptance of overhead distribution lines                  | . 15  |
| 2.1.2 Resistance-to-reactance ratio                                     | . 15  |
| 2.1.3 Radiality constraints and reconfiguration                         | . 16  |
| 2.1.4 Unbalance between phases  | . 17  |
| 2.2 The ACOPF for distribution systems                                  | . 18  |
| 2.2.1 Constraints: modeling electrical behavior and enforcing operation | ting  |
| limits  | . 18  |
| 2.2.1.1 Kirchhoff's Laws  | . 19  |
| 2.2.1.2 Generators  | 20    |
| 2.2.1.3 Loads   | 22    |
| 2.2.1.4 Operating limits  | 24    |
| 2.2.1.5 Voltage reference buses   | 26    |
| 2.2.1.6 Slack buses and buses without generators and/or loads           | 27    |
| 2.2.1.7 Radiality constraints   | 28    |
| 2.2.2 Objective functions for selected distribution system operations   | and   |
| expansion planning applications   | 29    |
| 2.2.2.1 Minimization of costs of load shedding                          | 30    |
| 2.2.2.2 Minimization of costs of curtailment of non-controll generation |       |

|   | 2.2.2. | .3   | Minimization of generation costs                                   | . 33  |
|---|--------|------|--|-------|
|   | 2.2.2. | .4   | Minimization of costs of power imports                             | . 33  |
|   | 2.2.2. | .5   | Minimization of costs of ohmic losses                              | . 35  |
|   | 2.2.2. | .6   | Minimization of costs of reinforcements to the distribution system | . 36  |
|   | 2.2.2. | .7   | Minimization of costs of capacitor placement                       | . 37  |
|   | 2.2.2. | .8   | Minimization of circuit switching costs                            | . 38  |
| 3 | SELECT | ГED  | TECHNIQUES FOR THE REFORMULATION OF NON-LINE.                      | AR,   |
|   | NON-C  | ONV  | YEX PROBLEMS AS MIXED-INTEGER LINEAR PROGRAMS                      | . 40  |
|   | 3.1    | Dis  | junctive constraints   | . 41  |
|   | 3.2    | Spe  | ecial ordered sets of type 2                                       | . 44  |
|   | 3.3    | Cor  | nvex envelopes for bilinear products                               | . 49  |
| 4 | THE M  | 1ILP | REFORMULATION OF THE ACOPF FOR DISTRIBUTI                          | [ON   |
|   | SYSTE  | MS   |  | . 53  |
|   | 4.1    | Ma   | in characteristics of the proposed formulation                     | . 54  |
|   | 4.1.1  | Rec  | tangular coordinates, current-voltage formulation of Kirchho       | off's |
|   |        | law  | S  | . 54  |
|   | 4.1.2  | Use  | of integer decision variables                                      | . 55  |
|   | 4.1.3  | Trea | atment of non-convexities and non-linearities                      | . 56  |
|   | 4.1.4  | Fina | al formulation as a MILP   | . 57  |
|   | 4.2    | Ma   | thematical formulation   | . 58  |
|   | 4.2.1  | Con  | straints: modeling electrical behavior and enforcing opera         | ting  |
|   |        | lim  | its  | . 58  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .1   | Kirchhoff's Laws   | . 58  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .2   | Generation   | . 60  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .3   | Loads  | . 67  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .4   | Operating limits   | . 71  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .5   | Voltage reference buses  | . 75  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .6   | Slack buses and buses without generators and/or loads              | . 76  |
|   | 4.2.1. | .7   | Radiality constraints  | . 76  |
|   | 4.2.2  | Obj  | ective functions for selected distribution system operations       | and   |
|   |        | exp  | ansion planning applications                                       | . 85  |
|   | 4.2.2. | .1   | Minimization of costs of load shedding                             | . 85  |
|   | 4.2.2. | .2   | Minimization of curtailment of non-controllable generation         | . 85  |

| 4.2.2.3    | Minimization of generation costs  | 6 |
|------------|---|---|
| 4.2.2.4    | Minimization of costs of power imports                                      | 6 |
| 4.2.2.5    | Minimization of costs of ohmic losses                                       | 9 |
| 4.2.2.6    | Minimization of costs of reinforcements to the distribution system. 9-      | 4 |
| 4.2.2.7    | Minimization of costs of capacitor placement                                | 4 |
| 4.2.2.8    | Minimization of circuit switching costs                                     | 4 |
| 4.3 De     | efinition of parameters for linearization/convexification constraints 9     | 4 |
| 4.3.1 Dis  | sjunctive constants   | 8 |
| 4.3.1.1    | Kirchhoff's laws for branches whose status can be altered9                  | 8 |
| 4.3.1.2    | Loads   | 9 |
| 4.3.1.3    | Generators 10   | 7 |
| 4.3.1.4    | Terms of the objective function for minimization of losses                  | 0 |
| 4.3.2 Ev   | aluation points for piecewise-linearization with SOS211                     | 2 |
| 4.3.2.1    | Evaluation points for functions of $V_k^{re}$ and $V_k^{im}$                | 3 |
| 4.3.2.2    | Evaluation points for a function of $\iota_{km}^{re}$ and $\iota_{km}^{im}$ | 8 |
| 4.3.2.3    | Evaluation points for a function of $V_k$ and $I_{g,k}^{re}$                | 9 |
| 4.3.3 Bo   | unds for continuous decision variables in bilinear products 12              | 1 |
| 4.3.3.1    | Bounds for $\xi_k \in \zeta_k$  | 1 |
| 4.3.3.2    | Bounds for $V_k$ and $I_{g,k}^{re}$ of a slack bus                          | 2 |
| 4.4 Ar     | alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution                 | n |
| sys        | stems   | 2 |
| 5 CASE STU | DIES AND DISCUSSION OF RESULTS 12-  | 4 |
| 5.1 Be     | enchmark of the proposed formulation against an exhaustive search           | h |
| alg        | gorithm   | 4 |
| 5.1.1 Te   | st systems12  | 6 |
| 5.1.1.1    | Test system S1 12   | 6 |
| 5.1.1.2    | Test system S2 12   | 6 |
| 5.1.1.3    | Test system S312  | 6 |
| 5.1.1.4    | Test system S4 12   | 7 |
| 5.1.2 Alg  | gorithm for exhaustive search and objective function for MIL                | P |
| ap         | proach  | 7 |
| 5.1.2.1    | Brute-force, exhaustive search algorithm                                    | 7 |
| 5.1.2.2    | Objective function for MILP approach 12                                     | 8 |

| 5.1   | .3 Ca   | se study results   | 129         |
|-------|---------|--|-------------|
| 5.2   | Illu    | ustration of selected applications                           | 134         |
| 5.2   | .1 Ap   | plication A1: emergency load shedding plan                   |             |
|       | 5.2.1.1 | Simulation considering connectivity approach (i)             | 136         |
| :     | 5.2.1.2 | Simulation considering connectivity approach (ii)            | 139         |
| :     | 5.2.1.3 | Simulation considering connectivity approach (iii)           |             |
| 5.2   | .2 Ap   | plication A2: generation curtailment at light loading hours  |             |
| 5.2   | .3 Ap   | plication A3: minimization of the sum of variable generation | n costs and |
|       | cos     | sts of power imports   |             |
|       | 5.2.3.1 | Radiality enforced   |             |
|       | 5.2.3.2 | Meshed operation allowed                                     | 151         |
| 5.2   | .4 Ap   | plication A4: minimum-cost expansion plan                    |             |
| 5.2   | .5 Ap   | plication A5: voltage control at distribution substation to  | minimize    |
|       | act     | tive power requirements                                      | 159         |
| 6 CO  | NCLUS   | IONS   |             |
| 6.1   | Su      | ggested topics for future work                               |             |
| REFER | ENCES.  |  | 171         |
| 7 AP  | PENDIX  | A: INPUT DATA FOR CASE STUDIES                               |             |
| 7.1   | Inp     | put data for distribution systems used in section 5.1        |             |
| 7.1   | .1 Tes  | st system S1   |             |
| 7.1   | .2 Tes  | st system S2   |             |
| 7.1   | .3 Tes  | st system S3   |             |
| 7.1   | .4 Tes  | st system S4   |             |
| 7.2   | Inp     | put data for distribution systems used in section 5.2        | 200         |
| 7.2   | .1 Tes  | st system S5   | 200         |
| 7.2   | .2 Tes  | st system S6   |             |
| 7.2   | .3 Tes  | st system S7   |             |
| 7.2   | .4 Tes  | st system S8   |             |
| 7.2   | .5 Tes  | st system S9   |             |
| 8 AP  | PENDIX  | B: AN ALTERNATIVE MILP REFORMULATION                         | OF THE      |
| AC    | COPF IN | DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS   | 220         |
| 8.1   | Ma      | ain differences with respect to the formulation pre          | esented in  |
|       | cha     | apter 4  | 220         |

| 8. | 2      | Mathematica  | l formulation | on           |             | •••••   | •••••          | 222        |
|----|--------|--------------|---------------|--------------|-------------|---------|----------------|------------|
|    | 8.2.1  | Constraints: | modeling      | electrical   | behavior    | and     | enforcing      | operating  |
|    |        | limits       | ••••••        |              |             | •••••   | •••••          | 222        |
|    | 8.2.1  | 1 Kirchho    | ff's Laws     |              |             | •••••   |                | 222        |
|    | 8.2.1  | 2 Operatin   | g limits      |              |             | •••••   |                | 222        |
|    | 8.2.1  | 3 Loads      |               |              |             | •••••   |                | 228        |
|    | 8.2.1  | 4 Generati   | on            |              |             | •••••   | •••••          | 233        |
|    | 8.2.1  | 5 Voltage    | reference b   | uses         |             | •••••   | •••••          |            |
|    | 8.2.1  | 6 Slack bu   | ses and bus   | es without   | generators  | and/or  | loads          | 238        |
|    | 8.2.1  | 7 Radiality  | y constraints | 5            |             | •••••   |                |            |
|    | 8.2.2  | Objective fu | inctions fo   | r selected   | distributio | on sys  | stem operation | ations and |
|    |        | expansion pl | anning appl   | ications     |             | •••••   |                | 238        |
|    | 8.2.2  | 1 Minimiz    | ation of cos  | ts of load s | hedding     | •••••   |                |            |
|    | 8.2.2  | 2 Minimiz    | ation of cur  | tailment of  | non-contro  | ollable | generation     |            |
|    | 8.2.2. | 3 Minimiz    | ation of ger  | eration cos  | ts          | •••••   | •••••          | 238        |
|    | 8.2.2. | 4 Minimiz    | ation of cos  | ts of power  | · imports   | •••••   |                | 239        |
|    | 8.2.2. | 5 Minimiz    | ation of cos  | ts of ohmic  | losses      | •••••   | •••••          | 239        |
|    | 8.2.2. | -            | ation of      |              |             |         |                |            |
|    | 8.2.2. | 7 Minimiz    | ation of cos  | ts of capaci | itor placem | ent     |                | 240        |
|    | 8.2.2. | 8 Minimiz    | ation of cire | cuit switchi | ng costs    |         |                | 240        |
| 9  | APPEN  | DIX C: PIEC  | EWISE-LI      | NEAR API     | PROXIMA     | TION    | S OF GEN       | VERATOR    |
|    | CURRE  | NTS          |               |              |             |         |                |            |
| 9. | 1      | Generators w | with no cont  | rol over the | active pov  | ver out | put            |            |
| 9. | 2      | Generators w | with control  | over the ac  | tive power  | output  |                |            |

# NOMENCLATURE

The nomenclature presented in the following is used in chapters 2 and 4.

## Indices and sets

| <i>k</i> ; <i>m</i> | Indices for buses of the distribution system.   |  |  |  |
|---------------------|---|--|--|--|
| km                  | Index for branches of the distribution system (this is the concise notation                           |  |  |  |
|                     | for the ordered pair $\langle k, m \rangle$ , in which the first entry corresponds to the <i>from</i> |  |  |  |
|                     | bus of a given branch, and the second entry corresponds to the to bus of a                            |  |  |  |
|                     | the same branch).   |  |  |  |
| r; s                | Index for evaluation points and associated variables, used in a number of                             |  |  |  |
|                     | different piecewise-linear approximations.  |  |  |  |
| $\Gamma^{re}$       | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $\hat{V}_k^{re,r}$ and associated variables.              |  |  |  |
| $\Gamma^{im}$       | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $\hat{V}_k^{im,s}$ and associated variables.              |  |  |  |
| E <sup>V</sup>      | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $\hat{V}_k^r$ and associated variables.                   |  |  |  |
| E <sup>Ig</sup>     | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $\hat{I}_{g,k}^s$ and associated variables.               |  |  |  |
| $\Pi^{re}$          | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $l_{km}^{re,r}$ and associated variables.                 |  |  |  |
| $\Pi^{im}$          | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $t_{km}^{im,s}$ and associated variables.                 |  |  |  |
| Ψ <sub>C</sub>      | Set of all branches in the distribution system.   |  |  |  |
| $\Psi_{CD}$         | Set of circuits that represent candidate reinforcements (candidate current-                           |  |  |  |
|                     | carrying facilities).   |  |  |  |
| $\Psi_{SW}$         | Set of switchable branches in the system.   |  |  |  |
| $\Omega_B$          | Set of all buses in the distribution system.  |  |  |  |
| $\Omega_{CAP}$      | Set of buses with candidate capacitors.   |  |  |  |
| $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$    | Set of buses to which generators with control over the output of active and                           |  |  |  |
|                     | reactive power connect.   |  |  |  |
| $\Omega_{CTRQ}$     | Set of buses to which generators with control only over reactive power                                |  |  |  |
|                     | output connect.   |  |  |  |
| $\Omega_{CURT}$     | Set of buses to which curtailable generators connect.   |  |  |  |
| $\Omega_{GEN}$      | Set of all buses to which generators (of any type) connect.   |  |  |  |

| $\Omega_{ICTE}$  | Set of buses to which loads of the <i>constant-current</i> type connect.   |
|------------------|--|
| $\Omega_{ITFC}$  | Set of buses at the interface of the internal network with the external    |
|                  | network  |
| $\Omega_{LOAD}$  | Set of all buses to which loads (of any type) connect.                     |
| $\Omega_k$       | Set of buses directly connected to bus <i>k</i> .                          |
| $\Omega_{NSHD}$  | Set of all buses to which loads that cannot be shed connect.               |
| $\Omega_{PCTE}$  | Set of buses to which loads of the <i>constant-power type</i> connect.     |
| $\Omega_{REF}$   | Set of voltage reference buses in the system.                              |
| $\Omega_{ROOT}$  | Set of buses chosen as <i>root buses</i> .                                 |
| $\Omega_{SLACK}$ | Set of all slack buses in the system.                                      |
| $\Omega_{SHED}$  | Set of all buses to which loads that can be shed connect.                  |
| $\Omega_{ZCTE}$  | Set of buses to which loads of the <i>constant-impedance type</i> connect. |

## Parameters

| $c_k^{CAPL}$      | Cost coefficient associated with the placement of the candidate capacitor  |
|-------------------|--|
|                   | at bus $k$ (in \$).  |
| -CONST            | Cost associated with construction of reinforcement represented by circuit  |
| $C_{km}^{CONST}$  | <i>km</i> (in \$).   |
| $c_k^{CURT}$      | Cost coefficient associated with curtailment of generator at bus $k$ (in   |
| $c_k$             | \$/p.u.).  |
| $c_k^{GEN}$       | Cost coefficient associated with generation with controllable active       |
| C <sub>k</sub>    | power output at bus $k$ (in $/p.u.$ ).                                     |
| $c_k^{IMPORT}$    | Cost coefficient associated with imports from the external network, at the |
| C <sub>k</sub>    | interface represented as the slack bus $k$ (in $p.u.$ ).                   |
| c <sup>LOSS</sup> | Cost coefficient associated with ohmic losses (in \$/p.u.).                |
| $c_k^{SHED}$      | Cost coefficient associated with load shedding at bus $k$ (in $p.u$ ).     |
| SWITCH            | Cost of switching action (cost of changing the status of the switchable    |
| $c_{km}^{SWITCH}$ | circuit) associated with circuit km (in \$).                               |
| $d_k^P$           | Nominal value of active power demanded by load at bus $k$ (in p.u.).       |
| $d_k^Q$           | Nominal value of reactive power demanded by load at bus $k$ (in p.u.).     |

|   | Active power generated by generator at bus $k$ (in p.u.). This is a  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| $g_k^P$                                 | parameter for all generators in set $\Omega_{CTRQ}$ , and a decision variable for all  |  |  |  |
|   | generators in set $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$ .   |  |  |  |
| $a^{P}$ , $\overline{a^{P}}$            | Lower and upper bounds for active power output of generator at bus $k$ (in   |  |  |  |
| $\underline{g_k^P}$ ; $g_k^P$           | p.u.). Defined only for generators in $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$ .   |  |  |  |
| $a^{Q}$ , $\overline{a^{Q}}$            | Lower and upper bounds for reactive power output of generator at bus $k$   |  |  |  |
| $\underline{g_k^Q}; g_k^Q$              | (in p.u.).   |  |  |  |
| $\hat{I}^{s}_{g,k}$                     | Evaluation points of real component of slack current of bus $k$ in $\Omega_{ITFC}$ .   |  |  |  |
| $I_{q,k}^{re}; \overline{I}_{q,k}^{re}$ | Lower and upper bounds for the real component of the slack current of  |  |  |  |
|   | bus k in $\Omega_{ITFC}$ (in p.u.).  |  |  |  |
| I . <del>I</del>                        | Lower and upper bounds for magnitude of current flowing through  |  |  |  |
| $\underline{I}_{km}; \overline{I}_{km}$ | branch <i>km</i> (in p.u.).  |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{G,re,1}$ ; M                      | $M_{k}^{G,re,2}; M_{k}^{G,re,3}; M_{k}^{G,re,4}; M_{k}^{G,im,1}; M_{k}^{G,im,2}; M_{k}^{G,im,3}; M_{k}^{G,im,4}$             |  |  |  |
|   | Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for   |  |  |  |
|   | modeling generation curtailment.   |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{D,re,ICTE,2}$                     | $M_{k}^{D,re,ICTE,2}; M_{k}^{D,re,ICTE,3}; M_{k}^{D,re,ICTE,4}; M_{k}^{D,im,ICTE,1}; M_{k}^{D,im,ICTE,2};$                   |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{D,im,ICTE,}$                      | $^{3}; M_{k}^{D,im,ICTE,4}$  |  |  |  |
|   | Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for   |  |  |  |
|   | modeling shedding of loads of the constant-current type.   |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{D,re,PCTE,}$                      | <sup>1</sup> ; $M_k^{D,re,PCTE,2}$ ; $M_k^{D,re,PCTE,3}$ ; $M_k^{D,re,PCTE,4}$ ; $M_k^{D,im,PCTE,1}$ ; $M_k^{D,im,PCTE,2}$ ; |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{D,im,PCTE}$                       | $M_k^{D,im,PCTE,4}$  |  |  |  |
|   | Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for   |  |  |  |
|   | modeling shedding of loads of the constant-power type.   |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{D,re,ZCTE,}$                      | $M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,2}; M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,3}; M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,4}; M_{k}^{D,im,ZCTE,1}; M_{k}^{D,im,ZCTE,2};$                   |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{D,im,ZCTE}$                       | $M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,4}$  |  |  |  |
|   | Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for   |  |  |  |
|   | modeling shedding of loads of the constant-impedance type  |  |  |  |
| $M_k^{IOFl1}$ ; M                       | $K_{k}^{IOFu1}; M_{k}^{IOFl2}; M_{k}^{IOFu2}$  |  |  |  |
|   | Disjunctive constants for disjunctive constraints for product  |  |  |  |
|   | $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k).$  |  |  |  |

| $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ; $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ; $M_k^{ZOFl2}$ ; $M_k^{ZOFl2}$ |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
|   | Disjunctive constants for disjunctive constraints for product                                  |  |  |
|   | $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k).$  |  |  |
| $\widehat{P}_k^{r,s}$   | Evaluated values of function $P_k(V_k, I_{g,k}^{re})$ , for bus <i>k</i> .                     |  |  |
| R <sub>km</sub>   | Resistance of the branch connecting buses <i>k</i> and <i>m</i> (in p.u.).                     |  |  |
| $R_k^l$   | Resistance of constant impedance load at bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.).                               |  |  |
| $\hat{V}_k^{re,r}$  | Evaluation point of real component of voltage at bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.).                       |  |  |
| $\hat{V}_k^{im,s}$  | Evaluation point of imaginary component of voltage at bus $k$ (in p.u.).                       |  |  |
| $\hat{V}_k^{r,s}$   | Evaluated values of function $V_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.).           |  |  |
| $\hat{V}_k^r$   | Evaluation points of voltage magnitude of bus k in $\Omega_{ITFC}$ .                           |  |  |
| $\underline{V}_k$ ; $\overline{V}_k$                          | Lower and upper bound for magnitude of voltage at bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.).                      |  |  |
| $V_k^{ref}$   | Fixed voltage magnitude of reference bus $k$ (in p.u.).  |  |  |
| $W_{km}^{CL}$   | Disjunctive constant for Kirchhoff's Current Law.  |  |  |
| $W_{km}^{VL,re,l}$ ; V  | $W_{km}^{VL,re,u}; W_{km}^{VL,im,l}; W_{km}^{VL,u}$  |  |  |
|   | Disjunctive constants for Kirchhoff's Voltage Law.   |  |  |
| X <sub>km</sub>   | Reactance of the branch connecting buses <i>k</i> and <i>m</i> (in p.u.).                      |  |  |
| $X_k^l$   | Reactance of constant impedance load at bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.).                                |  |  |
| $Z_k^l$   | Impedance of constant impedance load at bus $k$ (in p.u.).                                     |  |  |
| $\theta_k^{ref}$  | Reference angle for reference bus voltage at bus $k$ (in degrees).                             |  |  |
| $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re,r}$                                     | Evaluation points of $\iota_{km}^{re}$ , for branch $km$ (in p.u.).                            |  |  |
| $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{im,s}$                                     | Evaluation points of $\iota_{km}^{im}$ , for branch $km$ (in p.u.).                            |  |  |
| $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{r,s}$                                      | Evaluated values of function $\iota_{km}$ for branch $km$ (in p.u.).                           |  |  |
| $\hat{\mu}_k^{r,s}$   | Evaluated values of function $V_k^2$ (in p.u. <sup>2</sup> ).                                  |  |  |
| $\hat{\eta}_k^{r,s}$  | Evaluated value of function $\eta_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus <i>k</i> (dimensionless).   |  |  |
| $\hat{\kappa}_k^{r,s}$  | Evaluated value of function $\kappa_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus <i>k</i> (dimensionless). |  |  |
| $\hat{\xi}_k^{r,s}$   | Evaluated values of function $\xi_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus <i>k</i> (in 1/p.u.).       |  |  |
| $\underline{\xi}_k; \overline{\xi}_k$                         | Lower and upper bounds for the values that $\xi_k$ may assume.                                 |  |  |
| $\hat{\zeta}_k^{r,s}$   | Evaluated values of function $\zeta_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus <i>k</i> (in 1/p.u.).     |  |  |
| $\underline{\zeta}_k; \overline{\zeta}_k$                     | Lower and upper bounds for the values that $\zeta_k$ may assume.                               |  |  |

## Continuous decision variables

| $g_k^P$         | Active power generated by generator at bus $k$ (in p.u.), free in signal or                |
|-----------------|--|
|                 | non-negative depending on the upper and lower bounds defined. This is a                    |
|                 | decision variable for all generators in $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$ .                                 |
| $g_k^Q$         | Reactive power generated by generator at bus $k$ (in p.u.), free in signal.                |
| $I_{d,k}^{re}$  | Real component of current demanded by load connected to bus $k$ (in p.u.),                 |
|                 | free in signal.  |
| $I_{d,k}^{im}$  | Imaginary component of current demanded by load connected to bus $k$ (in                   |
|                 | p.u.), free in signal.   |
| $I_{g,k}^{re}$  | Real component of current generated by generator connected to bus $k$ (in                  |
|                 | p.u.), free in signal.   |
| $I_{g,k}^{im}$  | Imaginary component of current generated by generator connected to bus $k$                 |
|                 | (in p.u.), free in signal.   |
| I <sub>km</sub> | Magnitude of current flowing through branch km (in p.u.), non-negative.                    |
| $I_{km}^{re}$   | Real component of current flowing through the branch connecting buses $k$                  |
|                 | and $m$ , from bus $k$ to bus $m$ (in p.u.), free in signal.                               |
| $I_{km}^{im}$   | Imaginary component of current flowing through the branch connecting                       |
|                 | buses $k$ and $m$ , from bus $k$ to bus $m$ (in p.u.), free in signal.                     |
| $I_{d,k}^{im}$  | Imaginary component of current demanded by load connected to bus $k$ (in                   |
|                 | p.u.), free in signal.   |
| $m_k^{P,re}$    | Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product $\xi_k \cdot g_k^P$ (in p.u.), free   |
|                 | in signal or non-negative depending on the upper and lower bounds defined                  |
|                 | for $g_k^P$ .  |
| $m_k^{P,im}$    | Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^P$ (in p.u.), free |
|                 | in signal.   |
| $m_k^{Q,re}$    | Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^Q$ (in p.u.), free |
|                 | in signal.   |
| $m_k^{Q,im}$    | Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product $\xi_k \cdot g_k^Q$ (in p.u.), free   |
|                 | in signal.   |
|                 |  |

| mponents at bus $k$ (in 1/p.u.), non-negative.  |
|---|
| ixiliary decision variable that models a function of the complex voltage  |
| <sup>1</sup> . <sup>2</sup> ), non-negative.  |
| exiliary variable that represents approximation of $V_k^2$ , for k in $\Omega_{ZCTE}$ (in   |
| n-linear functions of $V_k^{re}$ and $V_k^{im}$ (dimensionless), non-negative.  |
| eights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex,   |
| mponents at bus $k$ (dimensionless), free in signal.  |
| ixiliary decision variable that models a function of the complex voltage  |
| (in p.u.), non-negative.  |
| exiliary variable that is at least as high as the modulus of $I_{km}^{im}$ , for branch   |
| (in p.u.), non-negative.  |
| exiliary variable that is at least as high as the modulus of $I_{km}^{re}$ , for branch   |
| n-negative.   |
| exiliary variable that is at least as high as $I_{km}$ , for branch $km$ (in p.u.),   |
| mponents at bus $k$ (dimensionless), non-negative.  |
| ixiliary decision variable that models a function of the complex voltage  |
| $-\rho_k$ ) (in p.u. <sup>2</sup> ), non-negative.  |
| Exiliary continuous decision variable for modeling the product $\mu_k$ .  |
| n-negative.   |
| exiliary decision variable for modeling the product $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ (in p.u.),   |
| n-linear function of $V_k$ and $I_{g,k}^{re}$ (dimensionless), non-negative.  |
| eights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex,   |
| hary variables $\rho_k$ and $\tau_k$ . Dimensionless and non-negative.  |
| d $\tau_k = 1$ ; and assumes the value $\alpha_k = 0$ for all other combinations of the   |
| intinuous decision that assumes the value $\alpha_k = 1$ if and only if $\rho_k = 1$  |
| aginary component of voltage at bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.), free in signal.   |
| al component of voltage at bus <i>k</i> (in p.u.), non-negative.  |
| agnitude of voltage at bus k (in p.u.), non-negative.   |
| $g_{g,k}$ , for all buses $k$ in $2n_{FC}$ (in place), free in signal of non-negative pending on the upper and lower bounds defined.                                |
| exiliary (continuous) decision variable for approximating the product $I_{g,k}^{re}$ , for all buses k in $\Omega_{ITFC}$ (in p.u.), free in signal or non-negative |
| p   |

| $\zeta_k$           | Auxiliary decision variable that models a function of the complex voltage            |
|---------------------|--|
|                     | components at bus $k$ (in 1/p.u.), free in signal.                                   |
| $\omega_{km}^{r,s}$ | Weights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of $\iota_{km}$ , for branch |
|                     | km (dimensionless), non-negative.  |

# Binary decision variables

| $b_k^r$ ; $c_k^s$       | Auxiliary binary decision variables for ensuring that the weights $\varphi_k^{r,s}$ form   |
|-------------------------|--|
| ~ K , ~ K               | a SOS2.  |
| $x_k^r; y_k^s$          | Auxiliary binary decision variables for ensuring that the weights $\lambda_k^{r,s}$ form a |
|                         | SOS2.  |
| $t_{km}^r$ ; $u_{km}^s$ | Auxiliary binary decision variables for ensuring that the weights $\omega_{km}^{r,s}$ form |
|                         | a SOS2.  |
| $\beta_k$               | Binary decision variable that models the decision to disconnect a bus $k$                  |
|                         | from the system (the generator is disconnected if $\beta_k = 0$ ), employed in             |
|                         | connectivity approach (iii).   |
| $ ho_k$                 | Binary variable that indicates if load at bus k is shed ( $\rho_k = 1$ indicates that      |
|                         | load is shed).   |
| $\sigma_{km}$           | Binary variable that represents the status of circuit km: if this is a candidate           |
|                         | reinforcement, $\sigma_{km} = 1$ indicates that reinforcement is built; if this is a       |
|                         | switchable branch, $\sigma_{km} = 1$ indicates that branch is switched-on.                 |
| $	au_k$                 | Binary variable that indicates if generator at bus k is curtailed ( $\tau_k = 1$           |
|                         | indicates that generator is curtailed).  |
| $v_{km}^k$              | Binary variable associated to line $km$ that assumes the value $v_{km}^k = 1$ if bus       |
|                         | k is the <i>parent</i> of bus m, and that assumes the value $v_{km}^k = 0$ if bus m is the |
|                         | <i>parent</i> of bus <i>k</i> .  |

#### 1 INTRODUCTION

This introductory chapter begins with an exposition of the background and the motivation for the development of the research that lead to this dissertation. In section 1.2, the technical literature on the research topic is reviewed. The objective and the technical contributions of this work are presented in section 1.3, and the chapter ends with a description of the organization of this document.

## 1.1 Background and motivation

In the course of the last decade, the evolution of business models have either brought about important challenges to the distribution segment of the electricity business, or enhanced the criticality of previously existing ones:

- (i) Performance-based regulation (or incentive-based regulation) [1]-[5] has been adopted in several jurisdictions with the objective of incentivizing operational efficiency and controlling costs perceived by electricity consumers. Utilities have thus received strong economic incentives to optimize the expansion of the distribution network and the use of existing distribution assets, which often resulted in pressure to operate the system closer to admissible technical limits.
- (ii) The development of information technology has fundamentally changed the requirements of retail consumers on the continuity and adequacy of electricity supply. This has been a motivation for the adoption of reliability-driven economic incentives for regulated distribution utilities in many jurisdictions around the globe, strictly binding compliance to technical performance standards (supply continuity and adequacy) [4]-[5] with the financial health of distribution utilities.

Also, technological advances associated with the evolution of the electrical system towards the smart grid have led to growing attention to the use of sensory information and automation within the distribution system. The deployment of these technologies is expected not only to facilitate the achievement of operational efficiency and adequate technical performance, but also to enhance the observability and controllability of the grid. This enhanced controllability is thought to be a feature that

will help distribution utilities to better integrate distributed generation and storage within their systems, and allow a more active participation of end-consumers (including those from the retail segment) in market and system operations [6]-[7].

In order to meet the challenges and achieve the goals listed in the previous paragraphs, distribution management systems require advanced computational tools [7]-[8] to support operation decisions with respect both to traditional processes (such as system reconfiguration or integrated voltage/reactive power control) and to new, envisioned functions (such as central control of distributed generation). But it is not only operations planning that drives the growing demand for advanced computational tools for distribution systems: the need for tools to support expansion planning decisions has also become more critical, due to the need to coordinate traditional activities, such as reinforcement to current-carrying facilities and placement of capacitors and switches, with the goals of asset optimization and accommodation of distributed generation, among others.

The alternating current (AC) Optimal Power Flow (ACOPF) is among the tools required for several of the distribution system operations and expansion processes listed in the previous paragraphs. In the ACOPF problem, one seeks the optimization of a given objective function (e.g. minimization of generation costs, minimization of costs of ohmic losses), subject to constraints that represent the physical laws governing power systems and the operating limits of network equipment. Explicit reference is made here to the AC nature of the problem, as a reminder that phenomena related to reactive power and to bus voltage magnitudes are of great relevance to distribution system expansion and operation [9].

The reader will notice that several of the distribution system expansion and operation processes listed in the previous paragraphs involve discrete decisions, such as circuit construction, placement of switches and system reconfiguration. It is obviously in the interest of distribution engineers that such discrete decisions are modeled within the ACOPF, in order to take full advantage of the optimization tools. However, due to the non-linear nature of the ACOPF, factoring discrete decisions into the optimization approach is a complex task.

As described in section 1.3, this dissertation aims at presenting a formulation for the ACOPF in distribution systems that is amenable to the incorporation of discrete decisions, and that may thus be used to support a wide range of applications in operations and expansion processes.

## 1.2 Bibliographic review

This section provides the reader with a review of the technical literature on decision support tools for distribution system operations and expansion planning, with focus on the ACOPF problem and, particularly, on discrete decisions. As this dissertation is oriented towards the solution of the ACOPF in distribution systems, the bibliographic review will emphasize the *formulation and solution approach* employed in the references, regardless of whether each reference deals with single-stage or multi-stage applications, deterministic or stochastic problems, or other specific features that are more involved with the application than to the formulation and solution of the ACOPF problem.

Some of the earlier works on support systems involving discrete decisions for distribution planning and operation, such as [10], consist of computational tools that basically duplicate *ad hoc* heuristic analyses conducted by distribution system engineers. In reference [10], which is oriented towards distribution expansion planning, the proposed computational tool involves the sequential execution of procedures for: comparing load forecasts to substation capacity; determining preliminary (discrete) reinforcements for the relief of overloads, with help of heuristic procedures; checking the feasibility of the preliminary solutions with help of a *simplified load flow program* (the expression is used in [10] without further explanation); and finding solutions that remove technical infeasibilities, with help of further heuristics.

Solution algorithms based on heuristics have, indeed, been widely used in distribution system planning. One heuristic technique that has been widely used is the *branch exchange*. This technique, particularly employed in distribution system expansion and reconfiguration problems in which radiality constraints must be enforced, basically consists of starting from an arbitrary initial solution that complies with the radiality constraints, and then iteratively choosing a pair of branches to be *exchanged* – this meaning that, in each iteration, a branch that does not pertain to the active network topology is activated, and a branch that pertains to the active topology is deactivated. The pair of branches to be activated/deactivated is chosen with help of any given metric

that captures the sensitivity of the objective function (e.g., minimization of losses or of circuit overloading) with respect to changes in the status of branches. The method is usually based on local sensitivities, meaning that the calculation of the sensitivities is made considering the network topology verified at the beginning of each iteration. The iterative process is repeated until no branch exchanges that result in improvements to the objective function are found. Obviously, the *branch exchange* heuristic applies to problems in which the discrete decisions refer to modifications in circuit status (switched on/off for reconfiguration problems, and constructed/not constructed for expansion problems).

The authors of [11] make use of a technique such as the one described in the last paragraph (though not using the name *branch exchange*), in the context of feeder reconfiguration for loss reduction, and with local sensitivities basically obtained with help of the equations of the AC power flow problem, expressed in terms of complex branch currents and bus voltages. In [11], formulas for the estimating the local sensitivities with different levels of accuracy are presented.

Reference [12] presents a method for distribution system expansion planning that relies on local sensitivities – and the term *branch exchange* is actually used to describe the proposed method. The local sensitivities used for choosing the set of branches to be exchanged are calculated with help of linear programming techniques. In order to allow the use of linear programming techniques, the authors employ a *"direct current power flow calculation"* [12] to model distribution network behavior. It is worth mentioning that the authors initially present a mixed-integer linear programming formulation of the OPF in distribution systems, based on the *direct current power flow* flow formulation, before characterizing this approach as being excessively demanding to solve directly, and describing and employing the *branch exchange* method. The authors of [12] also employ the *branch exchange* method in [13], considering in the latter reference a multi-stage problem.

Heuristic methods based on the calculation of local sensitivities are also applied to other problems within distribution system expansion and operations planning. As an example, a method based partially in local sensitivities (which are used within a hybrid algorithm that combines *tabu search* with features from other metaheuristics<sup>1</sup>) is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Metaheuristics will be reviewed further in this section.

employed in [14] for the capacitor placement and sizing problem, in which network behavior is modeled via non-linear equations. Heuristic methods based on local sensitivities have also been employed to the problems of coordinated electric vehicle charging [15] and distributed generation placement and sizing [16], [17].

Heuristic methods based on successively and iteratively performing greedy searches, and in each iteration making a decision that most improves the value of a given metric, have been proposed for distribution systems applications, particularly for the network reconfiguration problems. The *branch exchange* heuristic is obviously an example of such methods. Other examples are those presented in [18] and [19]: in both methods, the solution algorithm is based on initially considering all switches closed and executing the iterative algorithm, in each iteration opening the switch that results in the largest improvement of a given metric. The methods employed in [18] and [19] differ from those reviewed in the previous paragraphs in that the evaluation of the metric is not based on sensitivity analyses considering the topology at the beginning of each iteration as fixed, but rather on implicit investigation of the changes in the evaluation metric that would be obtained after a switching decision would be made. In reference [18], the evaluation metric is obtained in each iteration via the solution of a modified ACOPF, with the simplifying assumption that all loads are current sources, and modeling the closed switches as fully adjustable current sources. After the solution of this modified ACOPF, the switch that carries the lowest current is selected for opening. In the approach of reference [19], the chosen metric is the value of overall system losses after the switching decision, and the choice of the switch to be opened in each iteration is made via implicit evaluation of all possibilities via the standard Newton method with second derivatives.

There are also classes of greedy algorithms for distribution system reconfiguration that include features for partially mitigating the problems of a *purely* greedy search. In the algorithm proposed in reference [20], all switches are initially considered opened, and local sensitivities of the proposed objective function (incremental losses divided by incremental load served) with respect to branch switching are used to screen candidates and make the choice of a single switch to be closed in each iteration. The solution of the full set of AC power flow equations is made after each closing action in order to ensure feasibility, and the authors propose a backtracking feature, based on the construction of lists and on ranking, to mitigate the

problems of a purely greedy search. Reference [21] proposes a method that starts with all switches closed, and then proceeds to screening candidates and preliminarily determining the switch to be opened by evaluating AC power flow equations. A heuristic based on the branch exchange technique is used to partially mitigate the short-sightedness of a purely greedy search.

A number of methods based on representing a switch by a continuous function, rather than a discrete (on/off) model, have been proposed for the distribution system reconfiguration problem. Reference [22] proposes a method in which all switches are initially considered closed, and heuristics are employed to iteratively open switches until the network is radial. The first step in the heuristic procedure for choosing the switch to open is an ACOPF in which switches are represented by a linear variable that may assume any value within the interval [0, 1]. The objective function of this ACOPF accounts for power losses and branch utilization costs. The optimal value of the continuous decision variable that represents switches is used for raking candidates, and posterior heuristics involving evaluation of full power flow equations, now with discretely modeling (on/off) of the status of short-listed switches, are executed to support a final decision on the switch to open in each iteration. In [23], switches are represented via sigmoidal functions, and a non-linear ACOPF is solved in each iteration of a heuristic that starts with a meshed topology and successively open switches, in order to achieve a radial topology. The Lagrange multipliers associated with specific constraints of the ACOPF are used for the ranking of switches to be opened, in the first steps of the heuristic procedure. Sigmoidal functions have also been used to model discrete decisions regarding capacitor placement [24], within a heuristic approach which is similar to that described above. It is worth mentioning that reference [23] treats both network reconfiguration and capacitor placement decisions.

The attention of the reader is now directed back to methods built upon local sensitivities. Besides being used in iterative heuristics, local sensitivities have also been used in methods that utilize classical optimization techniques (mainly linear programming and mixed-integer linear programming) to solve formulations of the ACOPF that are characterized by a local linearization around a pre-defined operating point.

As an example, the authors of [25] present a set of linear equations to solve the steady-state power flow problem in distribution networks, and propose a linear

programming model for the problem of minimizing losses in a distribution system with distributed generation. In the proposed formulation, the complex nature of state variables is taken into account while defining equations for the First and Second Kirchhoff Laws in rectangular coordinates. As the formulation is expressed in terms of complex voltages and *current* flows and injections (as opposed to complex voltages and power flows and injections), the current demanded by constant-power loads would be described via non-linear equations. The authors thus employ a representation of constant-power loads based on local linearization of the relationship among load currents and bus voltages, with help of approximate multiplicative factors determined offline (i.e., previously to the solution of the steady state power flow or to the optimization problem, and not within the problem solution). The solution approach proposed in [25] does not explicitly deals with discrete decisions variables. Another example of a method based on local linear approximations used within a linear programming approach is [26]. Reference [26] presents an expansion planning model with approximate and simplified modeling of network behavior, in which the voltage drop across a given branch is approximated as a real quantity, given by the product of the branch apparent power flow (in MVA) by a constant calculated offline (i.e., not within the solution of the optimization model), as a function of an assumed (lagging) power factor, branch impedance and rated voltage.

Simplified models of network behavior based on local linear approximations are also used within MILP approaches to the distribution system expansion planning problem. A number of references employ restrictive approximations regarding the complex nature of bus voltages and branch currents, while proposing MILP formulations. In [27], a mixed-integer expansion planning model that encompasses both the primary and the secondary distribution grids is presented. The authors of [27] suggest that constraints on voltage drops along sets of branches are explicitly enforced only for identified critical routes (a critical route being a set of branches that connects the voltage source to a bus with potential violations of voltage limits). They also suggest approximating those voltage drops as the product of apparent power flows by a multiplicative constant calculated offline, with basis on branch parameters and bus voltages obtained from a load flows solved previously to the optimization algorithm.

MILP approaches that employ other classes of approximations have also been proposed for distribution system expansion planning problems. For instance, reference [28] proposes one such model, focusing on switch placement with the objective of minimizing capital investment and operation costs, with particular emphasis on interruption costs. Due to the exclusive focus on continuity, only the First Kirchhoff Law is modeled, with the Second Kirchhoff Law (the voltages law) purposefully not being incorporated to the model.

References [29] and [30] also present mixed-integer models for distribution system expansion planning, with particular attention respectively to distributed generation and to the treatment of reliability. In both of these references, voltage drops across branches are approximated by the real product of branch currents and branch impedances (which is a restrictive approximation), and all loads are modeled as fixed current injections. Modeling loads as fixed current injections may be interpreted as a linearization around a pre-defined operation point, due to the fact that the actual currents injections corresponding to constant-power and constant impedance loads vary according to bus voltages.

It is worth pointing out that simplifications such as representing voltage drops across branches by the real product of branch currents and branch impedances were also employed in mixed-integer programming approaches to distribution system expansion planning dated from the early 1980's, such as [31]. Other MILP formulations for distribution system expansion planning problems proposed in the early 1980's employ other classes of approximations regarding the network model. For instance, reference [32] focused exclusively in connectivity and balance of power while representing network behavior, not accounting for Kirchhoff's Voltage Law. Other models, such as [33], placed emphasis on the solution of the distribution expansion planning problem using pre-calculated, aggregate cost functions – the power-loss envelope curves defined in [33] –, with little attention to the representation of network behavior.

A number of other mathematical programming approaches, besides linear and mixed-integer programming methods, have been applied to distribution system operations and planning problems. References that employ such approaches are reviewed in the following.

In reference [34], which deals with the problem of service restoration in unbalanced three-phase distribution systems, the non-linearities associated with the AC OPF model are accommodated within a mixed-integer non-linear programming formulation. The authors point out that the solver LINGO [35] (citation obtained from [34]), which treats mixed-integer non-linear programs with a branch-and-bound algorithm in which each node of the branch-and-bound tree is evaluated via successive linear programming, has been used for the solution of the proposed formulation.

Reference [36] also presents a mixed-integer non-linear programming formulation of the distribution system reconfiguration problem. The proposed formulation includes binary decisions modeling the connection/disconnection of capacitors and generating units. The solution approach involves two-stage Benders decomposition, in which all discrete decisions are treated within the master problem (which has a quadratic objective function due to the modeling of losses, and includes some of the linear network constraints), whereas the slave problem ensures feasibility with respect to (non-linear) network behavior. The master and slave problems are coupled via linear Benders cuts.

Variable transformations are an important technique employed in references [37] and [38]. Reference [37] presents a mixed-integer quadratically constrained programming formulation for the problem of distribution system reconfiguration to minimize ohmic losses. The exact formulation of [37] is based on defining nonconventional transformed variables in order to model network behavior. Finally, reference [38] deals with the problem of distribution network reconfiguration to minimize ohmic losses, presenting an exact convex second-order cone programming formulation for this problem, as well as a MILP formulation with polyhedral approximation of the conic constraints (for which auxiliary nonconventional variables are defined).

Metaheuristics have also been widely employed as solution approaches to distribution system operation and planning problems in recent times. The flexibility of these approaches allows modeling the full set of non-linear equations for the ACOPF, within several classes of problems. The most common approaches used in recent times include the methods listed below, used at times in combinations with other heuristics:

- *Genetic/evolutionary algorithms*: examples of references that make use of this technique include [39]-[50].
- *Simulated annealing*: examples of references that make use of this technique include [51]-[54].
- *Tabu search*: examples of references that make use of this technique include [55]-[57].

It should be noted that, for the specific problem of network reconfiguration for achieving minimal losses in radial distribution systems, a brute-force algorithm based on exhaustive search have been proposed in [58]. The authors employ graph-theoretic techniques, based on semi-sparse transformations of a current sensitivity matrix, to increase the efficiency of the exhaustive search method.

In complement to the previously mentioned references, the reader may find extensive reviews of distribution system planning models in [59] and [60], including works that deal with discrete decisions, but that were not treated in this section due to the similarity with at least one of the listed references.

Having concluded the bibliographic review, the objective and the technical contributions of this dissertation are presented in the following section.

#### 1.3 Objective and contributions of this dissertation

The objective of this dissertation is to develop a mixed-integer linear programming (MILP) reformulation of the AC optimal power flow (ACOPF) problem for distribution systems that:

- (i) captures the non-linear behavior of the distribution system with an arbitrarily accurate approximation;
- supports both continuous and discrete decisions, respectively via continuous and integer decision variables;
- (iii) is constructed with basis on conventional physical variables that describe network behavior (bus voltages, branch currents, bus power injections, etc.), yielding significant flexibility in defining a number of possible objective functions for the ACOPF, and extending its applicability to a number of different problems faced by distribution system engineers; and
- (iv) can be solved to global optimality with the use of widely employed and commercially available mixed-integer linear optimization solvers.

Furthermore, as most commercially available mixed-integer linear optimization solvers have options to provide the user with detailed execution reports, including information on the duality gap displayed on-screen during execution, the user is able to control the quality of the solutions obtained in the course of the solution of the MILP problem, eventually interrupting the optimization algorithm and obtaining an intermediate solution, for which the value of the duality gap is known (i.e., the quality of the solution can be controlled), if desired.

Convexification and linearization techniques will be extensively used to develop the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF problem for distribution systems, and the particular physical characteristics of the distribution system will be explored while applying these techniques, with the goal of enhancing its computational efficiency.

The technical contributions of this dissertation relate not only to the novelty of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, but also to the fact that it *simultaneously* accounts for all aspects listed at the beginning of this section. The reader will notice that none of the methods presented in the reviewed references simultaneously displays the set of attributes (i)-(iv) listed before. The following points are highlighted:

- Despite the fact that many of the methods based on heuristics of metaheuristics generally lead to high-quality sub-optimal solutions, none of them present inherent guarantees of convergence to the global optimal solutions.
- Many of the methods based on classical mathematical programming techniques, particularly those that employ linear programming or mixedinteger programming, are based on severe and restrictive approximations of the non-linear behavior of the distribution network.
- Some methods based on mathematical programming apply techniques that are not currently available in the most commonly used commercialgrade optimization solvers. The possibility to use commercial optimization solvers is important for industry applications, due to the guarantee of longevity, maintainability and prevention of obsolescence of the solver that underlies practical utility applications.

At this point, it is worth mentioning that, in the technical literature, reference has already been made to the application of the linearization and convexification techniques used in this dissertation to power system problems. As an example, the authors of [61], while discussing the appropriateness of MILP reformulation of non-linear problems, make explicit reference to "network problems with nonlinearities occurring on the edges such as the design and management of energy networks design", though not

providing any formulation of a specific problem. In fact, MILP reformulations have been proposed for the problem of the ACOPF in transmission systems, employing exclusively equations that are functions of voltage and power quantities [62]. However, to the knowledge of the author of this dissertation, no formulation directed to distribution systems, that employs equations that are functions of voltages and currents to describe network behavior, and that take specific characteristics of the distribution network into account in order to achieve adequate trade-offs between accuracy and computational performance, have been proposed.

The formulation proposed in this dissertation applies both to radial and to meshed distribution systems (a feature that lacks in many of the approaches listed in the bibliographic review, notably among those based in greedy heuristics, such as the branch exchange technique). However, the application of the proposed approach is currently limited to either three-phase balanced distribution systems or to single-phase networks.

## 1.4 Organization of the dissertation

The remainder of this dissertation is organized as follows:

- In chapter 2, the non-linear version of the ACOPF problem in distribution systems is presented. This chapter will begin with a discussion on the particular characteristics of distribution networks that are relevant for the formulation and solution of the optimal power flow problem. Selected applications of the ACOPF in distribution system operations and expansion planning are also presented.
- Convexification and linearization techniques for the reformulation of non-linear, non-convex problems (such as the ACOPF in distribution systems with discrete decisions) as mixed-integer linear programs are presented in chapter 3.
- The proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems is presented in details in chapter 4.
- The proposed formulation is applied to several case studies in chapter 5. The analysis of results of these case studies allows showcasing the

applicability of the proposed formulation and discussing its features and characteristics.

- · Conclusions and suggestions for future work are presented in chapter 6.
- · References are listed at the end of this document.
- The input data for the case studies of chapter 5 is presented in Appendix A (chapter 7).
- An alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems is presented in Appendix B (chapter 8).
- An alternative method for formulating the constraints through which the current injections of generators are obtained is presented in Appendix C (chapter 9).

# 2 THE (NON-LINEAR) ACOPF IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM OPERATIONS AND EXPANSION PLANNING

This chapter begins with the presentation of characteristics of the distribution system that are relevant for the formulation of the ACOPF problem.

The formulation of the non-linear version of the ACOPF problem for distribution systems (not yet including the modeling of discrete decisions<sup>2</sup>) is then presented in section 2.2.

The chapter ends with a list of selected applications of the ACOPF to distribution system expansion and operations planning.

#### 2.1 Relevant characteristics of distribution systems

For the purposes of this dissertation, the distribution system is defined as the set of current-carrying facilities at rated voltages inferior to 69 kV that either functions as an isolated system or originates at step-down substations at the interface with the subtransmission or transmission network. In this definition, the distribution system includes all electrical power sources, loads and associated control equipment connected to the buses at rated voltages inferior to 69 kV. This definition is clearly oriented towards the ACOPF problem and by no means aims at being exhaustive – this is illustrated by the very fact that the definition does not coincide with that used in PRODIST  $[63]^3$ , the grid code for electrical power distribution in Brazil.

The following subsections review particular characteristics of the distribution system, which are relevant to the formulation of the ACOPF problem (and particularly to its MILP reformulation, as will be seen in chapter 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The representation of discrete decisions will be dealt with in chapter 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In PRODIST [63], the distribution system is defined as the set of electrical facilities and equipment owned by a distribution utility and located in its concession area, and may include facilities at voltage levels equal to and above 69 kV. According to PRODIST, the set of facilities with voltages below 69 kV would be defined as the union of the *medium voltage* and the *low voltage* distribution (sub)systems.

#### 2.1.1 Shunt susceptance of overhead distribution lines

The first relevant characteristic of distribution systems is that the shunt susceptance of overhead distribution lines is comparatively lower than that of overhead transmission lines. This relates mainly to rated voltage levels and to constructive characteristics of distribution lines.

In fact, it is usual to consider the shunt susceptance of overhead distribution lines may as negligible in power flow calculations. In this case, circuits are represented exclusively by their series resistance and reactance – this approximation is considered, e.g., in [19], [25], [34], [64]-[67], and will also be adopted in this dissertation.

#### 2.1.2 Resistance-to-reactance ratio

Also due to the comparatively lower voltage levels and to constructive characteristics, the typical resistance-to-reactance (R/X) ratio of overhead distribution lines is comparatively higher than the typical ratio of transmission and subtransmission lines.

This has important implications for the power flow analyses in distribution systems, which will be discussed with help of Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Model of a distribution circuit (a); phase diagram considering low *R/X* ratio; (c) phase diagram considering high *R/X* ratio

Part (a) of Figure 2.1 depicts a simple series-impedance model of a fictitious distribution circuit, in which the line current lags the voltages at the two extremities. Parts (b) and (c) indicate phase diagrams, with a higher R/X ratio considered for the circuit of part (c). To facilitate the discussion, the modulus of the branch impedance,

 $|R_{km} + j \cdot X_{km}|$ , is kept approximately constant while varying the *R*/*X* ratio from Figure 2.1.(b) to Figure 2.1.(c).

By comparing the phase diagrams, it becomes clear that a higher R/X ratio results in a lower angular difference between the complex voltages  $\dot{V}_k$  and  $\dot{V}_m$ . This illustrative analysis alludes to the fact that, due to the high R/X ratios, the angular differences between complex voltages of buses of a distribution network usually do not display values as high as those from transmission systems.

Figure 2.1 is merely illustrative, and the configuration of the diagrams would vary if the phase angle difference between the voltage  $\dot{V}_m$  and the line current  $\dot{I}_{km}$  were modified. One of the factors that affect the phase angle between bus voltages and branch currents is the power factor of bus injections. At this point, the reader shall keep in mind that there are usually incentives for customers connected to distribution systems to keep the power factor of their loads within relatively narrow intervals – e.g., the Brazilian regulation [68] prescribes that the power factor of loads connected to distribution systems at all voltage levels below 230 kV shall be kept within the interval [0.92<sub>lagging</sub>, 0.92<sub>leading</sub>]. The fact that load power factors are usually kept close to unitary values basically contributes to keeping the angular differences among complex voltages of buses of the distribution network at low values.

Thus, if any given bus within the distribution system or at its frontier (e.g., the bus that represents the high-voltage side of the step-down transformer at an interface with the subtransmission or transmission system) is chosen to be the angular reference bus, and a reference angle of  $\theta^{ref} = 0^\circ$  is attributed to it, the voltage angles of all buses in the distribution network will usually vary within a narrow interval around zero. The reader shall keep this in mind, as this fact will be relevant for the presentation of the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems, in chapter 4.

#### 2.1.3 Radiality constraints and reconfiguration

As of this writing, distribution systems are predominantly operated radially, as the radial configuration allows that adequate protection coordination can be achieved even if more economical protection equipment is used – e.g., the protection system may be built mainly upon fuses, which are not only economical but also comparatively reliable in interrupting fault currents [6]. There are, however, distribution systems that are operated as meshed networks [6], [69]. In fact, meshed operation may be economical under strict reliability requirements, and it has been argued that, under specific conditions, it may be adequate to facilitate the penetration of distributed generation [70].

Many distribution systems that are operated radially are meshed *in design* – this meaning that there are switches that may be opened or closed to reconfigure the system both in response to a disturbance (e.g., allowing the isolation of a fault) or to enhance operating efficiency (e.g., with respect to ohmic losses) [64]. Evidently, in distribution systems for which radial operation is required in order to achieve protection coordination, any reconfiguration of the network shall comply with radiality constraints.

#### 2.1.4 Unbalance between phases

Distribution systems may be subject to unbalanced conditions due to structural and operational factors [71]. Structural unbalanced relates to aspects such as the existence of single-phase or two-phase circuits (mainly in secondary systems), incomplete transposition of three-phase circuits, asymmetrical wiring of transformers, etc. Operational unbalance is that associated with the uneven distribution of singlephase and two-phase loads within the network, and to unbalanced three-phase loads [71]. Unbalanced operation in distribution systems may lead to increased losses, limit transformer loading and bring additional problems with respect to voltage control [71].

The assessment of the impacts of unbalanced operation in power flow simulations requires the use of an unbalanced three-phase model, allowing the representation of different electrical parameters for each phase of the circuits, as well as permitting the modeling of unbalanced loads. It should be noted, however, that unbalance between phases in the primary distribution system (medium voltage) is less significant than that of the secondary distribution system (low voltage), and that, within the primary distribution system, unbalance is less significant in feeders (usually threephase circuits) than laterals [72].

The ACOPF formulation proposed in this dissertation is based on the equivalent single-phase model for balanced three-phase electrical systems, and does not apply to unbalanced distribution systems. Its primary applicability is therefore to the primary feeder system<sup>4</sup>. As indicated in section 6, the extension of the proposed MILP formulation of the ACOPF model to unbalanced three-phase systems is a possible topic for future work.

## 2.2 The ACOPF for distribution systems

This section is dedicated to the presentation of the non-linear version of the ACOPF problem for distribution systems<sup>5</sup>, with focus on mathematical modeling.

Section 2.2.1 introduces the constraints of the ACOPF, through which the electrical behavior of the network and of bus injections is modeled. Constraints related to equipment operating limits are also presented. Objective functions associated with selected applications of the ACOPF for distribution system operations and expansion planning are presented in section 2.2.2.

Though discrete decisions are briefly mentioned in the following sections, their full mathematical formulation is presented only in chapter 4. Nonetheless, the reference to discrete decisions in this section will allow the reader to notice that the ACOPF for distribution system operations and expansion planning applications is a non-convex, mixed-integer non-linear programming problem (MINLP). Techniques for the reformulation of such problems as mixed-integer linear programs will be presented in chapter 3.

The nomenclature used in this and other chapters of this dissertation has been presented at a specific section of this document, before the introductory chapter.

# 2.2.1 Constraints: modeling electrical behavior and enforcing operating limits

The formulation presented below is based on expressing complex variables in rectangular coordinates (real and imaginary components, as opposed to angles and

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$  It is worth mentioning that, for many of the applications of interest to distribution systems engineers, analyses restricted to the primary feeder system are sufficient – e.g., switchable elements are usually restricted to the feeder system, meaning that reconfiguration studies executed with models restricted to this system will usually lead to satisfactorily accurate results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The reader will notice that the formulation presented here is not yet the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, which will be presented only in chapter 4.
magnitudes), and utilizing voltages and *currents* (as opposed to voltages and *power quantities*) to describe Kirchhoff's laws. The motivation for these modeling choices will be presented further in this document.

### 2.2.1.1 Kirchhoff's Laws

Equations (1) and (2) model Kirchoff's Current Law for all buses in the distribution system:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{km}^{re} = I_{g,k}^{re} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{mk}^{re} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_B$$
(1)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{km}^{im} = I_{g,k}^{im} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{mk}^{im} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_B$$
(2)

where:

| k ; m          | Indices for buses of the distribution system;                                |
|----------------|--|
| $\Omega_B$     | Set of all buses in the distribution system;                                 |
| $\Omega_k$     | Set of buses directly connected to bus $k$ ;                                 |
| $I^{re}_{d,k}$ | Real component of current demanded by load connected to bus k;               |
| $I_{d,k}^{im}$ | Imaginary component of current demanded by load connected to bus $k$ ;       |
| $I_{g,k}^{re}$ | Real component of current generated by generator connected to bus $k$ ;      |
| $I_{g,k}^{im}$ | Imaginary component of current generated by generator connected to bus $k$ ; |
| $I_{km}^{re}$  | Real component of current flowing through the branch connecting buses $k$    |
|                | and $m$ , from bus $k$ to bus $m$ ;  |
| $I_{km}^{im}$  | Imaginary component of current flowing through the branch connecting         |
|                | buses $k$ and $m$ , from bus $k$ to bus $m$ .                                |

The decision variables in equations (1) and (2) are  $I_{d,k}^{re}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{im}$ ,  $I_{g,k}^{re}$ ,  $I_{g,k}^{im}$ ,  $I_{km}^{re}$  and  $I_{km}^{im}$  (continuous decision variables, free in signal).

Equations (3) and (4) model Kirchhoff's Voltage Law for all branches in the distribution system:

$$V_k^{re} - V_m^{re} = I_{km}^{re} \cdot R_{km} - I_{km}^{im} \cdot X_{km} \qquad , \forall km \in \Psi_C$$
(3)

$$V_k^{im} - V_m^{im} = I_{km}^{re} \cdot X_{km} + I_{km}^{im} \cdot R_{km} , \forall km \in \Psi_C$$
(4)

where:

| km         | Index for branches of the distribution system;  |
|------------|---|
| $\Psi_{C}$ | Set of all branches in the distribution system; |
| $V_k^{re}$ | Real component of voltage at bus k;             |
| $V_k^{im}$ | Imaginary component of voltage at bus k.        |

At this point, a few words on the notation employed for in the above definitions are in order. The set  $\Psi_C$  is considered to be a set of ordered pairs, and the first and second entries of each ordered pair correspond to the *from* and *to* buses of a branch in the distribution system. Thus, the element  $\langle k, m \rangle$  of the set  $\Psi_C = \{\langle 1, 2 \rangle, \langle 1, 3 \rangle \cdots \langle k, m \rangle\}$ indicates the distribution circuit that connects bus k to bus m. For the sake of conciseness of notation, we refer to  $\langle k, m \rangle$  simply as km.

The decision variables in equations (3) and (4) that have not yet been identified are  $V_k^{re}$  (continuous, non-negative<sup>6</sup>) and  $V_k^{im}$  (continuous, free in signal).

The constraints represented by equations (1) to (4) are linear, and can therefore be readily represented in linear or mixed-integer linear programs. In fact, the linearity of the equations that describe Kirchhoff's laws is one of the reasons for employing a rectangular formulation for the power flow equations, with basis on voltages and currents (as opposed to voltages and power quantities) values.

For *switchable* branches in the *off* state or for *candidate* branches (candidates for distribution system expansion) that have not been constructed, these constraints must be relaxed. This will be discussed in chapter 4.

#### 2.2.1.2 Generators

As Kirchoff's laws have been formulated with basis on voltages and currents (as opposed to voltages and power quantities), it is necessary to obtain the (voltage-dependent) values of  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  for all generators in the system. This is done with help of equations (5) and (6):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For the typical bus voltage angles verified in distribution systems (considering that the angular reference bus is within the distribution system and that the reference angle is zero),  $V_k^{re}$  may be characterized as a non-negative decision variable.

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \xi_k \cdot g_k^P + \zeta_k \cdot g_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(5)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \zeta_k \cdot g_k^P - \xi_k \cdot g_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(6)

where:

| $\Omega_{GEN}$      | Set of all buses to which generators are connected;     |
|---------------------|---|
| $g_k^P$             | Active power generated by generator at bus <i>k</i> ;   |
| $g_k^Q$             | Reactive power generated by generator at bus <i>k</i> ; |
| $\xi_k$ ; $\zeta_k$ | Auxiliary decision variables, defined below.            |

The auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  are dependent on the real and imaginary components of the voltage at bus *k*, as shown below:

$$\xi_k = V_k^{re} / \left( V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2} \right) \qquad , \forall k \in \{ \Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{PCTE} \}$$
(7)

$$\zeta_k = V_k^{im} / \left( V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2} \right) \qquad , \forall k \in \{ \Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{PCTE} \}$$
(8)

The decision variables in equations (5) to (8) that have not yet been identified are  $\xi_k$  (continuous, non-negative<sup>7</sup>) and  $\zeta_k$  (continuous, free in signal). It is assumed that the reactive power output of all generators in the system is controllable, and  $g_k^Q$  is thus a (continuous) decision variable. Also, if the active power output of the generator at bus kis controllable,  $g_k^P$  is a (continuous) decision variable. Whether  $g_k^P$  and  $g_k^Q$  are nonnegative or free in signal will depend on the bounds defined as inputs for the ACOPF – for typical applications,  $g_k^P$  will be non-negative and  $g_k^Q$  will be free in signal.

The reader will notice that the constraints specified in equations (7) and (8) are enforced not only for the buses pertaining to  $\Omega_{GEN}$ , but also for those in the set  $\Omega_{PCTE}$ . This latter set will be defined in section 2.2.1.3.1.

The non-linear nature of the constraints represented by equations (7) and (8) is evident.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For the typical bus voltage angles verified in distribution systems (considering that the angular reference bus is within the distribution system and that the reference angle is zero),  $\xi_k$  may be characterized as a non-negative decision variable.

#### 2.2.1.3 Loads

Analogously to what has been done for the current injections from generators, it is necessary to define constraints through which the currents  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  will be obtained, for all loads in the system. Those constraints are presented in the following sections, for *constant-power*, *constant-current* and *constant-impedance* loads. These are the three basic components of the widely employed static load model known as *ZIP model* [73]. For the sake of conciseness of presentation, the equations presented below consider that the load at any given bus is modeled as *purely of the constant-power type*, *purely of the constant-current type* or *purely of the constant-impedance type*. Still, the modification of the equations to account for any affine combination of these types of loads is trivial.

#### 2.2.1.3.1 Constant-power loads

The currents demanded by constant-power loads are obtained with help of equations (9) and (10):

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \xi_k \cdot d_k^P + \zeta_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(9)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \zeta_k \cdot d_k^P - \xi_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(10)

where:

$$\Omega_{PCTE}$$
 Set of all buses to which constant-power loads are connected;  
 $d_k^P$  Nominal value of active power demanded by load at bus k;  
 $d_k^Q$  Nominal value of reactive power demanded by load at bus k.

The auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  have already been defined through equations (7) and (8). Constraints (9) and (10) are linear.

#### 2.2.1.3.2 Constant-current loads

Keeping in mind that *constant-current* loads are characterized by the linear variation of the demanded power with respect to bus voltage magnitude [73], the currents demanded by these loads can be obtained with help of equations (11) and (12):

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \eta_k \cdot d_k^P + \kappa_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(11)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \kappa_k \cdot d_k^P - \eta_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(12)

where:

 $Ω_{ICTE}$  Set of all buses to which constant-current loads are connected;  $η_k$ ;  $κ_k$  Auxiliary decision variables, defined below.

The auxiliary variables  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$  are dependent on the real and imaginary components of the voltage at bus *k*, and defined as:

$$\eta_k = V_k^{re} / \sqrt{V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(13)

$$\kappa_k = V_k^{im} / \sqrt{V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(14)

The decision variables in equations (11) to (14) that have not yet been identified are  $\eta_k$  (continuous, non-negative<sup>8</sup>) and  $\kappa_k$  (continuous, free in signal).

Constraints (13) and (14) are clearly non-linear.

#### 2.2.1.3.3 Constant-impedance loads

The currents demanded by constant-impedance loads can obtained with help of the following constraints:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For the typical bus voltage angles verified in distribution systems (considering that the angular reference bus is within the distribution system and that the reference angle is zero),  $\eta_k$  may be characterized as a non-negative decision variable.

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = V_k^{re} \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{\left|z_k^l\right|^2} + V_k^{im} \cdot \frac{X_k^l}{\left|z_k^l\right|^2} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(15)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = V_k^{im} \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{\left|z_k^l\right|^2} - V_k^{re} \cdot \frac{X_k^l}{\left|z_k^l\right|^2} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(16)

where:

| $\Omega_{ZCTE}$ | Set of all buses to which constant-impedance loads are connected; |
|-----------------|---|
| $R_k^l$         | Resistance of constant-impedance load at bus k;                   |
| $X_k^l$         | Reactance of constant-impedance load at bus k;                    |
| $Z_k^l$         | Impedance of constant-impedance load at bus k.                    |

All decision variables in constraints (15) and (16) have been previously identified. The reader will notice that (15) and (16) correspond to linear constraints.

At this point, it is worth recalling that the *nominal value* of the load associated with constant-impedance loads – i.e., the value of the load at the voltage of  $(1 \ge 0^\circ)$  p.u. – is given by:

$$d_k^P = \frac{R_k^l}{|z_k^l|^2}$$
;  $d_k^Q = \frac{R_k^l}{|z_k^l|^2}$ ,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$  (17)

#### 2.2.1.4 Operating limits

#### 2.2.1.4.1 Bounds on bus voltage magnitudes

Constraints that ensure that bus voltage magnitudes are kept within admissible limits are presented below:

$$V_k = \sqrt{V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}} \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(18)

$$\underline{V}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(19)

where:

 $Ω_{REF}$  Set of voltage reference buses in the system;  $V_k$  Magnitude of voltage at bus k;  $\underline{V}_k$ ;  $\overline{V}_k$  Lower and upper bounds for magnitude of voltage at bus k.

The decision variable in equations (18) and (19) that has not yet been identified is  $V_k$  (continuous, non-negative).

The operator  $\setminus$  indicates set difference – i.e.,  $A \setminus B = \{x \in A \text{ and } x \notin B\}$ , where A and B are sets. The reader will notice that constraints (18) and (19) are not enforced for the set of voltage reference buses in the distribution system, as discussed in in section 2.2.1.5.

Constraint (18) is evidently non-linear.

2.2.1.4.2 Bounds on branch currents

At this point, it is important to recall that thermal loading limits of transmission lines are actually related to current loading, despite the fact that, mainly in applications of the ACOPF to transmission systems, it is common to represent these thermal loading constraints approximately as bounds on apparent power flows.

The following constraints ensure that branch current magnitudes are kept within admissible limits:

$$I_{km} = \sqrt{I_{km}^{re}{}^2 + I_{km}^{im}{}^2} \qquad , \forall k \in \Psi_C$$

$$(20)$$

$$I_{km} \le \overline{I}_{km} \qquad , \forall k \in \Psi_{\mathcal{C}}$$

$$(21)$$

where:

 $I_{km}$  Magnitude of current flowing through branch km;

 $\overline{I}_{km}$  Upper bound for magnitude of current flowing through branch km.

The decision variable in equations (20) and (21) that has not yet been identified is  $I_{km}$  (continuous, non-negative).

The reader will notice that (20) is a non-linear constraint.

#### 2.2.1.4.3 Bounds on active and reactive power output of generators

Constraints that ensure that the active and reactive power output of generators are kept within the admissible ranges are presented below:

$$\underline{g}_{k}^{P} \leq \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \leq \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(22)$$

$$\underline{g_k^Q} \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g_k^Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(23)

where:

- $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$  Set of buses to which generators with control over the output of active and reactive power connect;
- $\underline{g_k^P}$ ;  $\overline{g_k^P}$  Lower and upper bounds for active power output of generator at bus k;

$$\underline{g_k^Q}$$
;  $\underline{g_k^Q}$  Lower and upper bounds for reactive power output of generator at bus *k*.

Equations (22) and (23) correspond to linear constraints.

#### 2.2.1.5 Voltage reference buses

If the representation of more than one islanded system in a single ACOPF problem is required, it is necessary to define one (and only one) angular reference bus for each island. For this reason, we refer to the definition of voltage reference *buses* (plural emphasized), which pertain to the set  $\Omega_{REF}$ . Obviously, for any specific ACOPF application that requires the representation of a single electrical island, the cardinality of the set of reference buses will be  $|\Omega_{REF}| = 1$ .

The real and imaginary components of the complex voltage at the angular reference bus may be specified with help of the following constraints:

$$V_k^{re} = V_k^{ref} \cdot \cos\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(24)

$$V_k^{im} = V_k^{ref} \cdot \sin\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(25)

where:

 $V_k^{ref}$  Fixed voltage magnitude of reference bus, an input parameter for the ACOPF;

 $cos \theta_k^{ref}$ ;  $sin \theta_k^{ref}$ 

Cosine and sine of reference angle for reference bus.

As the voltage magnitudes of reference buses are fixed, it is not necessary to enforce constraints (18) and (19) for them, hence the previous definition of these constraints.

If, alternatively, the voltage magnitudes at the reference buses are to be considered decision variables in any specific application, equations (24) and (25) should be substituted for the following constraints:

$$V_k^{re} = V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(26)

$$V_k^{im} = V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(27)

where, as previously stated,  $V_k$  is a continuous decision variable. In this case, constraint (19) shall also be enforced for the set of reference buses.

Constraints (24) to (27) are linear.

#### 2.2.1.6 Slack buses and buses without generators and/or loads

The following set of constraints ensures that the load currents of all buses to which no loads connect are set to zero:

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = I_{d,k}^{im} = 0 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{LOAD}\}$$
(28)

where:

 $\Omega_{LOAD}$  Set of buses to which loads connect,  $\Omega_{LOAD} = \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cup \Omega_{ICTE} \cup \Omega_{ZCTE}\}$ .

The following set of constraints ensures that the generator currents of all buses to which no generators connect are set to zero:

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = I_{g,k}^{im} = 0 \qquad \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{ \Omega_B \setminus \{\Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{SLACK} \} \right\}$$
(29)

where:

 $\Omega_{SLACK}$  Set of all slack buses in the system.

The reader will notice that (29) ensures that the generator currents  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$ may assume any given value for the buses in set  $\Omega_{SLACK}$ . It is important to emphasize that, in the ACOPF problem, it is not necessary that slack buses are defined – an ACOPF problem without slack buses is potentially feasible whenever the generating capacity within the system is sufficient to supply its load and cover ohmic losses. However, for some specific applications, it may be in the interest of the distribution system engineer to define slack buses, and in these cases  $\Omega_{SLACK}$  will be a nonempty set.

It should also be emphasized that it is not necessary that the sets  $\Omega_{SLACK}$  and  $\Omega_{REF}$  coincide – i.e., a slack bus may or may not be a voltage reference bus, and a voltage reference bus may or may not be a slack bus.

#### 2.2.1.7 Radiality constraints

The formulation of radiality constraints demands the use of binary decision variables, and will therefore be presented only in chapter 4. For now, it suffices to indicate that radiality constraints will ensure that each *active bus* in every island of the system will be connected to the *root bus* of that island via one and only one electrical path, with no loops. The *root bus* is that from which the radial network originates, and, for most practical applications, this will be the bus at the interface of the distribution system with the transmission or subtransmission system.

It is worth recalling that, as stated in section 2.1.3, there are distribution systems that are operated in a meshed, and not a radial, fashion. The ACOPF formulation proposed in this dissertation is valid both for meshed and for radial systems – the difference is that, if radiality is required, a specific set of radiality constraints (that will be indicated in chapter 4) must be enforced.

## 2.2.2 Objective functions for selected distribution system operations and expansion planning applications

In this section, the mathematical formulation of objective functions associated with selected applications of the ACOPF for distribution system operations and expansion planning is presented. The equations of this section are potentially non-linear, and their MILP reformulation will be presented in chapter 4. Though applications involving discrete decisions are preliminarily presented here (so that the reader can have a better comprehension of the full problem to which the linearization and convexification techniques presented in chapter 3 will be applied), their full mathematical formulation will be shown only in chapter 4.

Each of the following subsections will begin with the mathematical formulation of an objective function, such as minimization of generation costs, minimization of costs of losses, minimization of load shedding costs, etc. These may be also interpreted as *modules* of a composite objective function – e.g., a given distribution system operations planning application may require the simultaneous minimization of losses *and* of load shedding costs. An enumeration of practical applications of the presented objective functions will follow the mathematical formulation in each subsection. This enumeration aims not at being exhaustive, but only at illustrating the flexibility of the proposed formulation of the ACOPF problem.

The operations and expansion planning applications presented in this chapter involve the evaluation of a single operating point of the distribution grid, which constrains the universe of treatable problems to deterministic, single-stage applications. It is worth mentioning, however, that both the non-linear formulation presented in this chapter and the MILP reformulation presented in chapter 4 may be employed in applications in which more than one operating point is evaluated. Thus, it is theoretically possible to treat stochastic and multi-stage problems – naturally, at the cost of augmented computational requirements –, even though this topic is has not yet been subject to research.

#### 2.2.2.1 Minimization of costs of load shedding

In case of contingencies or disturbances that affect the distribution network, load shedding may be adopted as a last-resource remedial action. As of this writing, most distribution utilities implement load shedding via controlled de-energization of entire segments of the distribution network, mainly by maneuvering switches in the primary distribution feeder system. With this implementation, each load in the network will be either completely de-energized (shed) or will not experience any load shedding at all thus, a representation of the *discrete* nature of the decision to de-energize of each load is required.

Assuming that the costs of load shedding are proportional to the *nominal value* of the loads in the network, the following formulation may be defined:

$$z^{SHED} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{LOAD}} c_k^{SHED} \cdot d_k^P \cdot \rho_k\}$$
(30)

where:

SHED

z<sup>SHED</sup> Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) load shedding costs;  $z^{SHED}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function:

 $\Omega_{LOAD}$ Set of all buses which loads are connected. defined to as  $\Omega_{LOAD} = \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cup \Omega_{ICTE} \cup \Omega_{ZCTE}\};$ 

= 1

$$c_k^{SHED}$$
Cost coefficient associated with load shedding at bus k; $\rho_k$ Binary decision variable that indicates if load at bus k is shed ( $\rho_k$ 

indicates that load is shed).

This discrete modeling of load shedding demands the modification of some of the constraints defined in section 2.2.1. As the modification of these constraints involves the use of discrete decision variables, it will be discussed in details only in chapter 4.

Future technological advancements may facilitate the widespread employment of other load shedding mechanisms, including those in which the utility decides on what parcel of the load to curtail in each bus – i.e., the amount of load shedding in each bus would be a continuous decision variable. If such mechanisms are to be considered in an ACOPF application,  $d_k^p$  should be modeled as a continuous decision variable, and the following objective function would be employed:

$$z^{SHDC} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{LOAD}} c_k^{SHED} \cdot \left(d_k^{P, ref} - d_k^P\right)\}$$
(31)

where:

 $z^{SHDC}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) load shedding costs, considering the case in which  $d_k^P$  is modeled as a continuous decision variable;  $z^{SHDC}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;

 $d_k^{P,ref}$  Reference value (value with no load shedding) of the active load at bus k.

This work will focus on the former formulation of the objective function  $(z^{SHED})$ , as opposed to  $z^{SHDC}$ , as it currently corresponds to the more common practice for the implementation of emergency, last resource load shedding actions. Thus, for all equations presented in this dissertation, with the exception of equation (31),  $d_k^p$  is a parameter (the nominal value of the active load at bus *k*).

The minimization of load shedding costs may compose the objective function in a wide range of applications in distribution operations and expansion planning, such as:

- Elaborations of contingency plans;
- Reliability studies (which would require the evaluation of more than one operating point);
- Comparison of alternatives and estimation of added value of reinforcements, in the context of system expansion planning.

# 2.2.2.2 Minimization of costs of curtailment of non-controllable generation

The distribution utility may not have full control over the output of some of the distributed generators in its network, either due to these generators being located at the consumer side of the meter (assuming that there is no centralized dispatch mechanism in force) or to the fact that they rely on primary energy sources that are essentially non-controllable, as in the case of solar photovoltaic panels. Depending on specific incentive

mechanisms for distributed generation prescribed by regulation in each jurisdiction, it may be in the utility's interest to minimize the curtailment of the output of these kinds of generators - e.g., if penalties or monetary compensations are imposed in case renewable distributed generation is curtailed.

Assuming that the active power output of the distributed generation is not controllable, and that the only response to short-term violation of operating limits caused by these generation is their disconnection from the grid<sup>9</sup>, the objective function for the minimization of costs of curtailment of non-controllable distributed generation may be formulated as follows:

$$z^{GCRT} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}} c_k^{CURT} \cdot g_k^P \cdot \tau_k\right\}$$
(32)

where:

- $z^{GCRT}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) noncontrollable generation curtailment costs;  $z^{GCRT}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;
- $\Omega_{CTRQ}$  Set of buses to which generators with non-controllable active power output (reactive power output assumed to be controllable) connect, defined as  $\Omega_{CTRQ} = \Omega_{GEN} \setminus \Omega_{CTRPQ};$

 $\Omega_{CURT}$  Set of buses to which curtailable generators connect;

 $c_k^{CURT}$  Cost coefficient associated with curtailment of generator at bus k;

 $\tau_k$  Binary variable that indicates if generator is curtailed ( $\tau_k = 1$  indicates that generator is curtailed).

The minimization of the costs of curtailment of non-controllable generation may compose the objective function for applications such as:

- · Determination of the maximum penetration of distribution generation;
- Distribution system expansion and operations planning under explicit modeling of generation curtailment costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Alternatively, we may think of the discrete decision to *curtail* a generator, in the context of mediumterm planning, as an indication of the need to prohibit or postpone its grid connection until future reinforcements ensure technical feasibility. This will be further explored in section 5.2.2.

#### 2.2.2.3 Minimization of generation costs

Assuming that generators with non-controllable active power output have null variable operation costs (or at least null costs perceived by the distribution utility), the objective function for the minimization of variable generation costs within the distribution system may be formulated as follows:

$$z^{GEN} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}} c_k^{GEN} \cdot g_k^P\right\}$$
(33)

where:

- $z^{GEN}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) variable generation costs;  $z^{GEN}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;
- $c_k^{GEN}$  Cost coefficient associated with generation with controllable active power output at bus k.

The minimization of variable generation costs may compose the objective function for applications such as the economic dispatch of generation resources within the distribution system.

#### 2.2.2.4 Minimization of costs of power imports

It may be necessary to model the costs associated with power imports from an external network (the transmission system or even other distribution systems) in a variety of operations or expansion planning applications. One possible way of doing that is by modeling power imports as the output of a *virtual generator*, and employing the objective function defined in section 2.2.2.3.

Another modeling choice would be to represent the bus at the interface with the external network as a *slack bus which is also a reference bus* (implicitly considering this bus as an idealized voltage source), and to associate costs to the infeed of active power at this bus. Considering this, and assuming the most general case in which the reference voltage magnitudes of all buses at the interface with the external network are

considered as decision variables, the formulation of the objective function for the minimization of the costs of power imports would be:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot V_k \cdot \left(\cos\theta_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + \sin\theta_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{im}\right)\}$$
(34)

where:

- $\Omega_{ITFC}$  Set of buses at the interface of the internal network with the external network, considered to be defined as  $\Omega_{ITFC} = \Omega_{SLACK} \cap \Omega_{REF}$ ;
- $z^{IMPR}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) costs of power imports from an external network;  $z^{IMPR}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;

 $c_k^{IMPORT}$  Cost coefficient associated with imports from the external network, at the interface represented as the slack bus *k*.

It should be kept in mind that, as pointed out in section 2.2.1.5, it is necessary to define one (and only one) angular reference bus for each island of the distribution system to be simulated. Thus, for most conceivable practical applications, the voltage angle of all buses in angle of  $\Omega_{ITFC}$  may be set to  $\theta_k^{ref} = 0^\circ$ , without loss of generality. After that, equation (34) may be rewritten as:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}\}$$
(35)

If, besides all modeling assumptions considered so far, the reference voltage magnitude of all buses in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$  is fixed at any arbitrary value  $V_k^{ref}$  (an input parameter of the ACOPF), the last expression may be rewritten as:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot V_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}\}$$
(36)

The minimization of costs associated with power imports from an external network may be employed in application as:

· Least-cost operations and expansion planning studies;

• Determination of the amount of imports to be contracted at the interface with external networks.

#### 2.2.2.5 Minimization of costs of ohmic losses

The total ohmic losses within a given distribution system may be calculated either by summating the losses of each individual circuit, or by determining the difference between the total active power injected into the distribution network and the total active power consumed. The latter option is considered for the definition of the following objective function:

$$z^{LOSS} = \min\{c^{LOSS} \cdot \{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} V_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{ref} + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}} g_k^P + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}} g_k^P + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CURT}} g_k^P \cdot (1 - \tau_k) - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} d_k^P + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} d_k^P \cdot (1 - \rho_k)] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} V_k \cdot d_k^P + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} V_k \cdot d_k^P \cdot (1 - \rho_k)] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} V_k^2 \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{|z_k^l|^2} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} V_k^2 \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{|z_k^l|^2} \cdot (1 - \rho_k)] \}\}$$

$$(37)$$

where:

 $z^{LOSS}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) costs of ohmic losses;  $z^{LOSS}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;

 $c^{LOSS}$  Cost coefficient associated with ohmic losses.

The reader will notice that the first summation at the right portion of equation (37) corresponds to the power imported from external networks. For the sake of conciseness of presentation, we consider the case in which the voltages of all buses in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$  are fixed at  $(V_k^{ref} \ge 0^\circ)$  p.u. However, the other (more general) cases described in section 2.2.2.4 may also be considered while formulating this objective function.

Yet, even under consideration of the simplest case for the imports from external networks, equation (37) is obviously non-linear. Keeping in mind that  $d_k^P$  is a parameter

of the ACOPF, it is clear that the non-linearities are associated with the terms  $V_k \cdot \rho_k$ ,  $V_k^2$  and  $V_k^2 \cdot \rho_k$ .

The cost coefficient  $c^{LOSS}$  may be set to unity if the value of the objective function is to be expressed in MW (or p.u.) rather than in monetary units (\$). In fact, this cost coefficient may be manipulated according to the requirements of the specific application – e.g., if the evaluated operating point is deemed representative of any given time interval, the costs coefficient may be determined by the multiplication of the duration of the interval in hours and the cost of losses in \$/MWh. The same consideration basically applies to all cost coefficients presented so far.

The minimization of (the costs of) ohmic losses may compose the objective function in a wide range of applications in operations and expansion planning, such as:

- · Network reconfiguration studies;
- · Integrated voltage/VAr control planning;
- · Planning of network reinforcements (current carrying-facilities);
- · Capacitor placement and sizing planning;
- Planning of placement and control of distributed generation.

#### 2.2.2.6 Minimization of costs of reinforcements to the distribution system

Expansion planning applications require the determination of the optimal set of reinforcements to the distribution system, usually with focus on new circuits, substations, and equipment for reactive power support. According to the planning objectives of a given utility, the objective function of the planning problem may include different components – one of the most important being the costs of reinforcements. The objective function for the minimization of the costs of network reinforcements is indicated below:

$$z^{REIN} = \min\{\sum_{km \in \Psi_{CD}} c_{km}^{CONST} \cdot \sigma_{km}\}$$
(38)

where:

 $z^{REIN}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) costs of reinforcements to the distribution system;  $z^{REIN}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;

- $\Psi_{CD}$  Set of circuits that represent candidate reinforcements to current-carrying facilities;
- $c_{km}^{CONST}$  Cost associated with construction of reinforcement represented by circuit km;
- $\sigma_{km}$  Binary variable that represents decision of constructing the reinforcement represented by km ( $\sigma_{km} = 1$  indicates that reinforcement is built).

At this point, it is worth mentioning that a fictitious candidate circuit may be used to model either a candidate substation of candidate reactive power support equipment. For that, it suffices to ensure that the bus corresponding to the candidate substation/equipment is only included into the network if the fictitious candidate circuit is built (which can be done by manipulating the equivalent network topology), and set the value of the impedance of the candidate circuit in order to ensure that its inclusion will not materially affect the solution of the ACOPF problem. Naturally, the costs associated with the candidate substation/equipment would be represented via the  $c_{km}^{CONST}$  of the candidate circuit.

Obviously, it is necessary to ensure that the constraints associated with candidate circuits that are not built are relaxed, in the formulation of the ACOPF. As this requires discrete decision variables, this matter will be discussed further only in chapter 4.

#### 2.2.2.7 Minimization of costs of capacitor placement

The capacitor placement problem involves determining the optimal location and sizing of capacitors to be added to the distribution network.

One option to account for the capacitor placement costs while determining the optimal network expansion plan is to employ the same basic formulation described in section 2.2.2.6, and then represent the candidate capacitors as a purely reactive (and capacitive) load at a candidate bus that is connected to the remainder of the system via a fictitious, low-impedance circuit. In this case, the costs of the candidate capacitors would be attributed to the candidate, fictitious circuits.

An alternative for factoring capacitor placement costs into the objective function of an ACOPF is to consider the capacitors as a purely reactive, *"curtailable"* load, and then associate the costs of installing the capacitor to the change of status of this reactive load from *inactive* to *active*. Mathematically, this corresponds to the following objective function:

$$z^{CAPL} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{CAP}} c_k^{CAPL} \cdot (1 - \rho_k)\right\}$$
(39)

where:

- $z^{CAPL}$  Value of the objective function modeling the (minimization of) capacitor placement costs;  $z^{CAPL}$  may also be used as a parcel of a composite objective function;
- $\Omega_{CAP}$  Set of buses with candidate capacitors;
- $c_k^{CAPL}$  Cost coefficient associated with the placement of the candidate capacitor (purely reactive, capacitive load) at bus k;
- $\rho_k$  Binary variable that indicates if the capacitor (purely reactive, capacitive load) is connected to the system ( $\rho_k = 0$  indicates that capacitor was installed and is connected to the system).

As previously mentioned, costs of capacitor placement are considered within distribution system expansion planning applications.

#### 2.2.2.8 Minimization of circuit switching costs

It is not customary to consider switching costs in applications of distribution system operations and planning – normally, the costs of switching actions are considered negligible, and the costs considered in studies of system reconfiguration are those associated with losses, load shedding, etc.

However, the following objective function may be defined for applications in which switching costs are relevant and must be minimized:

$$z = \min\left\{\sum_{km \in \Psi_{SW}^{ON}} c_{km}^{SWITCH} \cdot (1 - \sigma_{km}) + \sum_{km \in \Psi_{SW}^{OFF}} c_{km}^{SWITCH} \cdot \sigma_{km}\right\}$$
(40)

where:

 $\Psi_{SW}^{ON}$  Set of switchable circuits that were originally active (i.e., switched-on) at the situation corresponding to the input data for the ACOPF;

- $\Psi_{SW}^{OFF}$  Set of switchable circuits that were originally inactive (i.e., switched-off) at the situation corresponding to the input data for the ACOPF;
- $\Psi_{SW}$  Set of all switchable circuits in the system,  $\Psi_{SW} = \Psi_{SW}^{ON} \cup \Psi_{SW}^{OFF}$ ;
- $c_{km}^{SWITCH}$

Cost of switching action (cost of changing the status of the switchable circuit) associated with circuit *km*;

 $\sigma_{km}$  Binary variable that represent the desired state of the switchable circuit km( $\sigma_{km} = 1$  indicates that it is desired that the circuit is active;  $\sigma_{km} = 0$  indicates that it is desired that the circuit is inactive).

## 3 SELECTED TECHNIQUES FOR THE REFORMULATION OF NON-LINEAR, NON-CONVEX PROBLEMS AS MIXED-INTEGER LINEAR PROGRAMS

The ACOPF for distribution system operations and expansion planning applications described in chapter 2 is a non-convex, mixed-integer non-linear programming (MINLP) problem. Problems of this class are usually difficult to treat computationally, and even the continuous relaxation of a non-convex MINLP is a global optimization problem [74], likely to be *NP*-hard (non-deterministic polynomial-time hard) [75].

There are, however, techniques that may be applied to approximate the nonlinearities of a MINLP, some of which may be employed to achieve approximations of arbitrary accuracy (i.e., with a level of accuracy arbitrated by the user), and reformulate the problem as a MILP. Solution algorithms for MILP, which are standard features in a wide range of commercially available solvers, may then be used to implicitly treat non-convexities, in a process that involves successively partitioning the domain of decisions variables.

The main advantages of reformulating MINLP problems as MILPs are well summarized by Geiβler [61], in the excerpt reproduced below:

"The advantage of applying mixed integer linear techniques are that these methods are nowadays very mature, that is, they are fast, robust, and are able to solve problems with up to millions of variables. In addition, these methods have the potential of finding globally optimal solutions or at least to provide solution guarantees."

As the excerpt indicates, one practical advantage of reformulating MINLPs as MILPs refers to the maturity of techniques for solving the latter class of problems. It is worth emphasizing that such maturity brings about not the only benefits with respect to computational performance listed in the excerpt, but also advantages associated with the availability of *commercial* solvers for mixed-integer linear programs. That is to say, there are a number of companies that offer commercial-grade solvers that pertain to well-established product lines and may be used to solve mixed-integer linear programs. This is an important advantage from the point of view of industry applications, as it essentially translates into guarantees of longevity, maintainability and prevention of obsolescence of the solver that underlies an optimization solution.

The excerpt from reference [61] also mentions another class of benefits from employing MILP reformulations of MINLPs: the existence of solution guarantees. This also relates to another practical advantage associated with the use of commercial solvers: as those solvers usually provide the user with detailed execution reports, including information on the duality gap displayed on-screen in execution time, the user is able control the quality of the solutions obtained in the course of the algorithm execution and may, if desired, interrupt the optimization algorithm, accepting an intermediate solution *for which the value of the duality gap is known* (i.e., the *quality* of the solution can be controlled).

In the following sections, three convexification and linearization techniques for the reformulation of MINLPs as MILPs are presented. While presenting the techniques, some emphasis will be given to how the determination of the parameters for writing down the equality and inequality constraints may affect the accuracy of the approximation and the computational efforts associated with the solution of mixed-integer linear programs – a concept that will be loosely referred to as *tightness* in this dissertation.

The nomenclature used in this section applies exclusively to the presentation of the linearization and convexification techniques. None of the symbols used here should be interpreted as referring to any of the physical or economic quantities of the ACOPF formulation (either the non-linear version presented at chapter 2 or the MILP reformulation presented at chapter 4).

### 3.1 Disjunctive constraints

In optimization problems involving binary decisions (i.e., decisions of the type *do/don't*), it may be required to represent *disjunctions* of the feasible region that are associated with values of binary decision variables [76]. A disjunction appears when,

according to the value of an auxiliary binary variable (a control variable), one set of constraints is enforced while another is relaxed.

For instance, assume that, in a given problem, either the constraint  $\sum_j a_j^0 \cdot x_j \leq b^0$  is to be enforced when the binary variable *d* assumes the value d = 0, or the constraint  $\sum_j a_j^1 \cdot x_j \leq b^1$  is to be enforced if d = 1. The enforcement of the former constraint implicates in the relaxation of the latter, and vice-versa. This *disjunction* may be modeled with help of the following *disjunctive constraints*:

$$\sum_{i} a_i^0 \cdot x_i - b^0 \le M^0 \cdot d \tag{41}$$

$$\sum_{i} a_{i}^{1} \cdot x_{i} - b^{1} \le M^{1} \cdot (1 - d)$$
(42)

where the numerical value of the constants  $M^0$  and  $M^1$  must be large enough to ensure that constraint (41) is *relaxed* if d = 1 (i.e., that  $\sum_j a_j^0 \cdot x_j - b^0$  will always be smaller than or equal to  $M^0$ ), and that constraint (42) is relaxed if d = 0.

If each decision variable  $x_j$  is known to vary only within the interval  $\underline{x}_j \le x_j \le \overline{x}_j$ , the minimum value of the constants  $M^0$  and  $M^1$  that ensures that the desired constraints are relaxed can be pre-calculated by:

$$M^{0} = \max\{\sum_{j} a_{j}^{0} \cdot x_{j} - b^{0}\} \quad subject \ to \quad \underline{x}_{j} \le x_{j} \le \overline{x}_{j} \quad \forall \ j$$
(43)

$$M^{1} = \max\{\sum_{j} a_{j}^{1} \cdot x_{j} - b^{1}\} \quad subject \ to \quad \underline{x}_{j} \le x_{j} \le \overline{x}_{j} \quad \forall \ j$$
(44)

*Disjunctive constraints* may also be employed when more than two *disjunctions* of the feasible region need to be modeled.

For instance, consider the case in which only one of *N* constraints the type  $\sum_j a_j^i \cdot x_j \leq b^i$ , with  $i \in \{1 \dots N\}$ , is to be enforced at a time. A possible approach is to define *N* binary control variables  $d^i$ , with  $i \in \{1 \dots N\}$ , and to write the following set of equations:

$$\sum_{j} a_{j}^{i} \cdot x_{j} - b^{i} \le M^{i} \cdot \left(1 - d^{i}\right)$$

$$\tag{45}$$

$$\sum_{i} d^{i} = 1 \tag{46}$$

If, analogously to equations (43) and (44), if each decision variable  $x_j$  is known to vary only within the interval  $\underline{x}_j \le x_j \le \overline{x}_j$ , the minimum admissible value of each constant  $M^i$  can be pre-calculated by:

$$M^{i} = \max\{\sum_{j} a_{j}^{i} \cdot x_{j} - b^{i}\} \quad subject \ to \quad \underline{x}_{j} \le x_{j} \le \overline{x}_{j} \ \forall \ j$$

$$(47)$$

The determination of the constants  $M^i$ , which are sometimes called *big-M* parameters and which will be referred to *disjunctive constants*<sup>10</sup> in this dissertation, may be more complex than suggested by the explanation above – there are problems in which the solution of equation (47) is complex, the determination of the bounds of the interval  $\underline{x}_j \leq x_j \leq \overline{x}_j$  is not immediate, or for which the other constraints of the problem may implicitly determine the actual range within which the decision variables may vary (which may be narrower than that defined simply by bounds informed as input parameters).

Nonetheless, defining disjunctive constants with the lowest possible absolute value is desired from the point of view of computational efficiency. This definition of *tight* values for the disjunctive constants is important because solution algorithms for MILPs include an intermediary *relaxation* step, in which integer decision variables are allowed to assume any continuous value – i.e., the associated integrality constraint is *relaxed*. Generally speaking, the closer the feasible space of this relaxed problem is to the *convex hull* of the original mixed-integer linear problem [76], the more computationally efficient will be the solution of a given mixed-integer linear program. The values of disjunctive constraints affect the size of the feasible space for the linear relaxations of the MILP [77]: defining *tight* disjunctive constraints will result in *tighter* linear relaxations – i.e., linear relaxations that are more tightly wrapped around the *convex hull*.

A few words on the nature of the procedure describe above are in order before moving on to section 3.2. The MILP problem obtained after applying disjunctive constraints to represent disjunctions of the feasible space is *not* convex. In fact, the phenomenon that we wish to represent, the disjunction of the feasible space,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> We employ the term *disjunctive constant* in order not to necessarily associate the constants with the letter "M", as other letters, besides "M", will be also used to denote disjunctive constants in chapter 4.

corresponds to a non-convexity. However, the MILP formulation obtained by applying disjunctive constraints is treatable by solution algorithms that inherently treat non-convexities, by constructing a number of partitions of the feasible region and successively investigating these partitions, in an ordered fashion. Thus, disjunctive constraints are not a convexification technique *per se*, but a reformulation technique that allows treating non-convexities through algorithms designed to solve MILP problems.

## 3.2 Special ordered sets of type 2

The concept of ordered sets of decision variables, introduced in [78], may be used in two main classes of optimization applications:

- (i) Special ordered sets of type 1 (SOS1) are those in which no more than one variable may assume a non-zero value in the final solution of an optimization problem. Those ordered sets may be used to treat discrete functions that represent *"multiple choice problems"*, in which a single choice must be made among several discrete alternatives.
- (ii) Special ordered sets of type 2 (SOS2) are those in which no more than two variables may assume a non-zero value in the final solution of an optimization problem, and if two variables are non-zero they must be adjacent (consecutive in their ordering). SOS2 may be used to construct piecewise-linear approximations of non-convex, non-linear functions, such that these approximations can be integrated into a mixed-integer linear program.

The focus of this section will be on SOS2 and, particularly, on their application in piecewise-linear approximations of non-convex, non-linear functions.

Consider the example of Figure 3.1, which depicts a non-convex, non-linear function of a single variable,  $f_{NL}(x)$ , as well as its piecewise-linear approximation, f(x). As indicated in the figure, the value of the function  $f_{NL}(x)$  is calculated at N different *evaluation points*  $\hat{x}^i$ , with  $i \in \{1 \dots N\}$ , thus resulting in N *evaluated values*  $\hat{f}^i$ . Linear segments are then obtained by constructing affine combinations of consecutive  $\hat{f}^i$ . Such an approximation will be linear within each segment, and therefore treatable through classical MILP techniques. The reader will notice that it is necessary that the affine combinations are constructed strictly with basis on consecutive evaluated values

 $\hat{f}^i$ , in order to preserve the representativeness of the approximated function with respect to the original, non-linear one – e.g., it is clear that an affine combination of the evaluated values  $\hat{f}^1$  and  $\hat{f}^5$  of Figure 3.1 would result in a linear segment that bears no resemblance with the original function.



Figure 3.1: Piecewise-linearization f(x) of non-linear functions  $f_{NL}(x)$  and special ordered sets of type 2.

In order to ensure that the segments of the piecewise-linear approximation are built strictly with basis on affine combinations of *consecutive*  $\hat{f}^i$ , the weights associated with every evaluated value are treated as elements of an ordered set, and constraints are added to the MILP formulation to guarantee that at most two of the weights will assume a non-zero value in the final solution of the optimization problem, and any two non-zero values must be consecutive - i.e., the weights are treated as a SOS2. Naturally, as we are dealing with affine combinations, the weights must sum up to unity.

It is also necessary to obtain the argument of the approximated function that corresponds to the function value obtained by the affine combination of  $\hat{f}^i$ . The argument of the approximated function is obtained via an affine combination of the *evaluation points*  $\hat{x}^i$ , using the same weights employed for the affine combination of the *evaluated values*  $\hat{f}^i$ .

In the following, the mathematical formulation corresponding to the procedure described above is presented. Equation (48) corresponds to the *reference row* [78] of this formulation – the constraint by which the value of the argument x is obtained via the convex combination of the evaluated points  $\hat{x}^i$ :

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda^{i} \cdot \hat{x}^{i} = x \tag{48}$$

In equation (87), the continuous decision variables  $\lambda^i$ , with  $i \in \{1 \dots N\}$ , are the weights for the affine combination, and pertain to a SOS2. The constraints for enforcing the special structure of this ordered set will be presented further in this section.

The approximated value of the function, f, is obtained with help of constraint (49), which is usually referred to as the *function row*:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda^{i} \cdot \hat{f}^{i} = f \tag{49}$$

The following constraint ensures that the weights  $\lambda^i$  sum up to unity, and is referred to as the *convexity row*:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda^i = 1 \tag{50}$$

It is now necessary to define constraints to ensure that the set of weights  $\lambda^i$ , with  $i \in \{1 \dots N\}$ , form a special ordered set of type 2 – i.e., constraints that impose that no more than two of those weights may assume non-zero values, and if two weights are non-zero they must be adjacent. This may be done by introducing N binary decision variables  $d^i$ , one for each weight  $\lambda^i$ , and defining the following constraints:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} d^i = 1 \tag{51}$$

$$\lambda^1 \le d^1 \tag{52}$$

$$\lambda^{i} \le d^{i-1} + d^{i} \qquad , \forall \ i \in \{2 \cdots N\}$$
(53)

It is worth mentioning that specialized, efficient branching rules have been proposed for the solution of MILP with SOS2 constraints [78]. These specialized branching rules for SOS2 constraints are currently standard features in most commercial grade optimization solvers [75], [79], for the one-dimensional case.

The procedure presented above applies to the approximation of non-convex, non-linear functions of a single variable. This procedure can be extended for functions of higher dimension.

If a piecewise-approximation of a non-convex, non-linear function of two variables,  $f_{NL}(x, y)$ , is to be constructed, a possible alternative is to determine a *grid* of

evaluation points  $(\hat{x}^i, \hat{y}^j)$ , with  $i \in \{1 \cdots N^x\}$  and  $j \in \{1 \cdots N^y\}$ , and determine the evaluated values  $\hat{f}^{i,j} = f_{NL}(\hat{x}^i, \hat{y}^j)$  at each point of the grid. Within each region delimited by four vertices of the grid (the reader will notice that a *rectangular grid* is assumed here), the approximation f of the non-linear function will be obtained via an affine combination of the corresponding evaluated values. The set of weights  $\lambda^{i,j}$  associated with each point  $(\hat{x}^i, \hat{y}^j)$  is ordered, and constraints must be added to ensure that no more than four weights may assume non-zero values, and that the weights that assume non-zero values are adjacent. A possible mathematical formulation for this procedure is presented below:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N^{\mathcal{X}}} \sum_{j=1}^{N^{\mathcal{Y}}} \lambda^{i,j} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{x}^i \\ \hat{y}^j \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix}$$
(54)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N^{\mathcal{X}}} \sum_{j=1}^{N^{\mathcal{Y}}} \lambda^{i,j} \cdot \hat{f}^{i,j} = f$$
(55)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N^{x}} \sum_{j=1}^{N^{y}} \lambda^{i,j} = 1$$
(56)

The following constraints impose the required structure on the set of weights  $\lambda^{i,j}$ :

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N^{x}} d^{x,i} = 1 \tag{57}$$

$$\lambda^{1,j} \le d^{x,1} \qquad , \forall j \in \{1 \cdots N^y\}$$
(58)

$$\lambda^{i,j} \le d^{x,i-1} + d^{x,i} \qquad , \forall \ i \in \{2 \cdots N^x\}, \ \forall \ j \in \{1 \cdots N^y\}$$

$$(59)$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N^{\mathcal{Y}}} d^{\mathcal{Y},j} = 1 \tag{60}$$

$$\lambda^{i,1} \le d^{y,1} \qquad , \forall \ i \in \{1 \cdots N^x\}$$
(61)

$$\lambda^{i,j} \le d^{y,j-1} + d^{y,j} \qquad , \forall \ i \in \{1 \cdots N^x\}, \ \forall \ j \in \{2 \cdots N^y\} \tag{62}$$

where  $d^{x,i}$ , with  $i \in \{1 \cdots N^x\}$ , and  $d^{x,j}$ , with  $j \in \{1 \cdots N^y\}$ , are binary decision variables.

As previously stated, the procedure described above involves the construction of a *rectangular grid* of points at which the value of the non-linear function is evaluated. Procedures for constructing piecewise-linear approximations of non-linear functions of two variables based on constructing *triangular grids* of evaluation points (triangulation) have been proposed in the technical literature [61], [80], there being evidence that their computational performance is superior to that of procedures based on *rectangular grids*. Yet, such procedures are not considered in this dissertation, and their application to the ACOPF in distribution systems will be the object of future work.

At this point, a few words on the computational requirements for the piecewiselinear approximation of non-convex, non-linear functions with SOS2 are in order. The computational requirements for these approximations grow significantly fast with the dimensions of the functions to be approximated [61]. Thus, non-convex functions of three decisions variables are significantly more complex to treat than functions of two variables, and so on. It is worth mentioning that, as will be seen in chapter 4, the proposed formulation of the ACOPF requires only that functions of two arguments are approximated.

Another observation, immediately drawn from the equations presented in this section, is that the SOS2 approach to dealing with non-convex, non-linear functions of decision variables involves a trade-off between the desired level of approximation accuracy and the computational performance. For instance, Figure 3.1 clearly illustrates that, in arbitrating the number and location of *evaluation points*  $\hat{x}^i$ , the user can control the approximation accuracy. Nevertheless, using more evaluation points leads not only to increased accuracy, but also to an increased number of integer variables and constraints, which may lead to increased computational performance depends on how severe the non-linearities of the function being approximated are. The results displayed in chapter 5 suggest that, for the ACOPF proposed in this dissertation, the computational requirements necessary to ensure satisfactorily accurate solutions are manageable.

Naturally, the choice of the points at which the non-linear function is evaluated directly affects both the accuracy of the piecewise-linear approximation and the computational requirements for the solution of the MILP. Again referring to the example of Figure 3.1, it is clear that adding an evaluation point between  $\hat{x}^4$  and  $\hat{x}^5$  would increase the number of integer variables without substantially increasing the quality of the approximation, and that removing the evaluation point  $\hat{x}^3$  would significant impact the accuracy of the approximation, despite of removing one integer variable. Thus, the *tightness* of the formulation is directly affected by the choice of evaluation points. The reader will notice that the term *tightness* is used here with a

slightly different meaning of that of section 3.1, but still in reference to the definition of parameters that affect accuracy and computational performance.

Before moving on, it is important to mention that using a smaller number of evaluation points will not *necessarily* lead to a faster solution of the MILP for all applications – e.g., if branch-and-bound is being used for the solution of the MILP, it may be that having more evaluation points leads to a particular pattern of investigation of the branch-and-bound tree that allows a faster convergence of the duality gap to zero.

## 3.3 Convex envelopes for bilinear products

*Bilinear products* are products of two continuous decision variables, such as  $x \cdot y$ . Those products are obviously non-convex and non-linear. A possible approach to treat bilinear products within linear programming (LP) formulations (and by extension within MILP formulations) is to substitute them by an auxiliary variable, *z*, and then define constraints that are linear functions of *x* and *y* and that bound *z* within a narrow interval around the true value of  $x \cdot y$ .

The most general case of this approach is to define linear constraints that bound *z* from below and from above – respectively, a convex underestimator and a concave overestimator for the bilinear product. A convex under-estimator is a function u(x, y) such that  $u(x, y) \le x \cdot y$  for all values that *x* and *y* may assume. Analogously, a concave over-estimator is a function o(x, y) such that  $o(x, y) \ge x \cdot y$  in the domain of interest. Together, these form the *convex envelope* for the bilinear product.

The definition of the last paragraph correctly suggests that many different functions may serve as *convex underestimators* and *concave overestimators*. However, there is obviously interest in defining the tightest possible *convex envelope* for the bilinear product. As the auxiliary variable *z* will be allowed to assume any value in the interval  $u(x, y) \le z \le o(x, y)$ , the maximum potential approximation error will obviously depend on how *tightly* the envelope wraps the bilinear product – i.e., on how significant the differences  $x \cdot y - u(x, y)$  and  $o(x, y) - x \cdot y$  can be.

The tightest possible convex envelope for bilinear products  $x \cdot y$  has been determined by McCormick [81], and is thus commonly referred to as *McCormick's envelope*. Assuming x bounded within the interval  $\underline{x} \le x \le \overline{x}$  and y bounded within

 $\underline{y} \le \underline{y} \le \overline{y}$ , McCormick's envelope for the auxiliary variable *z* is defined with help of the following linear constraints:

$$z \ge \underline{x} \cdot y + x \cdot y - \underline{x} \cdot y \tag{63}$$

$$z \ge \overline{x} \cdot y + x \cdot \overline{y} - \overline{x} \cdot \overline{y} \tag{64}$$

$$z \le \underline{x} \cdot \underline{y} + \underline{x} \cdot \overline{y} - \underline{x} \cdot \overline{y} \tag{65}$$

$$z \le \overline{x} \cdot y + x \cdot \underline{y} - \overline{x} \cdot \underline{y} \tag{66}$$

where equations (63) and (64) correspond to the convex under-estimator and equations (65) and (66) to the concave over-estimator for  $x \cdot y$ .

As previously stated, McCormick's envelope is the tightest possible convex envelope for bilinear products. The tightness of McCormick's envelope *for each application*, however, depends on how accurate the upper and lower bounds of the intervals  $\underline{x} \le x \le \overline{x}$  and  $\underline{y} \le y \le \overline{y}$  are defined.

In order to understand that, consider that  $\underline{x} = \underline{y} = 1.0$  and  $\overline{x} = \overline{y} = 1.5$  for a certain application. Assume, however, that a mistake was inadvertently made while defining the upper and lower bounds for the variation of *x* and *y*, and the lower bounds for the interval were wrongfully taken as  $\underline{x} = \underline{y} = 0.5$ . Figure 3.2 indicates the actual value of the product *x*·*y*, as well as the convex underestimator and the concave overestimator for McCormick's envelope when both *x* and *y* are incorrectly considered to vary within [0.5, 1.5]. In this case, the absolute value of the approximation error within the correct domain (i.e., [1.0, 1.5] for *x* and *y*) may be as high as 0.25.



Figure 3.2: Bilinear products and *McCormick's envelope*, considering the *incorrect* lower bound of 0.5 for x and y:  $z = x \cdot y$  (left); overestimator for z (middle); underestimator for z (right).

Consider now that the mistake has been identified and corrected, and that the correct lower bound  $\underline{x} = \underline{y} = 1.0$  has been considered while constructing McCormick's envelope for the bilinear product. In this situation, the convex underestimator and the concave overestimator indicated in Figure 3.3 would be obtained. In order to facilitate the comparison, the range of the axes of all graphs in Figure 3.3 matches that of Figure 3.2. After a comparison of the figures, it becomes clear that the convex envelope indicated in Figure 3.3 is much *tighter* within the domain of interest – i.e., for x and y varying within [1.0, 1.5] – than that of Figure 3.2. In fact, now the maximum absolute value of the approximation error within the domain of interest is 0.0625 (a significant decrease over the 0.25 of the previous paragraph).



Figure 3.3: Bilinear products and *McCormick's envelope*, consider the *correct* lower bound of 1.0 for x and y:  $z = x \cdot y$  (left); overestimator for z (middle); underestimator for z (right).

The previous analysis illustrates the fact that, for any given application, the accuracy of the approximation obtained by McCormick's envelope will be dictated by how *tight* one is able to define the upper and lower bounds on the values that the continuous variables may assume. The closer these parameters match the actual interval in which the continuous decision variables may vary, the better the approximation will be.

Before moving on to the next chapter, it is worth briefly mentioning that analytical expressions for convex envelopes for trilinear and quadrilinear terms (respectively, products of three and four continuous decisions variables) have been proposed in the technical literature [82], [83]. Those are not employed in the MILP formulation proposed in this dissertation.

## 4 THE MILP REFORMULATION OF THE ACOPF FOR DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS

This chapter presents the main technical contribution of this dissertation: the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF problem for distribution systems, with focus on operations and expansion planning applications.

In Section 4.1, the main characteristics of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems are presented, and the practical advantages associated with these characteristics are discussed in detail. The mathematical formulation of the mixed-integer linear program is presented in section 4.2.

While defining the mathematical expressions of section 4.2, reference will be made to a number of parameters that are needed for the use of the linearization and convexification techniques defined in chapter 3: (i) the *disjunctive constants* necessary for the definition of *disjunctive constraints*; (ii) the *evaluation points* and *evaluated values* necessary for the definition of *piecewise-linear approximations with SOS2*; and (iii) the *upper and lower bounds* for the continuous variables whose product is modeled with help of *McCormick's envelope*. As seen in chapter 3, the definition of these parameters affects the accuracy of the approximations and/or the computational requirements for the solution of these parameters, taking advantage of particular characteristics of the distribution system in order to achieve satisfactory trade-offs between accuracy and computational performance.

In section 4.4, reference is made to an alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems. This alternative formulation, which is thoroughly presented in Appendix B (chapter 8), has been investigated as part of the research activities that led to the present dissertation, but abandoned at early stages due to its performance being inferior, with respect to accuracy and computational requirements, to the formulation presented in this fourth chapter.

## 4.1 Main characteristics of the proposed formulation

The main characteristics of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems are directly related to the advantageous features of the proposed formulation, which have been already mentioned in the introductory section of this dissertation, and are reproduced below for the sake of clarity:

- (i) The proposed formulation captures the non-linear behavior of the distribution system with an arbitrarily accurate approximation.
- (ii) The proposed formulation supports both continuous and discrete decisions, respectively via continuous and integer decision variables.
- (iii) The proposed formulation is constructed with basis on conventional physical variables that describe network behavior (bus voltages, branch currents, bus power injections, etc.), yielding significant flexibility in defining a number of possible objective functions for the ACOPF, and extending its applicability to a number of different problems faced by distribution system engineers.
- (iv) The proposed formulation can be solved to global optimality with the use of widely employed and commercially available mixed-integer linear optimization solvers.

The direct relationship of the abovementioned features to the characteristics of the proposed formulation will become clear with the discussion of the next subsections.

## 4.1.1 Rectangular coordinates, current-voltage formulation of Kirchhoff's laws

The first relevant characteristic is that the proposed formulation is based on expressing complex variables in rectangular coordinates (real and imaginary components, as opposed to angles and magnitudes), and utilizing voltages and currents (as opposed to voltages and power quantities) to describe Kirchhoff's laws. As seen in section 2.2.1.1 of this document, this leads to the linearity of the set of constraints describing Kirchhoff's laws. Thus, these linear constraints can be immediately factored into a MILP problem, without the need to employ any transformation (e.g., linearization
or convexification) that may result in approximations or demand the use of integer variables.

As seen in chapter 2, employing rectangular coordinates and describing the behavior of the network via current-voltage equations brings about some non-linearities that would not be verified if the power-voltage formulation of network equations were used: obtaining the current injections corresponding to the power injections of *generators* and *loads of the constant-power* and *constant-current types* require the use of non-linear equations. Nonetheless, the linearization and convexification techniques described in chapter 3 allow dealing with these latter non-linearities efficiently – partially due to the fact that specific characteristics of the distribution system (particularly those described in section 2.1.2, which result in the voltage angles of all buses of typical distribution systems varying within narrow intervals around  $\theta^{ref} = 0^{\circ}$ ) allow conciliating accuracy and computational performance, as we will see later in this chapter.

It is important to emphasize that, even if the power-voltage description of Kirchhoff's laws were to be used, representing loads of the *constant-current type* would demand non-linear equations. Besides, loads of the *constant-impedance type*, which are described exclusively via linear equations when Kirchhoff's laws are described with current-voltage quantities, would require non-linear equations for their description in case Kirchhoff's laws were formulated with basis on voltages and power quantities.

One last advantage of using the current-voltage description of Kirchhoff's laws is that this facilitates the formulation of constraints representing thermal loading limits of overhead lines. Such thermal loading limits are associated with *maximum admissible currents* (despite the fact that these limits are commonly approximated as limits on apparent power flows in many applications), and currents are "natural" decision variables in the proposed formulation.

## 4.1.2 Use of integer decision variables

As stated in the introductory chapter of this dissertation, there are a number of applications in distribution systems operations and expansion planning that involve discrete decisions. The most traditional of these relate to binary decisions on reinforcements to the network (either build *or* do not build the reinforcement) and to

network reconfiguration (a switch is either on or off). Also, depending on the level of detail of the representation of the network and on the necessity to accurately represent operation actions of the distribution company, other discrete decisions may need to be modeled – e.g., the reader will recall that most distribution utilities currently implement load shedding by de-energizing entire segments of the primary distribution feeder system If this procedure is to be simulated, the decision to shed any given load at the distribution system is discrete, as the load is either energized *or* de-energized.

If classical mathematical programming techniques are to be used for the formulation and solution of the ACOPF, the representation of discrete decisions such as those mentioned above require the use of integer decision variables. Notably, binary decisions (of the type do *or* don't) may be formulated by using binary decision variables (which may only assume the values 0 or 1). Naturally, it is also required to represent continuous decisions in the ACOPF problem for distribution system, in order to allow answering questions such as *how much to import from an external network*, or *how much should the output of a given generator be*.

Also, the definition of certain type of constraints may require the use of integer variables. This is the case of constraints for ensuring network radiality, which will be defined further in this chapter.

# 4.1.3 Treatment of non-convexities and non-linearities

The need to model discrete decisions is not the only reason for employing integer decision variables in the proposed reformulation of the ACOPF problem. As seen in section 3.2, the piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex, non-linear functions based on using SOS2 also requires that binary variables are used, in order to impose a certain structure on *ordered sets* of decision variables. It is the structure imposed by binary constraints that allow defining the segments of the piecewise-linear approximation exclusively as convex combinations of *adjacent* evaluated values, and it is the binary variables that contain the information of *which segment* of the piecewise-linear approximated function is *active* at the solution of the optimization problem. The auxiliary binary decision variables are of uttermost importance: as only one of the linear segments of the piecewiwe-linear approximation is active at a time, and as a linear

segment is convex (and obviously linear) by definition, the piecewise-linear approximation may be factored into a mixed-integer linear program.

Also, the procedure described in section 3.2 may be used to obtain approximations of arbitrary accuracy – i.e., with a level of accuracy arbitrated by the user and directly related to the number of segments used to approximate the original non-convex, non-linear function. Enhanced accuracy comes at the cost of augmented computational complexity – but the case study results in chapter 5 will show that, for the problem at hand and when particular characteristics of the distribution system are correctly taken into account while determining the parameters used to write down the constraints, satisfactory compromises between accuracy and computational performance can be achieved. This is partially related to the fact that the approximated functions have low dimensions (i.e., they are not functions with a large number of arguments) and are fairly well behaved.

It is worth mentioning that, among the two techniques presented in chapter 3 for producing approximations of non-convex, non-linear functions, only that based on piecewise-linear approximations with the use of SOS2 constraints (section 3.2) may always have its accuracy directly controlled by the user. The accuracy of the approximation obtained with McCormick's envelope (section 3.3) for products of two continuous decision variables  $x \cdot y$  is implicitly determined by the lower and upper bounds on x and y. However, the reader will notice that there are no impediments for employing a SOS2-based piecewise-linear approximation of two continuous decision variables – thus, if needed, the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF may be made entirely independent of McCormick's envelope, which results in the approximation accuracy always being controlled by the user. In fact, a SOS2-based reformulation of the bilinear products that appear in the constraints used for obtaining generator current injections is presented in Appendix C (section 9) of this dissertation, and used in the case study of section 5.2.3.

### 4.1.4 Final formulation as a MILP

All of the features mentioned above can be accommodated within a MILP formulation. This leads to a class of benefits that can hardly be overestimated, and are associated with the maturity of the techniques and commercial-grade software packages

dedicated to the solution of mixed-integer linear programs, as extensively described at the beginning of chapter 3.

# 4.2 Mathematical formulation

As in chapter 2, the constraints employed for modeling the behavior of the network and enforcing operating limits will be presented first. This is done in subsection 4.2.1. Objective functions for selected distribution system operations and expansion planning applications will be presented in subsection 4.2.2.

# 4.2.1 Constraints: modeling electrical behavior and enforcing operating limits

## 4.2.1.1 Kirchhoff's Laws

The constraints presented in subsection 2.2.1.1 for modeling Kirchhoff's Current Law are entirely linear, and can be factored into a MILP without any modification. For the sake of clarity, constraints (1) and (2) of subsection 2.2.1.1 are reproduced below:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{km}^{re} = I_{g,k}^{re} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{mk}^{re} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_B$$
(67)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{km}^{im} = I_{g,k}^{im} + \sum_{m \in \Omega_k} I_{mk}^{im} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_B$$
(68)

One of the main reasons for proposing a MILP reformulation of the ACOPF was to model decisions regarding the change of status of branches of the network: branches may be *active* or *inactive*. For switchable circuits, the states *active* and *inactive* correspond to *switched-on* or *switched-off*; for candidate reinforcements for distribution system expansion, these states correspond to *built* or *not built*.

Normally, it is not all branches of the distribution network that can have their status modified: there may be many existing, non-switchable branches that are always active. For these circuits, the following constraints model Kirchhoff's Voltage Law:

$$V_{k}^{re} - V_{m}^{re} = I_{km}^{re} \cdot R_{km} - I_{km}^{im} \cdot X_{km} , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\} \right\}$$
(69)

$$V_k^{im} - V_m^{im} = I_{km}^{re} \cdot X_{km} + I_{km}^{im} \cdot R_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\} \right\}$$
(70)

The reader will notice that the expressions above are virtually identical to (3) and (4) of section 2.2.1.1 – the only difference being that (68) and (69) are not defined for all branches in the system (the set  $\Psi_C$ ), but only for non-switchable and non-candidate branches (i.e., branches in the set { $\Psi_C \setminus {\{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}}$ }).

For branches whose status corresponds to a decision variable of the ACOPF (switchable branches or candidate branches), it is necessary that Kirchhoff's Voltage Law is enforced whenever the circuit is active (i.e., whenever  $\sigma_{km} = 1$ ), but relaxed whenever the branch is inactive (i.e., whenever  $\sigma_{km} = 0$ ). In order to do that, the following disjunctive constraints are defined:

$$W_{km}^{VL,re,l} \cdot (1 - \sigma_{km}) \leq V_{k}^{re} - V_{m}^{re} - I_{km}^{re} \cdot R_{km} + I_{km}^{im} \cdot X_{km} \leq W_{km}^{VL,re,u} \cdot (1 - \sigma_{km}), \forall km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(71)  
$$W_{km}^{VL,im,l} \cdot (1 - \sigma_{km}) \leq V_{k}^{im} - V_{m}^{im} - I_{km}^{re} \cdot X_{km} - I_{km}^{im} \cdot R_{km} \leq W_{km}^{VL,u} \cdot (1 - \sigma_{km}), \forall km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(72)

where:

 $W_{km}^{VL,re,l}$ ;  $W_{km}^{VL,re,u}$ 

Disjunctive constants for Kirchhoff's Voltage Law (difference among the real components of terminal bus voltages);

 $W_{km}^{VL,im,l}$ ;  $W_{km}^{VL,u}$ 

Disjunctive constants for Kirchhoff's Voltage Law (difference among the imaginary components of terminal bus voltages).

In section 4.3.1, it is shown how to determine the constants defined above.

Constraints (71) to (72) are not the only disjunctive constraints that need to be formulated to ensure the correct modeling of inactive branches. Obviously, the real and imaginary components of the current flowing through inactive branches must be forced to zero. In order to do that, the following disjunctive constraints are added to the MILP model:

$$-W_{km}^{CL} \cdot \sigma_{km} \le I_{km}^{re} \le W_{km}^{CL} \cdot \sigma_{km} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(73)

$$-W_{km}^{CL} \cdot \sigma_{km} \le I_{km}^{im} \le W_{km}^{CL} \cdot \sigma_{km} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(74)

where:

 $W_{km}^{CL}$  Disjunctive constant for the disjunctive constraints that force the real and imaginary parts of the current flowing through an inactive branch to zero.

The definition of  $W_{km}^{CL}$  will also be dealt with in section 4.3.1.

# 4.2.1.2 Generation

At this point, it is adequate to recall the definition of the following sets:

| $\Omega_{GEN}$   | Set of all buses to which generators connect;                               |
|------------------|---|
| $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$ | Set of buses to which generators with control over the output of active and |
|                  | reactive power connect;   |
| $\Omega_{CTRQ}$  | Set of buses to which generators with non-controllable active power output  |
|                  | (but with reactive power output assumed to be controllable) connect;        |
| $\Omega_{CURT}$  | Set of buses to which curtailable generators connect;                       |
| $\Omega_{NCRT}$  | Set of buses to which non-curtailable generators connect.                   |

It is assumed that, for the distribution system planning applications of interest, there will be no need to associate costs with the curtailment of generators with controllable active power output. Therefore, only generators with non-controllable power output may be in  $\Omega_{CURT}$ . – i.e., the intersection  $\Omega_{CURT} \cap \Omega_{CTRPQ}$  corresponds to an empty set.

In the following subsections, the mathematical formulation of the constraints that model current injections for each type of generator is presented. The formulation of the following subsections makes use of McCormick's envelopes. As previously stated, a formulation that eliminates the need to employ McCormick's envelopes, and relies solely on SOS2-based piecewise-linear approximations, is presented in Appendix C (section 9) of this dissertation.

#### 4.2.1.2.1 Non-curtailable generators with no control over the active power output

The current injections from generators that pertain to  $\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\}$  are modeled with help of the following constraints:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \xi_k \cdot g_k^P + m_k^{Q,re} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(75)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \zeta_k \cdot g_k^P - m_k^{Q,im} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(76)

where:

$$m_k^{Q,re}$$
Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product  $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^Q$  $m_k^{Q,im}$ Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product  $\xi_k \cdot g_k^Q$ 

The auxiliary decision variables  $m_k^{Q,re}$  and  $m_k^{Q,im}$  are free in signal.

The reader will recall that, for generators with no control over the active power output,  $g_k^p$  is a parameter (and not a decision variable).

There are a number of constraints needed for defining the auxiliary decision variables that appear in equations (76) and (77):  $\xi_k$ ,  $\zeta_k$ ,  $m_k^{Q,re}$  and  $m_k^{Q,im}$ .

The auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  will be approached first. As seen in section 2.2.1.2, these auxiliary decision variables represent non-convex, non-linear functions of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$  – i.e., they are both functions of two variables. For the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, piecewise-linear approximations of these non-convex, non-linear functions will be employed. Using the technique based on SOS2 and described in section 3.2, the following set of equations may be used for the definition of  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$ :

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{r,s} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\xi}_k^{r,s} \\ \hat{\zeta}_k^{r,s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \xi_k \\ \zeta_k \end{bmatrix} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{PCTE}\}$$
(77)

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{r,s} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{V}_k^{re,r} \\ \hat{V}_k^{im,s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V_k^{re} \\ V_k^{im} \end{bmatrix} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(78)

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{r,s} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(79)

where:

 $\Gamma^{re}$ Set of indices for evaluation points  $\hat{V}_k^{re,r}$  and associated variables; $\Gamma^{im}$ Set of indices for evaluation points  $\hat{V}_k^{im,s}$  and associated variables; $\hat{V}_k^{re,r}$ Evaluation points of real component of voltage at bus k; $\hat{V}_k^{im,s}$ Evaluation points of imaginary component of voltage at bus k; $\hat{V}_k^{r,s}$ Evaluated values of function  $\xi_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus k; $\hat{\xi}_k^{r,s}$ Evaluated values of function  $\zeta_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus k; $\hat{\lambda}_k^{r,s}$ Weights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex, non-linear functions of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ .

Section 4.3.2 deals with the definition of the *evaluation points* and *evaluated* values  $\hat{V}_k^{re,r}$ ,  $\hat{V}_k^{im,s}$ ,  $\hat{\xi}_k^{r,s}$  and  $\hat{\zeta}_k^{r,s}$ .

The vector equations (77) and (78) correspond respectively to the *function row* and to the *reference row* for the piecewise-linear approximation, while (79) is the *convexity row*.

The reader will notice that equations (78) and (79) are defined for all buses in the system, except the voltage reference buses. This is due to the fact these same equations will be used for constructing a piecewise-linear approximation of the square root function through which the voltage magnitude of each bus is obtained, as described in subsection 4.2.1.4.1. The reader will recall that the voltage magnitude for the voltage reference bus is either fixed or it consists of a "natural" decision variable, and therefore the *implicit determination* of the bus voltage magnitude at voltage reference buses is not necessary.

Equation (77) is defined for all buses with generators and all buses with constant-power loads, as these are the buses for which the auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  are defined, as these variables are needed to obtain the current injections corresponding to power injections.

Having defined (77) to (79), it is necessary to define constraints that ensure that the weights  $\lambda_k^{r,s}$  form a SOS2:

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} x_k^r = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(80)

$$\lambda_k^{1,s} \le x_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ s \in \Gamma^{im}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(81)

$$\lambda_k^{r,s} \le x_k^{r-1} + x_k^r \qquad , \forall \ r \in \left\{ \Gamma^{re} \setminus \{1\} \right\}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF} \}$$
(82)

$$\sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} y_k^s = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(83)

$$\lambda_k^{r,1} \le y_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ r \in \Gamma^{re}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(84)

$$\lambda_k^{r,s} \le y_k^{s-1} + y_k^s \qquad , \forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \left\{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \{1\}\right\}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(85)

where:

 $x_k^r$ ;  $y_k^s$  Auxiliary binary decision variables.

Having dealt with the definition of  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$ , it is necessary to indicate the constraints for the definition of  $m_k^{Q,re}$  and  $m_k^{Q,im}$ . As previously stated, these auxiliary variables are used for approximating the product of continuous decision variables. For their definition, it is possible either to use piecewise-linear approximations or to employ McCormick's envelope.

At this point, an option is made for the latter procedure, and the following constraints are defined:

$$m_{k}^{Q,re} \geq \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \zeta_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(86)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,re} \geq \overline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \zeta_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \overline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(87)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,re} \leq \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \zeta_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(88)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,re} \leq \zeta_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \zeta_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \zeta_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(89)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \geq \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(90)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \geq \overline{\xi}_{k} - \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} + \underline{\xi}_{k} - \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \geq \xi_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \xi_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \xi_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \leq \xi_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \xi_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \xi_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(91)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \leq \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \leq \overline{\xi}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - \overline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(92)$$

where:

$$\underline{\xi}_k$$
;  $\overline{\xi}_k$  Lower and upper bounds for the values that  $\xi_k$  may assume;  
 $\underline{\zeta}_k$ ;  $\overline{\zeta}_k$  Lower and upper bounds for the values that  $\zeta_k$  may assume.

The lower and upper bounds for  $g_k^Q$  are inputs for the ACOPF, as they depend on particular characteristics of each generator. The definition of the lower and upper bounds for  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  will be dealt with in section 4.3.3.

The reader will notice that constraints (86) to (93) have been defined for all generators of the system (i.e.,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$ ), and not only for the generators that pertain to  $\{\Omega_{CTRPQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\}$ . This is due to the fact that all generators in the system are assumed to have control over their reactive power output, and it is therefore necessary to determine the approximation of the bilinear products  $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^Q$  and  $\xi_k \cdot g_k^Q$  for the whole set  $\Omega_{GEN}$ .

It is worth mentioning that, despite the fact that McCormick's envelopes have been used for the formulation of the constraints used for obtaining the current injections from generators in in this section, there are alternative formulations that completely eliminate the need to employ the convex envelopes. An alternative formulation, based on treating the generator currents  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  as functions of three continuous decision variables – i.e.,  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$  – and constructing a piecewise-linear approximation of these functions with help of SOS2, is presented in Appendix C (section 9.1) of this dissertation.

#### 4.2.1.2.2 Curtailable generators with no control over the active power output

As already discussed in subsection 2.2.2.2, generation curtailment is considered to be a discrete decision in the proposed formulation: the generator at bus k will be considered to be either energized ( $\tau_k = 0$ ) or de-energized ( $\tau_k = 1$ ).

Therefore, it is necessary to ensure that, if the generator connected to bus k is curtailed, its current injections will be forcefully set to zero. In order to do that, the following set of *disjunctive constraints* will be defined for generators that pertain to  $\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$  (i.e., for curtailable generators with no control over their active power input):

$$M_{k}^{G,re,1} \cdot \tau_{k} \leq I_{g,k}^{re} - \xi_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} - m_{k}^{Q,re} \leq M_{k}^{G,re,2} \cdot \tau_{k}$$
$$, \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(94)

$$M_{k}^{G,re,3} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k}) \leq I_{g,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{G,re,4} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k})$$

$$,\forall k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$

$$(95)$$

$$M_{k}^{G,im,1} \cdot \tau_{k} \leq I_{g,k}^{im} - \zeta_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + m_{k}^{Q,im} \leq M_{k}^{G,im,2} \cdot \tau_{k}$$

$$,\forall k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$

$$M_{k}^{G,im,3} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k}) \leq I_{g,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{G,im,4} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k})$$

$$(96)$$

$$,\forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(97)

where:

$$M_{k}^{G,re,1}; M_{k}^{G,re,2}; M_{k}^{G,re,3}; M_{k}^{G,re,4}; M_{k}^{G,im,1}; M_{k}^{G,im,2}; M_{k}^{G,im,3}; M_{k}^{G,im,4}$$

Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for modeling generation curtailment.

The definition of these disjunctive constants will be dealt with in section 4.3.1.

The reader will notice that the constraints needed for determining the value all auxiliary decision variables that appear in (94) to (97) have already been defined, as many of the constraints of previous sections have been defined for sets that include  $\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$  as a subset.

#### 4.2.1.2.3 Generators with control over the active power output

Generators with control over the active power output are considered to be noncurtailable. This assumption is based on the fact that, as these generators can simply set their output to zero, it is not required to model their curtailment and to attribute a cost to it.

The current injections from generators that pertain to  $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$  are modeled with help of the following constraints:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = m_k^{P,re} + m_k^{Q,re} , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(98)  
$$I_{g,k}^{im} = m_k^{P,im} - m_k^{Q,im} , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(99)

where:

 $m_k^{P,re}$  Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product  $\xi_k \cdot g_k^P$ ;

# $m_k^{P,im}$ Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^P$ .

For the generators that pertain to  $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$ ,  $g_k^P$  is a continuous decision variable. Thus, products of two decision variables appear once again. These products may be approximated either by a piecewise-linear function constructed with help of SOS2, or via McCormick's envelope. An option is made for the latter procedure, and the following constraints are defined:

$$m_k^{P,re} \ge \underline{\xi}_k \cdot g_k^P + \underline{\xi}_k \cdot \underline{g}_k^P - \underline{\xi}_k \cdot \underline{g}_k^P \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(100)

$$m_{k}^{P,re} \geq \overline{\xi}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + \xi_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - \overline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$m_{k}^{P,re} \leq \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + \xi_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - \underline{\xi}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(101)$$

$$m_{k}^{P,re} \leq \overline{\overline{\xi}}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + \xi_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - \overline{\overline{\xi}}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(103)

$$m_{k}^{P,lm} \geq \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} + \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - \underline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(104)

$$a_{k}^{P,im} \geq \overline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + \zeta_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - \overline{\zeta}_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(105)$$

$$a_{k}^{P,im} \leq \zeta_{k} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + \zeta_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - \zeta_{k} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(106)$$

$$n_k^{P,im} \le \underline{\zeta}_k \cdot g_k^P + \zeta_k \cdot \overline{g}_k^P - \underline{\zeta}_k \cdot \overline{g}_k^P \qquad (106)$$

$$m_k^{P,lm} \le \overline{\zeta}_k \cdot g_k^P + \zeta_k \cdot \underline{g}_k^P - \overline{\zeta}_k \cdot \underline{g}_k^P \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(107)

The auxiliary decision variable  $m_k^{P,re}$  may be free in signal or non-negative, depending on the upper and lower bounds defined for  $g_k^P$ , whereas  $m_k^{P,im}$  is always free in signal. Typically,  $g_k^P$  and  $m_k^{P,re}$  will be non-negative. The lower and upper bounds for  $g_k^P$  are inputs for the ACOPF, and vary by generator. The constraints needed for defining all auxiliary decision variables that appear in (100) to (107) have already been defined.

A discussion similar to that of the end of subsection 4.2.1.2.1 applies here: it is possible to define an alternative formulation of the constraints used for obtaining the current injections from generators that control their active power output that completely eliminates the need to employ McCormick's envelopes. This formulation is based on treating the generator currents as functions of four decision variables – i.e.,  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$  – and then constructing piecewiselinear approximations of these functions, with help of SOS2. By using this alternative formulation and eliminating the need to employ McCormick's envelopes, the user may arbitrate the accuracy of the approximation of the generation currents (which is not possible when McCormick's envelopes are used). This alternative formulation is presented in Appendix C (section 9.2). Yet, it should be kept in mind that enhancing the accuracy of the piecewise-linear approximation by augmenting the number of evaluation points may result in additional computational requirements. This matter will be discussed further in 5.2.3 of this dissertation, in which both the formulation presented above and the formulation that does not employ McCormick's envelopes are used in the solution of a case study.

#### 4.2.1.3 Loads

In the following subsections, *constant-power*, *constant-current* and *constant-impedance* loads are treated separately – these types of loads are those that pertain respectively to the sets  $\Omega_{PCTE}$ ,  $\Omega_{ICTE}$  and  $\Omega_{ZCTE}$ . For each type of load, separate subsections will deal with loads *that cannot be shed* and loads *that can be shed*.

At this point, it is necessary to remember the definition of the following sets:

 $\Omega_{SHED}$  Set of all buses to which loads that can be shed are connected;

 $\Omega_{NSHD}$  Set of all buses to which loads that cannot be shed are connected.

#### 4.2.1.3.1 Constant-power loads that cannot be shed

Equations (9) and (10) of section 2.2.1.3.1 may be used to define the currents demanded by constant-power loads that cannot be shed. These constraints are reproduced below, for the sake of clarity:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \xi_k \cdot d_k^P + \zeta_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$$
(108)

$$I_{d,k}^{lm} = \zeta_k \cdot d_k^P - \xi_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$$
(109)

The constraints needed for defining the auxiliary decision variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  have already been defined.

#### 4.2.1.3.2 Constant-power loads that can be shed

As indicated in subsection 2.2.2.1, load shedding is considered to be a discrete decision: the load at bus k will be considered to be either energized ( $\rho_k = 0$ ) or deenergized ( $\rho_k = 1$ ). When the load at bus k is shed, it is obviously necessary to ensure that the associated currents will be forcefully set to zero.

Thus, the following disjunctive constraints may be used to model loads of the constant-power type that may be shed:

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{re} - \xi_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{P} - \zeta_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{Q} \leq M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
$$, \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(110)

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,3} \cdot (1-\rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,4} \cdot (1-\rho_{k})$$
$$\forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(111)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{im} - \zeta_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{P} + \xi_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{Q} \leq M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
(111)

$$\forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(112)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,3} \cdot (1-\rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,4} \cdot (1-\rho_{k})$$
$$,\forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(113)

where:

$$\begin{split} & M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,1} ; M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,2} ; M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,3} ; M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,4} \\ & M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,1} ; M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,2} ; M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,3} ; M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,4} \end{split}$$

Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for modeling shedding of loads of the constant-power type.

Section 4.3.1 will deal with the definition of these disjunctive constants.

The constraints needed for defining the auxiliary decision variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  have been already defined.

#### 4.2.1.3.3 Constant-current loads that cannot be shed

Equations (11) and (12) of section 2.2.1.3.2 may be used to define the currents demanded by constant-current loads that cannot be shed. These equations are reproduced below, with slight modifications regarding the set of buses for which the constraints are defined:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \eta_k \cdot d_k^P + \kappa_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$$
(114)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \kappa_k \cdot d_k^P - \eta_k \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$$
(115)

It is necessary to present the constraints needed for the definition of the auxiliary decision variables  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$ . As seen in section 2.2.1.3.2, the auxiliary decision variables  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$  represent non-convex, non-linear functions of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ . For the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, piecewise-linear approximations of these non-convex, non-linear functions will be employed. Using the technique based on the construction of SOS2, the following vector equation may be employed for the definition of  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$ :

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{r,s} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\eta}_k^{r,s} \\ \hat{\kappa}_k^{r,s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \eta_k \\ \kappa_k \end{bmatrix} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(116)

where:

$$\hat{\eta}_{k}^{r,s} \qquad \text{Evaluated values of function } \eta_{k}(V_{k}^{re}, V_{k}^{im}), \text{ for bus } k;$$
  
$$\hat{\kappa}_{k}^{r,s} \qquad \text{Evaluated values of function } \kappa_{k}(V_{k}^{re}, V_{k}^{im}), \text{ for bus } k.$$

The reader will notice that, at this point, it is only necessary to define the vector equation corresponding to the *function row* of the piecewise-linearization, as all other necessary constraints have already been defined in section 4.2.1.2.1. A simple verification of the equations presented in section 4.2.1.2.1 will indicate that the sets for which equations (78) to (85) have been defined already include the set  $\Omega_{ICTE}$ .

It is also clear that the constraint corresponding to equation (116) is defined not only for the loads in  $\{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$ , but to all loads of the current-type.

Section 4.3.2 deals with the definition of the *evaluated values*  $\hat{\eta}_k^{r,s}$  and  $\hat{\kappa}_k^{r,s}$ .

#### 4.2.1.3.4 Constant-current loads that can be shed

As load shedding is considered to be a discrete decision, the following disjunctive constraints may be used for modeling loads of the constant-current type that may be shed:

$$M_{k}^{D,ICTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{re} - \eta_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{P} - \kappa_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{Q} \leq M_{k}^{D,ICTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(117)
$$M_{k}^{D,ICTE,3} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{D,ICTE,4} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})$$

$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(118)

$$M_{k}^{D,ICTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{im} - \kappa_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{P} + \eta_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{Q} \leq M_{k}^{D,ICTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(119)

$$M_{k}^{D,ICTE,3} \cdot (1-\rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{D,ICTE,4} \cdot (1-\rho_{k})$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(120)

where:

$$\begin{split} &M_k^{D,re,ICTE,1}; M_k^{D,re,ICTE,2}; M_k^{D,re,ICTE,3}; M_k^{D,re,ICTE,4} \\ &M_k^{D,im,ICTE,1}; M_k^{D,im,ICTE,2}; M_k^{D,im,ICTE,3}; M_k^{D,im,ICTE,4} \end{split}$$

Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for modeling shedding of loads of the constant-current type.

Section 4.3.1 will deal with the definition of the disjunctive constraints.

The constraints needed for defining the auxiliary decision variables  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$  have already been defined.

#### 4.2.1.3.5 Constant-impedance loads that cannot be shed

Equations (15) and (16) of section 2.2.1.3.3 may be used to define the currents demanded by constant-impedance loads that cannot be shed. These equations are reproduced below, with slight modifications regarding the set of buses for which the constraints are defined:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = V_k^{re} \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{|Z_k^l|^2} + V_k^{im} \cdot \frac{X_k^l}{|Z_k^l|^2} \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$$
(121)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = V_k^{im} \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{\left|z_k^l\right|^2} - V_k^{re} \cdot \frac{x_k^l}{\left|z_k^l\right|^2} \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}$$
(122)

Equations (121) and (122) are linear and can be readily incorporated to a MILP.

4.2.1.3.6 Constant-impedance loads that can be shed

As load shedding is considered to be a discrete decision, the following disjunctive constraints may be used for modeling loads of the constant-impedance type that can be shed:

$$M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{re} - V_{k}^{re} \cdot \frac{R_{k}^{l}}{\left|z_{k}^{l}\right|^{2}} - V_{k}^{im} \cdot \frac{X_{k}^{l}}{\left|z_{k}^{l}\right|^{2}} \leq M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
$$,\forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(123)

$$M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,3} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,4} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(124)

$$M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{im} - V_{k}^{im} \cdot \frac{R_{k}^{l}}{|z_{k}^{l}|^{2}} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \frac{X_{k}^{l}}{|z_{k}^{l}|^{2}} \leq M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(125)

(125)

$$M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,3} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{D,ZCTE,4} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(126)

where:

$$\begin{split} &M_k^{D,re,ZCTE,1}; M_k^{D,re,ZCTE,2}; M_k^{D,re,ZCTE,3}; M_k^{D,re,ZCTE,4} \\ &M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,1}; M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,2}; M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,3}; M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,4} \end{split}$$

Disjunctive constants for the disjunctive constraints employed for modeling shedding of loads of the constant-impedance type.

Section 4.3.1 will deal with the definition of the disjunctive constraints mentioned above.

# 4.2.1.4 Operating limits

#### 4.2.1.4.1 Bounds on bus voltage magnitudes

The magnitude of the voltage at bus k is a non-linear, non-convex function of the real and imaginary components of the voltage at this bus, as indicated in section 2.2.1.4.1. It is thus necessary to obtain an approximation of this decision variable - which will be done with help of the technique presented in section 3.2 of this dissertation. The following equation may be employed for the definition of  $V_k$ :

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{r,s} \cdot \hat{V}_k^{r,s} = V_k \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(127)

where:

 $\hat{V}_k^{r,s}$  Evaluated values of function  $V_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for bus k.

The equation above corresponds to the *function row* for the piecewise-linear approximation. The reader will recall that all other necessary constraints have already been defined in section 4.2.1.2.1.

After using (127) to obtain an approximation of  $V_k$ , the following constraint may be used to impose bounds on this variable:

$$\underline{V}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(128)

4.2.1.4.2 Bounds on the magnitude of branch currents

Analogously to what has been seen in the previous section, the magnitude of the current flowing through branch *km* is a non-linear, non-convex function of its real and imaginary components. Thus, an approximation of this non-convex, non-linear function will be required for the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF.

When constructing a piecewise-linear approximation of the bus voltage magnitude, the fact that there were several other decision variables that were non-convex, non-linear functions of the real and imaginary components of the bus voltage at each bus was taken advantage of. Taking that into account, it was only necessary to define constraints referring to the *function row* of piecewise-linear approximation technique described in section 3.2.

This is not the case for the real and imaginary components of the branch currents – there are no other non-linear functions of these variables.

As the only function of the real and imaginary components of the branch currents that will need to be approximated is the magnitude of the corresponding complex quantity, the fact that the function  $I_{km} = \sqrt{(I_{km}^{re})^2 + (I_{km}^{im})^2}$  is symmetric about the origin can be used for reducing the number of *evaluation points* needed to obtain the piecewise-linear approximation.

In order to do that, it is first necessary to define auxiliary variables that will be at least as high as the modulus of the components  $I_{km}^{re}$  and  $I_{km}^{im}$ . This may be done with help of the following constraints:

$$\iota_{km}^{re} \ge I_{km}^{re} \qquad , \forall k \in \Psi_C \tag{129}$$

$$\iota_{km}^{re} \ge -I_{km}^{re} \qquad , \forall k \in \Psi_C$$
(130)

$$\iota_{km}^{im} \ge I_{km}^{im} \qquad , \forall k \in \Psi_C \tag{131}$$

$$\iota_{km}^{im} \ge -I_{km}^{im} \qquad , \forall k \in \Psi_C$$
(132)

where:

 $\iota_{km}^{re}$  Auxiliary variable that is at least as high as the modulus of  $I_{km}^{re}$ , for branch km;

 $\iota_{km}^{im}$  Auxiliary variable that is at least as high as the modulus of  $I_{km}^{im}$ , for branch *km*.

The reader will notice that, given that  $\iota_{km}^{re}$  and  $\iota_{km}^{im}$  are at least as high as the modulus of  $I_{km}^{re}$  and  $I_{km}^{im}$ , the square root of the sum of the squared values of these auxiliary variables will always be at least as high as the square root of the sum of the squared values of the current components. Thus, enforcing bounds on the former square root will result in the latter being bounded.

It is thus necessary to obtain an approximation of  $\iota_{km} = \sqrt{(\iota_{km}^{re})^2 + (\iota_{km}^{im})^2}$ . This can be done by building a piecewise-linear approximation of this function, with help of the technique presented in section 3.2. This piecewise-linear approximation can be obtained with help of the following equations:

$$\sum_{r \in \Pi^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Pi^{im}} \omega_{km}^{r,s} \cdot \hat{\iota}_{km}^{r,s} = \iota_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \Psi_C$$
(133)

$$\sum_{r \in \Pi^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Pi^{im}} \omega_{km}^{r,s} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\iota}_{km}^{re,r} \\ \hat{\iota}_{km}^{im,s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \iota_{km}^{re} \\ \iota_{km}^{im} \end{bmatrix} , \forall \ km \in \Psi_C$$
(134)

$$\sum_{r \in \Pi^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Pi^{im}} \omega_{km}^{r,s} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \Psi_C$$
(135)

where:

| $\Pi^{re}$                | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re,r}$ and associated variables;                       |
|---------------------------|---|
| $\Pi^{im}$                | Set of indices for <i>evaluation points</i> $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{im,s}$ and associated variables;                       |
| $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re,r}$ | Evaluation points of $\iota_{km}^{re}$ , for branch $km$ ;  |
| $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{im,s}$ | Evaluation points of $\iota_{km}^{im}$ , for branch $km$ ;  |
| $\hat{\iota}_{km}^{r,s}$  | Evaluated values of function $\iota_{km} = \sqrt{(\iota_{km}^{re})^2 + (\iota_{km}^{im})^2}$ , for branch <i>km</i> ; |
| $\omega_{km}^{r,s}$       | Weights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of $\iota_{km}$ , for branch                                  |
|                           | km;   |
| $\iota_{km}$              | Auxiliary variable that is at least as high as $I_{km}$ , for branch km.  |

Section 4.3.2 deals with the definition of the *evaluation points* and *evaluated* values  $\hat{t}_{km}^{re,r}$ ,  $\hat{t}_{km}^{re,r}$  and  $\hat{t}_{km}^{r,s}$ .

The following constraints ensure that the variables  $\omega_{km}^{r,s}$  form a SOS2:

$$\sum_{r \in \Pi^{re}} t_{km}^r = 1 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \Psi_C \tag{136}$$

$$\lambda_{km}^{1,s} \le t_{km}^1 \qquad , \forall \ s \in \Pi^{im}, km \in \Psi_C$$
(137)

$$\lambda_{km}^{r,s} \le t_{km}^{r-1} + t_{km}^r \qquad , \forall \ r \in \left\{\Pi^{re} \setminus \{1\}\right\}, s \in \Pi^{im}, km \in \Psi_C$$

$$\tag{138}$$

$$\sum_{s \in \Pi^{im}} u_{km}^s = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Psi_{\mathcal{C}}$$
(139)

$$\lambda_{km}^{r,1} \le u_{km}^1 \qquad , \forall \ r \in \Pi^{re}, km \in \Psi_C$$
(140)

$$\lambda_{km}^{r,s} \le u_{km}^{s-1} + u_{km}^s \qquad , \forall r \in \Pi^{re}, s \in \left\{\Pi^{im} \setminus \{1\}\right\}, km \in \Psi_C$$

$$(141)$$

where:

 $t_{km}^r$ ;  $u_{km}^s$  Auxiliary binary decision variables.

After obtaining an approximation of  $\iota_{km}$ , the following constraint may be used for bounding this variable (and indirectly bounding the magnitude of the current flowing through branch *km*):

$$\iota_{km} \le \overline{I}_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \Psi_C \tag{142}$$

#### 4.2.1.4.3 Bounds on active and reactive power output of generators

The constraints of section 2.2.1.4.3, reproduced below for the sake of clarity, may be employed for bounding the active and reactive power output of generators:

$$\underline{g_k^P} \le \underline{g_k^P} \le \overline{g_k^P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(143)

$$\underline{g_k^Q} \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g_k^Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(144)

# 4.2.1.5 Voltage reference buses

The constraints of section 2.2.1.5, reproduced below for the sake of clarity, may be employed for specifying the real and imaginary components of the voltage of buses pertaining to  $\Omega_{REF}$ . For applications in which the voltage magnitude of these reference buses is fixed, the following constraints apply:

$$V_{k}^{re} = V_{k}^{ref} \cdot \cos\theta_{k}^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(145)

$$V_k^{im} = V_k^{ref} \cdot \sin\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(146)

For applications in which the magnitude of the voltage at reference buses are decision variables of the ACOPF, the following constraints apply:

$$V_k^{re} = V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(147)

$$V_k^{im} = V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k^{ref} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{REF}$$
(148)

Again, it is important to emphasize that, for applications in which the voltage magnitudes of the buses in  $\Omega_{REF}$  are considered decision variables, it is necessary to enforce the corresponding bounds by using the following constraint:

$$\underline{V}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \tag{149}$$

## 4.2.1.6 Slack buses and buses without generators and/or loads

The constraints of section 2.2.1.6, reproduced below for the sake of clarity, may be used to ensure that the load/generation currents of buses to which no loads/generators connect are set to zero. The reader will notice that the generator currents of all buses in the set  $\Omega_{SLACK}$  may assume any given value.

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = I_{d,k}^{im} = 0 \qquad \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{LOAD}\}$$
(150)

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = I_{g,k}^{im} = 0 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{ \Omega_B \setminus \{\Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{SLACK} \} \right\}$$
(151)

#### 4.2.1.7 Radiality constraints

If it is required to ensure that the distribution network is radial, the constraints presented in this section are to be added to the MILP formulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems. Reference [38] introduced a formulation of radiality constraints based on ensuring that the distribution network consists of a spanning tree that originates from the *root node*. This approach, which is based on using binary decision variables to impose a particular structure to the distribution system, can be readily incorporated to a mixed-integer program and will be used in this dissertation.

In the following subsections, three slightly different approaches for the formulation of the radiality constraints are presented. The three approaches ensure that all nodes that are connected to the network are arranged within a radial structure – however, the approaches differ in the specification of which nodes *must* be connected to the network and which *can be removed* from it. In order to make it clear that the three approaches differ only with respect to this aspect, they will be referred to as *connectivity approaches* to the radiality constraints.

At this point, the reader may want to consider why it is necessary to define more than one *connectivity approach*. Depending on specific characteristics of the distribution system operations or expansion planning application under consideration, it may be necessary to remove from the network some (or all) of the buses to which loads that have been shed and/or generators that have been curtailed connect. In previous sections of this dissertation, reference has been made to the fact that, as of this writing, the most common approach to disconnect elements of the distribution system in case of emergencies is to maneuver switches and de-energize entire segments of the distribution network. Thus, depending on the application at hand, it may be in the interest of the distribution system planner to ensure that one load can be disconnected only if all circuits connected to it are de-energized. For some other applications, this may not be necessary.

Keeping this in mind, one of the three following *connectivity approaches* may be chosen while formulating the radiality constraints:

- (i) For this first approach, all buses of the distribution system, which have been defined in the input data for the ACOPF, *must* be connected to the network at all times – even if the loads and/or generators connected to it are curtailed.
- (ii) For the second approach, it is considered that the load and/or generator at a bus can only be de-energized (shed and curtailed, respectively) if all circuits that connect to that bus are removed from the network (i.e., all circuits must have their status changed to *inactive*).
- (iii) For the third approach, it is considered that the buses to which loads that are shed and generators that are curtailed, as well as all buses that do have any potential injections (i.e., those that are not reference or slack buses and to which no loads or generators connect), may or may not be disconnected from the network, according to the distribution system planner decision. Thus, the optimality of the decision is the only criterion that dictates if these buses will be connected to or disconnected from the network.

The mathematical formulation corresponding to the three basic connectivity approaches listed above is presented in the following subsections. In subsection 5.2.1 of this dissertation, an example of the application of each of these three approaches is presented.

It is worth pointing out that, despite the fact that the three approaches are presented in different subsections for the sake of didactics, it is possible to combine them within a single optimization problem, utilizing different connectivity approaches for different buses of the distribution system.

#### 4.2.1.7.1 Connectivity approach (i)

For approach (i), all buses of the distribution system, which have been defined in the input data for the ACOPF, must be connected to the network at all times.

The formulation of the radiality constraints corresponding to this connectivity approach corresponds exactly to that proposed in [38]. In order to ensure radiality, it suffices to determine that every bus in the network has exactly one *parent bus*, except for the *root bus*. Each spanning tree in the distribution system (each islanded, radial system) originates from a *root bus*, and none of the *root buses* have parents. The following set of constraints may be used to impose this particular structure to the distribution system:

$$v_{km}^{k} + v_{km}^{m} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{\mathcal{C}} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\} \right\}$$
(152)

$$v_{km}^k + v_{km}^m = \sigma_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(153)

$$\left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},i=k}v_{ij}^{j}\right] + \left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},j=k}v_{ij}^{i}\right] = 1 \qquad ,\forall \ k\in\{\Omega_{B}\setminus\Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(154)

$$v_{km}^{m} = 0 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{C} | k \in \Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(155)

$$v_{km}^{k} = 0 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{C} | m \in \Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(156)

where:

 $v_{km}^k$  Binary variable associated to line km that assumes the value  $v_{km}^k = 1$  if bus k is the *parent* of bus m, and that assumes the value  $v_{km}^k = 0$  if bus m is the *parent* of bus k;

 $\Omega_{ROOT}$  Set of buses chosen as *root buses*. The number of *root buses* must equal the number of allowed islands in the system.

The reader will notice that equations (152) and (153) ensure that, for every active branch km, either k is the parent of bus m or m is the parent of bus k. Equation (154) ensures that every bus in the system, except the *root buses*, has one and only one parent. Equations (155) and (156) ensure that, for every branch km that includes one root bus at one its extremities, the bus that is not the root cannot be a *parent bus* – i.e., the root bus will always be a parent bus if there is an active circuit connected to it [38].

As pointed out in [38], constraint (153) suffices for ensuring that the variable  $\sigma_{km}$  can only assume the values 0 or 1, even if  $\sigma_{km}$  is defined as a continuous (rather than a binary) variable. Therefore, whenever this constraint is added to the MILP formulation of the ACOPF,  $\sigma_{km}$  may be defined as a continuous (rather than a binary) variable. Nonetheless, the reader will recall that the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems presented in this dissertation may be applied to distribution systems that are operated in a radial fashion *or* in a meshed fashion – thus, whenever a radial operation is not required, constraint (153) will not be part of the MILP problem. This is the reason why, in previous sections,  $\sigma_{km}$  has always been defined as *binary* decision variable. However, as pointed out in this paragraph, whenever the radiality constraints are added to the model,  $\sigma_{km}$  may be defined as a continuous variable.

It is worth pointing out that it is not required that  $\Omega_{ROOT}$  coincide with the set  $\Omega_{REF}$  or to the set  $\Omega_{SLACK}$ . It should be kept in mind that  $\Omega_{SLACK}$  may be an empty set depending on the application, but the cardinality of the set  $\Omega_{REF}$  must always equal the number of potentially islanded systems in the network, with one and only one reference voltage bus defined for every island. Thus, in many applications, it may be in the interest of the distribution system engineer to define  $\Omega_{ROOT} = \Omega_{REF}$ , despite of this not being compulsory.

#### 4.2.1.7.2 Connectivity approach (ii)

For connectivity approach (ii), it is considered that the load and/or the generator at a bus can only be de-energized if all circuits that connect to that bus are removed from the network.

In order to model this condition, it is necessary to modify some of the constraints proposed in [38]. The modifications proposed in this dissertation will be presented in the following.

The first two constraints of the previous section, which ensure that every active branch has one and only one parent bus in its extremities, are not modified:

$$v_{km}^{k} + v_{km}^{m} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{\mathcal{C}} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\} \right\}$$
(157)

$$v_{km}^k + v_{km}^m = \sigma_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(158)

However, the constraints that control which buses in the network must have *parents* need to be modified. In this dissertation, these will be referred to as *parenthood* constraints. The formulation of these constraints for buses with loads that can be shed, but to which no curtailable generators connect, is indicated below:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{C}, i=k} v_{ij}^{j} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{C}, j=k} v_{ij}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = (1 - \rho_{k})$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}$  (159)

$$v_{km}^{k} \leq (1 - \rho_{k}) \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(160)

$$v_{km}^{m} \le (1 - \rho_{k}) \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| m \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(161)

Equation (159) ensures that, if a given load is shed ( $\rho_k = 1$ ), it does not have any *parent*; and if the bus is not shed ( $\rho_k = 0$ ), it has exactly one parent. Equations (160) and (161) ensure that buses with loads that have been shed cannot be the parents of any other buses; but buses with loads that have not been shed may be the parents of other buses. It is thus clear that a bus with a load that has been shed will not have any parents and it will not be the parent to any other buses, meaning that this bus will be disconnected from the network.

A set of analogous constraints are defined for buses that have curtailable generators, but no loads that can be shed (i.e., buses in  $\{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$ ). The only difference is that the binary variable that controls generation curtailment is  $\tau_k$ , and not  $\rho_k$ :

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},i=k} v_{ij}^{j} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},j=k} v_{ij}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = (1-\tau_{k})$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$  (162)

$$v_{km}^{k} \le (1 - \tau_{k}) \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| k \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED} \} \right\}$$
(163)

$$v_{km}^{m} \le (1 - \tau_{k}) \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| m \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED} \} \right\}$$
(164)

It is now necessary to model buses that have loads that can be shed *and* generators that can be curtailed (i.e., buses in  $\{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$ ). As any of these elements may only be de-energized if the bus is entirely removed from the network, shedding the load necessarily requires curtailing the generator, and vice-versa. Thus, the following set of constraints may be used:

$$\tau_k = \rho_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(165)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},i=k} v_{ij}^{j} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},j=k} v_{ij}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = (1-\rho_{k})$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$  (166)

$$v_{km}^{k} \leq (1 - \rho_{k}) \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\} \right\}$$
(167)

$$v_{km}^{m} \le (1 - \rho_{k}) \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| m \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(168)

The reader will notice that, if the connectivity approach (ii) is employed, for all buses in  $\{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$ , is possible to substitute  $\tau_k$  by  $\rho_k$  in every constraint of section 4.2.1.2.2, dropping the binary variable  $\tau_k$  altogether from the formulation of the MILP problem. This is not done here, however, for the sake of simplicity.

Now that all buses with loads that can be shed and curtailable generation have been treated, the *parenthood* constraints for the remainder of the buses in the network are presented:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{C}, i=k} v_{ij}^{j} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{C}, j=k} v_{ij}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = 1$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \{\Omega_{B} \setminus \{\Omega_{SHED} \cup \Omega_{CURT} \cup \Omega_{ROOT}\}\}$  (169)

For the formulation above, we consider that the sets  $\Omega_{SHED}$  and  $\Omega_{CURT}$  are defined in such a way that there are no buses that have either loads that cannot be shed and curtailable generators, of non-curtailable generators and loads that can be shed.

As in connectivity approach (i), the root buses do not have any parents. Also, the root buses are necessarily the parents of all nodes directly connected to them through active circuits, as indicated by the following constraints, whose formulation remains unchanged:

$$v_{km}^m = 0 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_C | k \in \Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(170)

$$v_{km}^{k} = 0 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{C} | m \in \Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(171)

#### 4.2.1.7.3 Connectivity approach (iii)

For the third connectivity approach, it is considered that the buses to which loads that are shed and generators that are curtailed, as well as all buses that do have any fixed or curtailable injections, may or may not be disconnected from the network, according exclusively to the distribution system planner decision. That is to say, the only criterion that determines that one of these buses will or will not be connected to the network is the impact of this decision on the objective function of the optimization problem.

As in approach (ii), the following constraints are exactly equal to those presented in section 4.2.1.7.1:

$$v_{km}^{k} + v_{km}^{m} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\} \right\}$$
(172)

$$v_{km}^k + v_{km}^m = \sigma_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(173)

Yet, the *parenthood* constraints must also be modified in approach (iii). The modifications proposed in this dissertation will be presented in the following. The following constraints apply to the set of buses to which loads that can be shed connect, but to which no curtailable generators connect (i.e., buses in  $\{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}$ ):

$$\beta_k \ge (1 - \rho_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(174)

$$\left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},i=k}v_{ij}^{j}\right] + \left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},j=k}v_{ij}^{i}\right] = \beta_{k} \qquad ,\forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(175)

$$v_{km}^{k} \leq \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(176)

$$v_{km}^{m} \leq \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| m \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \setminus \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(177)

where:

 $\beta_k$  Binary decision variable that models the decision to disconnect a bus k from the system: if  $\beta_k = 0$ , the bus is disconnected from the system, if  $\beta_k = 1$ , the bus is connected to the system.

A few words on the logical implications of the constraints defined above are in order at this point:

- It is clear that, if the load at bus k has not been shed, then  $\beta_k \ge 1$ . Since  $\beta_k$  is binary and can only assume the values 0 or 1,  $\beta_k \ge 1$  leads to  $\beta_k = 1$ , meaning that bus k is connected to the system (it will have one and only one parent, and it may or may not be the parent to other buses).
- If the load at bus k has been shed, β<sub>k</sub> may is entirely free to assume the values β<sub>k</sub> = 0 or β<sub>k</sub> = 1. If β<sub>k</sub> = 1, the situation described above is valid. If β<sub>k</sub> = 0, bus k will have no parents and will not be the parent to any other buses in the network thus, bus k has been removed from the network.

From the explanation above, it is clear that, given that the load at bus k has been shed, the decision to remove or not a bus from the network is dictated only by its impact on the objective function.

A set of analogous constraints are defined for buses in  $\{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$ :

$$\beta_k \ge (1 - \tau_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(178)

$$\left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},i=k}v_{ij}^{j}\right] + \left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},j=k}v_{ij}^{i}\right] = \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(179)

$$v_{km}^{k} \leq \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| k \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED} \} \right\}$$
(180)

$$v_{km}^{m} \leq \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| m \in \{\Omega_{CURT} \setminus \Omega_{SHED} \} \right\}$$
(181)

For buses that have *both* loads that can be shed *and* curtailable generators, the situation is slightly more complex. A bus in set  $\{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$  may be only disconnected from the network if the load has been shed ( $\rho_k = 1$ ) and the generator has been curtailed ( $\tau_k = 1$ ). In order to check if this condition is met, an auxiliary, continuous decision variable  $\alpha_k$  is introduced to the problem, and the following constraints apply:

$$\alpha_k \le \tau_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(182)

$$\alpha_k \le \rho_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(183)

$$\alpha_k \ge (\tau_k + \rho_k) - 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(184)

$$\alpha_k \le 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(185)

where:

 $\alpha_k$  Continuous (non-negative) decision that assumes the value  $\alpha_k = 1$  if and only if  $\rho_k = 1$  and  $\tau_k = 1$ ; and assumes the value  $\alpha_k = 0$  for all other combinations of the binary variables  $\rho_k$  and  $\tau_k$ .

Having defined the auxiliary variable above, the *parenthood* constraints for the buses in  $\{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$  may be formulated as:

$$\beta_k \ge (1 - \alpha_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(186)

$$\left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},i=k} v_{ij}^{j}\right] + \left[\sum_{ij\in\Psi_{C},j=k} v_{ij}^{i}\right] = \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(187)

$$v_{km}^{k} \leq \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| k \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(188)

$$\nu_{km}^{m} \le \beta_{k} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{C} \middle| m \in \{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT} \} \right\}$$
(189)

Now, it is necessary to model the fact that every bus to which no injections connect (i.e., buses that have no loads or generators, and that are not slack buses) and that are not reference buses can be removed from the network if desired. This is done with help of the following set of constraints:

$$\begin{split} \left[ \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{c}, i=k} v_{ij}^{j} \right] + \left[ \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{c}, j=k} v_{ij}^{i} \right] &= \beta_{k} \\ ,\forall \ k \in \left\{ \Omega_{B} \setminus \{ \Omega_{LOAD} \cup \Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{SLACK} \cup \Omega_{REF} \cup \Omega_{ROOT} \} \right\} \end{split}$$
(190)  
$$v_{km}^{k} \leq \beta_{k} \\ ,\forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{c} \middle| k \in \{ \Omega_{B} \setminus \{ \Omega_{LOAD} \cup \Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{SLACK} \cup \Omega_{REF} \cup \Omega_{ROOT} \} \right\} \end{cases}$$
(191)  
$$v_{km}^{m} \leq \beta_{k} \\ ,\forall \ km \in \left\{ \Psi_{c} \middle| m \in \{ \Omega_{B} \setminus \{ \Omega_{LOAD} \cup \Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{SLACK} \cup \Omega_{REF} \cup \Omega_{ROOT} \} \right\} \end{cases}$$
(192)

Finally, it is necessary to ensure that the buses that do not pertain to any of the sets defined above are always connected to the network. This is done by defining the following constraints:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{c}, i=k} v_{ij}^{j} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{ij \in \Psi_{c}, j=k} v_{ij}^{i} \end{bmatrix} = 1$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \left\{ \{\Omega_{LOAD} \cup \Omega_{GEN} \cup \Omega_{SLACK} \cup \Omega_{REF} \} \setminus \{\{\Omega_{SHED} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\} \cup \Omega_{ROOT} \} \}$ (193)

Finally, the following constraints ensure that the root buses are necessarily the parents of all nodes directly connected to them:

$$v_{km}^m = 0 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_C | k \in \Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(194)

$$v_{km}^{k} = 0 \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{C} | m \in \Omega_{ROOT}\}$$
(195)

# 4.2.2 Objective functions for selected distribution system operations and expansion planning applications

In this section, the objective functions presented in section 2.2.2 are revisited. At this point, the binary variables that represent discrete decisions have already been presented to the reader, allowing a better comprehension of the mathematical formulation of the objective functions presented blow, as well as of the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF as a whole.

The majority of the objective functions presented at section 2.2.2 can be readily factored into mixed-integer linear problems. Due to that, most of the equations of section 2.2.2 will be simply reproduced below with no further manipulation.

### 4.2.2.1 Minimization of costs of load shedding

As discussed in sections 2.2.2.1 and 4.2.1.3, the focus of this dissertation is on the case in which load shedding is a discrete decision. The following objective function, first introduced in section 2.2.2.1 and reproduced below for the sake of clarity, can be directly integrated to the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF:

$$z^{SHED} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{SHED}} c_k^{SHED} \cdot d_k^P \cdot \rho_k\}$$
(196)

# 4.2.2.2 Minimization of curtailment of non-controllable generation

As previously discussed, the power output of generators pertaining to  $\Omega_{CTRQ}$  cannot be controlled – meaning that, for these generators,  $g_k^P$  is a parameter of the

optimization problem. Consequently, the following objective function, first introduced in section 2.2.2.2 and reproduced below for the sake of clarity, can be directly integrated to the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF:

$$z^{GCRT} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}} c_k^{CURT} \cdot g_k^P \cdot \tau_k\right\}$$
(197)

# 4.2.2.3 Minimization of generation costs

The following objective function, first introduced in section 2.2.2.3, can be directly integrated to the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF:

$$z^{GEN} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}} c_k^{GEN} \cdot g_k^P\right\}$$
(198)

## 4.2.2.4 Minimization of costs of power imports

Section 2.2.2.4 has presented three slightly different formulations of the objective function associated with the problem of minimizing the costs of power imports from an external network. The two formulations of practical interest correspond to equations (35) and (36).

The latter of these corresponds to a linear equation that can be incorporated to a MILP without further manipulation, due to  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  being the only (continuous) decision variable appearing in equation (36) – all other terms are parameters of the optimization problem. For the sake of clarity, equation (36) is reproduced below:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot V_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}\}$$
(199)

However, the bilinear product of decision variables  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$  appears in equation (35). It is obviously necessary to approximate this product before the inclusion of an objective function of this type into a mixed-integer linear program. Two alternatives for obtaining such an approximation are presented in the following subsections.

#### 4.2.2.4.1 Approximation via McCormick's envelope

-re

The first alternative is to substitute the bilinear product by an auxiliary variable  $P_k$  and bound this auxiliary variable within the convex envelope for the original product. This is done by adding the following constraints to the optimization problem:

$$P_{k} \geq \underline{V}_{k} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + V_{k} \cdot \underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} - \underline{V}_{k} \cdot \underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} , \quad \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(200)

$$P_k \ge \overline{V}_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + V_k \cdot \overline{I}_{g,k}^{re} - \overline{V}_k \cdot \overline{I}_{g,k}^{re} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(201)

-re

$$P_k \leq \underline{V}_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + V_k \cdot I_{g,k} - \underline{V}_k \cdot I_{g,k} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(202)

$$P_{k} \leq \overline{V}_{k} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + V_{k} \cdot \underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} - \overline{V}_{k} \cdot \underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(203)

where:

 $P_k$  Auxiliary (continuous) decision variable for approximating the product  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$ , for all buses k in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$ ;

 $\underline{V}_k$ ;  $\overline{V}_k$  Lower and upper bounds for the voltage magnitude for bus k (as mentioned in section 4.2.1.5);

 $\underline{I}_{g,k}^{re}$ ;  $\overline{I}_{g,k}^{re}$  Lower and upper bounds for the real component of the *slack current* of bus k in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$ .

The objective function corresponding to equation (35) may be then rewritten as:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot P_k\}$$
(204)

The definition of  $\underline{I}_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $\overline{I}_{g,k}^{re}$ , the bounds for the real component of the *slack current* of bus *k* in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$ , is related strictly to the necessity of incorporating these bounds into the constraints of McCormick's envelope. The definition of these bounds will be dealt with in section 4.3.2.

#### 4.2.2.4.2 Piecewise-linear approximation with the use of SOS2

If the accuracy of the approximation via McCormick's envelope is not considered satisfactory, an SOS2-based piecewise-linear approximation of  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$  may

be used. The product is substituted by an auxiliary variable  $P_k$ , and the following constraints are added to the problem:

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbf{E}^{V}} \sum_{s \in \mathbf{E}^{Ig}} \varphi_{k}^{r,s} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} v_{k} \\ \hat{I}_{g,k}^{re,s} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} v_{k} \\ I_{g,k}^{re} \end{bmatrix} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$

$$(206)$$

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbf{E}^{V}} \sum_{s \in \mathbf{E}^{Ig}} \varphi_{k}^{r,s} = 1 \qquad \forall k \in \Omega$$

$$(207)$$

$$\sum_{r \in E^{V}} \sum_{s \in E^{Ig}} \varphi_{k}^{r,s} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$

$$\sum_{r \in E^{V}} b_{k}^{r} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(207)
$$(208)$$

$$,\forall s \in \mathbf{E}^{Ig}, k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(209)

$$\varphi_k^{r,s} \le b_k^{r-1} + b_k^r \qquad , \forall r \in \{ \mathbb{E}^V \setminus \{1\} \}, s \in \mathbb{E}^{Ig}, k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
(210)

1 
$$, \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$
 (211)  
 $,\forall r \in E^V, k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$  (212)

$$\varphi_k^{r,1} \le c_k^1 , \forall r \in \mathbf{E}^V, k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$

$$\varphi_k^{r,s} \le c_k^{s-1} + c_k^s , \forall r \in \mathbf{E}^V, s \in \{\mathbf{E}^{Ig} \setminus \{1\}\}, k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$

$$(212)$$

where:

 $\varphi_k^{1,s} \leq b_k^1$ 

 $\sum_{s \in \mathbf{E}^{Ig}} c_k^s =$ 

$$E^V$$
Set of indices for evaluation points  $\hat{V}_k^r$  and associated variables; $\Gamma^{im}$ Set of indices for evaluation points  $\hat{I}_{g,k}^s$  and associated variables; $\hat{V}_k^r$ Evaluation points of voltage magnitude of bus k in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$ ; $\hat{I}_{g,k}^{re,s}$ Evaluation points of real component of slack current of bus k in  $\Omega_{ITFC}$ ; $\hat{P}_k^{r,s}$ Evaluated values of function  $P_k(V_k, I_{g,k}^{re})$ , for bus k; $\varphi_k^{r,s}$ Weights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex, non-linear function of  $V_k$  and  $I_{g,k}^{re}$ .

 $b_k^r$ ;  $c_k^s$ Auxiliary binary decision variables.

The objective function corresponding to equation (35) is then rewritten as:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot P_k\}$$
(214)

#### 4.2.2.5 Minimization of costs of ohmic losses

A non-linear objective function corresponding to the problem of minimization of the cost of losses has been presented in section 2.2.2.5. The non-linearities in equation (37) are associated with the terms  $V_k^2$ ,  $V_k^2 \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , where  $V_k$  is a continuous and  $\rho_k$  a discrete decision variable.

One possible way to deal with these non-linearities is to assume that, for the range of variation of the magnitude of buses to which loads of the *constant-current type* and of the *constant-impedance type*, it suffices to approximate  $V_k \approx 1$ . This would result in the following approximated objective function, which can be readily incorporated to a mixed-integer linear program:

$$z^{LOSS} = \min\{c_{k}^{LOSS} \cdot \{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} V_{k}^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}} g_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}} g_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CURT}} g_{k}^{P} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k}) - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} d_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} d_{k}^{P} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} d_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} d_{k}^{P} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} d_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} d_{k}^{P} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} \frac{R_{k}^{l}}{|z_{k}^{l}|^{2}} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} \frac{R_{k}^{l}}{|z_{k}^{l}|^{2}} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})] \}\}$$
(215)

If this approximation is not considered satisfactory, it is possible to employ a number of reformulation techniques for approximating the non-linear term  $V_k^2$  by an auxiliary continuous decision variable  $\mu_k$  (some of them allowing approximations of arbitrary accuracy), and to exactly represent the products  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ . These techniques are presented in the following subsections. The MILP reformulation of the objective function for the minimization of losses is then summarized in subsection 4.2.2.5.3.

4.2.2.5.1 Approximation of  $V_k^2$ 

There are a number of alternatives for obtaining an approximation of the term  $V_k^2$  that can be employed within a mixed-integer linear program. All of the alternatives require the substitution of the term  $V_k^2$  by an auxiliary variable, which will be referred

to as  $\mu_k$  in the following. All alternatives will obviously take advantage of the fact that  $V_k$ , being a bus voltage magnitude, may only assume non-negative values in the interval  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ .

The reader will notice that, as the term  $V_k^2$  appears in equation (37) only in association to buses with loads of the *constant-impedance* type, it is only needed to define  $\mu_k$  and any other auxiliary variables or constraints for buses k in  $\Omega_{ZCTE}$ .

The first of alternative for approximating  $V_k^2$  requires that the auxiliary variable  $\mu_k$  is bounded within a *convex envelope* for the  $V_k^2$ . Taking into account that  $V_k$  is bounded within  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ , the *tightest* possible convex envelope for  $V_k^2$  is defined with help of the following constraints:

$$\mu_k \ge \left(2 \cdot \underline{V}_k\right) \cdot V_k - \underline{V}_k^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(216)

$$\mu_k \ge \left(2 \cdot \overline{V}_k\right) \cdot V_k - \overline{V}_k^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(217)

$$\mu_{k} \leq \left(\underline{V}_{k} + \overline{V}_{k}\right) \cdot V_{k} - \underline{V}_{k} \cdot \overline{V}_{k} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(218)

where:

 $\mu_k$  Auxiliary variable that represents approximation of  $V_k^2$ , for k in  $\Omega_{ZCTE}$ .

The second alternative would be to build an approximation of the function  $V_k^2$ , around a reference value  $V_k^0$ , with basis on the corresponding Taylor series, truncated at the term of order 1. This would result in the following approximation:

$$\mu_k = (V_k^0)^2 + 2 \cdot V_k^0 \cdot (V_k - V_k^0) , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(219)

where:

 $V_k^0$ 

Reference voltage magnitude around which the approximation of  $V_k^2$  based on a truncated Taylor series is constructed.

The reference value  $V_k^0$  may be selected within  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k^0 \leq \overline{V}_k$  according to specific requirements of each application, keeping in mind that the quality of the approximation decreases as the distance among  $V_k$  and  $V_k^0$  increases. Due to the fact that
voltages at the distribution system are (ideally) kept close to  $V_k = 1$  p.u., choosing  $V_k^0 = 1$  (and thus obtaining  $\mu_k = 2 \cdot V_k - 1$ ) may be a reasonable choice (but not the only one) for several practical applications.

The two alternatives presented so far do not allow the user to arbitrate the accuracy of the approximation over the entire domain of the function  $V_k^2$  (i.e., over the entire interval  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ ). A third alternative for approximating  $V_k^2$ , which allows achieving an arbitrary accuracy, is to employ a piecewise-linear approximation using SOS2, such as that described in section 3.2 of this dissertation.

In order to do that, it is possible to treat  $V_k^2$  as a non-linear function of a single continuous decision variable,  $V_k$ , and to employ equations (48) to (53) to obtain the corresponding piecewise-linear approximation. This would, however, demand the definition of additional integer decision variables.

Alternatively, a piecewise-linear approximation that demands no additional integer decision variables can be constructed taking into account that  $V_k$  is a function of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ . Thus,  $V_k^2 = f[V_k(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})] = g(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}) = V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}$ .

Taking into account that equations (78) to (85) have already been defined for all buses in  $\{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$  (see section 4.2.1.2.1) and that  $\Omega_{ZCTE} \subset \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$ , it becomes clear that it is only necessary to define the *function row* for obtaining a piecewise-linear approximation of  $V_k^2 = V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}$ . All other relevant constraints (the *reference row*, the *convexity row*, and the set of constraints that ensure that the weights  $\lambda_k^{r,s}$  form a SOS2) have already been defined for buses in  $\Omega_{ZCTE}$ .

Thus, the third alternative for approximating  $V_k^2$ , which involves a piecewiselinear approximation of this function, requires only the definition of the following set of constraints:

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{r,s} \cdot \hat{\mu}_k^{r,s} = \mu_k \qquad \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(220)

where:

$$\hat{\mu}_k^{r,s}$$
 Evaluated values of function  $V_k^2$ , calculated at evaluation points  $(\hat{V}_k^{re,r}, \hat{V}_k^{im,s})$  for bus  $k$ -i.e.,  $\hat{\mu}_k^{r,s} = \hat{V}_k^{re,r^2} + \hat{V}_k^{im,s^2}$ .

4.2.2.5.2 Reformulation of  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k^2 \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ 

Approximating  $\mu_k \approx {V_k}^2$  by applying one of the techniques described in the previous subsection is only the first step to obtaining a reformulation of equation (37) that may be employed as the objective function of a mixed-integer linear program. It is also necessary to eliminate the products of decision variables  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k^2 \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  – or, better said,  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ .

Due to  $\rho_k$  being a binary decision variable, it is not necessary to construct *approximations* of the products  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ . By introducing auxiliary decision variables and using disjunctive constraints, the exact values of these products can be represented in the objective function.

The product  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  will be dealt with first. Every occurrence of it in the objective function is substituted by the auxiliary continuous decision variable  $\gamma_k^{ICTE}$ , and the following disjunctive constraints are defined:

$$\begin{split} M_{k}^{IOFl1} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) &\leq \gamma_{k}^{ICTE} \leq M_{k}^{IOFu1} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\} \\ M_{k}^{IOFl2} \cdot \rho_{k} &\leq \gamma_{k}^{ICTE} - V_{k} \leq M_{k}^{IOFu2} \cdot \rho_{k} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\} \end{split}$$
(221)

where:

 $\gamma_k^{ICTE}$  Auxiliary, continuous decision variable for modeling the product  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , defined for buses k in  $\{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$ ;  $M_k^{IOFl1}$ ;  $M_k^{IOFl1}$ ;  $M_k^{IOFl2}$ ;  $M_k^{IOFl2}$ 

Disjunctive constants for disjunctive constraints for product  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ .

The definition of the constants  $M_k^{IOFl1}$ ,  $M_k^{IOFl1}$ ,  $M_k^{IOFl2}$  and  $M_k^{IOFl2}$  will be dealt with in section 4.3.1.

Analogously to what has been done for  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , every occurrence of the product  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  in the objective function should be replaced by the auxiliary continuous decision variable  $\gamma_k^{ZCTE}$ . The following disjunctive constraints are then defined:

$$M_{k}^{ZOFl1} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) \leq \gamma_{k}^{ZCTE} \leq M_{k}^{ZOFu1} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})$$

$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\} \quad (223)$$

$$M_{k}^{ZOFl2} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq \gamma_{k}^{ZCTE} - \mu_{k} \leq M_{k}^{ZOFu2} \cdot \rho_{k} \quad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\} \quad (224)$$

where:

 $\gamma_k^{ZCTE}$  Auxiliary continuous decision variable for modeling the product  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , defined for buses k in  $\{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$ ;  $M^{ZOFl1} \cdot M^{ZOFl1} \cdot M^{ZOFl2} \cdot M^{ZOFl2}$ 

$$M_k^{ZOFl1}$$
;  $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ;  $M_k^{ZOFl2}$ ;  $M_k^{ZOFl2}$ 

Disjunctive constants for disjunctive constraints for product  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ .

The definition of the constants  $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ,  $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ,  $M_k^{ZOFl2}$  and  $M_k^{ZOFl2}$  will be dealt with in section 4.3.1. The reader will notice that, as the associated disjunctive constraints are used for modeling the product  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , the value of the disjunctive constants will depend on the approximation method employed to obtain  $\mu_k$ .

#### 4.2.2.5.3 Resulting objective function

After employing the approximation techniques listed in subsections 4.2.2.5.1 and 4.2.2.5.2 for treating the non-linear terms  $V_k^2$ ,  $V_k^2 \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , the following reformulation of the objective function for the minimization of the cost of ohmic losses is obtained:

$$z^{LOSS} = \min\{c_{k}^{LOSS} \cdot \{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} V_{k}^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}} g_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}} g_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CURT}} g_{k}^{P} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k}) - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} d_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} d_{k}^{P} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} V_{k} \cdot d_{k}^{P} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} \gamma_{k}^{ICTE} \cdot d_{k}^{P}] - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} \mu_{k} \cdot \frac{R_{k}^{l}}{|z_{k}^{l}|^{2}} + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} \gamma_{k}^{ZCTE} \cdot \frac{R_{k}^{l}}{|z_{k}^{l}|^{2}}]\}\}$$
(225)

#### 4.2.2.6 *Minimization of costs of reinforcements to the distribution system*

The following objective function, first introduced in section 2.2.2.6 and reproduced below for the sake of clarity, can be directly integrated to the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF:

$$z^{REIN} = \min\{\sum_{km \in \Psi_{CD}} c_{km}^{CONST} \cdot \sigma_{km}\}$$
(226)

#### 4.2.2.7 Minimization of costs of capacitor placement

The following objective function, first introduced in section 2.2.2.7 and reproduced below for the sake of clarity, can also be directly integrated to the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF:

$$z^{CAPL} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{CAP}} c_k^{CAPL} \cdot (1 - \rho_k)\}$$
(227)

#### 4.2.2.8 Minimization of circuit switching costs

As well as in the two previous subsections, the following equation can be directly integrated to the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF. This objective function was first introduced in section 2.2.2.8 and is reproduced below for the sake of clarity.

$$z = \min\left\{\sum_{km \in \Psi_{SW}^{ON}} c_{km}^{SWITCH} \cdot (1 - \sigma_{km}) + \sum_{km \in \Psi_{SW}^{OFF}} c_{km}^{SWITCH} \cdot \sigma_{km}\right\}$$
(228)

# 4.3 Definition of parameters for linearization/convexification constraints

This section is dedicated to the calculation of the parameters necessary for employing linearization and convexification techniques to reformulate the ACOPF in distribution systems as a mixed-integer linear program:

- The definition of the *disjunctive constants* necessary for the definition of *disjunctive constraints* will be the object of section 4.3.1;
- The *evaluation points* and *evaluated values* necessary for the definition of *piecewise-linear approximations with SOS2* will be dealt with in section 4.3.2;
- The *upper and lower bounds* for the continuous variables whose product is modeled via *McCormick's envelope* will be the object of section 4.3.3.

It is important to explore the particular characteristics of the distribution system mentioned in section 2.1 (particularly, those of subsection 2.1.2), in order to be able to define numerical values for the abovementioned parameters that allow conciliating approximation accuracy and computational performance.

As will be seen in following subsections, many of the parameters of interest will be defined as a function of quantities related to bus voltages, particularly their real and imaginary components. Therefore, before moving on to subsections 4.3.1, 4.3.2 and 4.3.3, it is worth dedicating a few paragraphs to understand the intervals within which these real  $(V_k^{re})$  and imaginary  $(V_k^{im})$  components may vary – i.e., to characterize the domain of functions of the type  $f(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ .

For that, it is first necessary to define an interval within which it is certain that each of the voltage angles within a typical distribution network may vary. This interval is denoted as  $\underline{\theta}_k \leq \overline{\theta}_k$ ,  $\forall k \in \Omega_B$ .

In section 2.1.2, it has been stated that the voltage angles of all buses in a typical distribution network vary within a narrow interval around zero (provided that the reference angle of the reference bus, considered to be within the distribution network or right at its interface with the transmission system, its set to zero). The physical reasoning behind this statement has been presented in section 2.1.2 and will not be repeated here. The adjective *narrow*, however, does not correspond to a mathematical definition. A more precise definition would be to say that typical bus voltage angles within the distribution system vary in intervals such as  $-5^{\circ} \leq \theta_k \leq 5^{\circ}$ . While the exact lower and upper bounds vary from system to system, it is safe to say that, due to the characteristics mentioned in section 2.1.2,  $|\underline{\theta}_k| \ll 90^{\circ}$  and  $|\overline{\theta}_k| \ll 90^{\circ}$  for all practical distribution systems – this assumption will be considered for all further definitions and

mathematical manipulations in this dissertation. Actually, given that the reference angle has been set to zero and that a reference bus was chosen within the distribution system or at the interface with the transmission network, defining  $-90^{\circ} \le \theta_k \le 90^{\circ}$  for any bus of a distribution network would be too conservative, and in practical distributions networks intervals such as  $-5^{\circ} \le \theta_k \le 5^{\circ}$  would already suffice to capture the range of variation of the angles. The reader will notice that, for all case studies taken from the technical literature and simulated in chapter 5, using  $-5^{\circ} \le \theta_k \le 5^{\circ}$  has been more than sufficient to capture the interval of variation of the bus voltage angles. It is important to emphasize that, for the discussion of this chapter, it is not required that  $|\underline{\theta}_k| = |\overline{\theta}_k|$ . For all further discussion, it is assumed, however, that  $\underline{\theta}_k < 0$  and  $\overline{\theta}_k > 0$ .

Keeping this in mind, and recalling that bus voltage magnitudes are kept within the interval  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$  (typically, with  $\underline{V}_k$  near 0.95 p.u. and  $\overline{V}_k$  near 1.05 p.u.), it is possible to characterize the domain for functions of the type  $f(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ .

First, the maximum and minimum values that  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$  may assume can be calculated as:

$$V_k^{re,max} = \overline{V}_k \qquad \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_B \tag{229}$$

$$V_k^{re,min} = \underline{V}_k \cdot cos[\max(|\underline{\theta}_k|, |\overline{\theta}_k|)] \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_B$$
(230)

$$V_k^{im,max} = \overline{V}_k \cdot \sin(\overline{\theta}_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_B$$
(231)

$$V_k^{im,min} = \overline{V}_k \cdot \sin(\underline{\theta}_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_B$$
(232)

where:

 $V_k^{re,min}$ ;  $V_k^{re,max}$ 

Minimum and maximum values that  $V_k^{re}$  may assume;  $V_k^{im,min}$ ;  $V_k^{im,max}$ 

Minimum and maximum values that  $V_k^{im}$  may assume;

 $\underline{\theta}_k$ ;  $\overline{\theta}_k$  Lower and upper bounds for the voltage angle at bus k (defined as inputs).

Above, reference is made to the definition of the bounds  $\underline{\theta}_k$  and  $\overline{\theta}_k$ . As suggested by the subindex *k*, different bounds may be defined for each bus, if this is justified or allowed by some previous knowledge the user has on the distribution system

to be analyzed. If this knowledge is not available or if for any other reason defining different bounds for different buses is not desired,  $\underline{\theta}_k = \underline{\theta}$  and  $\overline{\theta}_k = \overline{\theta}$  may be used indistinctly for all buses. In fact, as the results of chapter 5 will show, for all simulated case studies considered in this dissertation, it has been sufficient to define bounds as conservative as  $-5^\circ \le \theta_k \le 5^\circ$  for all buses.

It is important to emphasize that the bounds  $\underline{\theta}_k$  and  $\overline{\theta}_k$  are not directly used for defining of constraints of the type  $\underline{\theta}_k \leq \theta_k \leq \overline{\theta}_k$ . Rather than that, these bounds are employed for the definition of input parameters such as disjunctive constraints, evaluation points and evaluated values for piecewise-linear approximations, and extreme points for McCormick's envelopes.

The reader will notice that the superindices  $\blacksquare^{min}$  and  $\blacksquare^{max}$ , instead of the accents  $\blacksquare$  and  $\overline{\blacksquare}$ , have been used for characterizing the minimum and maximum values for  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ . As a general notation choice employed in this dissertation,  $\blacksquare$  and  $\overline{\blacksquare}$  are used for characterizing bounds defined as inputs for the ACOPF, whereas  $\blacksquare^{min}$  and  $\blacksquare^{max}$  are used for calculating maximum and minimum values for variables with help of this input information.

Despite of the information on  $V_k^{re,min}$ ,  $V_k^{re,max}$ ,  $V_k^{im,min}$  and  $V_k^{im,max}$  being very useful (as will be seen in the next subsections), it does not provide as much insight on the domain of functions of the type  $f(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$  as the reader may want at this point. A graphic characterization of the domain of these functions is shown in Figure 4.1, for different ranges of variation of  $\theta_k$  and  $V_k$ .



Figure 4.1: Domain for functions of the type  $f(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , for different ranges of variation of  $\theta_k$  and  $V_k$ .

For Figure 4.1, the interval within which  $\theta_k$  may vary is assumed to be symmetric about  $\theta_k = 0$ , and the interval within which  $V_k$  may vary is assumed to be symmetric about  $V_k = 1$ . However, these are not requirements for the concepts presented in this section.

Having provided the reader with some insight on the domain of functions of the type  $f(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , it is now time deal with the calculation of the parameters necessary to use linearization and convexification techniques for the reformulation of the ACOPF as a mixed-integer linear program.

### 4.3.1 Disjunctive constants

For the reasons exposed in section 3.1, defining *tight* disjunctive constants may affect the efficiency of solution techniques for mixed-integer programs. *Tight* constants are those that, while allowing the correct representation of disjunctions of the feasible space, have low numerical modulus (ideally, as low as possible). In this section, it will be shown how to define tight values for the disjunctive constraints used in the MILP.

#### 4.3.1.1 Kirchhoff's laws for branches whose status can be altered

Constraints (73) and (74) of section 4.2.1.1 ensure that the real and imaginary components of the current flowing through an *inactive* branch are set to zero. Thus, the

value of the constant  $W_{km}^{CL}$  must be calculated so that, whenever the branch *km* is *active*, these constraints are relaxed. This can be done by defining:

$$W_{km}^{CL} = \overline{I}_{km} \qquad , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(233)

The definition above may be used independently of any analysis of the topology and loading conditions of the distribution system to be investigated. It is worth mentioning that, in theory, a *tighter* definition may be achieved by the solution of auxiliary optimization problems, with the objective of maximizing/minimizing the value of the current components while complying with a set of constraints that basically corresponds to that of the original problem. Nonetheless, the focus of this work is rather on the definition of disjunctive constants that may be readily obtained by simple manipulation of input parameters for the ACOPF – which corresponds to equation (233).

Equations (71) and (72), also from section 4.2.1.1, ensure that Kirchhoff's voltage law is relaxed whenever a branch km is *inactive*. Given that the real and imaginary components of the current flowing through that inactive branch will have been set to zero, it must be ensured that the disjunctive constraints are large enough to allow the free variation of the real and imaginary components of the terminal buses. This implicates in the following definition of the disjunctive constraints:

$$W_{km}^{VL,re,l} = \left(V_k^{re,min} - V_m^{re,max}\right) , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(234)

$$W_{km}^{VL,re,u} = \left(V_k^{re,max} - V_m^{re,min}\right) , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(235)

$$W_{km}^{VL,im,l} = \left(V_k^{im,min} - V_m^{im,max}\right) , \forall km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(236)

$$W_{km}^{VL,im,u} = \left(V_k^{im,max} - V_m^{im,min}\right) , \forall \ km \in \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}$$
(237)

#### 4.3.1.2 Loads

#### 4.3.1.2.1 Constant-power loads that can be shed

Constraints (110) to (113) of section 4.2.1.3.2 ensure that the real and imaginary current components associated with a load that has been shed are set to null. The

definition of the disjunctive constants employed in these constraints will be dealt with in the following.

First, the following parameters are defined:

$$d_k^S = \sqrt{d_k^{P^2} + d_k^{Q^2}} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{LOAD}$$
(238)

$$\phi_k = \operatorname{atan}\left(d_k^Q/d_k^P\right) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{LOAD}$$
(239)

where:

 $d_k^S$  Nominal apparent power demanded by load connected to bus k;

 $\phi_k$  Apparent power angle (such that  $d_k^P = d_k^S \cdot \cos \phi_k$  and  $d_k^Q = d_k^S \cdot \sin \phi_k$ ) of load connected to bus *k*.

The reader will recall that the nominal values of the active and reactive power demanded by *constant-impedance* loads are  $d_k^P = R_k^l / |Z_k^l|^2$  and  $d_k^Q = X_k^l / |Z_k^l|^2$ . Therefore, equations (238) and (239) apply to the calculation of the parameters  $d_k^S$  and  $\phi_k$  for all types of loads.

These parameters will be employed in algebraic manipulations of the equations through which the real and imaginary components of loads of the *constant-power* type are obtained. Consider the following expressions:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q\right) / (V_k)^2 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(240)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \left(V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q\right) / (V_k)^2 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(241)

These equations are obtained by substituting  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  with the equivalent expressions in terms of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ . Equations (240) and (241) can be further manipulated, as indicated in the following.

The expression for  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  will be dealt with first. For the following manipulation, the rectangular coordinates will be briefly abandoned, and polar coordinates will be employed:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = (V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos\phi_k + V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin\phi_k) / (V_k)^2$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$  (242)

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \frac{v_k \cdot d_k^S}{(v_k)^2} \cdot (\cos\theta_k \cdot \cos\phi_k + \sin\theta_k \cdot \sin\phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(243)

The expression inside parentheses obviously corresponds to  $cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)$ , and (204) may be rewritten as:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \frac{d_k^S}{v_k} \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(244)

Keeping in mind that  $\phi_k$  is a fixed parameter, the maximum and minimum values that  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  may assume are given by:

$$I_{d,k}^{re,max} = d_k^S \cdot \max_{\substack{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \underline{V}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \right\} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(245)

$$I_{d,k}^{re,min} = d_k^S \cdot \min_{\substack{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \underline{V}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \right\} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(246)

where:

 $I_{d,k}^{re,min} ; I_{d,k}^{re,min}$ 

Minimum and maximum values that  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  may assume.

The evaluation of the expressions above is rather simple, but it is important to notice that, according to the values of  $\underline{\theta}_k$ ,  $\overline{\theta}_k$  and  $\phi_k$ ,  $cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)$  may assume negative values.

However, as mentioned in section 2.1.2, loads in the distribution system are incentivized to keep their power factor within narrow intervals. For instance, the Brazilian regulation prescribes incentives for the power factor of these loads to be bounded within  $[0.92_{\text{lagging}}, 0.92_{\text{leading}}]$ , resulting in  $\phi_k$  bounded within  $[-38.86^\circ, 38.86^\circ]$ . With this range of typical values of  $\phi_k$ , and considering that typical bus voltage angles within the distribution system vary in intervals such as  $-5^\circ \leq \theta_k \leq 5^\circ$ ,  $\cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)$  may only assume positive values. Even if the typical range of variation of the power

factor of distribution system loads were considered to be  $[0.8_{\text{lagging}}, 0.8_{\text{leading}}]$  (a conservative assumption), the range of values for  $\phi_k$  would be  $[-59.20^\circ, 59.20^\circ]$ , with the implication that  $\cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)$  would still be able to assume only positive values for  $-5^\circ \leq \theta_k \leq 5^\circ$ .

Whenever the typical conditions mentioned in the last paragraph hold, resulting in  $cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)$  only assuming positive values, the expression for the calculation of the maximum and minimum values of the real current component may be rewritten as:

$$I_{d,k}^{re,max} = \frac{d_k^S}{\underline{V}_k} \cdot \max_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(247)

$$I_{d,k}^{re,min} = \frac{a_k^S}{\overline{v}_k} \cdot \min_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(248)

However, the reader should be careful in using equations (247) and (248) instead of (245) and (246). For some situations, using (247) and (248) may yield wrong values for  $I_{d,k}^{re,max}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{re,min}$  – e.g., when a purely capacitive load (which may be used for modeling a capacitor bank) is to be represented. This is due to the fact that a purely capacitive load has a power factor of zero. Obviously, for a purely capacitive load, the more general equations (245) and (246) must be used to calculate  $I_{d,k}^{re,max}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{re,min}$ .

Now, the equivalent expressions for calculating  $I_{d,k}^{im,max}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im,min}$  will be presented. Below, equation (241) is written in polar coordinates and manipulated:

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = (V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos\phi_k + V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin\phi_k) / (V_k)^2$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$  (249)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \frac{V_k \cdot d_k^S}{(V_k)^2} \cdot \left( \sin\theta_k \cdot \cos\phi_k + \cos\theta_k \cdot \sin\phi_k \right) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(250)

The expression inside parentheses obviously corresponds to  $sin(\theta_k - \phi_k)$ , and (250) may be rewritten as:

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \frac{d_k^S}{v_k} \cdot \sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(251)

With  $\phi_k$  fixed, the maximum and minimum values of  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  are then calculated by:

$$I_{d,k}^{im,max} = d_k^S \cdot \max_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \underline{\psi}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \right\} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(252)

$$I_{d,k}^{im,min} = d_k^S \cdot \min_{\substack{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \underline{\Psi}_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \right\} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(253)

where:

 $I_{d,k}^{im,min}$ ;  $I_{d,k}^{im,min}$ 

Minimum and maximum values that  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  may assume.

A further simplification of (252) and (253) for typical conditions is not possible, due to the fact that the sine function is an odd function. The following example illustrates the impossibility of simplification, even when the typical condition  $-5^{\circ} \leq \theta_k \leq 5^{\circ}$  is considered: if  $\phi_k = 38.86^{\circ}$ , the expression for  $I_{d,k}^{im,max}$  is given by  $I_{d,k}^{im,max} = (d_k^S/\overline{V}_k) \cdot sin(\overline{\theta}_k - \phi_k)$ ; yet, if  $\phi_k = -38.86^{\circ}$ , the expression for  $I_{d,k}^{im,max}$ is  $I_{d,k}^{im,max} = (d_k^S/\overline{V}_k) \cdot sin(\overline{\theta}_k - \phi_k)$ . The reader will notice that  $\overline{V}_k$  is the denominator in the first case, and  $\underline{V}_k$  is the denominator in the second case.

Having introduced the expressions for  $I_{d,k}^{re,max}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{re,min}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{im,max}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im,min}$ , the disjunctive constraints introduced in section 4.2.1.3.2 are now defined:

$$M_k^{D,re,PCTE,1} = -I_{d,k}^{re,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(254)

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,2} = -I_{d,k}^{re,min} , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,3} = I_{d,k}^{re,min} , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(255)
$$(256)$$

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{re,max} , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(257)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,1} = -I_{d,k}^{im,max} , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$

$$(258)$$

$$M_k^{D,im,PCTE,2} = -I_{d,k}^{im,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(259)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,3} = I_{d,k}^{im,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(260)

$$M_k^{D,im,PCTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{im,max} , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(261)

#### 4.3.1.2.2 Constant-current loads that can be shed

Analogously to what has been done for *constant-power* loads, the first step to obtaining the values of the disjunctive constants for *constant-current* loads is rewriting the equations that relate the nominal value of the power demanded by the loads to the actual load currents, substituting  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$  by the expressions in terms of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ :

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q\right) / V_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(262)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \left( V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q \right) / V_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(263)

In the following, the expression for  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  is rewritten in polar coordinates and manipulated:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = (V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos\phi_k + V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin\phi_k) / V_k$$
$$, \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(264)

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \frac{V_k \cdot d_k^S}{V_k} \cdot (\cos\theta_k \cdot \cos\phi_k + \sin\theta_k \cdot \sin\phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(265)

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = d_k^S \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(266)

Keeping in mind that  $\phi_k$  is a fixed parameter, the maximum and minimum values that  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  may assume are given by:

$$I_{d,k}^{re,max} = d_k^S \cdot \max_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(267)

$$I_{d,k}^{re,min} = d_k^S \cdot \min_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(268)

The reader will notice (267) and (268) are not functions of  $V_k$ . Therefore, no further simplification is required.

Now, the expression for  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  is rewritten in polar coordinates and manipulated:

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = (V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos\phi_k + V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin\phi_k) / V_k$$
$$, \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(269)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \frac{V_k \cdot d_k^3}{V_k} \cdot (\sin\theta_k \cdot \cos\phi_k + \cos\theta_k \cdot \sin\phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(270)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = d_k^S \cdot \sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(271)

With  $\phi_k$  fixed, the maximum and minimum values of  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  may be calculated by:

$$I_{d,k}^{im,max} = d_k^S \cdot \max_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(272)

$$I_{d,k}^{im,min} = d_k^S \cdot \min_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(273)

Having defined the expressions for  $I_{d,k}^{re,max}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{re,min}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{im,max}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im,min}$ , the disjunctive constraints introduced in section 4.2.1.3.4 may be defined:

$$M_k^{D,re,ICTE,1} = -I_{d,k}^{re,max} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(274)

$$M_k^{D,re,ICTE,2} = -I_{d,k}^{re,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(275)

$$M_{k}^{D,re,ICTE,3} = I_{d,k}^{re,min} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$

$$M_{k}^{D,re,ICTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{re,max} \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(276)
(277)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,ICTE,1} = -I_{d,k}^{im,max} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$

$$(277)$$

$$M_k^{D,im,ICTE,2} = -I_{d,k}^{im,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(279)

$$M_k^{D,im,ICTE,3} = I_{d,k}^{im,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(280)

$$M_k^{D,im,ICTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{im,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(281)

#### 4.3.1.2.3 Constant-impedance loads that can be shed

Keeping in mind that, for *constant-impedance* loads, the nominal values of the demanded active and reactive power are given by  $d_k^P = R_k^l / |Z_k^l|^2$  and  $d_k^Q = X_k^l / |Z_k^l|^2$ , the expression that relates these nominal values to the actual load currents are given by:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \left( V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q \right) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(282)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \left( V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q \right) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(283)

The expression for  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  may be rewritten in polar coordinates and manipulated:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = (V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos\phi_k + V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin\phi_k)$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$  (284)

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = V_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot (\cos\theta_k \cdot \cos\phi_k + \sin\theta_k \cdot \sin\phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(285)

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = V_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ICTE}$$
(286)

Keeping in mind that  $\phi_k$  is a fixed parameter, the maximum and minimum values that  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  may assume are given by:

$$I_{d,k}^{re,max} = d_k^S \cdot \max_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ V_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}} \{V_k \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)\} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(287)

$$I_{d,k}^{re,min} = d_k^S \cdot \min_{\substack{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k}} \{ V_k \cdot \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(288)  
$$\underbrace{V_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}$$

For loads to which typical conditions apply (i.e.,  $-59.20^{\circ} \le \phi_k \le 59.20^{\circ}$  and  $-5^{\circ} \le \theta_k \le 5^{\circ}$ , as discussed in section 4.3.1.2.1),  $cos(\theta_k - \phi_k)$  is only able to assume positive values. Therefore, whenever these typical conditions apply, the expression for the calculation of the maximum and minimum values of the real current component may be written as:

$$I_{d,k}^{re,max} = \overline{V}_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \max_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ \cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(289)

$$I_{d,k}^{re,min} = \underline{V}_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \min_{\underline{\theta}_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k} \{ cos(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(290)

As for the case of *constant-power* loads, the reader should be careful while employing equations (289) and (290) instead of the more general forms (287) and (288). For instance, for a capacitor bank modeled as a purely capacity load, it is not possible to employ (289) and (290) – the more general expressions (287) and (288) must be used.

Now, the expression for  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  is rewritten in polar coordinates and manipulated:

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = (V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \cos\phi_k + V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin\phi_k)$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$  (291)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = V_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot (\sin\theta_k \cdot \cos\phi_k + \cos\theta_k \cdot \sin\phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(292)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = V_k \cdot d_k^S \cdot \sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(293)

With  $\phi_k$  fixed, the maximum and minimum values of  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  may be calculated by:

$$I_{d,k}^{im,max} = d_k^S \cdot \max_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k}} \{ V_k \cdot sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(294)  
$$\underbrace{V_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}$$

$$I_{d,k}^{im,min} = d_k^S \cdot \min_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k}} \{ V_k \cdot sin(\theta_k - \phi_k) \} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(295)  
$$\underbrace{V_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k}$$

Having defined the expressions for  $I_{d,k}^{re,max}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{re,min}$ ,  $I_{d,k}^{im,max}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im,min}$ , the disjunctive constraints introduced in section 4.2.1.3.6 may be defined:

$$M_k^{D,re,ZCTE,1} = -I_{d,k}^{re,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(296)

$$M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,2} = -I_{d,k}^{re,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$

$$(297)$$

$$M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,3} = I_{d,k}^{re,min} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$

$$M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{re,max} , \forall k \in \Omega$$

$$(298)$$

$$M_{k}^{D,re,ZCTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{re,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(299)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,ZCTE,1} = -I_{d,k}^{im,min}, \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(300)  
$$M_{k}^{D,im,ZCTE,2} = I_{d,k}^{im,min}, \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(301)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,ZCTE,2} = -I_{d,k}^{im,min} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(301)

$$M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,S} = I_{d,k}^{im,mat} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(302)

$$M_k^{D,im,ZCTE,4} = I_{d,k}^{im,max} , \forall k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}$$
(303)

#### 4.3.1.3 Generators

#### 4.3.1.3.1 Curtailable generators with no control over the active power output

In section 4.2.1.2.2, disjunctive constraints have been introduced for modeling the curtailment of generators with no control over their active power output. This sections deals with the definition of the associated disjunctive constants. The following are the (non-linear) expressions that relate the power output of generators to the associated current injections:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(304)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \left(V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(305)

The reader will notice that the previous equations are structurally very similar to those relating the nominal power and currents of loads of the *constant-power* type. However, the fact that the reactive power output of generators,  $g_k^Q$ , is a decision variable that may vary in  $\underline{g}_k^Q \leq \overline{g}_k^Q \leq \overline{g}_k^Q$  introduces additional complexity in the calculation of the maximum and minimum values that the generation currents may assume. In fact, the method used in section 4.3.1.2, which involves expressing the power quantities in polar coordinates, would not facilitate the calculus of the maximum values that the current components may assume.

One technique that may be used for determining these values is to express only the voltage quantities in polar coordinates, thus obtaining:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \left(\cos\theta_k \cdot g_k^P + \sin\theta_k \cdot g_k^Q\right) / V_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(306)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \left(\sin\theta_k \cdot g_k^P - \cos\theta_k \cdot g_k^Q\right) / V_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(307)

The maximum and minimum values of the generation currents may be then obtained by solving the following equations:

$$\begin{split} I_{g,k}^{re,max} &= \max_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \frac{U_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \\ g_k^Q \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g}_k^Q}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \left( \cos\theta_k \cdot g_k^P + \sin\theta_k \cdot g_k^Q \right) \right\} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ} \quad (308) \\ I_{g,k}^{re,min} &= \min_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \frac{U_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \\ g_k^Q \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g}_k^Q}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \left( \cos\theta_k \cdot g_k^P + \sin\theta_k \cdot g_k^Q \right) \right\} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ} \quad (309) \\ I_{g,k}^{im,max} &= \max_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \frac{U_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \\ g_k^Q \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g}_k^Q}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \left( \sin\theta_k \cdot g_k^P - \cos\theta_k \cdot g_k^Q \right) \right\} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ} \quad (310) \\ \frac{V_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \\ \frac{g_k^Q \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g}_k^Q}{g_k^Q \le g_k^Q} \end{split}$$

$$I_{g,k}^{im,min} = \min_{\substack{\theta_k \le \theta_k \le \overline{\theta}_k \\ \frac{V_k \le V_k \le \overline{V}_k \\ g_k^Q \le g_k^Q \le \overline{g}_k^Q}} \left\{ \frac{1}{V_k} \cdot \left( sin\theta_k \cdot g_k^P - cos\theta_k \cdot g_k^Q \right) \right\} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ} \quad (311)$$

where:

$$I_{g,k}^{re,min}; I_{g,k}^{re,min}; I_{g,k}^{im,min}; I_{g,k}^{im,min}$$

Minimum and maximum values that  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  may assume.

Solving the problems above, obtained after the transformation of the voltage quantities to polar coordinates, is slightly simpler than solving for the maxima and minima of  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  using equations (304) and (305), and considering additional constraints to ensure that  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2} \leq \overline{V}_k$  and  $\underline{V}_k \leq \operatorname{atan}(V_k^{im}/V_k^{re}) \leq \overline{V}_k$ .

However, if even the solution of (308) to (311) is deemed as problematic for any given reason, the user may resort to rough overestimators of  $I_{g,k}^{re,max}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im,max}$  and rough underestimators of  $I_{g,k}^{re,min}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im,min}$ . A possible alternative for obtaining such rough underestimators and overestimators is to use the following expression:

$$I_{g,k}^{re,max} = I_{g,k}^{im,max} = -I_{g,k}^{im,min} = -I_{g,k}^{im,min} = \frac{1}{\underline{V}_k} \cdot \sqrt{g_k^{P^2} + \left[\max\left(\left|\underline{g}_k^{Q}\right|, \left|\overline{g}_k^{Q}\right|\right)\right]^2}, \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(312)

After obtaining  $I_{g,k}^{re,max}$ ,  $I_{g,k}^{im,max}$ ,  $I_{g,k}^{im,min}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im,min}$  for all generators in  $\Omega_{CTRQ}$ , the disjunctive constraints introduced in section 4.2.1.2.2 may be defined:

 $M_k^{G,re,1} = -I_{g,k}^{re,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$ (313)

$$M_k^{G,re,2} = -I_{g,k}^{re,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(314)

$$M_k^{G,re,3} = I_{g,k}^{re,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(315)

$$M_{k}^{G,re,4} = I_{g,k}^{re,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(316)

$$M_k^{G,im,1} = -I_{g,k}^{im,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(317)

$$M_k^{G,im,2} = -I_{g,k}^{im,min} , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$
(318)

$$M_{k}^{G,im,3} = I_{g,k}^{im,min} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$

$$M_{k}^{G,im,4} = I_{g,k}^{im,max} , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRQ}$$

$$(319)$$

#### 4.3.1.4 Terms of the objective function for minimization of losses

A number of disjunctive constraints have been defined in section 4.2.2.5.2 for the reformulation of the products  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k^2 \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ . Those will be dealt with in the following subsections.

#### 4.3.1.4.1 Reformulation of the product $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$

As indicated below, the value of the disjunctive constants employed in the reformulation of the product  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  can be determined exclusively with basis on inputs for the ACOPF - namely the bounds for voltage magnitudes of the buses in  $\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}$ .

$$M_k^{IOFl1} = \underline{V}_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(321)

$$M_k^{IOFu1} = \overline{V}_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(322)

$$M_k^{IOFl2} = -\overline{V}_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(323)

$$M_k^{IOFu2} = -\underline{V}_k \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ICTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(324)

#### 4.3.1.4.2 Reformulation of the product $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$

As indicated in section 4.2.2.5.1,  $\mu_k$  represents an approximation for the term  $V_k^2$ . As the disjunctive constants  $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ,  $M_k^{ZOFl1}$ ,  $M_k^{ZOFl2}$  and  $M_k^{ZOFl2}$  are used in the reformulation of the product  $\mu_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$ , the definition of these constants will depend on the approximation method used to obtain  $\mu_k$ .

In the following, three different definitions of the disjunctive constants are presented. Each of these is associated with one alternative method for approximating  $\mu_k$ presented in section 4.2.2.5.1.

If  $\mu_k$  is approximated via a convex envelope, the following definition applies:

 $M_k^{ZOFl1} = (\underline{V}_k)^2 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$ (325)

$$M_k^{ZOFu1} = (\overline{V}_k)^2 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(326)

$$M_k^{ZOFl2} = -(\overline{V}_k)^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(327)

$$M_k^{ZOFu2} = -(\underline{V}_k)^2 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(328)

#### 4.3.1.4.3 Approximation of $\mu_k$ via truncated Taylor series

If the approximation via truncated Taylor series has been used, the disjunctive constants should be defined as follows:

$$M_k^{ZOFl1} = [(V_k^0)^2 + 2 \cdot V_k^0 \cdot (\underline{V}_k - V_k^0)]^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(329)

$$M_k^{ZOFu1} = [(V_k^0)^2 + 2 \cdot V_k^0 \cdot (\overline{V}_k - V_k^0)]^2 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(330)

$$M_k^{ZOFl2} = -[(V_k^0)^2 + 2 \cdot V_k^0 \cdot \left(\overline{V}_k - V_k^0\right)]^2 \quad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\} \quad (331)$$

$$M_k^{ZOFu2} = -[(V_k^0)^2 + 2 \cdot V_k^0 \cdot \left(\underline{V}_k - V_k^0\right)]^2 \quad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(332)

#### 4.3.1.4.4 Term $\mu_k$ obtained via piecewise-linear approximation with SOS2

In this case, the disjunctive constraints should be defined as shown below:

$$M_{k}^{ZOFl1} = \{\max_{r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}} \left( \hat{V}_{k}^{re, r^{2}} + \hat{V}_{k}^{im, s^{2}} \right) \}^{2} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED} \} (333)$$
$$M_{k}^{ZOFu1} = \{\min_{r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}} \left( \hat{V}_{k}^{re, r^{2}} + \hat{V}_{k}^{im, s^{2}} \right) \}^{2} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED} \} (334)$$
$$M_{k}^{ZOFl2} = -\{\max_{r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}} \left( \hat{V}_{k}^{re, r^{2}} + \hat{V}_{k}^{im, s^{2}} \right) \}^{2} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED} \} (335)$$
$$M_{k}^{ZOFu2} = -\{\min_{r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}} \left( \hat{V}_{k}^{re, r^{2}} + \hat{V}_{k}^{im, s^{2}} \right) \}^{2} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{ZCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED} \} (336)$$

### 4.3.2 Evaluation points for piecewise-linearization with SOS2

As indicated in section 3.2, there is a trade-off between approximation accuracy and computational performance while defining the number of evaluation points for piecewise-linear approximations of non-convex, non-linear functions, with help of SOS2.

In this section, we present the choice of the number and location of these evaluation points which has been used in this dissertation. The set of evaluation points (and consequently evaluated values) presented here, while not necessarily optimal, led to the accuracy and computational performance results shown in chapter 5, which are deemed as satisfactory for an initial investigation.

There are a number of reasons for which the procedure presented here is not optimal. The first is that, as indicated in section 3.2, the choice of the evaluation points is based on rectangular partitions of the domain of the non-linear, non-convex functions, whereas there is evidence (see [61], [80]) that *triangular* partitions may lead to better computational performance. Furthermore, the set of evaluation points presented here has been chosen basically via a trial-and-error procedure, guided by knowledge of the ACOPF problem and of the shape of the functions to be approximated. Particular emphasis has been given to defining a set of evaluation points whose convex hull includes the whole domain of the functions of two arguments – i.e., that any point in the domain could be achieved by affine combination of evaluation points. But yet, no techniques that ensure that the choice of points is optimal either with respect to accuracy (e.g., minimizing the maximum approximation error while keeping the number of points below a certain threshold) or computational performance (e.g., minimizing the number of points while keeping the maximum approximation error below a certain threshold) have been used. The investigation of such techniques is listed among possible topics for future work.

Now that the reader has been warned of the potentially sub-optimal character of the procedure employed for the definition of evaluation points, the set of points chosen for each piecewise-linear approximation introduced in section 4.2 will be presented in the following subsections.

## 4.3.2.1 Evaluation points for functions of $V_k^{re}$ and $V_k^{im}$

Various functions that have  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$  as arguments have been introduced in the previous sections:  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  in sections 4.2.1.2 and 4.2.1.3;  $\eta_k$  and  $\kappa_k$  in sections 4.2.1.3.3 and 4.2.1.3.4;  $V_k$  in section 4.2.1.4.1; and  $V_k^2$  in section 4.2.2.5.1.

The definition of the evaluation points for these functions may take advantage of the fact that, due to physical characteristics of the distribution system (low *R/X* ratio, voltage magnitude kept within narrow limits, etc.), the domain of the functions of interest in the Cartesian coordinate system  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$  has the particular shape indicated in Figure 4.1. Among the most important characteristics of this domain is that *it does not include* the point  $(V_k^{re} = 0, V_k^{im} = 0)$ . In fact, it excludes all points for which  $\sqrt{(V_k^{re})^2 + (V_k^{im})^2} < \underline{V}_k$ . This is an important feature, as some of the functions to be approximated have either the term  $(V_k^{re})^2 + (V_k^{im})^2$  or its square root in their denominator, meaning that the approximation of the non-linearities would become increasingly more demanding as the point  $(V_k^{re} = 0, V_k^{im} = 0)$  were approached.

The first alternative to determining the sets of evaluation points  $\{\hat{V}_k^{re}\}$  and  $\{\hat{V}_k^{im}\}$  would be to first define the cardinality of each set and then to distribute the correspondent number of points evenly within the intervals  $[V_k^{re,min}, V_k^{re,max}]$  (for  $\{\hat{V}_k^{re}\}$ ) and  $[V_k^{im,min}, V_k^{im,max}]$  (for  $\{\hat{V}_k^{im}\}$ ), making sure to include evaluation points corresponding to the extreme values of each interval. This approach is described in more detail in sections 4.3.2.2 and 4.3.2.3, in which functions of other decision variables are dealt with. It is worth mentioning that, as the interval  $[V_k^{im,min}, V_k^{im,max}]$  includes negative and positive values, it is recommended that the point  $\hat{V}_k^{im} = 0$  is included in  $\{\hat{V}_k^{im}\}$ , as described in detail in section 4.3.2.3.

However, a second possible definition of the evaluation points, which has been obtained empirically and has led to slightly better results than using equally-spaced points within the intervals of interest (with respect both to accuracy and computational performance, for sets of the same cardinality), will be presented below.

The set of evaluation points  $\{\hat{V}_k^{re}\}$  corresponding to this second alternative, which has cardinality  $|\{\hat{V}_k^{re}\}| = |\Gamma^{re}| = 5$ , is that defined through equation (337):

$$\{\widehat{V}_{k}^{re}\} = \begin{cases} V_{k}^{re,min} \\ \frac{V_{k}}{\frac{1}{2} \cdot (\underline{V}_{k} + \overline{V}_{k})} \\ \overline{V}_{k} \cdot \cos[\max(|\underline{\theta}_{k}|, |\overline{\theta}_{k}|)] \\ V_{k}^{re,max} \end{cases}$$
(337)

The characteristics of this set of evaluation points will be discussed further in this section, with help of graphic information. Before that, the set of evaluation points  $\{\hat{V}_k^{im}\}$  corresponding to this second approach is presented. This set, whose cardinality is  $|\{\hat{V}_k^{im}\}| = |\Gamma^{im}| = 9$ , is defined by:

$$\{\hat{V}_{k}^{im,min}\} = \begin{cases} V_{k}^{im,min} \\ \underline{V}_{k} \cdot \sin(\underline{\theta}_{k}) \\ \frac{1}{2} \cdot \underline{V}_{k} \cdot [\sin(\underline{\theta}_{k}) + \sin(\underline{\theta}_{k}/2)] \\ \underline{V}_{k} \cdot \sin(\underline{\theta}_{k}/2) \\ 0 \\ \underline{V}_{k} \cdot \sin(\overline{\theta}_{k}/2) \\ \frac{1}{2} \cdot \underline{V}_{k} \cdot [\sin(\overline{\theta}_{k}) + \sin(\overline{\theta}_{k}/2)] \\ \underline{V}_{k} \cdot \sin(\overline{\theta}_{k}) \\ V_{k}^{im,max} \end{cases}$$
(338)

It is clear the sets defined above include the extreme values  $V_k^{re,min}$ ,  $V_k^{re,max}$ ,  $V_k^{im,min}$  and  $V_k^{im,max}$ . This ensures that the convex hull of the set of points  $\{\langle \hat{V}_k^{re}, \hat{V}_k^{im} \rangle\}$  includes the entire domain of  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ .

At this point, the reader's comprehension of the nature of piecewise-linear approximations of functions of two decision variables may be enhanced with the display of graphical information. For the following discussion, the definition of the evaluation points corresponding to equations (337) and (338) has been considered.

The reader is thus invited to first consider Figure 4.2, in which the domain  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$  is indicated in black, while the set of evaluation points  $\{\langle \hat{V}_k^{re}, \hat{V}_k^{im} \rangle\}$ , obtained by the Cartesian product of the sets  $\{\hat{V}_k^{re}\}$  and  $\{\hat{V}_k^{im}\}$ , is indicated by white

dots. The intervals  $0.95 \le V_k \le 1.05$  and  $-5^\circ \le \theta_k \le 5^\circ$  have been considered for this and all subsequent figures of section 4.3.2.1.



Figure 4.2: Domain  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$  and set of evaluation points  $\{\langle \hat{V}_k^{re}, \hat{V}_k^{im} \rangle\}$  obtained by the Cartesian product of the sets defined in equations (300) and (301).

It is clear that, while the convex hull of  $\{\langle \hat{V}_k^{re}, \hat{V}_k^{im} \rangle\}$  includes the domain  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$ , it does not coincide with it. This is not a problem from the point of view of the adequacy of the representation of the domain, as other constraints of the MILP formulation (e.g.,  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ ) will ensure that the (approximate) solution of the problem lies within the correct domain. However, the non-coincidence of the convex hull of  $\{\langle \hat{V}_k^{re}, \hat{V}_k^{im} \rangle\}$  and the domain  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$  points out to an inefficiency of the definition of the evaluation points – it is clear that a triangular partition of the feasible space would potentially reduce the required number of evaluation points.

The following figures allow the graphical evaluation both of the non-linear functions of  $(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im})$  and of the corresponding piecewise-linear approximations. In each of the figures, the non-linear function is shown on the left side and the piecewise-linear approximation on the right, with white dots indicating the position of the evaluation points in both graphs. Due to limitations of the plotting procedures, both the original function and the piecewise-linear approximation are shown for the region defined by the convex hull of  $\{\langle \hat{V}_k^{re}, \hat{V}_k^{im} \rangle\}$ , and not for the original domain – the reader should thus keep in mind that other constraints of the MILP will only allow that points that lie within the original domain are visited.



Figure 4.3: Depiction of  $\xi_k$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right).



Figure 4.4: Depiction of  $\zeta_k$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right).



Figure 4.5: Depiction of  $V_k$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right).



Figure 4.6: Depiction of  $\eta_k$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right).



Figure 4.7: Depiction of  $\kappa_k$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right).



Figure 4.8: Depiction of  $V_k^2$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right).

## 4.3.2.2 Evaluation points for a function of $\iota_{km}^{re}$ and $\iota_{km}^{im}$

As indicated in section 4.2.1.4.2, the auxiliary variables  $\iota_{km}^{re}$  are  $\iota_{km}^{im}$  are at least as high as the modulus of the branch current components  $I_{km}^{re}$  and  $I_{km}^{im}$ . Due to that, and to the fact that each of the current components may assume any value within the interval  $\left[-\overline{I}_{km}, \overline{I}_{km}\right]$ ,  $\iota_{km}^{re}$  are  $\iota_{km}^{im}$  will vary in  $0 \le \iota_{km}^{re} \le \overline{I}_{km}$  and  $0 \le \iota_{km}^{im} \le \overline{I}_{km}$ , respectively. However, the reader will notice that the constraint  $\iota_{km} \le \overline{I}_{km}$  limits the domain of interest of the function  $\iota_{km} = \sqrt{(\iota_{km}^{re})^2 + (\iota_{km}^{im})^2}$ .

The set of evaluation points  $\{\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re}\}$  and  $\{\hat{\iota}_{km}^{im}\}$  used in this dissertation corresponds to an equally-spaced partition of the intervals  $0 \le \iota_{km}^{re} \le \overline{I}_{km}$  and  $0 \le \iota_{km}^{im} \le \overline{I}_{km}$ .

Keeping in mind that  $|\Pi^{re}| = |\{\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re}\}|, \{\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re}\}\}$  can be written as:

$$\{\hat{\iota}_{km}^{re}\} = \left\{\overline{I}_{km} \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(|\Pi^{re}|-1)} \middle| r \in \Pi^{re}\right\}$$
(339)

Analogously, the set of evaluation points  $\{l_{km}^{im}\}\$  may be written as:

$$\left\{\hat{\iota}_{km}^{im}\right\} = \left\{\overline{I}_{km} \cdot \frac{(s-1)}{\left(|\Pi^{im}|-1\right)} \left| s \in |\Pi^{im}|\right\}\right\}$$
(340)

Figure 4.9<sup>11</sup> depicts the function  $\iota_{km}$  and its piecewise-linear approximation, obtained for  $|\Pi^{re}| = |\Pi^{im}| = 5$ . The corresponding set of evaluation points  $\{\langle \hat{\iota}_{km}^{re}, \hat{\iota}_{km}^{im} \rangle\}$  is indicated by white dots.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In Figure 4.9, it is assumed that  $\overline{I}_{km} = 1$  p.u. Depending on the apparent power basis considered, this would be an overly overestimated limit. Figure 4.9 aims merely at providing the reader with insight on the shape of the non-linear function and its approximation.



Figure 4.9: Depiction of  $\iota_{km}$ : non-linear function (left) and piecewise-linear approximation (right) obtained with  $|\Pi^{re}| = |\Pi^{im}| = 5$ . The set of evaluation points  $\{\langle \iota_{km}^{re}, \iota_{km}^{im} \rangle\}$  is indicated by white dots.

Here, as well as in section 4.3.2.1, the non-coincidence of the convex hull of  $\{\langle \hat{l}_{km}^{re}, \hat{l}_{km}^{im} \rangle\}$  and the region limited by the constraint  $\iota_{km} \leq \overline{I}_{km}$  points out to an inefficiency of the definition of the evaluation points – for instance, as the point  $\{\langle \hat{l}_{km}^{re} = \overline{I}_{km}, \hat{l}_{km}^{im} = \overline{I}_{km} \rangle\}$  will never be reached, moving it closer to the origin would presumably enhance the accuracy of the approximation.

## 4.3.2.3 Evaluation points for a function of $V_k$ and $I_{g,k}^{re}$

In section 4.2.2.4.2, the construction of a piecewise-linear approximation of the bilinear product  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$  has been suggested as one of the alternatives for incorporating it into a MILP.

In the following discussion, reference will be made to the bounds of the decision variables  $V_k$  and  $I_{g,k}^{re}$ . The bounds for  $V_k$  ( $\overline{V}_k$  and  $\underline{V}_k$ ) are input parameters for the ACOPF, and need no further explanation.

Considering only the *physical* characteristics of the problem of minimization of imports, it would not be necessary to impose any bounds to the real component of the *slack current*  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  – i.e., it may be in the interest of the user to assume that the bus at the interface with the transmission system is capable of meeting any power import demands (it is an *infinite bus*). However, due to the need to reformulate the product  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$ , it is necessary to define the limits of the interval within which  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  may vary. One possible

way of doing that is to define, with basis on knowledge about the system under analysis, a (conservative) estimate of the minimum amount of power that will need to be imported through bus k (which may be negative is exports are also possible),  $\underline{p}_k$ , and an (conservative) estimate of the maximum amount of power to be exported through bus k,  $\overline{p}_k$ . As  $V_k$  is always non-negative, the bounds on  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  would then be calculated as:

$$\underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} = \begin{cases} \underline{p}_k / \underline{V}_k &, \underline{p}_k < 0\\ \underline{p}_k / \overline{V}_k &, \underline{p}_k \ge 0 \end{cases}, \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$

$$\overline{I}_{g,k}^{re} = \begin{cases} \overline{p}_k / \overline{V}_k &, \overline{p}_k < 0\\ \overline{p}_k / \underline{V}_k &, \overline{p}_k \ge 0 \end{cases}, \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$$

$$(341)$$

where:

 $\underline{p}_k$ ;  $\overline{p}_k$  Estimates for minimum and maximum power to be imported through bus k.

The set of evaluation points  $\{\hat{V}_k\}$  used in this dissertation corresponds to an equally-spaced partition of the interval  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ . Denoting the cardinality of the set  $E^V$  by  $|E^V|$ , the following expression may be used for defining  $\{\hat{V}_k\}$ :

$$\left\{\widehat{V}_{k}\right\} = \left\{\underline{V}_{k} + \left(\overline{V}_{k} - \underline{V}_{k}\right) \cdot \frac{(r-1)}{(|\mathbf{E}^{V}| - 1)} \middle| r \in \mathbf{E}^{V}\right\}$$
(343)

The definition of the set of evaluation points  $\{\hat{I}_{g,k}^{re}\}$  is somewhat more complex. If  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  assumes strictly non-negative values *or* strictly non-positive values, the following expression may be used:

$$\left\{\hat{I}_{g,k}^{re}\right\} = \left\{\underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} + \left(\overline{I}_{g,k}^{re} - \underline{I}_{g,k}^{re}\right) \cdot \frac{(s-1)}{(|\mathsf{E}^{Ig}|-1)} \middle| r \in \mathsf{E}^{Ig}\right\}$$
(344)

If  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  may assume *both* negative *and* positive values, it is important to include the value zero within the set  $\{\hat{I}_{g,k}^{re}\}$ . One possible alternative for defining the set is then to use  $n^{neg}$  negative evaluation points and  $n^{pos}$  positive evaluation points, and define the set of evaluation points as:

$$\left\{ \hat{I}_{g,k}^{re} \right\} =$$

$$\left\{ \underline{I}_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \left( 1 - \frac{r-1}{n^{neg}} \right) \middle| r \in \{1 \dots n^{neg}\} \right\} \cup \{0\} \cup \left\{ \overline{I}_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \frac{r}{n^{pos}} \middle| r \in \{1 \dots n^{pos}\} \right\}$$
(345)

In this case, the cardinality of  $\{\hat{l}_{g,k}^{re}\}$  is  $n^{neg} + n^{pos} + 1$ .

## 4.3.3 Bounds for continuous decision variables in bilinear products

As mentioned in section 3.3, the accuracy of the approximation of bilinear products via McCormick's envelope is dictated by how *tight* one is able to define the upper and lower bounds of the continuous variables that form the product. Ideally, the definition of the bounds should correspond to the tightest *de facto* interval within which the continuous variables may vary. In this section, it will be shown how to define tight values for the bounds of variables whose bilinear products are approximated via McCormick's envelope, for the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF.

#### 4.3.3.1 Bounds for $\xi_k e \zeta_k$

The auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  have appeared in the bilinear products  $\xi_k \cdot g_k^Q$ ,  $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^Q$ ,  $\xi_k \cdot g_k^P$  and  $\zeta_k \cdot g_k^P$  in section 4.2.1.2. The bounds for the reactive and active output of the generators are inputs for the ACOPF, but it is still needed to define lower and upper bounds for the auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$ , in order to completely define the expressions for the correspondent McCormick's envelopes. The first step for doing that is expressing  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  in polar coordinates:

$$\xi_k = V_k \cdot \cos\theta_k / {V_k}^2 = \cos\theta_k / V_k \tag{346}$$

$$\zeta_k = V_k \cdot \sin\theta_k / {V_k}^2 = \sin\theta_k / V_k \tag{347}$$

The determination of the maximum and minimum values of the above expressions is facilitated by the fact that the voltage magnitude  $V_k$  is strictly positive and bounded within  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ , and the voltage angles in typical distribution systems assume values within a narrow interval around 0. Considering this, the following bounds may be defined:

$$\xi_k = \cos\left[\max\left(\left|\underline{\theta}_k\right|, \left|\overline{\theta}_k\right|\right)\right] / \overline{V}_k \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(348)

$$\overline{\xi}_{k} = 1/\underline{V}_{k} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(349)

$$\underline{\zeta}_k = \sin \underline{\theta}_k / \underline{V}_k \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(350)

$$\overline{\zeta}_{k} = \sin\overline{\theta}_{k} / \underline{V}_{k} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(351)

### 4.3.3.2 Bounds for $V_k$ and $I_{g,k}^{re}$ of a slack bus

In section 4.2.2.4.1, the product  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$  has been approximated via a McCormick's envelope. The bounds for the voltage magnitude are usual inputs and need not to be discussed, and the procedure for estimating (conservative) bounds for  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  has been discussed in section 4.3.2.3 – see equations (341) and (342).

## 4.4 An alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems

In the course of the research activities that led to this dissertation, an alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems has been investigated. This alternative formulation is similar to the one presented above in various aspects, but differs from it with respect to the construction of piecewise-linear approximations of non-linear, non-convex functions. In the formulation presented above, each segment of the piecewise-linear approximation of a non-linear function is a linear function, obtained by the affine combination of the vertices of the segment. In the alternative formulation, each segment of the piecewise-linear approximation of the values that the non-linear function assumes between the vertices of a partition of its domain. This difference in the approximation of the non-linear functions requires the rewriting of several constraints of the ACOPF problem, particularly those that relate power injections at buses with the corresponding current injections.

This alternative formulation, which is thoroughly presented in Appendix B (chapter 8) for the sake of didactics, has been abandoned at early stages of the research activities due to its performance being inferior, with respect to accuracy and computational requirements, to the formulation presented in sections 4.1 to 4.3.

## 5 CASE STUDIES AND DISCUSSION OF RESULTS

In this chapter, the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF is applied to a number of case studies. Two classes of case studies are considered:

- Those of section 5.1 allow the comparison of the solutions obtained with the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF with the solutions obtained by exhaustive search, for the problem of network reconfiguration for the minimization of losses. While this comparison does not allow a thorough validation of the proposed formulation, due to the fact that only a parcel of its features is put into service, it serves the purpose of benchmarking its accuracy and computational performance.
- The case studies of section 5.2 illustrate the flexibility and the range of application of the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF. Each of the alternative objective functions (or modules for objective functions) presented in section 4.2.2 will be used in at least one application, with the exception of that presented in section 4.2.2.8.

For all applications of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF presented in this chapter, the methods described in section 4.3 have been used for obtaining the *disjunctive constants*, the *bounds for variables in McCormick's envelope*, and the sets of *evaluation points and evaluated values* for piecewise-linearizations with SOS2. The procedures described in subsection 4.3.2 have been employed considering  $|\Gamma^{re}| = 5$  and  $|\Gamma^{im}| = 9$  (subsection 4.3.2.1) and  $|\Pi^{re}| = |\Pi^{im}| = 5$  (subsection 4.3.2.2). Furthermore, the range for the variation of the voltage angles of all buses in the system was assumed to be  $-5^{\circ} \leq \theta_k \leq 5^{\circ}$  in all simulations, which is a conservative definition, as the numerical results will indicate.

## 5.1 Benchmark of the proposed formulation against an exhaustive search algorithm

In this section, the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF is employed in four case studies, all of which involve the problem of network reconfiguration for the minimization of losses. The solutions obtained with the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF will be compared to those obtained by a brute force, exhaustive search method, with respect to accuracy and computational performance.

The two main reasons for choosing the problem of network reconfiguration for the analyses of this section are:

- If branch switching is the only control action modeled in a network reconfiguration problem, the problem will involve exclusively binary decisions. This facilitates the construction of an exhaustive search algorithm for the solution of the network reconfiguration problem, which will be necessary for the conducting the benchmarking activity that is the object of this section. Obviously, exhaustive search methods are excessively demanding when continuous decisions are taken into consideration.
- The network reconfiguration problem has been extensively dealt with in the technical literature. Thus, the input data associated with a number of test systems for network reconfiguration applications can be readily obtained, facilitating the construction of the case studies of this section.

The fact that network reconfiguration applications involve exclusively binary decisions prevents the full range of features of the proposed MILP formulation to be put into service. As mentioned in the introductory chapter of this dissertation, one of the main advantages of the proposed formulation is its flexibility to simultaneously represent discrete and continuous decisions. Thus, limiting the case studies of this section to network reconfiguration applications, while being necessary to allow the use of exhaustive search methods in manageable time, does not allow the validation of all features of the proposed formulation. Nonetheless, the comparison of the two solution methods will serve the purpose of providing insight on the accuracy and computational performance of the solutions to those obtained by exhaustive search, for a common problem in distribution system operations planning.

The four test systems considered in the benchmarking are presented in the following subsection. In section 5.1.2, the exhaustive search method employed for the benchmarking analysis is presented, and reference is made to the objective function used for the mixed-integer linear program. In section 5.1.3, the results of the simulations

conducted with the proposed MILP reformulation are compared to those obtained via exhaustive search.

For the network reconfiguration applications listed below, radiality of the network topology is required, and all buses are always required to be connected to the network. The objective of the reconfiguration is to minimize the total ohmic losses in the system. No costs are considered to be associated to switching actions.

### 5.1.1 Test systems

#### 5.1.1.1 Test system S1

The data for test system S1 has been taken directly from [84].

This is the simplest test system, with 12 buses and 11 branches. All branches in the system may be switched. The input data for test system S1 is presented in Appendix A (section 7.1.1).

#### 5.1.1.2 Test system S2

Test system S2 has also been taken from [84]. Slight modifications have been necessary to adjust the data to the format required by the ACOPF formulation: the addition of buses to allow the modeling of capacitor banks, and the addition of low-impedance branches ( $R_{km} = 0$  p.u. and  $X_{km} = 0.001$  p.u.) to connect these buses to the main system.

Test system S2 has 23 buses and 23 branches, 16 of which may be switched – the low-impedance branches used to connect the buses modeling capacitor banks are the only ones that cannot be switched. The input data for test system S2 is presented in Appendix A (section 7.1.2).

#### 5.1.1.3 Test system S3

The data for test system S3 has been taken from [64].

Test system S3 has 33 buses and 37 circuits, all of which are considered as switchable in the original reference [64]. The exhaustive search of  $2^{37}$  configurations could not be handled in manageable time (the brute force algorithm has been interrupted
after about 72 hours of computation). Therefore, in order to allow this test system to be treated by the brute force method, the number of switchable circuits has been reduced to 26 - i.e., 11 of the circuits closest to the *root node* have been considered as non-switchable.

The input data for this test system is presented in Appendix A (section 7.1.3).

#### 5.1.1.4 Test system S4

The data for test system S4 was adapted from the IEEE 123 Bus radial Distribution Feeder presented in [85]. The original test system consisted of a threephase unbalanced system, with structural and operational unbalance. Several modifications have been made in order to obtain a three-phase balanced distribution system with basis on the original data, as the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF is currently limited to such systems. Despite the fact that the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF explicitly models loads of the constant-current type (as case studies presented further in this document will show), these types of loads are not dealt with by the brute force algorithm employed for the benchmarking activity – thus, all loads of the constant-current type have been converted to constant-impedance loads. Voltage regulators were removed from the input data, and additional buses, connected to the system via low-impedance circuits, were added in order to model capacitor banks. Also, the total number of switchable branches in the system was increased from the original 11 to 16, in order to obtain a case with higher dimensions (notably, a higher number of feasible configurations to be investigated). With these modifications, the total number of buses and branches in the system is respectively 132 and 134.

A full description of the input data for test system S4 can be found in Appendix A (section 7.1.4).

## 5.1.2 Algorithm for exhaustive search and objective function for MILP approach

#### 5.1.2.1 Brute-force, exhaustive search algorithm

The exhaustive search algorithm employed for the benchmarking analyses of this section is described in the following:

- (i) For a network with  $|\Psi_{SW}|$  switchable circuits, there are  $2^{|\Psi_{SW}|}$  possible network configurations to be investigated.
- (ii) Each of the  $2^{|\Psi_{SW}|}$  configurations is first checked for connectivity and radiality. If the configuration is fully connected and radial (i.e., if there is a single path through which each bus is connected to one and only one root bus), the configuration is flagged as feasible with respect to connectivity and radiality.
- (iii) For all configurations that are feasible with respect to connectivity and radiality, the *backward-forward* load flow algorithm [67] is executed to solve for all complex bus voltages and branch currents in the system. The stop criterion for the execution of successive *backward-forward* iterations is that, from one iteration to another, the maximum variation in any component of any complex bus voltage does not exceed 10<sup>-5</sup> p.u. Another stop criterion is that the number of iterations does not exceed 100 (though this did not happen in any of the simulations). After convergence, the losses in the system are calculated and stored.
- (iv) Once all  $2^{|\Psi_{SW}|}$  configurations have been treated, all of the configurations for which the power flow problem has been solved are ordered, from that with the lowest losses to that with the highest losses. The one with the lowest losses is re-simulated, and the compliance of the solution to operational limits is checked. If the solution complies with operational limits, it is chosen as the optimal solution of the brute-force search. If not, the procedure is repeated with the next solution of the list, until a solution that complies with operational limits is found.

#### 5.1.2.2 Objective function for MILP approach

In section 4.2.2.5, a number of alternative formulations for the objective function of the losses minimization problem have been presented. At this point, it is important to indicate which of these has been used for the benchmark of section 5.1, for the network reconfiguration problem.

As previously mentioned, the only control action considered for the case studies of this section is the switching of branches. As load shedding decisions are not considered here, the products  $V_k \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  and  $V_k^2 \cdot (1 - \rho_k)$  do not appear in the objective function. Furthermore, due to the fact that the brute force algorithm against which the MILP approach will be benchmarked does not treat loads of the *constant-current* type, the only loads that appear in the objective function are those of the constant-power and of the constant-impedance type.

It is necessary to model the dependence of the latter loads with the voltage magnitude of the buses to which they connect, and for that the approximation  $V_k^2 \approx (2 \cdot V_k - 1)$  is employed. The reader will recall that this approximation is based on the truncated Taylor series calculated about the reference value  $V_k^0 = 1$ . Despite the fact that a piecewise-linear approximation of this product may be employed to ensure better control over the approximation accuracy, the results of section 5.1.3 will show that the truncated Taylor series technique is sufficient to ensure that the switching decisions taken with help of the MILP reformulation *perfectly* match those obtained with the brute force algorithm.

After this introduction, the exact objective function employed for the case studies of this section is presented:

$$z^{LOSS} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} V_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} - \left[\sum_{k \in \Omega_{PCTE}} d_k^P + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{ZCTE}} (2 \cdot V_k - 1) \cdot \frac{R_k^l}{|z_k^l|^2}\right]\right\}$$
(352)

The reader will notice that no specific costs have been assigned to losses, and therefore all results will be given in p.u. (for the tables of section 5.1.3, these will be converted to MW). The *connectivity approach* for the formulation of radiality constraints presented in section 4.2.1.7.1, approach (i), has been used for all case studies in this section.

#### 5.1.3 Case study results

The main results of all case studies are summarized in Table 5.1.

| Т          | 'est sy         | vstem                              | Exect            | ution tin    | ne [s]           | Switching decision<br>(status of switchable bra   |   |  |
|------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|------------------|--------------|------------------|---|---|--|
| ID         | Number of buses | Number of branches<br>(switchable) | Brute force (BF) | MILP reform. | (MILP-BF)/BF [%] | Switched-on<br>branches   | Switched-off<br>branches                            | Comment  |
| S1         | 12              | 11<br>(11)                         | 1.14             | 1.69         | 48%              | (1000-5), (5-4), (4-3),<br>(3-2), (2-1), (1-101),<br>(102-103), (103-104),<br>(104-105),(105-2000)  | (101-102)   | Identical<br>switching<br>decisions<br>in MILP<br>and BF |
| S2         | 23              | 23<br>(16)                         | 52.87            | 10.03        | -81%             | (1-4), (4-5), (4-6), (6-7),<br>(2-8), (8-9), (9-12), (3-13),<br>(13-14), (13-15), (15-16),<br>(5-11), (10-14)   | (8-10),<br>(9-11),<br>(7-16)                        | Identical<br>switching<br>decisions<br>in MILP<br>and BF |
| <b>S</b> 3 | 33              | 37<br>(26)                         | 65668            | 626.0        | -99%             | (5-6), (7-8), (9-10), (7-20),<br>(10-11), (11-12), (12-13),<br>(14-15), (15-16), (16-17)<br>(20-21), (5-25), (25-26),<br>(26-27), (27-28), (28-29)<br>(29-30), (30-31), (8-14),<br>(11-21), (17-32) | (6-7),<br>(8-9),<br>(13-14),<br>(31-32),<br>(24-28) | Identical<br>switching<br>decisions<br>in MILP<br>and BF |
| S4         | 132             | 134<br>(16)                        | 651.1            | 688.9        | 5.8%             | (42-44), (54-94), (25-44),<br>(13-152), (60-160),<br>(61-610), (97-197),<br>(250-251), (450-451),<br>(151-300), (300-350),<br>(150-149), (33-149)   | (23-25),<br>(86-87)<br>(18-135)                     | Identical<br>switching<br>decisions<br>in MILP<br>and BF |

Table 5.1. Case study results: benchmark of MILP formulation against exhaustive search

The computer used for all simulations is a Dell Vostro 3300 with the processor Intel® Core<sup>TM</sup> i5, with 2.26 GHz and 3.8 GB of usable RAM, and using Windows 7® as the operational system. The brute force algorithm has been coded and executed in Matlab® Version 7.10 64 bit. The MILP reformulation of the ACOPF has been coded and executed with FICO Xpress Mosel ® Version 3.2.2, with help of the graphical interface FICO Xpress-IVE ® Version 1.22.02, 64 bit.

As indicated in Table 5.1, identical switching decisions have been obtained with the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF and with the brute-force, exhaustive search algorithm, for all case studies. This effectively means that, if the optimal decisions obtained with both methods were implemented, the same ohmic losses in distribution network would be obtained – indicating that the *actual value* of the objective function obtained with the MILP formulation and the brute-force algorithm is identical, for all case studies.

Keeping in mind what has been discussed in the last paragraph, it is also worth comparing the *numerical value* of the objective function obtained by the MILP reformulation (i.e., the approximated numerical value corresponding to the solution of the mixed-integer program, and not the *actual value* that would be obtained by implementing the solution) to the numerical value of the objective function corresponding to the solution of the brute-force algorithm. This will provide the reader with insight on the accuracy of the approximations that are inherent to the MILP reformulation. The comparison of these values is shown in Table 5.2.

Table 5.2. Case study results: comparison of approximated numerical value corresponding to the solution of the mixed-integer program (MILP) to the numerical value of the objective function corresponding to the solution of the brute-force (BF)

|            | Test  | system   | Numerical value of total losses at optimal solution [MW] |              |                  |  |  |
|------------|---|----------|--|--------------|------------------|--|--|
| ID         | Number<br>of busesNumber of<br>branches<br>(switchable) |          | Brute force (BF)   | MILP reform. | (MILP-BF)/BF [%] |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 1 | 12  | 11 (11)  | 0.3297   | 0.3270       | -0.8%            |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 2 | 23  | 23 (16)  | 0.4748   | 0.4814       | 1.4%             |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 3 | 33  | 37 (26)  | 0.1396   | 0.1458       | 4%               |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 4 | 132   | 134 (16) | 0.0426   | 0.0452       | 6%               |  |  |

The results of Table 5.1 and Table 5.2 indicate that, even when the approximation of  $V_k^2$  via the truncated Taylor series is used in the objective function, the results of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF closely match those obtained with the exhaustive search. The numerical value of the total losses obtained with the MILP reformulation differs slightly from that obtained with the brute force method, and the absolute value of this difference increases as the dimensions of the system increases. Systems S2 and S4 have loads of the constant-impedance type. Yet, the existence of loads of the constant-impedance type does not seem to be the most

preponderant factor for explaining the difference in the total losses obtained with the two methods – which is explained by the voltage magnitudes at all buses being close to 1.0 p.u. (the reference point for the approximation of  $V_k^2$  via the truncated Taylor series).

For test system S1, the computational performance of the brute force algorithm is superior to that of the MILP reformulation, which is explained by the small dimensions of the system and by the fact that, due to the particular topology of this system (it basically corresponds to 12 buses sequentially and linearly aligned, as indicated by the data in Appendix A), very few of the topologies are feasible with respect to connectivity and have their power flow simulated. For test system S4, the computational performance of the exhaustive search method has been slightly superior to that of the MILP reformulation (5.8%). For the other systems, the computational performance of the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF has been superior to that of the brute force method. For test system S3, the system with the highest number of possible network configurations  $(2^{26})$ , the solution time with the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF was only 0.95% that of the brute force method. However, as the number of buses and branches increases and the number of possible configurations decreases from test system S3 to test system S4, the computational performance of the two methods become comparable – and, in fact, the brute force algorithm has a slightly better performance than the MILP reformulation. While analyzing this last result, the reader should keep in mind that, if continuous decisions were to be included in the case studies, the brute force algorithm could simply not be used, while the MILP reformulation would still apply.

For tests systems S1, S2 and S3, a further benchmark of the optimal solution obtained with the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems can be made. The value of the ohmic losses obtained by evaluating the optimal solution obtained by the proposed formulation with a *backward-forward load flow*<sup>12</sup> (BFLF) is compared with the value of the optimal solution reported in the original references [84] (for test systems S1 and S2) and [64] (for test system S3). The original references have employed heuristics (variations of the *branch-exchange heuristic* presented in section

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This is the actual value of the system losses that would be obtained when the distribution syste4m engineer implements the decision taken with support of the MILP formulation.

1.2, though this name is not actually used by the authors) for the solution of the network reconfiguration problem for the minimization of losses (except for the very simple system S1, for which an exhaustive search has been implicitly conducted in [84]). The results of the comparison are indicated in Table 5.3, from which is clear that the ohmic losses corresponding to the solution obtained with the proposed MILP formulation are inferior to those corresponding to the solution informed in the original references for test systems S2 (by 3.67%) and S3 (by 5.22%).

|             | Optimal solution obt<br>MILP formula                      |  | Optimal solution report<br>reference                      | [%]                                    |              |
|-------------|---|--|---|--|--------------|
| Test system | Switching decisions<br>(status of switchable<br>branches) | Total losses<br>at optimal<br>solution | Switching decisions<br>(status of switchable<br>branches) | Total losses<br>at optimal<br>solution | OPT-REF)/OPT |
| Te          | Switched-off branches                                     | (evaluated<br>with BFLF)<br>[MW]       | Switched-off branches                                     | (evaluated<br>with BFLF)<br>[MW]       | I-TqO)       |
| <b>S</b> 1  | (101-102)   | 0.3297                                 | (101-102)   | 0.3297                                 | 0%           |
| <b>S</b> 2  | (8-10), (9-11), (7-16)                                    | 0.4748                                 | (8-10), (5-11), (7-16)                                    | 0.4922                                 | 3.67%        |
| <b>S</b> 3  | (6-7), (8-9), (13-14),<br>(31-32), (24-28)                | 0.1396                                 | (7,20), (8,14), (10,11),<br>(27,28), (30,31)              | 0.1468                                 | 5.22%        |

Table 5.3. Case study results: benchmark of optimal solution against solution informed in original references [84] (for test systems S1 and S2) and [64] (for test system S3)

Before moving on to the next section, it is worth providing the reader with insight on the actual intervals within which the voltage angles throughout the system have varied, for all simulated systems. The range of variation of voltage angles within the systems S1 to S4 is indicated in Table 5.4. From the table, it is clear that considering  $-5^{\circ} \leq \theta_k \leq 5^{\circ}$  is a conservative modeling choice for all case studies.

Table 5.4. Case study results: range of variation of voltage angles across the systems S1 to S4.

| Test       | Range of variation of voltage angles across the system [°] |      |  |  |  |  |
|------------|--|------|--|--|--|--|
| system     | Min  | Max  |  |  |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 1 | -1.24  | 0.00 |  |  |  |  |
| S2         | -1.65  | 0.00 |  |  |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 3 | -1.02  | 0.60 |  |  |  |  |
| S4         | -2.11  | 0.00 |  |  |  |  |

## 5.2 Illustration of selected applications

In this section, five case studies, corresponding to different applications of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, will be presented. Each of the alternative objective functions (or modules for objective functions) presented in section 4.2.2, with the exception of that presented in section 4.2.2.8, will be used in at least one application.

### 5.2.1 Application A1: emergency load shedding plan

For application A1, it is considered that the distribution operation planner wishes to construct an emergency load shedding plan for a severe contingency within the network of its utility. For that, it is necessary to determine which loads should be shed and which circuits should be maneuvered in the event of a specific, severe contingency, in order to minimize the combined costs of load shedding and ohmic losses.

The distribution system considered for this application, referred to as S5, was built upon the data previously defined for test system S3. However, in order to better reflect the actual conditions with which distribution system operators are faced, only a limited subset of branches is considered to be switchable. Furthermore, it is necessary to represent the severe contingency for which the load shedding plan is to be built. Thus, two branches relatively close to the step-down substation at the interface with the transmission system are removed from the data – the branches (5-6) and (5-25) from the original data for S3).

Also, the bus voltage magnitude limits, which in section 5.1.1.3 had been set to 0.90 p. u.  $\leq V_k \leq 1.10$  p. u. to ensure the feasibility of the problem (the reader will recall that no load shedding actions were allowed for the analyses of section 5.1), are now set to 0.95 p. u.  $\leq V_k \leq 1.05$  p. u., for all buses.

The distribution system operator is assumed to be able to shed 50% of the loads in the network – i.e., 16 loads have been randomly selected and marked as eligible for load shedding. The load shedding costs coefficients  $c_k^{SHED}$  vary within the interval [900 \$/MW, 1200 \$/MW], as shown in Appendix A. For the construction of the input data, the identification of the buses with loads that can be shed and the associated cost coefficients were randomly sampled. The cost coefficient for ohmic losses equals 100 \$/MW.

The input data for system S5, used for application A1, are presented in detail in Appendix A (section 7.2.1). A schematic diagram of system S5 is shown in Figure 5.1. In this figure, the branches under contingency are not represented.



Figure 5.1: Schematic diagram of system S5. Switchable branches are indicated with a square. Adapted from [49].

The following objective function is employed for the minimization of the costs of load shedding and ohmic losses:

$$z^{SHED \& LOSSES} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{SHED}} c_k^{SHED} \cdot d_k^P \cdot \rho_k + c_k^{LOSS} \cdot \{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} V_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} - [\sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{NSHD}\}} d_k^P + \sum_{k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}} d_k^P \cdot (1 - \rho_k)]\}\}$$
(353)

In the following three subsections, we present the results of the application of the proposed MILP reformulation under consideration of each of the three connectivity approaches presented in subsection 4.2.1.7. As mentioned in section 4.2.1.7, the three approaches differ among themselves with respect to the necessity (or possibility) of entirely removing from the network a bus whose load has been shed.

#### 5.2.1.1 Simulation considering connectivity approach (i)

In this subsection, the connectivity approach presented in section 4.2.1.7.1 is considered while determining the emergency load shedding plan for system S5. The reader will recall that, in this approach, is considered that all buses of the distribution system must be connected to the network at all times.

The optimal emergency load shedding plan, obtained by the solution of the corresponding mixed-integer linear program, is summarized in Table 5.5. With help of Figure 5.1, it is easily understood that, after the maneuvering decisions are taken into account, the buses with the lowest voltage magnitudes are located at the extremities of the feeder. Among the curtailable loads located near these buses, those with the lowest value of  $c_k^{SHED}$  are shed in order to achieve compliance to the admissible range of bus voltage magnitudes.

|             | Objective function      |                          | Shed loads                 |                   | Switching<br>decisions<br>(status of<br>switchable<br>branches) |   | Information on bus<br>voltage magnitude                      |                       | [S]  |   |                    |
|-------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|---|---|--|-----------------------|--|---|--------------------|
| Test system | Objective function [\$] | Load shedding costs [\$] | Costs of ohmic losses [\$] | Active power [MW] | Connected to bus  | Cost coefficient of load shedding [\$/MW] | Switched-on<br>branches                                      | Switched-off branches | Buses with lowest voltage<br>magnitude in system<br>(magnitude [p.u.]) | Buses with highest<br>voltage magnitude in<br>system (magnitude [p.u.]) | Execution time [s] |
| 0.5         | 248.0                   | 227.0                    | 11.0                       | 0.06              | 15  | 950                                       | (6, 7),<br>(7, 20),<br>(8, 14),<br>(11, 21),<br>(16, 17),    | (8-9),<br>(13-14),    | 17 (0.951),  | 1000  | 242.0              |
| S5          | 248.0                   | 237.0                    | 11.0                       | 0.2               | 29  | 900                                       | (27, 28),<br>(29, 30),<br>(30, 31),<br>(31, 32),<br>(24, 28) | (13-14),<br>(17-32)   | 32 (0.951)   | (1.00),<br>2 (0.997)  | 242.9              |

Table 5.5. Case study results: application A1, emergency load shedding plan, approach (i).

The operation point corresponding to the optimal solution indicated in Table 5.5 has been used as the input data for a *backward-forward* load flow [67] simulation, for system S5. The stop criterion for the execution of successive *backward-forward* iterations is that the maximum variation in any component of any complex bus voltage does not exceed  $10^{-5}$  p.u. from one iteration to another. The losses obtained by the backward-forward load flow simulation are 0.22% lower than those obtained with the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF. Furthermore, it is relevant to to quantify the approximation errors of the bus voltages. Table 5.6 also indicates the results obtained by the *backward-forward* load flow, as well as the relative error between the voltages obtained by the MILP problem and the backward-forward load flow. It is clear that the approximation errors range from 0.00005% to 0.0006% for voltage magnitudes and from -1.13% to -0.04% for bus angles (excluding the reference voltage bus). At this point, the reader is reminded that, as the branch impedance is known for every branch in the system, the branch currents can be readily calculated when the information of the bus voltage magnitudes is at hand – i.e., the complex bus voltages are the *state* 

*variables* of the system. Due to that, an option is made not to construct a table similar to Table 5.6 for branch currents.

|      | Volta   | .ge magnitud | le [p.u.] | V        | oltage angle | e [°]     |
|------|---------|--------------|-----------|----------|--------------|-----------|
| # SI |         |              | (MILP-    |          |              | (MILP-    |
| Bus  | BFLF    | MILP         | BFLF)     | BFLF     | MILP         | BFLF)     |
|      |         |              | /BFLF [%] |          |              | /BFLF [%] |
| 1000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000      | -         | 0.00000  | 0.00000      | -         |
| 1    | 0.99743 | 0.99743      | 0.00005%  | -0.00168 | -0.00166     | -1.1270%  |
| 2    | 0.98955 | 0.98955      | 0.0002%   | -0.00648 | -0.00642     | -0.8441%  |
| 3    | 0.98885 | 0.98884      | 0.0002%   | -0.00544 | -0.00538     | -1.0227%  |
| 4    | 0.98850 | 0.98849      | 0.0002%   | -0.00698 | -0.00693     | -0.7902%  |
| 5    | 0.98810 | 0.98809      | 0.0003%   | -0.01652 | -0.01646     | -0.3106%  |
| 6    | 0.95875 | 0.95875      | 0.0001%   | -0.75173 | -0.75121     | -0.0692%  |
| 7    | 0.95983 | 0.95983      | 0.0001%   | -0.76110 | -0.76060     | -0.0665%  |
| 8    | 0.95757 | 0.95757      | 0.0000%   | -0.80262 | -0.80209     | -0.0658%  |
| 9    | 0.96144 | 0.96144      | 0.0003%   | -0.66929 | -0.66881     | -0.0713%  |
| 10   | 0.96153 | 0.96152      | 0.0003%   | -0.66930 | -0.66882     | -0.0713%  |
| 11   | 0.96182 | 0.96182      | 0.0004%   | -0.67151 | -0.67104     | -0.0703%  |
| 12   | 0.95924 | 0.95923      | 0.0003%   | -0.68663 | -0.68613     | -0.0732%  |
| 13   | 0.95844 | 0.95844      | 0.0004%   | -0.70305 | -0.70253     | -0.0728%  |
| 14   | 0.95390 | 0.95390      | 0.0001%   | -0.91218 | -0.91161     | -0.0629%  |
| 15   | 0.95295 | 0.95295      | 0.0001%   | -0.92668 | -0.92610     | -0.0625%  |
| 16   | 0.95100 | 0.95100      | 0.0002%   | -0.99801 | -0.99740     | -0.0611%  |
| 17   | 0.95042 | 0.95042      | 0.0002%   | -1.00687 | -1.00625     | -0.0611%  |
| 18   | 0.99530 | 0.99530      | 0.0001%   | -0.04075 | -0.04071     | -0.1076%  |
| 19   | 0.97734 | 0.97734      | 0.0002%   | -0.34219 | -0.34192     | -0.0797%  |
| 20   | 0.97237 | 0.97237      | 0.0002%   | -0.46978 | -0.46944     | -0.0722%  |
| 21   | 0.96891 | 0.96891      | 0.0003%   | -0.56019 | -0.55981     | -0.0680%  |
| 22   | 0.98312 | 0.98311      | 0.0003%   | -0.06009 | -0.06000     | -0.1353%  |
| 23   | 0.97055 | 0.97054      | 0.0005%   | -0.22200 | -0.22187     | -0.0581%  |
| 24   | 0.96136 | 0.96136      | 0.0005%   | -0.33918 | -0.33901     | -0.0493%  |
| 25   | 0.95532 | 0.95532      | 0.0005%   | -0.46205 | -0.46185     | -0.0428%  |
| 26   | 0.95546 | 0.95545      | 0.0005%   | -0.46143 | -0.46123     | -0.0428%  |
| 27   | 0.95659 | 0.95659      | 0.0005%   | -0.43832 | -0.43813     | -0.0436%  |
| 28   | 0.95786 | 0.95785      | 0.0006%   | -0.41108 | -0.41089     | -0.0450%  |
| 29   | 0.95611 | 0.95610      | 0.0005%   | -0.41169 | -0.41150     | -0.0451%  |
| 30   | 0.95209 | 0.95209      | 0.0004%   | -0.49015 | -0.48994     | -0.0422%  |
| 31   | 0.95121 | 0.95121      | 0.0004%   | -0.51156 | -0.51135     | -0.0415%  |
| 32   | 0.95094 | 0.95094      | 0.0003%   | -0.51874 | -0.51853     | -0.0413%  |

 Table 5.6. Bus voltages: solution of MILP ACOPF (MILP), simulation with backward-forward load flow
 (BFLF) and comparison of relative error, given by (MILP-BFLF)/BFLF.

#### 5.2.1.2 Simulation considering connectivity approach (ii)

In connectivity approach (ii), which has been presented in section 4.2.1.7.2, it is considered that the load and/or generator at a bus can only be de-energized if all circuits that connect to that bus are removed from the network. Removing a bus from the network requires that all circuits connected to that bus are deactivated (switched-off).

The optimal emergency load shedding plan obtained by the solution of the corresponding mixed-integer linear program which has been formulated considering the second approach to connectivity requirements is summarized in Table 5.7.

|             | Objec                   | Objective function       |                            |                   | Shed loads       |  | (status of s                 | Switching decisions<br>(status of switchable<br>branches) |  | Information on<br>bus voltage<br>magnitude                    |                    |
|-------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|------------------|--|------------------------------|---|--|---|--------------------|
| Test system | Objective function [\$] | Load shedding costs [\$] | Costs of ohmic losses [\$] | Active power [MW] | Connected to bus | Cost coefficient of load<br>shedding [\$/MW] | Switched-on<br>branches      | Switched-off branches                                     | Buses with lowest voltage<br>magnitude (magnitude<br>[p.u.]) | Buses with maximum<br>voltage magnitude<br>(magnitude [p.u.]) | Execution time [s] |
|             |                         |                          |                            | 0.09              | 17               | 1150   | (6-7),                       | (8-9),<br>(13-14)   |  |   |                    |
| S5          | 543.3                   | 532.5                    | 10.8                       | 0.15              | 30               | 950  | (6-7),<br>(7-20),<br>(8-14), | (13-14),<br>(16-17),<br>(29-30),                          | (25)<br>0.954,   | 1000<br>(1.00),   | 11.03              |
| 35          | 545.5                   | 552.5                    | 10.8                       | 0.21              | 31               | 1050   | (27-28),<br>(11-21),         | (30-31),  | (26)<br>0.954  | 2<br>(0.997)  | 11.05              |
|             |                         |                          |                            | 0.06              | 32               | 1100   | (24-28)                      | (31-32),<br>(17-32)                                       |  |   |                    |

Table 5.7. Case study results: application A1, emergency load shedding plan, approach (ii).

From Table 5.7, it is clear that considering that a load can only be shed if its bus is removed from the network leads to an emergency load shedding plan with higher costs than that of subsection 5.2.1.1. The reader will notice that it is now not possible to shed the loads at buses 15 and 29 (shedding these two buses corresponds to the optimal solution obtained in subsection 5.2.1.1).

Analogously to what has been done in subsection 5.2.1.1, the operation point corresponding to the optimal solution indicated in Table 5.7 has been used as the input data for a *backward-forward* load flow [67] simulation. The losses obtained by the

backward-forward load flow simulation are 0.17% lower than those obtained with the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF. Analogously to what was done in section subsection 5.2.1.1, it is relevant to quantify the approximation errors of bus voltages. The results of this comparison are shown in Table 5.8. It is clear that the approximation errors range from 0.00003% to 0.0008% for voltage magnitudes (excluding the reference voltage bus) and from -0.24% to +0.31% for bus angles.

|       | Volta   | ge magnitud | le [p.u.]          | V        | oltage angle | e [°]              |
|-------|---------|-------------|--------------------|----------|--------------|--------------------|
| Bus # | BFLF    | MILP        | (MILP-<br>BFLF)    | BFLF     | MILP         | (MILP-<br>BFLF)    |
| В     | DLLL    | MILP        | BFLF)<br>/BFLF [%] | DLLL     | MILP         | BFLF)<br>/BFLF [%] |
| 1000  | 1.00000 | 1.00000     |                    | 0.00000  | 0.00000      | -                  |
| 1     | 0.99747 | 0.99747     | 0.00003%           | 0.01471  | 0.01474      | 0.2250%            |
| 2     | 0.98965 | 0.98965     | 0.0002%            | 0.09952  | 0.09966      | 0.1392%            |
| 3     | 0.98894 | 0.98894     | 0.0003%            | 0.10056  | 0.10070      | 0.1403%            |
| 4     | 0.98859 | 0.98859     | 0.0003%            | 0.09901  | 0.09915      | 0.1422%            |
| 5     | 0.98819 | 0.98819     | 0.0002%            | 0.08948  | 0.08962      | 0.1540%            |
| 6     | 0.96019 | 0.96018     | 0.0005%            | -0.72006 | -0.71951     | -0.0756%           |
| 7     | 0.96126 | 0.96126     | 0.0006%            | -0.72940 | -0.72887     | -0.0724%           |
| 8     | 0.95931 | 0.95931     | 0.0005%            | -0.77023 | -0.76968     | -0.0719%           |
| 9     | 0.96220 | 0.96219     | 0.0006%            | -0.64557 | -0.64508     | -0.0767%           |
| 10    | 0.96228 | 0.96228     | 0.0006%            | -0.64559 | -0.64509     | -0.0764%           |
| 11    | 0.96258 | 0.96257     | 0.0006%            | -0.64779 | -0.64731     | -0.0754%           |
| 12    | 0.95999 | 0.95999     | 0.0007%            | -0.66289 | -0.66237     | -0.0786%           |
| 13    | 0.95920 | 0.95920     | 0.0006%            | -0.67928 | -0.67875     | -0.0781%           |
| 14    | 0.95631 | 0.95630     | 0.0005%            | -0.87156 | -0.87096     | -0.0687%           |
| 15    | 0.95558 | 0.95558     | 0.0005%            | -0.88546 | -0.88485     | -0.0687%           |
| 16    | 0.95485 | 0.95485     | 0.0004%            | -0.91581 | -0.91519     | -0.0677%           |
| 18    | 0.99540 | 0.99540     | 0.0001%            | -0.02385 | -0.02379     | -0.2437%           |
| 19    | 0.97793 | 0.97793     | 0.0003%            | -0.32131 | -0.32102     | -0.0909%           |
| 20    | 0.97312 | 0.97311     | 0.0005%            | -0.44637 | -0.44602     | -0.0798%           |
| 21    | 0.96966 | 0.96965     | 0.0006%            | -0.53665 | -0.53625     | -0.0741%           |
| 22    | 0.98308 | 0.98307     | 0.0004%            | 0.13544  | 0.13567      | 0.1708%            |
| 23    | 0.97000 | 0.96999     | 0.0007%            | 0.16305  | 0.16346      | 0.2565%            |
| 24    | 0.96032 | 0.96031     | 0.0007%            | 0.23882  | 0.23942      | 0.2506%            |
| 25    | 0.95372 | 0.95371     | 0.0007%            | 0.23425  | 0.23498      | 0.3091%            |
| 26    | 0.95386 | 0.95385     | 0.0008%            | 0.23487  | 0.23559      | 0.3076%            |
| 27    | 0.95499 | 0.95499     | 0.0007%            | 0.25806  | 0.25877      | 0.2725%            |
| 28    | 0.95626 | 0.95625     | 0.0007%            | 0.28539  | 0.28607      | 0.2383%            |
| 29    | 0.95458 | 0.95458     | 0.0006%            | 0.38439  | 0.38511      | 0.1858%            |

 Table 5.8. Bus voltages: solution of MILP ACOPF (MILP), simulation with backward-forward load flow
 (BFLF) and comparison of relative error, given by (MILP-BFLF)/BFLF.

### 5.2.1.3 Simulation considering connectivity approach (iii)

The third approach to connectivity requirements has been presented in section 4.2.1.7.3. In this approach, it is considered that the buses to which loads that are shed and generators that are curtailed, as well as all buses that do have any fixed or curtailable injections, may or may not be disconnected from the network, according to the impacts of their connection or disconnection on the objective function.

For system S5, approach (iii) leads to exactly the same results as approach (i). It is worth mentioning that, despite of the third approach having led to the same results as the first for this particular system, the results obtained with both approaches may differ for other applications and systems.

## 5.2.2 Application A2: generation curtailment at light loading hours

For this second application, the distribution system expansion planner is assumed to have a list of requests for the connection of renewable generators to the distribution system, and must determine which of those requests to accept and which to decline, so that the maximum amount of renewable generation can be connected to the system while ensuring adequate technical conditions – i.e., compliance with bus voltage and branch current magnitude limits. This problem is equivalent to minimizing the curtailment of generators with non-controllable active power output (the *curtailed* generators are those whose connection request will not be met), with the curtailment cost coefficient set to unity for all generators.

As well as in the previous section, the data for the distribution system considered for this application, referred to as S6, have also been obtained by modification of the input data for test system S3. It assumed here that the most critical condition for the evaluation of the connection of the renewable generators is at night, when the voltage magnitude at the interface with the transmission system is high, the load within the distribution network is low, and the generation is high due to the dynamics of the noncontrollable primary energy resources. The modifications made for obtaining system S6 will reflect this assumption. These modifications are listed in the following:

- (i) Only 11 of the 37 branches in the system are considered to be switchable;
- (ii) The load at all buses is reduced to 30% of their original value;
- (iii) The voltage magnitude of the bus at the interface with the transmission system is considered to be of 1.05 p. u.;
- (iv) The admissible range for the voltage magnitude of all buses in the system is set to 0.95 p. u.  $\leq V_k \leq 1.05$  p. u.;
- (v) Candidate renewable generators are assigned to 20 of the 33 buses in the system.
- (vi) The active power output of each of these generators has been randomly sampled from the interval [50 kW, 150 kW] (considering an uniform probability distribution).
- (vii) It is assumed that each generator can control its power factor within the range  $[0.98_{lagging}, 0.98_{leading}]$  (considering the installed active power capacity). In reality, this is a very narrow power factor for many common distributed generation technologies. Nonetheless, this narrow power factor is assumed to make the analysis scenario somewhat more complex.

In this application, the "generation curtailment" decision does not refer to the actual physical disconnection of the generation from the system, but rather to the denial of a connection request. Due to that, the first approach to connectivity requirements, which has been presented in subsection 4.2.1.7.1, will be considered. In fact, this first approach will be considered for all applications presented in the following subsections, except for that of subsection 5.2.4.

The input data for system S6, used for application A2, are presented in detail in Appendix A (section 7.2.2). A schematic diagram of system S5 is shown in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2: Schematic diagram of system S6. Switchable branches are indicated with a square. Adapted from [49].

The objective function used in this application corresponds exactly to equation (197) of section 4.2.2.

The set of answers to connection requests that result in the highest amount of renewable generation connected to system S6 are indicated in Table 5.9.

|                                 | Objective function   | Answe             |                  | tion request generators      | s from                         | (status of           | decisions<br>switchable<br>ches) |                    |
|---------------------------------|--|-------------------|------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------|
| stem<br>int of<br>eration<br>W] |  | autho             | ection<br>orized | Connection not<br>authorized |                                | unches               | unches                           | t time [s]         |
| Test system                     | Minimum amount of<br>active power generation<br>curtailed [kW] | Active power [kW] | Connected to bus | Active power [kW]            | Requested<br>connection to bus | Switched-on branches | Switched-off branches            | Execution time [s] |
|                                 | Minir<br>active J<br>cu  | Active I          | Conne            | Active I                     | Rec                            | Switch               | Switch                           |                    |
|                                 |  | 90                | 2                | 58                           | 6                              |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 89                | 3                | 100                          | 18                             |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 62                | 7                | 168                          | 21                             |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 138               | 8                |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 68                | 9                |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 88                | 11               |                              |                                | (8-9),               |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 65                | 12               |                              |                                | (27-28),             | (6-7),                           |                    |
| <b>S</b> 6                      | 326  | 75<br>69          | 15<br>19         |                              |                                | (31-32),             | (13-14),                         | 1602.84            |
| 30                              | 520  | 146               | 22               |                              |                                | (8-14),              | (5-25),<br>(7-20),               | 1002.84            |
|                                 |  | 123               | 23               |                              |                                | (11-21),             | (7-20),<br>(24-28)               |                    |
|                                 |  | 153               | 25               |                              |                                | (17-32)              | (2:20)                           |                    |
|                                 |  | 126               | 28               |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 85                | 29               |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 94                | 30               |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 89                | 31               |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |
|                                 |  | 114               | 32               |                              |                                |                      |                                  |                    |

Table 5.9. Case study results: application A2, generation curtailment at light loading hours.

Due to the high voltage at the bus at the interface with the transmission system, the light loading conditions and the fact that the generators may only vary their power factor within a very limited range, the voltage profile within the network of system S6 is very high. In fact, it is the need to prevent voltages above 1.05 p.u. that leads to the curtailment (i.e., denial of the connection request) of the three generators indicated in Table 5.9.

The bus voltages corresponding to the optimal solution of the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF are indicated in Table 5.10. In order to quantify the approximation errors of the bus voltage magnitudes, the operating point corresponding to the optimal solution of the MILP problem has been used as input data for a simulation using the *backward-forward* load flow algorithm [67] (i.e., the network topology and all bus injections, including the active power absorbed by generators, which have been modeled as fixed values, were used as input data and the system has

been simply simulated). The stop criterion for the execution of successive *backward-forward* iterations is that the maximum variation in any component of any complex bus voltage does not exceed  $10^{-5}$  p.u. from one iteration to another. Table 5.10 also indicates the results obtained by the *backward-forward* load flow, as well as the relative error between the voltages obtained by the MILP problem and the backward-forward load flow. The approximation errors range from 0.0002% to 0.0022% (excluding the reference voltage bus, for which the voltage magnitude is fixed in application A2) for voltage magnitudes, and from  $2 \cdot 10^{-10}$  (for bus 11) to 0.02% for bus angles (also excluding the reference voltage bus).

|      | Volta   | ige magnitud | le [p.u.] | V       | oltage angle | e [°]     |
|------|---------|--------------|-----------|---------|--------------|-----------|
| # S  |         |              | (MILP-    |         |              | (MILP-    |
| Bus  | BFLF    | MILP         | BFLF)     | BFLF    | MILP         | BFLF)     |
|      |         |              | /BFLF [%] |         |              | /BFLF [%] |
| 1000 | 1.05000 | 1.05000      | -         | 0.00000 | 0.00000      | -         |
| 1    | 1.04999 | 1.04999      | 0.00038%  | 0.03986 | 0.03986      | 0.0016%   |
| 2    | 1.04955 | 1.04955      | 0.0005%   | 0.08979 | 0.08978      | 0.0069%   |
| 3    | 1.04936 | 1.04936      | 0.0004%   | 0.09752 | 0.09752      | 0.0072%   |
| 4    | 1.04909 | 1.04909      | 0.0005%   | 0.09704 | 0.09704      | 0.0071%   |
| 5    | 1.04856 | 1.04856      | 0.0003%   | 0.08871 | 0.08870      | 0.0077%   |
| 6    | 1.04839 | 1.04839      | 0.0004%   | 0.07846 | 0.07845      | 0.0091%   |
| 7    | 1.04775 | 1.04774      | 0.0008%   | 2.50050 | 2.50053      | 0.0014%   |
| 8    | 1.04793 | 1.04791      | 0.0015%   | 2.48559 | 2.48563      | 0.0015%   |
| 9    | 1.04733 | 1.04731      | 0.0014%   | 2.18062 | 2.18063      | 0.0006%   |
| 10   | 1.04692 | 1.04691      | 0.0009%   | 2.13257 | 2.13257      | 0.0002%   |
| 11   | 1.04619 | 1.04618      | 0.0006%   | 2.04040 | 2.04040      | 0.0000%   |
| 12   | 1.04596 | 1.04595      | 0.0005%   | 2.06733 | 2.06733      | 0.0001%   |
| 13   | 1.04574 | 1.04573      | 0.0007%   | 2.06319 | 2.06320      | 0.0004%   |
| 14   | 1.04671 | 1.04669      | 0.0018%   | 3.03329 | 3.03336      | 0.0022%   |
| 15   | 1.04693 | 1.04692      | 0.0010%   | 3.21596 | 3.21604      | 0.0025%   |
| 16   | 1.04496 | 1.04495      | 0.0011%   | 3.59062 | 3.59072      | 0.0028%   |
| 17   | 1.04502 | 1.04501      | 0.0012%   | 3.76136 | 3.76148      | 0.0032%   |
| 18   | 1.04982 | 1.04982      | 0.0002%   | 0.10678 | 0.10678      | 0.0003%   |
| 19   | 1.04908 | 1.04907      | 0.0007%   | 0.71314 | 0.71313      | 0.0002%   |
| 20   | 1.04840 | 1.04839      | 0.0006%   | 0.88890 | 0.88889      | 0.0003%   |
| 21   | 1.04697 | 1.04697      | 0.0003%   | 1.21826 | 1.21825      | 0.0009%   |
| 22   | 1.04918 | 1.04918      | 0.0002%   | 0.11662 | 0.11661      | 0.0107%   |
| 23   | 1.04788 | 1.04787      | 0.0005%   | 0.12922 | 0.12920      | 0.0152%   |
| 24   | 1.04695 | 1.04695      | 0.0002%   | 0.11795 | 0.11793      | 0.0171%   |
| 25   | 1.04492 | 1.04490      | 0.0016%   | 4.34433 | 4.34450      | 0.0038%   |
| 26   | 1.04472 | 1.04470      | 0.0021%   | 4.33435 | 4.33452      | 0.0038%   |
| 27   | 1.04424 | 1.04422      | 0.0018%   | 4.28260 | 4.28276      | 0.0038%   |
| 28   | 1.04398 | 1.04396      | 0.0021%   | 4.24614 | 4.24631      | 0.0039%   |

Table 5.10: Bus voltage magnitude profile: solution of MILP ACOPF (MILP), simulation with backwardforward load flow (BFLF) and comparison of relative error, given by (MILP-BFLF)/BFLF.

|     | Volta   | ige magnitud | le [p.u.] | Voltage angle [°] |         |           |  |
|-----|---------|--------------|-----------|-------------------|---------|-----------|--|
| s # |         |              | (MILP-    |                   |         | (MILP-    |  |
| Bus | BFLF    | MILP         | BFLF)     | BFLF              | MILP    | BFLF)     |  |
|     |         |              | /BFLF [%] |                   |         | /BFLF [%] |  |
| 29  | 1.04356 | 1.04354      | 0.0022%   | 4.21362           | 4.21379 | 0.0041%   |  |
| 30  | 1.04403 | 1.04401      | 0.0017%   | 4.05139           | 4.05153 | 0.0033%   |  |
| 31  | 1.04427 | 1.04425      | 0.0020%   | 3.98601           | 3.98614 | 0.0033%   |  |
| 32  | 1.04491 | 1.04489      | 0.0016%   | 3.89300           | 3.89312 | 0.0031%   |  |

## 5.2.3 Application A3: minimization of the sum of variable generation costs and costs of power imports

For this third application, it is assumed that the distribution system operator wishes to minimize the total costs related to supplying active power to the distribution system, including the variable costs of generators whose active power output can be controlled and the costs of power imports.

The distribution system considered for this third application, referred to as S7, was also obtained by modifying the input data for test system S3. The following modifications have been made to obtain S7:

- Only 11 of the 37 branches in the system are considered to be switchable;
- (ii) The load at all buses are increased to 110% of their original value;
- (iii) The voltage at the interface with the transmission system is assumed to be of 1.025 p.u. and the admissible range for the voltage magnitude of all buses in the system is set to 0.95 p. u.  $\leq V_k \leq 1.05$  p. u.;
- (iv) It is assumed that there are four generations with controllable active power output in the system. Those generators are assumed to be connected to buses 7, 14, 17 and 29. The installed capacity of the generator connected to bus 7 is of 500 kW, and all other generators have an installed capacity of 300 kW. Each generator able to control its power factor within the range [0.95<sub>lagging</sub>, 1] (considering the installed active power capacity).
- (v) The unitary production costs for the generators connected to buses 7,
  14, 17 and 29 are respectively of 110 \$/MWh, 118 \$/MWh,

118 \$/MWh and 145 \$/MWh. The costs of imports from the external network are of 115 \$/MWh.

(vi) A period of one hour is considered, so that the conversion from MWh to MW is immediate.

The input data for system S7, used for application A3, are presented in detail in Appendix A (section 7.2.3). The network topology of S7 is identical to that indicated in Figure 5.2.

The following objective function is employed for the minimization of the sum of variable generation costs and costs of power imports:

$$z^{GEN \& IMPORT} = \min\left\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}} c_k^{GEN} \cdot g_k^P + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} c_k^{IMPORT} \cdot V_k^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}\right\}$$
(354)

Two distinct groups of simulations will be executed for system S7. For the first group of simulations, whose results are indicated in subsection 5.2.3.1, it is required that the system is operated in a radial fashion (i.e., the radiality constraints are enforced). For the second group of simulations, whose results are indicated in subsection 5.2.3.2, the system may be operated in a meshed fashion if this is the optimal configuration (i.e., the radiality constraints are not enforced).

#### 5.2.3.1 Radiality enforced

For the simulations of this section, it has been considered that the distribution system S7 must be operated in a radial fashion - i.e., radiality constraints are enforced while solving the problem of minimization of supply costs.

For the first simulation, the formulation of the constraints for obtaining the generator currents that was presented in section 4.2.1.2 has been used. The reader will recall that this formulation makes use of McCormick's envelopes for modeling bilinear products – and for that reason we identify this formulation as *formulation with McCormick's envelopes*. The corresponding results are shown in Table 5.11.

|             | Obj                     | ective func                       | tion                    | Variable generation<br>within distribution<br>network |                                     |                  | Switching<br>(status of switch      | s]                       |                    |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------|
| Test system | Objective function [\$] | Variable generation<br>costs [\$] | Power import costs [\$] | Active power [kW]                                     | Unitary production<br>costs [\$/MW] | Connected to bus | Switched-on<br>branches             | Switched-off<br>branches | Execution time [s] |
|             |                         |                                   |                         | 0.5   | 110                                 | 7                | (5-25), (8-14),                     | (6-7), (8-9),            |                    |
| <b>S</b> 7  | 67 476.5 103.9          |                                   | 372.6                   | 0.200   | 118                                 | 14               | (27-28), (31-32), (27-28), (31-32), |                          | 45.3               |
| 57          | 170.5                   | 105.7                             | 572.0                   | 0.215   | 118                                 | 17               | (11-21), (17-32)                    | (24-28)                  | 10.0               |
|             |                         |                                   |                         | 0   | 145                                 | 29               | (11-21), (17-32)                    | (27-20)                  |                    |

 Table 5.11. Case study results: application A3 with radiality enforced, minimization of the sum of variable generation costs and costs of power imports, *formulation with McCormick's envelopes*.

It is clear that the location of the generators within the network influences the dispatch decisions, mainly due to the avoidance of ohmic losses – this being the main reason for the generators at buses 14 and 17 having a non-zero dispatch, despite the fact that their unitary production costs (118 \$/MW) is superior to the unitary costs of power imports (115 \$/MW).

With the results of the first simulation at hand, a second simulation has been conducted. For this second simulation, the formulation of the constraints for obtaining the generator currents presented in Appendix C (section 9.2) has been used. The reader will recall that this formulation completely eliminates the need to employ McCormick's envelopes, as the generator currents  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  are treated as non-linear functions of four decision variables – i.e.,  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$  – and piecewise-linear approximations of these functions are constructed with help of SOS2. For the construction of these piecewise-linear functions, the cardinality of the sets  $T^Q$  and  $T^P$  (see section 9.2) has been defined as  $|T^Q| = |T^P| = 5$ , with the evaluation points distributed equally within the allowable range for the active and reactive power outputs. The formulation used in the second simulation is identified as *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* in the tables of this section. The results obtained when using this formulation are shown in Table 5.12.

|             | Obj                     | ective func                       | Variable generation<br>within distribution<br>network |                   |                                     | Switching<br>(status of switch | [S]  |  |                    |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|-------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|--|--------------------|
| Test system | Objective function [\$] | Variable generation<br>costs [\$] | Power import costs<br>[\$]                            | Active power [kW] | Unitary production<br>costs [\$/MW] | Connected to bus               | Switched-on<br>branches  | Switched-off<br>branches   | Execution time [s] |
|             |                         |                                   | 0.5   |                   | 110                                 | 7                              | (5-25), (8-14),  | (6-7), (8-9),  |                    |
| <b>S</b> 7  | 479.1                   | 118.3                             | 360.8   | 0.241             | 118                                 | 14                             | (27-28), (31-32), ( | (7-20), (13-14), (7-20), (13-14), (13 | 811                |
| 57          | 777.1                   | 110.5                             | 500.0   | 0.296             | 118                                 | 17                             | (11-21), (17-32), (11-32)  | (7-20), (13-14), (24-28)   | 011                |
|             |                         |                                   |   | 0                 | 145                                 | 29                             | (11-21), (17-32)   | (24-20)  |                    |

Table 5.12. Case study results: application A3 with radiality enforced, minimization of the sum of variable generation costs and costs of power imports, *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations*.

It is clear that the network topology (switching decisions) obtained with both formulations is equal.

By comparing the results of Table 5.11 and Table 5.12, it may seem at first that the solution obtained with the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* (Table 5.11) is better than that obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* (Table 5.12), due to the numerical value of the objective function of the former being inferior to that of the latter. However, the approximations of generator currents in the first formulation are presumably less accurate than that of the second formulation, which may indicate that, if the distribution system operator were to implement the generation dispatch of both formulations, the actual power supply costs associated with the first solution ( $g_k^7 = 0.5$  MW,  $g_k^{14} = 0.2$  MW,  $g_k^{17} = 0.215$  MW,  $g_k^{29} = 0$  MW, with the remainder of the power requirements supplied by power imports) could be higher than those of the second solution ( $g_k^7 = 0.5$  MW,  $g_k^{14} = 0.241$  MW,  $g_k^{17} =$ 0.296 MW,  $g_k^{29} = 0$  MW, with the remainder of the power requirements supplied by power imports).

In order to investigate the hypothesis presented in the last paragraph, both solutions have been used as inputs for a *backward-forward power flow simulation* [67]: the decisions regarding the network topology (switching decisions) and generation dispatch (active power output of generators connected to buses 7, 14, 17 and 29) have been used as fixed input data, and the amount of power imports corresponding to each solution (*formulation with McCormick's envelopes* and *formulation with piecewise-*

*linear approximations*) have been obtained by the solution of the *backward-forward power flow*. With these results at hand, the value of the *actual system operation costs* can be calculated. Furthermore, the value of the actual system operating costs obtained by the procedure described above have been compared to that corresponding to the solution of a non-linear AC optimal power flow problem (NL-ACOPF), obtained with help of the software OptFlow [87]. This NL-ACOPF software does not support discrete decisions, and therefore the network topology corresponding to the switching decisions specified in the previous tables has been considered as fixed.

The system operating costs obtained with help of the procedure described in the two previous paragraph, for the three situations (simulations of the *actual system operation costs* associated with the solution obtained by the MILP *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* and with the solution obtained by the MILP *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations*, as well as the system operation costs obtained with the NL-ACOPF), are indicated in Table 5.13.

 Table 5.13. Comparison of solutions for application A3, with radiality enforced: simulation of actual system operation costs associated with the solutions obtained by the MILP formulation with McCormick's envelopes and by the MILP formulation with piecewise-linear approximations, as well as the operating costs obtained with the NL-ACOPF with the network topology considered as fixed.

| Item       |                          | by the MILP fo | olutions obtained<br>ormulation, with<br>ward load flow<br>Formulation with<br>piecewise-linear<br>approximations | Solution<br>with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>(benchmark) |
|------------|--------------------------|----------------|---|---|
| Active     | Generator at bus 7       | 0.500          | 0.500   | 0.500                                       |
| power      | Generator at bus 14      | 0.212          | 0.241   | 0.288                                       |
| output     | Generator at bus 17      | 0.226          | 0.296   | 0.299                                       |
| [MW]       | Generator at bus 29      | 0              | 0   | 0   |
| Power imp  | orts [MW]                | 3.29           | 3.15  | 3.09  |
| Actual sys | tem operation costs [\$] | 485.2          | 480.3   | 479.3                                       |

The results of Table 5.13 indicate that the actual system operation costs obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* are inferior to those obtained with the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes*. In fact, the system operation costs obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* are only 0.21% higher than those associated with the benchmark solution (that obtained with the NL-ACOPF, considering the network topology as fixed). It is also evident that the

generation dispatch decisions obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* are closer to these obtained with the benchmark solution. The reader should notice, however, that the execution time for the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* (811 s) is considerably higher than the execution time for the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* (45.3 s). Thus, the *trade-off* between approximation accuracy and computational performance becomes evident.

#### 5.2.3.2 Meshed operation allowed

For the simulations of this section, it has been considered that the distribution system S7 may be operated either radially or in a meshed fashion - i.e., radiality constraints are *not* enforced while solving the problem.

For the first simulation, the formulation of the constraints for obtaining the generator currents that was presented in section 4.2.1.2 has been used (*formulation with McCormick's envelopes*). The corresponding results are shown in Table 5.17.

|             | Objective function      |                                   | network                    |                   | Switching decisions<br>(status of switchable branches) |                  | [S]                     |                          |                |  |  |  |  |     |     |   |                       |  |  |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------|--|------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|-----|-----|---|-----------------------|--|--|
| Test system | Objective function [\$] | Variable generation<br>costs [\$] | Power import costs<br>[\$] | Active power [kW] | Unitary production<br>costs [\$/MW]                    | Connected to bus | Switched-on<br>branches | Switched-off<br>branches | Execution time |  |  |  |  |     |     |   |                       |  |  |
|             |                         |                                   |                            |                   |  |                  |                         |                          |                |  |  |  |  | 0.5 | 110 | 7 | (6-7),(5-25), (8-14), |  |  |
| <b>S</b> 7  | 474.5                   | 95.1                              | 379.4                      | 0.161             | 118  | 14               | (7-20),(27-28),         | (8-9), (13-14)           | 152.0          |  |  |  |  |     |     |   |                       |  |  |
| 57          |                         | 75.1                              | 0.1                        | 0.179             | 118  | 17               | (31-32),(11-21),        | (0, j), (1, j-1, +)      | 152.0          |  |  |  |  |     |     |   |                       |  |  |
|             |                         |                                   |                            | 0                 | 145  | 29               | (17-32),(24-28)         |                          |                |  |  |  |  |     |     |   |                       |  |  |

 Table 5.14. Case study results: application A3 with meshed operation allowed, minimization of the sum of variable generation costs and costs of power imports, *formulation with McCormick's envelopes*.

The first noticeable result is that, now that the radiality constraints have been relaxed, the optimal network configuration corresponds to a meshed one.

With the results of the first simulation at hand, a second simulation has been conducted. For this second simulation, the formulation of the constraints for obtaining the generator currents presented in Appendix C (section 9.2) has been used, with

 $|T^{Q}| = |T^{P}| = 5$ . This second formulation is identified as *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* in the following tables. The results obtained when using this formulation are shown in Table 5.15.

|             | Objective function      |                                   | Variable generation<br>within distribution<br>network |                   |                                     | Switching decisions (status of switchable branches) |                          | [9                           |                    |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|-------------------|-------------------------------------|---|--------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|
| Test system | Objective function [\$] | Variable generation<br>costs [\$] | Power import costs [\$]                               | Active power [kW] | Unitary production<br>costs [\$/MW] | Connected to bus                                    | Switched-on branches     | Switched-<br>off<br>branches | Execution time [s] |
|             |                         |                                   |   | 0.5               | 110                                 | 7   | (6-7),(5-25), (8-14),    |                              |                    |
| <b>S</b> 7  | 478.1                   | 125.8                             | 352.3   | 0.300             | 118                                 | 14  | (7-20),(13-14), (27-28), | (8-9)                        | 1414.3             |
| 57          | 770.1                   | 123.0                             | 552.5   | 0.300             | 118                                 | 17  | (31-32),(11-21),         | (0-))                        | 1414.3             |
|             |                         |                                   |   | 0                 | 145                                 | 29  | (17-32),(24-28)          |                              |                    |

Table 5.15. Case study results: application A3 with meshed operation allowed, minimization of the sum of variable generation costs and costs of power imports, *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations*.

The reader will notice that the network topology of the solution obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* (Table 5.15) differs from that corresponding to the solution obtained with the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* (Table 5.17). The network topology indicated in Table 5.15 is also a meshed one.

Again, by comparing the results of Table 5.17 and Table 5.15, it may seem at first that the solution obtained with the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* (Table 5.17) is better than that obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* (Table 5.15), due to the value of the objective function of the former being inferior to that of the latter. However, the approximations of generator currents in the first formulation are presumably less accurate than that of the second formulation, which may indicate that, if the distribution system operator were to implement the generation dispatch of both simulations, the actual power supply costs associated with the first solution could be higher than those of the second solution. In order to verify if this is in fact the case, the optimal decisions of both simulations (network topology and active power output of generators) will be used as fixed inputs for simulations of the

power flow in the distribution system. Due to the fact that both topologies are now meshed, it is no longer possible to use a *backward-forward power flow algorithm* for the simulations. Thus, both operating points will be simulated with help of the NL-ACOPF software OptFlow [87]. For these simulations, the active and reactive power output of all generators in the network are considered as fixed, and the ACOPF is thus employed simply to obtain the solution corresponding to the operating point described by the input data – which is made to obtain the amount of active power imported from the external system (the active power infeed at the slack bus). With these results at hand, the value of the *actual system operation costs* have been calculated, analogously to what has been done in subsection 5.2.3.1.

As in subsection 5.2.3.1, the operation costs obtained by the procedure described in the previous paragraph are compared to those corresponding to the optimal solution of a NL-ACOPF, also obtained with help of the software OptFlow [87]. Now, the network topologies corresponding to the switching decisions registered in Table 5.17 and Table 5.15 are used as fixed inputs for NL-ACOPF simulations, through which the optimal generator dispatch is determined (i.e., the active power outputs are now decision variables of the NL-ACOPF). The costs corresponding to the optimal decisions obtained with the NL-ACOPF will be used to benchmark the *actual system operation costs* obtained by the procedure described in the previous paragraph.

The results of the procedure described in the two previous paragraphs are indicated in Table 5.16.

Table 5.16. Comparison of solutions for application A3 with meshed operation allowed: simulation of *actual system operation costs* associated with the solutions obtained by the MILP *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* and by the MILP *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations*, as well as the operating costs obtained with the NL-ACOPF, with the corresponding network topologies considered as fixed.

| Item   |                | Simulation of<br>solution obtained<br>by the MILP<br>formulation, with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>Formulation with<br>McCormick's<br>envelopes | Solution<br>with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>(considering<br>network<br>topology of<br>Table 5.14) | Simulation of<br>solution obtained<br>by the MILP<br>formulation, with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>Formulation with<br>piecewise-linear<br>approximations | Solution<br>with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>(considering<br>network<br>topology of<br>Table 5.15) |
|--------|----------------|--|---|--|---|
| Active | Gen. at bus 7  | 0.500  | 0.500   | 0.500  | 0.500   |
| power  | Gen. at bus 14 | 0.161  | 0.296   | 0.300  | 0.300   |
| output | Gen. at bus 17 | 0.179  | 0.300   | 0.300  | 0.300   |
| [MW]   | Gen. at bus 29 | 0  | 0   | 0  | 0   |

| Item                         | Simulation of<br>solution obtained<br>by the MILP<br>formulation, with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>Formulation with<br>McCormick's<br>envelopes | Solution<br>with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>(considering<br>network<br>topology of<br>Table 5.14) | Simulation of<br>solution obtained<br>by the MILP<br>formulation, with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>Formulation with<br>piecewise-linear<br>approximations | Solution<br>with<br>NL-ACOPF<br>(considering<br>network<br>topology of<br>Table 5.15) |
|------------------------------|--|---|--|---|
| Power imports [MW]           | 3.31   | 3.08  | 3.06   | 3.06  |
| Actual system op. costs [\$] | 475.7  | 479.5   | 477.7  | 477.7   |

The results of Table 5.16 indicate that the actual system operation costs obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* are lower than those obtained with the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes*. In fact, the generation dispatch obtained with the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* is identical to that obtained with the benchmark method (NL-ACOPF considering the network topology as fixed). The reader should notice that the execution time for the *formulation with piecewise-linear approximations* (1414.3 s) is considerably higher than the execution time for the *formulation with McCormick's envelopes* (152.0 s).

### 5.2.4 Application A4: minimum-cost expansion plan

For this application A4, it is assumed that the user wishes to determine the distribution system expansion plan, involving capacitor placement, reinforcements to circuits and a possible new step-down substation, such that the sum of investments costs and costs of ohmic losses is minimized.

The distribution system considered for this third application, referred to as S8, is based on the input data for test system S3. The following modifications have been made to obtain S8:

- (i) The 37 branches of the original system are considered as existing circuits, and 11 of these consist of switches;
- (ii) The load at all buses are increased to 125% of their original value;
- (iii) The voltage at the interface with the transmission system is assumed to be of 1.0 p.u. and the admissible range for the voltage magnitude of all buses in the system is set to 0.95 p. u.  $\leq V_k \leq 1.05$  p. u.;
- (iv) The following are defined as candidates for system expansion:
  - A new distribution substation;

- Circuits connecting the low-voltage bus of the new distribution substation to the existing buses 13 and 15;
- Circuits between the following existing buses (8-13), (9-21), (15-26) and (15-30);
- Capacitors connected to the existing buses 5, 11 and 31 (modeled as purely capacitive loads at the auxiliary buses 805, 811 and 831, which are connected to the existing buses via low-voltage fictitious circuits).

The network topology of S8 indicated in Figure 5.3.



Figure 5.3: Schematic diagram of system S8. Switchable branches are indicated with a square, candidate facilities are marked in red. Adapted from [49].

It is assumed that the system operating point evaluated by the user is representative of a year, and that the optimal expansion plan is that which minimizes the sum of the annualized investment costs of the facilities and the costs of losses within a year. The costs of losses are obtained simply by multiplying the losses in MW by 8760 hours (typical duration of a year), and then multiplying the result by the cost coefficient of 125 \$/MWh. Table 5.17 indicates the annualized investment costs of each candidate facility.

| ID | Candidate   | Representation                     | Annualized<br>investment<br>costs [\$] |
|----|---|------------------------------------|--|
| 1  | Step-down substation and associated transformer                             | Circuit (2000-200)                 | 48,000                                 |
| 2  | Circuit between low voltage<br>bus of new substation and<br>existing bus 13 | Circuit (200-13)                   | 7,800                                  |
| 3  | Circuit between low voltage<br>bus of new substation and<br>existing bus 15 | Circuit (200-15)                   | 7,200                                  |
| 4  | Circuit between existing buses 8 and 13                                     | Circuit (8-13)                     | 9,000                                  |
| 5  | Circuit between existing buses 9 and 21                                     | Circuit (9-21)                     | 8,400                                  |
| 6  | Circuit between existing buses 15 and 26                                    | Circuit (15-26)                    | 12,000                                 |
| 7  | Circuit between existing buses 15 and 30                                    | Circuit (15-30)                    | 11,000                                 |
| 8  | Capacitor at bus 5  | Purely reactive<br>load at bus 805 | 9,000                                  |
| 9  | Capacitor at bus 11   | Purely reactive<br>load at bus 811 | 9,000                                  |
| 10 | Capacitor at bus 29   | Purely reactive<br>load at bus 829 | 9,000                                  |

Table 5.17. Annualized invest costs of candidate facilities.

The complete input data for system S8 are presented in detail in Appendix A (section 7.2.4).

The connectivity approach used in this application is that described in section 4.2.1.7.3 – approach (iii). This approach is employed to ensure that, if the new substation is not built, the choice to build bus 200 (to which no loads or generators connect, and that is not a slack bus) is taken solely based on the impacts of this decision on the objective function.

The following objective function is employed for the minimization of the sum of investments costs and costs of ohmic losses:

$$z^{REIN \& CAP \& LOSS} = \min\{\sum_{km \in \Psi_{CD}} c_{km}^{CONST} \cdot \sigma_{km} + \sum_{k \in \Omega_{CAP}} c_{k}^{CAPL} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) + c_{k}^{LOSS} \cdot \left[\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} V_{k}^{ref} \cdot I_{g,k}^{re} - \sum_{k \in \Omega_{PCTE}} d_{k}^{P}\right]\}$$
(355)

The optimal solution to the problem is summarized in Table 5.18 and Figure 5.4.

| item        | Objective function   |         |        | Reinforcements<br>to distribution<br>system |  | Switching decisions<br>(status of switchable<br>branches) |  | time [s]    |
|-------------|--|---------|--------|---|--|---|--|-------------|
| Test system | Objective<br>function<br>[\$]Annual<br>losses<br>costs<br>[\$]Annualized<br>investment<br>costs [\$] |         |        | ID  | Annualized<br>investment<br>costs [\$] | Switched-<br>on<br>branches                               | Switched-off<br>branches   | Execution t |
| S8          | 188,568  | 114,568 | 74,000 | 1<br>2<br>3<br>7                            | 48,000<br>7,800<br>7,200<br>11,000     | (5-25),<br>(7-20),<br>(17-32)                             | (6-7), (8-9),<br>(8-14), (13-14),<br>(27-28), (31-32),<br>(11-21), (24-28) | 134.6       |

 Table 5.18. Case study results: application A4, minimization of the sum of of investments costs and costs of ohmic losses.



Figure 5.4: Optimal distribution system expansion plan, application A4, system S8. Adapted from [49].

The bus voltages corresponding to the optimal solution of the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF (the system topology shown in Figure 5.4) are indicated in Table 5.19. In order to quantify the approximation errors of the bus voltage magnitudes, the operating point corresponding to the optimal solution of the MILP problem has been used as input data for a simulation using the *backward-forward* load flow algorithm [67], analogously to what has been done in section 5.2.2 to quantify the approximation errors of bus voltages. The results of this comparison are shown in Table 5.19. The approximation errors range from 0.00005% to 0.0017% for voltage magnitudes and from -0.71% to 0.40% for bus voltage angles (excluding the reference voltage bus).

| #    | Volt    | tage magni | tude [p.u.] |          | Voltage an | gle [°]     |
|------|---------|------------|-------------|----------|------------|-------------|
| Bus  | BFLF    | MILP       | (MILP-BFLF) | BFLF     | MILP       | (MILP-BFLF) |
|      | 1.00000 | 1.00000    | /BFLF [%]   | 0.00000  | 0.0000     | /BFLF [%]   |
| 1000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000    | -           | 0.00000  | 0.00000    | -           |
| 1    | 0.99785 | 0.99785    | 0.00009%    | -0.00274 | -0.00272   | -0.7050%    |
| 2    | 0.98983 | 0.98982    | 0.0006%     | -0.01202 | -0.01195   | -0.6040%    |
| 3    | 0.98759 | 0.98758    | 0.0007%     | -0.01453 | -0.01445   | -0.5773%    |
| 4    | 0.98573 | 0.98572    | 0.0008%     | -0.02046 | -0.02037   | -0.4570%    |
| 5    | 0.98180 | 0.98179    | 0.0011%     | -0.09219 | -0.09210   | -0.0893%    |
| 6    | 0.98101 | 0.98100    | 0.0011%     | -0.14092 | -0.14086   | -0.0439%    |
| 7    | 0.97953 | 0.97952    | 0.0013%     | -0.37633 | -0.37610   | -0.0612%    |
| 8    | 0.97892 | 0.97891    | 0.0013%     | -0.38742 | -0.38719   | -0.0618%    |
| 9    | 0.99147 | 0.99147    | 0.0003%     | -0.08112 | -0.08109   | -0.0449%    |
| 10   | 0.99157 | 0.99157    | 0.0003%     | -0.08114 | -0.08110   | -0.0439%    |
| 11   | 0.99193 | 0.99193    | 0.0003%     | -0.08374 | -0.08370   | -0.0384%    |
| 12   | 0.99461 | 0.99461    | 0.0002%     | -0.05392 | -0.05390   | -0.0419%    |
| 13   | 0.99624 | 0.99624    | 0.0002%     | -0.01083 | -0.01081   | -0.2295%    |
| 14   | 0.99030 | 0.99029    | 0.0005%     | 0.03043  | 0.03055    | 0.4003%     |
| 15   | 0.99069 | 0.99069    | 0.0004%     | 0.04193  | 0.04205    | 0.3012%     |
| 16   | 0.98719 | 0.98718    | 0.0006%     | -0.06437 | -0.06428   | -0.1449%    |
| 17   | 0.98596 | 0.98595    | 0.0007%     | -0.07701 | -0.07692   | -0.1223%    |
| 18   | 0.99669 | 0.99669    | 0.0002%     | -0.02570 | -0.02567   | -0.1172%    |
| 19   | 0.98778 | 0.98777    | 0.0007%     | -0.18765 | -0.18752   | -0.0726%    |
| 20   | 0.98558 | 0.98558    | 0.0008%     | -0.24672 | -0.24657   | -0.0629%    |
| 21   | 0.98478 | 0.98477    | 0.0009%     | -0.27250 | -0.27235   | -0.0583%    |
| 22   | 0.98537 | 0.98536    | 0.0009%     | -0.05019 | -0.05010   | -0.1803%    |
| 23   | 0.97706 | 0.97705    | 0.0013%     | -0.15993 | -0.15983   | -0.0663%    |
| 24   | 0.97292 | 0.97290    | 0.0017%     | -0.21411 | -0.21400   | -0.0545%    |
| 25   | 0.98145 | 0.98144    | 0.0011%     | -0.09423 | -0.09414   | -0.0885%    |
| 26   | 0.98113 | 0.98112    | 0.0011%     | -0.09635 | -0.09626   | -0.0876%    |
| 27   | 0.98047 | 0.98046    | 0.0012%     | -0.11253 | -0.11245   | -0.0711%    |
| 28   | 0.97142 | 0.97141    | 0.0014%     | 0.31344  | 0.31402    | 0.1838%     |
| 29   | 0.97206 | 0.97205    | 0.0014%     | 0.31131  | 0.31188    | 0.1808%     |
| 30   | 0.97974 | 0.97973    | 0.0010%     | 0.14960  | 0.14993    | 0.2221%     |
| 31   | 0.97893 | 0.97892    | 0.0010%     | 0.12866  | 0.12898    | 0.2513%     |
| 32   | 0.98556 | 0.98555    | 0.0008%     | -0.08161 | -0.08152   | -0.1155%    |
| 2000 | 1.00000 | 1.00000    | -           | 0.00000  | 0.00000    | -           |
| 200  | 0.99860 | 0.99860    | 0.00005%    | 0.01333  | 0.01335    | 0.1546%     |

 Table 5.19: Bus voltage magnitude profile: solution of MILP ACOPF (MILP), simulation with backward-forward load flow (BFLF) and comparison of relative error, given by (MILP-BFLF)/BFLF.

# 5.2.5 Application A5: voltage control at distribution substation to minimize active power requirements

So far, all of the objective functions (or modules for objective functions) presented in section 4.2.2 have been used in at least one application – except for the

application of circuit switching costs (section 4.2.2.8), which is essentially analogous to the minimization of the costs of construction of new circuits, as costs are associated with the modification of the status of a given circuit.

This section 5.2.5 deals with an application that was not directly mentioned in section 4.2.2, due to its very particular nature. It is assumed that the country in which the distribution system is located is experiencing problems with the security of energy supply, and having difficulties in meeting the total energy demand. Among the measurements under consideration for reducing the demand for electrical energy in this fictitious country is the operation of distribution systems at voltage magnitudes lower than the usual admissible range, in order to forcefully reduce the overall active power requirements. The operations planner of a given distribution utility is thus required to execute a study to indicate the optimal setpoint of the voltage magnitude at the interface of its system with the transmission network, such that the overall power requirements of its system will be minimized.

It is assumed that the lower bound of the *usual* admissible range for the voltage magnitudes at all buses in the system, 0.95 p.u., is to be substituted by 0.8 p.u. – with the value of 0.8 p.u. assumed to be the lowest possible voltage at which is ensured that no damage is inflicted to any equipment (distribution facilities or consumer's loads).

It is worth mentioning that minimizing the overall power requirements does not necessarily mean operating at the lowest possible voltage, mainly due to the fact that the magnitude of the current demanded by loads of the constant-power type will increase as voltage decreases, leading to an increase in the ohmic losses within the distribution system. Thus, the actual optimal operating voltage will depend on the nature, location and magnitude of the loads in the distribution system.

The distribution system considered for this fifth application, referred to as S9, is obtained by the modification of the input data for test system S3. The following modifications have been made to obtain S9:

- Only 11 of the 37 branches in the system are considered to be switchable;
- (ii) The voltage magnitude at the interface with the transmission system is assumed to be fully controllable.
- (iii) The admissible range for the voltage magnitude of all buses in the system is set to 0.8 p. u.  $\leq V_k \leq 1.05$  p. u.;

(iv) All loads in the original system S3 were of the constant-power type. In system S9, it is assumed that, from the 32 loads within the distribution system, 11 are of the constant-power type, 7 of the constant-current type, and 14 of the constant-impedance type. The nominal power associated with each of the load types is respectively of 1.19 MW, 0.71 MW and 1.815 MW – i.e., the percentage of the loads of the contrant-power, constant-current and constant-impedance type are of 32%, 19% and 49% of the total load in S9.

The input data for system S9, used for application A5, are presented in detail in Appendix A (section 7.2.5). The network topology of S9 is identical to that indicated in Figure 5.2.

As there are no generators in system S9, minimizing the overall power requirements equals minimizing the total power imports at the interface with the transmission system. Thus, one of the alternative formulations for the objective function of section 4.2.2.4 may be used, with the cost coefficient  $c_k^{IMPORT}$  set to unity. Obviously, as the voltage magnitude at the interface with the transmission system is a decision variable in the problem, it is necessary to approximate the product  $V_k \cdot I_{g,k}^{re}$ . For that, a piecewise-linear approximation with the use of SOS2, which has been presented in section 4.2.2.4.2, will be used. The procedure for the determination of the evaluation points and evaluation values corresponds to that indicated in section 4.3.2.3, with  $p_k = 0$  MW,  $\overline{p}_k = 5$  MW,  $E^V = 5$  and  $E^{Ig} = 11$ .

The objective function employed for application A5 is:

$$z^{IMPR} = \min\{\sum_{k \in \Omega_{ITFC}} P_k\}$$
(356)

The optimal solution for this problem is summarized in Table 5.20.

Table 5.20. Case study results: application A5, minimization of system power requirements.

| u           | er<br>MW]<br>ttion)                                       | age<br>ice<br>sion<br>.]  | Switching<br>(status of switch                          |  | e [s]          |
|-------------|---|---|---|--|----------------|
| Test system | System power<br>requirements [MW]<br>(objective function) | Optimal voltage<br>at the interface<br>with transmission<br>system [p.u.] | Switched-on<br>branches                                 | Switched-off<br>branches                     | Execution time |
| <b>S</b> 9  | 3.113   | 0.8528  | (5-25), (7-20),<br>(8-14), (11-21),<br>(17-32), (24-28) | (6-7), (13-14),<br>(8-9), (27-28)<br>(31-32) | 16.53          |

Figure 5.5 indicates the voltage profile across the distribution network at the optimal solution of the MILP problem.



Figure 5.5: Voltage magnitude profile at the optimal solution. Buses with loads of the *constant-power*, *constant-current* and *constant-impedance* type are marked in red, green, and blue. Adapted from [49].

Auxiliary analyses have been executed for system S9, considering situations in which all loads were considered to be of the constant-power, constant-current and constant-impedance type. Obviously, the solutions obtained for these three cases differ
from that obtained when a combination of the three types of loads is considered – the solutions differ with respect to the optimal voltage magnitude at the interface with the transmission system, the optimal configuration of the distribution network and the value of the objective function. For the cases in which all loads are considered to be of the constant-power, constant-current and constant-impedance type, the optimal voltage magnitudes at bus 1000 (the interface with the transmission system) is respectively of 1.050 p.u., 0.8804 p.u. and 0.8450 p.u., and the associated power requirements of the distribution system are of 3.848 MW, 3.272 MW and 2.564 MW.

Before closing this section, it is worth considering one last auxiliary analysis for application A5. For this last auxiliary analysis, it is considered that system S9 has exactly the same composition of loads indicated in Appendix A – i.e., the composition presented in item (iv) at the beginning of this section. However, it is now considered that there are three switchable capacitors in the system, connected to buses 5, 11 and 31. Each of these switchable capacitors has a nominal rating of 200 kVAr and is modeled as a purely reactive load of the constant-impedance type at fictitious buses connected to the main network through low-impedance branches. This representation is virtually identical to that of the candidate capacitors of application A4, the difference being that no costs are associated with changing the status of the capacitors from active to inactive for the current analysis.

It is expected that the presence of switchable capacitors within the distribution network allows a better control over the voltage profile and reduces the losses by providing local reactive power resources, thus allowing a further decrease in the total active power requirements of the distribution system.

This modified version of system S9, with the addition of the abovementioned switchable capacitors, has been used for the problem of minimization of total power requirements via control of the bus voltage magnitude at the reference bus. The results of this auxiliary analysis, considering the modified version of S9, are summarized in Table 5.21. All capacitors are switched-on in the optimal solution of the problem, allowing that the voltage at the interface with the transmission system to be slightly reduced, and also slightly reducing the total power requirements of the distribution system (a reduction of 0.5%).

Table 5.21. Case study results: application A5, minimization of system power requirements, with modified system S9 (inclusion of switchable capacitors with nominal rating of 200 kVAr at buses 5, 11 and 31).

|                                     |   | u n   | Sv  | vitching decision                            | S                                       |           |  |
|-------------------------------------|---|---|---|--|---|-----------|--|
| Test                                | a power<br>ents [MV<br>e functio                        | voltage at<br>face with<br>ion system<br>.u.]         | Status of switcl  | Status of<br>switchable<br>capacitors        | n time [s]                              |           |  |
| system                              | System power<br>requirements [MV<br>(objective function | Optimal vol<br>the interfac<br>transmission<br>[p.u.] | Switched-on<br>branches                                 | Switched-off<br>branches                     | Buses with<br>switched-on<br>capacitors | Execution |  |
| S9 with<br>switchable<br>capacitors | 3.099   | 0.8503  | (5-25), (7-20),<br>(8-14), (11-21),<br>(17-32), (24-28) | (6-7), (13-14),<br>(8-9), (27-28)<br>(31-32) | 5, 11, 31                               | 96.83     |  |

Figure 5.6 indicates the voltage profile across the distribution network for the modified version of system S9 (with the inclusion of switchable capacitors).



Figure 5.6: Voltage magnitude profile at the optimal solution, for modified system (with capacitors added). Buses with loads of the constant-power, constant-current and constant-impedance type are marked in red, green, and blue. Adapted from [49].

A comparison of the bus voltage profile of the solutions indicated in this section 5.2.5 with the bus voltages obtained by simulations with a backward-forward load flow

algorithm is not made at this point, due to the fact that the currently available backwardforward load flow algorithm does not support loads of the constant-current type.

### 6 CONCLUSIONS

In this dissertation, a MILP reformulation of the ACOPF problem for distribution systems, which allows the incorporation of discrete decisions associated with several distribution system operations and expansion planning applications, has been proposed.

The proposed formulation is based on expressing Kirchhoff's laws as a function of complex voltages and currents in rectangular coordinates – as opposed to employing a formulation based on polar coordinates and using voltages and power quantities. This modeling choice allows that particular characteristics of the distribution system are taken advantage of while formulating the problem, with the goal of conciliating accuracy and computational performance.

The choice of reformulating the ACOPF problem as MILP allows the prompt modeling of many of the discrete decisions with which distribution system operations and expansion planners are faced, such as the maneuvering of switches for network reconfiguration and the construction of facilities for system expansion. The fact that the proposed formulation simultaneously supports discrete and continuous decisions widens its applicability to a wide range of distribution system operations and expansion planning problems – and some of these have been illustrated with help of the case studies of chapter 5.

Other practical advantage of reformulating the ACOPF as a MILP is that the solution techniques for mixed-integer linear programs are notably mature, allowing the treatment of large-scale optimization problems with robustness and speed. These techniques are readily available in a number of commercial-grade solvers. The possibility of using commercial solvers is an attractive feature for industry applications, as it essentially translates into guarantees of longevity, maintainability and prevention of obsolescence of the solver that underlies a decision support system.

The linearization and convexification techniques presented in chapter 3 have been employed to reformulate the original non-convex, non-linear ACOPF problem as a mixed-integer linear program. With the exception of the approximation of bilinear products with McCormick's envelope, which have been employed to reformulate the products of decision variables within the equations for the current injections of generators, the proposed linearization and convexification techniques allow the user to obtain approximations of arbitrary accuracy – i.e., the user is able control the accuracy of these approximations while formulating the problem. In this dissertation, reference has been made to the possibility of employing piecewise-linear approximations based on SOS2 to reformulate products of decision variables – and in fact this technique has been employed in the equations of subsection 4.3.1.4.4. The technique has also been employed for reformulating the bilinear products found in the constraints for generator current injections, in the alternative formulation presented in Appendix C (chapter 9), which have been used in the case study of subsection 5.2.3. Employing this technique in fact allows the user to control the accuracy of all approximations used in the reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems.

The use of these linearization and convexification techniques requires the definition of the following input parameters: *disjunctive constants* for the definition of disjunctive constraints, *evaluation points* and *evaluated values* for the definition of piecewise-linear approximations with SOS2, and *upper and lower bounds* for the continuous variables whose product is modeled via McCormick's envelope. In this dissertation, particular characteristics of the distribution system (mainly the fact that bus voltage angles vary within narrow intervals around the reference angle, due to the high *R/X* ratios and the typical power factors of loads within the system) have been explored to obtain a *tight* definition of the abovementioned parameters. This means that the parameters are defined in such a way that allows the correct representation of the problem, while seeking a satisfactory trade-off between approximation accuracy and computational performance.

In chapter 5, the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF has been benchmarked against a brute-force, exhaustive search solution method, for the problem of network reconfiguration with the goal of minimizing ohmic losses. The problem of network reconfiguration has been chosen because it involves exclusively *binary decisions*. While this was necessary to allow a construction of a brute force algorithm against which the MILP reformulation could be benchmarked, it is worth mentioning that many of the features of the proposed formulation are not put into service while solving the network reconfiguration problems of section 5.1. For instance, one relevant feature of the proposed MILP formulation is that it is able to support discrete *and*  continuous decisions, and this feature is clearly not thoroughly explored in the network reconfiguration problems of section 5.1.

For all four test systems used in the benchmarking process mentioned above, the optimal network configuration obtained with the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF perfectly matched that obtained with the brute-force method, meaning that the same switching decisions have been made with both methods. This effectively means that, if the optimal decisions obtained with both methods were implemented, the same ohmic losses in distribution network would be obtained – indicating that the *actual value* of the objective function obtained with the MILP formulation and the brute-force algorithm is identical, for all case studies.

The *approximated numerical value* of the objective function obtained with the MILP reformulation (i.e., the approximated numerical value corresponding to the solution of the mixed-integer program, and not the *actual value* that would be obtained by implementing the solution) is also similar to that obtained with the exhaustive search method. In fact, the relative differences between the *numerical value* of the optimal ohmic losses obtained with the MILP reformulation and with the exhaustive search method varied from –0.8% for the system with 11 branches to 6% for the system with 134 branches.

For systems with intermediate dimensions and a comparatively larger number of switches, the performance of the proposed MILP reformulation has been superior to that of the exhaustive search method – e.g., for system S3, in which there are  $2^{26}$  possible network configurations to be analyzed, the solution time with the MILP reformulation was only 0.95% of the solution time with the brute force method. However, for larger systems with a comparatively smaller number of switches, the brute force method has outperformed the MILP reformulation – e.g., for system S4, with 134 branches and  $2^{16}$  possible network configurations, the exhaustive search method has been 5.8% faster than the MILP reformulation in finding the optimal decision. While analyzing this last result, the reader should keep in mind that, if the problem under consideration in the benchmarking analyses required the support to continuous decisions, the brute force algorithm could simply not be used, while the MILP reformulation would still apply.

A number of possible applications of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF problem have been illustrated by the case studies of section 5.2. The case studies of this section referred to the minimization of costs of load shedding, generation

curtailment, variable costs of generation, costs of power imports and costs of reinforcements to the distribution system. This list does not aim at being exhaustive with respect to the possible applications of the proposed formulation, but solely at indicating its flexibility. Selected numerical results of these case studies have also been benchmarked against results obtained by simulating the solution of the mixed-integer program with a backward-forward load flow method, and the comparison also pointed to a satisfactory accuracy of the proposed MILP reformulation. All case studies have been built upon test systems obtained by modification of the data originally proposed in [64] (a system with 33 buses and 37 branches), with slight modifications in the number of elements in the network for certain applications. The execution times for the case studies of section 5.2 ranged from 11.03 s to 1602.8 s. The latter execution time has been obtained for an application with 11 switchable circuits and 20 curtailable generators – totalizing  $2^{31}$  possible combinations of these binary variables, which model operations planning decisions.

The results of the case studies of chapter 5 suggest that the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems meets the goals of accurately capturing the non-linear behavior of the original problem and leading to solutions of good quality, while being flexible enough to support a wide range of applications. It is worth mentioning that the MILP reformulation of the ACOPF has been coded and executed with FICO Xpress Mosel @ Version 3.2.2 - a commercial-grade solver, which brings about the practical advantages mentioned at the beginning of this chapter. The solution times obtained for the applications may be classified as satisfactory, though there seems to be room for improvement – as indicated in the first paragraph of the following section.

### 6.1 Suggested topics for future work

Techniques for improving the computational performance of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF are among the suggested topics for future work. The reader will recall that the piecewise-linear approximations of functions of two variables employed in the current formulation are based in arranging the set of *evaluation points* at the vertices of a *rectangular* grid, which is superimposed to the function domain. It is likely that the procedures for the construction of piecewise-linear approximations based

on constructing *triangular grids* of evaluation points will lead to enhanced computational performance, as suggested in [61], [80]. Other possible approaches to be investigated, eventually in combination with the one described above, include: (a) using the technique described in [86] to reduce the number of binary variables necessary to implement SOS2-based piecewise linear approximations<sup>13</sup>; and (b) employing linearization and convexification techniques other than those described in this dissertation. In general terms, techniques that ensure that the choice of evaluation points is optimal either with respect to accuracy (e.g., minimizing the maximum approximation error while keeping the number of points below a certain threshold) or computational performance (e.g., minimizing the number of points while keeping the maximum approximation error below a certain threshold) are suggested as topics for future work.

The improvement of the computational is an important research topic also in order to allow the practical use of the proposed formulation in problems in which multiple operating conditions have to be evaluated - e.g., in stochastic and multi-stage problems.

The expansion of the proposed MILP reformulation of the ACOPF problem to unbalanced three-phase distribution systems may also be an interesting topic for future work, taking into account that phase unbalance is an important phenomenon in many real distribution systems. Future work may also include modeling of other equipment relevant for distribution systems, such as voltage regulators.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Reference [86] basically suggests using a special encoding procedure for the definition intervals of the piecewise linear function, allowing the use of a logarithmic number of binary variables.

### REFERENCES

[1] T. Jamasb, M. Pollitt, "International benchmarking and regulation: an application to European electricity distribution utilities", *Energy Policy*, vol.31, issue 15, December 2003, pp. 1609-1622.

[2] D. E. M. Sappington, J. P. Pfeifenberger, P. Hanser, G. N. Basheda, "The State of Performance-Based Regulation in the U.S. Electric Utility Industry", *The Electricity Journal*, vol.14, issue 8, October 2001, pp. 71-79.

[3] A. Ter-Martirosyan, John Kwoka, "Incentive regulation, service quality, and standards in U.S. electricity distribution", *Journal of Regulatory Economics*, vol. 38, pp. 258–273, Jul. 2010.

[4] I N. Kessides, "The Impacts of Electricity Sector Reforms in Developing Countries", *The Electricity Journal*, vol.25, issue 6, July 2012, pp. 79-88.

[5] R. Cossent, T. Gómez, P. Frías, "Towards a future with large penetration of distributed generation: Is the current regulation of electricity distribution ready? Regulatory recommendations under a European perspective", *Energy Policy*, vol. 37, issue 3, March 2009, pp.1145-1155.

[6] G. T. Heydt, "The Next Generation of Power Distribution Systems", *IEEE Trans. on Smart Grid*, vol.1, no.3, pp.225-235, Dec. 2010.

[7] J. Fan, S. Borlase, "The evolution of distribution", *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine*, vol.7, no.2, pp.63-68, March-April 2009.

[8] S. Bruno, S. Lamonaca, G. Rotondo, U. Stecchi, M. La Scala, "Unbalanced Three-Phase Optimal Power Flow for Smart Grids", *IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics*, vol.58, no.10, pp.4504-4513, Oct. 2011.

[9] S. Cinvalar, J. J. Grainer, "Volt/var Control on Distribution Systems with Lateral Branches Using Shunt Capacitors and Voltage Regulators Part I: the Overall Problem", IEEE Trans. on Power Apparatus and Systems, vol.104, pp.3278-3297, 1985.

[10] R. F. Lawrence, F. E. Montmeat, A. D. Patton, D. Wappler, "Automated Distribution System Planning", IEEE Trans. on Power Apparatus and Systems, vol.83, no.4, pp.311-316, April 1964.

[11] S. Civanlar, J. J. Grainger, H. Yin, S. S. H. Lee, "Distribution feeder reconfiguration for loss reduction", IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery, vol.3, no.3, pp.1217-1223, Jul 1988.

[12] K. Aoki, K. Nara, T. Satoh, M. Kitagawa, K. Yamanaka, "New approximate optimization method for distribution system planning", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 126-132, Feb 1990.

[13] K. Nara, T. Satoh, K. Aoki, M. Kitagawa, "Multi-year Expansion Planning for Distribution Systems", IEEE Trans Power Systems, v. 6, n. 3, pp. 202-214, 1991.

[14] R. A. Gallego, A. J. Monticelli, R. Romero, "Optimal capacitor placement in radial distribution networks", IEEE Trans. on Power Systems, vol.16, no.4, pp.630-637, Nov 2001.

[15] S. Deilami, A. A. Masoum, P. S. Moses, M. A. S. Masoum, "Real-Time Coordination of Plug-In Electric Vehicle Charging in Smart Grids to Minimize Power Losses and Improve Voltage Profile", IEEE Trans. on Smart Grid, vol.2, no.3, pp.456-467, Sept. 2011.

[16] D. H. Popović, J. A. Greatbanks, M. Begović, A. Pregelj, "Placement of distributed generators and reclosers for distribution network security and reliability", *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol. 27, no.5, pp.398-408, July 2005.

[17] N. Acharya, P. Mahat, N. Mithulananthan, "An analytical approach for DG allocation in primary distribution network", *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 669-678, December 2006.

[18] D. Shirmohammadi, H. W. Hong, "Reconfiguration of electric distribution networks for resistive line losses reduction", *Power Delivery, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.4, no.2, pp.1492-1498, Apr 1989.

[19] H. P. Schmidt, N. Ida, N. Kagan, J. C. Guaraldo, "Fast Reconfiguration of Distribution Systems Considering Loss Minimization", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol.20, no.3, pp. 1311-1319, Aug. 2005.

[20] T. E. DcDermott, I. Drezga, R. P. Broadwater, "A heuristic nonlinear constructive method for distribution system reconfiguration", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol.14, no.2, pp.478-483, May 1999.

[21] F. V. Gomes, S. Carneiro, J. L. R. Pereira, M. P. Vinagre, P. A. N. Garcia, L.
R. Araujo, "A New Heuristic Reconfiguration Algorithm for Large Distribution Systems", *IEEE Trasn. on Power Systems*, vol.20, no.3, pp. 1373-1378, Aug. 2005.

[22] F. V. Gomes, S. Carneiro, J. L. R. Pereira, M. P. Vinagre, P. A. N. Garcia, L. R. Araujo; , "A New Distribution System Reconfiguration Approach Using Optimum Power Flow and Sensitivity Analysis for Loss Reduction," *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.21, no.4, pp.1616-1623, Nov. 2006.

[23] L. W. Oliveira, S. Carneiro, E. J. Oliveira, J.L.R. Pereira, I. C. Silva, J. S. Costa, "Optimal reconfiguration and capacitor allocation in radial distribution systems for energy losses minimization", International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems, Volume 32, Issue 8, Pages 840-848, October 2010.

[24] I. C. Silva, S. Carneiro, E. J. de Oliveira, J. Souza Costa, J. L. R. Pereira, P.
 A. N. Garcia, "A Heuristic Constructive Algorithm for Capacitor Placement on Distribution Systems", *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.23, no.4, pp.1619-1626, Nov. 2008.

[25] J. F. Franco, M. J. Rider, M. Lavorato, R. Romero, "A set of linear equations to calculate the steady-state operation of an electrical distribution system", *2011 IEEE Conf. on Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Latin America*, Oct. 2011.

[26] M. A Farrag, M. M. El-Metwally, M. S El-Bagesb, "A new model for distribution system planning", *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 523–531, Oct. 1999.

[27] P. C. Paiva, H. M. Khodr, J. A. Dominguez-Navarro, J. M. Yusta, A. J. Urdaneta, "Integral planning of primary-secondary distribution systems using mixed integer linear programming", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 1134-1143, May 2005.

[28] A. Abiri-Jahromi, M. Fotuhi-Firuzabad, M. Parvania, M. Mosleh, "Optimized Sectionalizing Switch Placement Strategy in Distribution Systems", *IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery*, vol. 27, no.1, pp. 362-370, Jan. 2012.

[29] S. Haffner, L. F. A. Pereira, L. A. Pereira, L. S. Barreto, "Multistage Model for Distribution Expansion Planning With Distributed Generation—Part I: Problem Formulation", *IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 915-923, April 2008.

[30] R. C. Lotero, J. Contreras, "Distribution System Planning With Reliability", *IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 2552-2562, Oct. 2011.

[31] M. A. El-Kady, "Computer-Aided Planning of Distribution Substation and Primary Feeders", IEEE Trans. on Power Apparatus and Systems, vol.PAS-103, no.6, pp.1183-1189, June 1984.

[32] G. L. Thompson, D. L. Wall, "A Branch-and-bound Model for Choosing Optimal Substation Locations", IEEE Trans. on Power Apparatus and Systems, vol.PAS-100, no.5, pp.2683-2688, May 1981.

[33] T. Gönen, B. L. Foote, "Distribution-system planning using mixed-integer programming", *IEEE Proc. Generation Transmission and Distribution*, vol. 128, no. 2, pp. 70-79, March 1981.

[34] S. Khushalani, J. M. Solanki, N. N. Schulz, "Optimized Restoration of Unbalanced Distribution Systems", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 624-630, May 2007.

[35] LINDO Syst, LINGO Release-9., Inc., Chicago, IL, 2003.

[36] H. M. Khodr, J. Martinez-Crespo, M. A. Matos, J. Pereira, "Distribution Systems Reconfiguration Based on OPF Using Benders Decomposition", *IEE Trans. on Power Delivery*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 2166-2176, Oct. 2009.

[37] E. Romero-Ramos, J. Riquelme-Santos, J. Reyes, "A simpler and exact mathematical model for the computation of the minimal power losses tree", *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 80, no. 5, pp. 562–571, May 2010.

[38] R. A. Jabr, R. Singh, B. C. Pal, "Minimum Loss Network Reconfiguration Using Mixed-Integer Convex Programming", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 1106-1115, May 2012.

[39] V. Miranda, J. V. Ranito, L. M. Proença, "Genetic Algorithm in Optimal Multistage Distribution Network Planning", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, v. 9, n. 4, pp. 1927-1933, 1994.

[40] V. Miranda, L. M. Proença, "A General Methodology for Distribution Planning under Uncertainty, Including Genetic Algorithms and Fuzzy Models in a Multi-Criteria Environment", *Power Tech International Symposium on Electric Power Engineering*, pp. 832–837, 1995.

[41] R. I. J. Rosado, B. J. L. Agustin, "Genetic Algorithm Applied to the Design of Large Power Distribution Systems", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, v. 13, n. 2, pp. 696-703, 1997.

[42] G. Carpinelli, G. Celli, F. Pilo, A. Russo, "Distributed Generation Siting and Sizing under Uncertainty", *IEEE Trans. On Power Systems*, v. 20, n. 2, pp. 750-757, 2001.

[43] K.H. Kim, Y. J. Lee, S. B. Rhee, S. K. Lee; S. K. You, "Dispersed Generator Placement Using Fuzzy-GA in Distribution Systems", *Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting*, v. 13, pp. 1148-1153, 2002.

[44] G. Celli, F. Pilo, "Optimal Distributed Generation Allocation in MV Distribution Networks", *Proceedings of the IEEE Power Engineering Society International Conference*, pp. 81-86, Sydney, 2001.

[45] V. Calderaro, V. Galdi, A. Picolo, "Distribution Planning by Genetic Algorithm with Renewable Energy Units". In: Proceedings of the Bulk Power Systems Dynamics and Control, v. 1, pp. 375-380, Italy, 2004.

[46] G. Celli, E. Ghiani, S. Mocci, F. Pilo, "A Multiobjective Evolutionary Algorithm for the Sizing and Sitting of Distributed Generation", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, v. 20, n. 2, pp. 750-757, 2005.

[47] M. Skok, S. Krajcar, D. Skrlec, "Long Term Multi-Stage Planning of Open Loop Distribution Networks under Uncertainty". PSCC, Liege, 2005.

[48] J. C. Cebrian, N. Kagan, "Evolutionary algorithms for the reconfiguration of radial distribution networks considering long interruption and voltage sag disruption costs", *13th International Conference on Harmonics and Quality of Power*, Oct. 2008.

[49] V. F. Martins, C. L. T. Borges, "Active Distribution Network Integrated Planning Incorporating Distributed Generation and Load Response Uncertainties", *IEEE Trans. on Power Systems*, vol.26, no.4, pp.2164-2172, Nov. 2011.

[50] C. L. T. Borges, V. F. Martins, "Multistage expansion planning for active distribution networks under demand and Distributed Generation uncertainties ", *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol.36, pp.107-116, 2012.

[51] S. Jonnavithula, R. Billinton, "Minimum Cost Analysis of Feeder Routing in Distribution System Planning", IEEE Trans Power Systems, v. 5, n. 1, pp. 1935-1940, 1996.

[52] M. T. P Leão, M. A. Matos, "Distribution planning with Loads and Independent Generation". In: Proceedings on the CIRED, v. 6, n. 438, pp. 6.12.1-6.12.5, Birmingham, 1997. [53] Young-Jae Jeon; Jae-Chul Kim; Jin-O Kim; Joong-Rin Shin; Lee, K.Y.; , "An efficient simulated annealing algorithm for network reconfiguration in large-scale distribution systems," Power Delivery, IEEE Transactions on , vol.17, no.4, pp. 1070-1078, Oct 2002.

[54] Vaidyanathan Jayaraman, Anthony Ross, A simulated annealing methodology to distribution network design and management, European Journal of Operational Research, Volume 144, Issue 3, Pages 629-645, February 2003.

[55] Yann-Chang Huang; Hong-Tzer Yang; Ching-Lien Huang; , "Solving the capacitor placement problem in a radial distribution system using Tabu Search approach," Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on , vol.11, no.4, pp.1868-1873, Nov 1996.

[56] R. I. J. Rosado, J. A. D. Navarro, J. M. Y. Loyo, "A New Model for Optimal Electricity Distribution Planning Based on Fuzzy Set Techniques", IEEE Winter Meeting, pp. 1148-1154, 1999.

[57] R. I. J. Rosado, J. A. D. Navarro, "Possibilistic Model Based on Fuzzy Sets for the Multiobjective Optimal Planning of Electric Power Distribution Networks", IEEE Trans Power Systems, v. 19, n. 4, pp. 1801-1810, 2004.

[58] A. B. Morton, I. M. Y. Mareels, "An efficient brute-force solution to the network reconfiguration problem", *Power Delivery, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.15, no.3, pp.996-1000, Jul 2000.

[59] T. Gönen, I. J. Ramirez-Rosado, "Review of distribution system planning models: a model for optimal multistage planning", Generation, Transmission and Distribution, IEE Proceedings C,

[60] K. S. Khator, L. C. Leung, "Power distribution planning: a review of models and issues" IEEE Trans. on Power Systems, vol.12, no.3, pp.1151-1159, Aug 1997.

[61] Geißler, B.; Martin, A.; Morsi, A.; et al.; "Using Piecewise Linear Functions for Solving MINLPs", in Mixed Integer Nonlinear Programming, 287-314, Springer, 2012.

[62] Latorre, M. L, Dias, A., Fereira, R., Granville, S., Pereira, M. V., "The Optimal Power Flow Problem Model as a MILP", Informs 2012.

[63] ANEEL, Procedimentos de Distribuição de Energia Elétrica no Sistema Elétrico Nacional – Módulo 1 – Introdução, Brasilia, 2012. [64] M. E. Baran, F. F. Wu, "Network reconfiguration in distribution systems for loss reduction and load balancing", *Power Delivery, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.4, no.2, pp.1401-1407, Apr 1989.

[65] C. S. Cheng, D. Shirmohammadi, "A three-phase power flow method for real-time distribution system analysis", *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol.10, no.2, pp.671-679, May 1995.

[66] S. Ghosh, D. Das, "Method for load-flow solution of radial distribution networks", *Generation, Transmission and Distribution, IEE Proceedings-*, vol.146, no.6, pp.641-648, Nov 1999.

[67] G. W. Chang, S. Y. Chu, H. L. Wang, "An Improved Backward/Forward Sweep Load Flow Algorithm for Radial Distribution Systems", IEEE Trans. on Power Systems, vol.22, no.2, pp.882-884, May 2007.

[68] ANEEL, Procedimentos de Distribuição de Energia Elétrica no Sistema Elétrico Nacional – Módulo 8 – Qualidade, Brasilia, 2012.

[69] Viawan, F.A.; Karlsson, D.; Sannino, A.; Daalde, J.; , "Protection Scheme for Meshed Distribution Systems with High Penetration of Distributed Generation," Power Systems Conference: Advanced Metering, Protection, Control, Communication, and Distributed Resources, 2006. PS '06 , vol., no., pp.99-104, 14-17 March 2006.

[70] G. Celli, F. Pilo and G. Pisano, "Meshed Distribution Networks to Increase the Maximum Allowable Distributed Generation Capacity", in Proc. of 2005 CIGRE Symposium, 2005.

[71] M. Tavakoli Bina, A. Kashefi, "Three-phase unbalance of distribution systems: Complementary analysis and experimental case study", International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems, Volume 33, Issue 4, Pages 817-826, May 2011.

[72] H. L. Willis, *Power Distribution Planning Reference Book*. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 2004.

[73] IEEE Task Force, "Standard Load Models for Power Flow and Dynamic Performance Simulations," IEEE Trans. Power Systems, Vol. 10, No. 3, August 1995.

[74] M. Tawarmalani, N. V. Sahinidis, *Convexification and Global Optimization in Continuous and Mixed-Integer Nonlinear Programming: Theory, Algorithms, Software, and Applications.* Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2002. [75] S. Burer, A. N. Letchford, "Non-convex mixed-integer nonlinear programming: A survey", *Surveys in Operations Research and Management Science*, Volume 17, Issue 2, July 2012, Pages 97-106.

[76] L. A. Wolsey, *Integer programming*. John Wiley and Sons, New Jersey, 1998.

[77] A. Agarwal, S. Bhat, A. Gray, and I. E. Grossmann. "Automating Mathematical Program Transformations. In *Practical Aspects of* Declarative Languages, 2010.

[78] Beale, E. M. L., Tomlin, J. A. "Special Facilities in a General Mathematical Programming System for Non-Convex Problems using Ordered Sets of Variables", in Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference of Operational Research, London, 1969.

[79] C. Gueret, C. Prins, M. Sevaus, *Applications of optimization with Xpress-MP*, Editions Eyrolles, Paris, 2000.

[80] Tomlin, J.A., "A Suggested Extension of Special Ordered Sets to Non-Separable Non-Convex Programming Problems," in Annals of Discrete Mathematics (11) Studies on Graphs and Discrete Programming, P. Hanson (Ed.), North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, NY, 1981.

[81] G. McCormick, "Computability of global solutions to factorable nonconvex programs: Part I — Convex underestimating problems". Mathematical Programming. 10 (1976) 146–175.

[82] Meyer, C. A.; Floudas, C. A.; "Trilinear monomials with positive or negative domains: facets of the convex and concave envelopes", in: *Frontiers* in Global Optimization, pp. 327-352, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2003.

[83] Cafieri, S., Lee, J., Liberti, L. "On convex relaxations of quadrilinear terms", Journal of Global Optimization, 47 (2010) 661–685.

[84] Civanlar, S.; Grainger, J.J.; Yin, H.; Lee, S.S.H.; , "Distribution feeder reconfiguration for loss reduction," Power Delivery, IEEE Transactions on , vol.3, no.3, pp.1217-1223, Jul 1988.

[85] Kersting, W.H.; , "Radial distribution test feeders," Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on , vol.6, no.3, pp.975-985, Aug 1991.

[86] G. Nemhauser, J.P. Vielma, "Modeling disjunctive constraints with a logarithmic number of binary variables and constraints", Integer Programming and

Combinatorial Optimization, Vol. 5035 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 2008, pp. 199–213.

[87] PSR, *Optflow – Vr. 3.0.* Rio de Janeiro, 2012.

## 7 APPENDIX A: INPUT DATA FOR CASE STUDIES

The input data for the case studies of chapter 5 are presented in the following subsections, in tabular form. The apparent power base for all quantities expressed in per unit (p.u.) is 100 MVA. The nomenclature presented in chapters 2 and 4 is used for ensuring a succinct presentation of data.

# 7.1 Input data for distribution systems used in section 5.1

### 7.1.1 Test system S1

| Bus # | Sets to which bus pertain                     | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1000  | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2  | 0.6  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 3  | 1.3  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2  | 0.5  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1.5  | 0.3  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.5  | 0.1  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 101   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1  | 0.2  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 102   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1.5  | 0.2  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 103   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2.5  | 0.6  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 104   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 3  | 0.4  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 105   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2.5  | 0.9  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2000  | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.1. Bus data: test system S1

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which<br>branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current [p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| 1000        | 5         | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.075                          | 0.1                           | 0.25                                    |
| 5           | 4         | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.08                           | 0.11                          | 0.25                                    |
| 4           | 3         | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.09                           | 0.12                          | 0.25                                    |
| 3           | 2         | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.04                           | 0.04                          | 0.25                                    |
| 2           | 1         | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.03                           | 0.03                          | 0.25                                    |
| 1           | 101       | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.04                           | 0.01                          | 0.25                                    |
| 101         | 102       | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.1                            | 0.1                           | 0.25                                    |
| 102         | 103       | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.11                           | 0.11                          | 0.25                                    |
| 103         | 104       | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.09                           | 0.12                          | 0.25                                    |
| 104         | 105       | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.055                          | 0.11                          | 0.25                                    |
| 105         | 2000      | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.1                            | 0.1                           | 0.25                                    |

#### Table 7.2. Branch data: test system S1

## 7.1.2 Test system S2

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                   | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1     | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2  | 1.6  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 3  | 1.5  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 105   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0  | -1.1   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2  | 0.8  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 106   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0  | -1.2   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1.5  | 1.2  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 4  | 2.7  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 5  | 3  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 109   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0  | -1.2   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1  | 0.9  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.6  | 0.1  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 111   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0  | -0.6   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 4.5  | 2  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 112   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0  | -3.7   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1  | 0.9  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1  | 0.7  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 114   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0  | -1.8   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 1  | 0.9  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 2.4  | 1  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.3. Bus data: test system S2

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 116   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0  | -1.8   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.4. Branch data: test system S2

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1           | 4         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.075                          | 0.1                           | 0.35                                       |
| 4           | 5         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.08                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 4           | 6         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.09                           | 0.18                          | 0.35                                       |
| 6           | 7         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.04                           | 0.04                          | 0.35                                       |
| 2           | 8         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.11                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.08                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 8           | 10        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.11                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 9           | 11        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.11                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 9           | 12        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.08                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 3           | 13        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.11                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 13          | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.09                           | 0.12                          | 0.35                                       |
| 13          | 15        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.08                           | 0.11                          | 0.35                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.04                           | 0.04                          | 0.35                                       |
| 5           | 11        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.04                           | 0.04                          | 0.35                                       |
| 10          | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.04                           | 0.04                          | 0.35                                       |
| 7           | 16        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.09                           | 0.12                          | 0.35                                       |
| 5           | 105       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 6           | 106       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 9           | 109       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |

| 11       111 $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$ 0       0.001       0.05         12       112 $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$ 0       0.001       0.05         14       114 $(W_C)   \Psi_{SW}  $ 0       0.001       0.05 | FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|---|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
|   | 11          | 111       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
|   | 12          | 112       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 14 114 $\{\Psi_C \setminus \Psi_{SW}\}$ 0 0.001 0.05  | 14          | 114       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 16 116 $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$ 0 0.001 0.05  | 16          | 116       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |

## 7.1.3 Test system S3

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                     | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1000  | $\Omega_{SLACK},  \Omega_{REF},  \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.1  | 0.06   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.12                                       | 0.08   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.03   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.2  | 0.1  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.2  | 0.1  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.045                                      | 0.03   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.035  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.035  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.12                                       | 0.08   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.01   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 17    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 18    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 19    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 20    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 21    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                                 |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.5. Bus data: test system S3

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 22    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.09                                       | 0.05   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 23    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.42                                       | 0.2  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 24    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.42                                       | 0.2  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 25    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.06                                       | 0.025  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 26    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.06                                       | 0.025  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 27    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 28    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.12                                       | 0.07   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 29    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.2  | 0.6  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 30    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.15                                       | 0.07   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 31    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.21                                       | 0.1  | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |
| 32    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.06                                       | 0.04   | 0.90   | 1.10   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.6. Branch data: test system S3

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1000        | 1         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.05753                        | 0.02932                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.3076                         | 0.15667                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.22836                        | 0.1163                        | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23778                        | 0.1211                        | 0.05                                       |
| 4           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.51099                        | 0.44112                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 6         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.1168                         | 0.38608                       | 0.05                                       |
| 6           | 7         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.44386                        | 0.14668                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 8         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.64264                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.65138                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 9           | 10        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.12266                        | 0.04056                       | 0.05                                       |
| 10          | 11        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.2336                         | 0.07724                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 12        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.91592                        | 0.72063                       | 0.05                                       |
| 12          | 13        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.33792                        | 0.4448                        | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.36874                        | 0.32818                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 15        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.46564                        | 0.34004                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.80424                        | 1.07378                       | 0.05                                       |
| 16          | 17        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.45671                        | 0.35813                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 18        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10232                        | 0.09764                       | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.93851                        | 0.84567                       | 0.05                                       |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2555                         | 0.29849                       | 0.05                                       |
| 20          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.4423                         | 0.58481                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 22        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.28152                        | 0.19236                       | 0.05                                       |
| 22          | 23        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.56028                        | 0.44243                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.55904                        | 0.43743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 25        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.12666                        | 0.06451                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 26        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.17732                        | 0.09028                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 27        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.66074                        | 0.58256                       | 0.05                                       |
| 27          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.50176                        | 0.43712                       | 0.05                                       |
| 28          | 29        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31664                        | 0.16128                       | 0.05                                       |
| 29          | 30        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.60795                        | 0.60084                       | 0.05                                       |
| 30          | 31        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.19373                        | 0.2258                        | 0.05                                       |
| 31          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.21276                        | 0.33081                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 20        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 17          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |
| 24          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |

## 7.1.4 Test system S4

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                   | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 150   | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 17    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 18    | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 19    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 20    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 21    | $\Omega_B$                                    |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.7. Bus data: test system S4

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 22    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 23    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 24    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 25    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 26    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 27    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 28    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 29    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 30    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 31    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 32    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 33    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 34    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 35    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 36    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 37    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 38    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 39    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 40    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 41    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 42    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 43    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 44    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 45    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 46    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 47    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.035                                      | 0.025  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 48    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.07                                       | 0.05   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 49    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.0466667                                  | 0.0316667                                    | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 50    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 51    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 52    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 53    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 54    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 55    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 56    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 57    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 58    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 59    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 60    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 61    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 62    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 63    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 64    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.075                                      | 0.035  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 65    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.0466667                                  | 0.0333333                                    | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 66    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.075                                      | 0.035  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 67    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 68    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 69    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 70    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 71    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 72    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 73    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 74    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 75    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 76    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.0816667                                  | 0.06   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 77    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 78    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 79    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 80    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 81    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 82    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 83    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 84    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 85    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 86    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 87    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 88    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 89    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 90    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 91    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 92    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 93    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 94    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 95    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 96    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 97    | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 98    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 99    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 100   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 101   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 102   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 103   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 104   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 105   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 106   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 107   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 108   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 109   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 110   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 111   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 112   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 113   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0.04                                       | 0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 114   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             |   | 0.02                                       | 0.01   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 135   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 149   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 151   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 152   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 160   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 197   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 250   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 251   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 300   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 350   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 450   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 451   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 610   | $\Omega_B$                  |   | 0  | 0  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 883   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0  | -0.2   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 888   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0  | -0.05  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 890   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0  | -0.05  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 892   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             |   | 0  | -0.05  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.8. Branch data: test system S4

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain   | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.08486                        | 0.08603                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 7         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.10049                        | 0.20587                       | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \Psi_{SW}\}$ | 0.09698                        | 0.09831                       | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 6         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 8         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.06699                        | 0.13725                       | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 12        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.1091                         | 0.1106                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.1091                         | 0.1106                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 13        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.10049                        | 0.20587                       | 0.05                                       |
| 9           | 14        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.20608                        | 0.20892                       | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 34        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.07273                        | 0.07374                       | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 18        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.27634                        | 0.56614                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 11        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 10        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.18184                        | 0.18434                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 17        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.16971                        | 0.17205                       | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 18          | 21        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10049                        | 0.20587                       | 0.05                                       |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 21          | 22        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.25457                        | 0.25808                       | 0.05                                       |
| 21          | 23        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.26669                        | 0.27037                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 25        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 26        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09775                        | 0.22449                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 28        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.06699                        | 0.13725                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 27        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.07681                        | 0.17638                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 31        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.1091                         | 0.1106                        | 0.05                                       |
| 27          | 33        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.24245                        | 0.24579                       | 0.05                                       |
| 28          | 29        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10049                        | 0.20587                       | 0.05                                       |
| 29          | 30        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.11724                        | 0.24018                       | 0.05                                       |
| 30          | 250       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.06699                        | 0.13725                       | 0.05                                       |
| 31          | 32        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.14547                        | 0.14747                       | 0.05                                       |
| 34          | 15        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.04849                        | 0.04916                       | 0.05                                       |
| 35          | 36        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.18154                        | 0.41691                       | 0.05                                       |
| 35          | 40        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 36          | 37        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.14547                        | 0.14747                       | 0.05                                       |
| 36          | 38        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 38          | 39        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 40          | 41        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 40          | 42        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 42          | 43        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.24245                        | 0.24579                       | 0.05                                       |
| 42          | 44        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.06699                        | 0.13725                       | 0.05                                       |
| 44          | 45        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09698                        | 0.09831                       | 0.05                                       |
| 44          | 47        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 45          | 46        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.14547                        | 0.14747                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 47          | 48        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.05024                        | 0.10293                       | 0.05                                       |
| 47          | 49        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 49          | 50        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 50          | 51        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 52          | 53        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.06699                        | 0.13725                       | 0.05                                       |
| 53          | 54        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.04187                        | 0.08578                       | 0.05                                       |
| 54          | 55        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 54          | 57        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.11724                        | 0.24018                       | 0.05                                       |
| 55          | 56        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 57          | 58        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 57          | 60        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.25122                        | 0.51467                       | 0.05                                       |
| 58          | 59        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12122                        | 0.12289                       | 0.05                                       |
| 60          | 61        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.18423                        | 0.37743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 60          | 62        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2775                         | 0.13221                       | 0.05                                       |
| 62          | 63        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.19425                        | 0.09255                       | 0.05                                       |
| 63          | 64        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.3885                         | 0.1851                        | 0.05                                       |
| 64          | 65        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.47175                        | 0.22476                       | 0.05                                       |
| 65          | 66        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.36075                        | 0.17188                       | 0.05                                       |
| 67          | 68        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09698                        | 0.09831                       | 0.05                                       |
| 67          | 72        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 67          | 97        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 68          | 69        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13335                        | 0.13518                       | 0.05                                       |
| 69          | 70        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 70          | 71        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13335                        | 0.13518                       | 0.05                                       |
| 72          | 73        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13335                        | 0.13518                       | 0.05                                       |
| 72          | 76        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.06699                        | 0.13725                       | 0.05                                       |
| 73          | 74        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.16971                        | 0.17205                       | 0.05                                       |
| 74          | 75        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.19396                        | 0.19663                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 76          | 77        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13399                        | 0.27449                       | 0.05                                       |
| 76          | 86        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23447                        | 0.48036                       | 0.05                                       |
| 77          | 78        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.0335                         | 0.06862                       | 0.05                                       |
| 78          | 79        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.07537                        | 0.1544                        | 0.05                                       |
| 78          | 80        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15911                        | 0.32596                       | 0.05                                       |
| 80          | 81        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15911                        | 0.32596                       | 0.05                                       |
| 81          | 82        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 81          | 84        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.32731                        | 0.33181                       | 0.05                                       |
| 82          | 83        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 84          | 85        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23033                        | 0.2335                        | 0.05                                       |
| 86          | 87        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.15073                        | 0.3088                        | 0.05                                       |
| 87          | 88        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08486                        | 0.08603                       | 0.05                                       |
| 87          | 89        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 89          | 90        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.1091                         | 0.1106                        | 0.05                                       |
| 89          | 91        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.07537                        | 0.1544                        | 0.05                                       |
| 91          | 92        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.14547                        | 0.14747                       | 0.05                                       |
| 91          | 93        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.07537                        | 0.1544                        | 0.05                                       |
| 93          | 94        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13335                        | 0.13518                       | 0.05                                       |
| 93          | 95        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10049                        | 0.20587                       | 0.05                                       |
| 95          | 96        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09698                        | 0.09831                       | 0.05                                       |
| 97          | 98        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 98          | 99        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.18423                        | 0.37743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 99          | 100       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10049                        | 0.20587                       | 0.05                                       |
| 100         | 450       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.26797                        | 0.54899                       | 0.05                                       |
| 101         | 102       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.1091                         | 0.1106                        | 0.05                                       |
| 101         | 105       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.09211                        | 0.18871                       | 0.05                                       |
| 102         | 103       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 103         | 104       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.33943                        | 0.3441                        | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 105         | 106       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.1091                         | 0.1106                        | 0.05                                       |
| 105         | 108       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10886                        | 0.22303                       | 0.05                                       |
| 106         | 107       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.27882                        | 0.28265                       | 0.05                                       |
| 108         | 109       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2182                         | 0.22121                       | 0.05                                       |
| 108         | 300       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.33496                        | 0.68623                       | 0.05                                       |
| 109         | 110       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.14547                        | 0.14747                       | 0.05                                       |
| 110         | 111       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.27882                        | 0.28265                       | 0.05                                       |
| 110         | 112       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.06061                        | 0.06145                       | 0.05                                       |
| 112         | 113       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.25457                        | 0.25808                       | 0.05                                       |
| 113         | 114       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.15759                        | 0.15976                       | 0.05                                       |
| 135         | 35        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12561                        | 0.25734                       | 0.05                                       |
| 149         | 1         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13399                        | 0.27449                       | 0.05                                       |
| 152         | 52        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.13399                        | 0.27449                       | 0.05                                       |
| 160         | 67        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.11724                        | 0.24018                       | 0.05                                       |
| 197         | 101       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.08374                        | 0.17156                       | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 152       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 135       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 60          | 160       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 61          | 610       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 97          | 197       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 250         | 251       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 450         | 451       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 54          | 94        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 151         | 300       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 300         | 350       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 150         | 149       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.001                          | 0.008                         | 0.05                                       |
| 83          | 883       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
| 88          | 888       | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |
|  | ximum<br>issible<br>rrent<br>5.u.] |
|--|------------------------------------|
| 90 890 $\{\Psi_C \setminus \Psi_{SW}\}$ 0 0.001 0.05 |                                    |
| 92 892 $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$ 0 0.001 0.05         |                                    |
| 33 149 $\Psi_{SW}$ 0 0.001 0.05                      |                                    |
| 25 44 $\Psi_{SW}$ 0 0.001 0.05                       |                                    |

## 7.2 Input data for distribution systems used in section 5.2

### 7.2.1 Test system S5

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                   | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Cost<br>coefficient<br>for load<br>shedding<br>[\$/MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1000  | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   | 0  | 0  |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1  | 0.06   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 1200   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.12                                       | 0.08   | 1200   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.06                                       | 0.03   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.2  | 0.1  | 900  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.2  | 0.1  |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 1100   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.045                                      | 0.03   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.06                                       | 0.035  |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.06                                       | 0.035  | 1100   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.12                                       | 0.08   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.06                                       | 0.01   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 950  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 17    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$                |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 1150   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 18    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.9. Bus data: test system S5

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain    | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Cost<br>coefficient<br>for load<br>shedding<br>[\$/MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|--------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 19    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 950  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 20    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 21    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 1100   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 22    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.09                                       | 0.05   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 23    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.42                                       | 0.2  | 1100   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 24    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.42                                       | 0.2  |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 25    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.06                                       | 0.025  |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 26    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.06                                       | 0.025  | 900  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 27    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 1200   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 28    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.12                                       | 0.07   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 29    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.2  | 0.6  | 900  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 30    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.15                                       | 0.07   | 950  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 31    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.21                                       | 0.1  | 1050   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 32    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{SHED}$ |   | 0.06                                       | 0.04   | 1100   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.10. Branch data: test system S5

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1000        | 1         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.05753                        | 0.02932                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.3076                         | 0.15667                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.22836                        | 0.1163                        | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23778                        | 0.1211                        | 0.05                                       |
| 4           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.51099                        | 0.44112                       | 0.05                                       |
| 6           | 7         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.44386                        | 0.14668                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain   | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 7           | 8         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.64264                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.65138                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 9           | 10        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12266                        | 0.04056                       | 0.05                                       |
| 10          | 11        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.2336                         | 0.07724                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 12        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.91592                        | 0.72063                       | 0.05                                       |
| 12          | 13        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.33792                        | 0.4448                        | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.36874                        | 0.32818                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 15        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.46564                        | 0.34004                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.80424                        | 1.07378                       | 0.05                                       |
| 16          | 17        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.45671                        | 0.35813                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 18        | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \Psi_{SW}\}$ | 0.10232                        | 0.09764                       | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.93851                        | 0.84567                       | 0.05                                       |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.2555                         | 0.29849                       | 0.05                                       |
| 20          | 21        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.4423                         | 0.58481                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 22        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.28152                        | 0.19236                       | 0.05                                       |
| 22          | 23        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.56028                        | 0.44243                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \Psi_{SW}\}$ | 0.55904                        | 0.43743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 26        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.17732                        | 0.09028                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 27        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.66074                        | 0.58256                       | 0.05                                       |
| 27          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.50176                        | 0.43712                       | 0.05                                       |
| 28          | 29        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.31664                        | 0.16128                       | 0.05                                       |
| 29          | 30        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.60795                        | 0.60084                       | 0.05                                       |
| 30          | 31        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.19373                        | 0.2258                        | 0.05                                       |
| 31          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.21276                        | 0.33081                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 20        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 17          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 24          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |

## 7.2.2 Test system S6

| Bus # | Set(s) to which<br>bus pertain  | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active<br>load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load<br>[MW] | (Fixed)<br>active<br>power<br>generation<br>[MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Upper<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] | Upper<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] |
|-------|---------------------------------|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
|       | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF},$ |   |   |   |  |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 1000  | $\Omega_{ROOT}$                 | 1.05  | 0   | 0   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.03  | 0.018   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.027   | 0.012   | 0.09   | -0.018  | -0.018  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.036   | 0.024   | 0.089  | -0.018  | -0.018  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.018   | 0.009   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.018   | 0.006   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.06  | 0.03  | 0.058  | -0.012  | -0.012  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.06  | 0.03  | 0.062  | -0.013  | -0.013  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.018   | 0.006   | 0.138  | -0.028  | -0.028  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.018   | 0.006   | 0.068  | -0.014  | -0.014  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.0135  | 0.009   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.018   | 0.0105  | 0.088  | -0.018  | -0.018  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.018   | 0.0105  | 0.065  | -0.013  | -0.013  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.036   | 0.024   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.018   | 0.003   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.018   | 0.006   | 0.075  | -0.015  | -0.015  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.018   | 0.006   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 17    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                 |   | 0.027   | 0.012   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 18    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.027   | 0.012   | 0.1  | -0.02   | -0.02   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 19    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$  |   | 0.027   | 0.012   | 0.069  | -0.014  | -0.014  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.11. Bus data: test system S6

| Bus # | Set(s) to which<br>bus pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active<br>load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load<br>[MW] | (Fixed)<br>active<br>power<br>generation<br>[MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Upper<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] | Upper<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] |
|-------|--------------------------------|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| 20    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.027   | 0.012   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 21    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.027   | 0.012   | 0.168  | -0.034  | -0.034  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 22    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.027   | 0.015   | 0.146  | -0.03   | -0.03   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 23    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.126   | 0.06  | 0.123  | -0.025  | -0.025  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 24    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.126   | 0.06  |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 25    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.018   | 0.0075  | 0.153  | -0.031  | -0.031  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 26    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.018   | 0.0075  |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 27    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                |   | 0.018   | 0.006   |  |   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 28    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.036   | 0.021   | 0.126  | -0.026  | -0.026  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 29    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.06  | 0.18  | 0.085  | -0.017  | -0.017  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 30    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.045   | 0.021   | 0.094  | -0.019  | -0.019  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 31    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.063   | 0.03  | 0.089  | -0.018  | -0.018  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 32    | $\Omega_{PCTE}, \Omega_{CURT}$ |   | 0.018   | 0.012   | 0.114  | -0.023  | -0.023  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.12. Branch data: test system S6

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1000        | 1         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.05753                        | 0.02932                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.3076                         | 0.15667                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.22836                        | 0.1163                        | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23778                        | 0.1211                        | 0.05                                       |
| 4           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.51099                        | 0.44112                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 6         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.1168                         | 0.38608                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain   | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 6           | 7         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.44386                        | 0.14668                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 8         | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.64264                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \Psi_{SW}\}$ | 0.65138                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 9           | 10        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12266                        | 0.04056                       | 0.05                                       |
| 10          | 11        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.2336                         | 0.07724                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 12        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.91592                        | 0.72063                       | 0.05                                       |
| 12          | 13        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.33792                        | 0.4448                        | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 14        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.36874                        | 0.32818                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 15        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.46564                        | 0.34004                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.80424                        | 1.07378                       | 0.05                                       |
| 16          | 17        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.45671                        | 0.35813                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 18        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.10232                        | 0.09764                       | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.93851                        | 0.84567                       | 0.05                                       |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.2555                         | 0.29849                       | 0.05                                       |
| 20          | 21        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.4423                         | 0.58481                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 22        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.28152                        | 0.19236                       | 0.05                                       |
| 22          | 23        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.56028                        | 0.44243                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.55904                        | 0.43743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 25        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.12666                        | 0.06451                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 26        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.17732                        | 0.09028                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 27        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.66074                        | 0.58256                       | 0.05                                       |
| 27          | 28        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.50176                        | 0.43712                       | 0.05                                       |
| 28          | 29        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$         | 0.31664                        | 0.16128                       | 0.05                                       |
| 29          | 30        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.60795                        | 0.60084                       | 0.05                                       |
| 30          | 31        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.19373                        | 0.2258                        | 0.05                                       |
| 31          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 0.21276                        | 0.33081                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 20        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                      | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |

| 1121 $\Psi_{SW}$ 1.247851.247850.051732 $\Psi_{SW}$ 0.311960.311960.05 | FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which<br>branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|--|-------------|-----------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 50   | 11          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       |  |
|  | 17          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |
| 24 28 $\Psi_{SW}$ 0.31196 0.05   | 24          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                       | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |

## 7.2.3 Test system S7

| Bus<br># | Set(s)<br>to<br>which<br>bus<br>pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active<br>load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load<br>[MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>active<br>power<br>generation<br>[MW] | Upper<br>bound for<br>active<br>power<br>generation<br>[MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Upper<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Variable<br>generation<br>costs<br>[\$/MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] | Upper<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] |
|----------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
|          | $\Omega_{SLACK}$ ,                      |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
|          | $\Omega_{REF}$ ,                        |   | _   | _   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1000     | $\Omega_{ROOT}$                         | 1.025                                       | 0   | 0   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.11  | 0.066   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.099   | 0.044   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.132   | 0.088   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.033   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.022   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.22  | 0.11  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|          | $\Omega_{PCTE}$ ,                       |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 7        | $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$                        |   | 0.22  | 0.11  | 0   | 0.5   | 0   | 0.1643  | 110  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.022   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9        | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.022   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.0495  | 0.033   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.0385  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.0385  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.132   | 0.088   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|          | $\Omega_{PCTE}$ ,                       |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 14       | $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$                        |   | 0.066   | 0.011   | 0   | 0.3   | 0   | 0.0986  | 118  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|          | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.022   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.022   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.13. Bus data: test system S7

| Bus<br># | Set(s)<br>to<br>which<br>bus<br>pertain | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active<br>load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load<br>[MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>active<br>power<br>generation<br>[MW] | Upper<br>bound for<br>active<br>power<br>generation<br>[MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Upper<br>bound for<br>reactive<br>power<br>generation<br>[MVAr] | Variable<br>generation<br>costs<br>[\$/MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] | Upper<br>bound<br>for<br>voltage<br>angle<br>[°] |
|----------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
|          | $\Omega_{PCTE}$ ,                       |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 17       | $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$                        |   | 0.099   | 0.044   | 0   | 0.3   | 0   | 0.0986  | 118  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 18       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.099   | 0.044   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 19       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.099   | 0.044   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 20       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.099   | 0.044   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 21       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.099   | 0.044   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 22       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.099   | 0.055   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 23       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.462   | 0.22  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 24       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.462   | 0.22  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 25       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.0275  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 26       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.0275  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 27       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.022   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 28       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.132   | 0.077   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|          | $\Omega_{PCTE}$ ,                       |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 29       | $\Omega_{CTRPQ}$                        |   | 0.22  | 0.66  | 0   | 0.3   | 0   | 0.0986  | 145  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 30       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.165   | 0.077   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 31       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.231   | 0.11  |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 32       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                         |   | 0.066   | 0.044   |   |   |   |   |  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.14. Branch data: test system S7

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1000        | 1         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.05753                        | 0.02932                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.3076                         | 0.15667                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.22836                        | 0.1163                        | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23778                        | 0.1211                        | 0.05                                       |
| 4           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.51099                        | 0.44112                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 6         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.1168                         | 0.38608                       | 0.05                                       |
| 6           | 7         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.44386                        | 0.14668                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 8         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.64264                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.65138                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 9           | 10        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12266                        | 0.04056                       | 0.05                                       |
| 10          | 11        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2336                         | 0.07724                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 12        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.91592                        | 0.72063                       | 0.05                                       |
| 12          | 13        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.33792                        | 0.4448                        | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 14        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.36874                        | 0.32818                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 15        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.46564                        | 0.34004                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.80424                        | 1.07378                       | 0.05                                       |
| 16          | 17        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.45671                        | 0.35813                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 18        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10232                        | 0.09764                       | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.93851                        | 0.84567                       | 0.05                                       |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2555                         | 0.29849                       | 0.05                                       |
| 20          | 21        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.4423                         | 0.58481                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 22        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.28152                        | 0.19236                       | 0.05                                       |
| 22          | 23        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.56028                        | 0.44243                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.55904                        | 0.43743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 25        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12666                        | 0.06451                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 26        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.17732                        | 0.09028                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 27        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.66074                        | 0.58256                       | 0.05                                       |
| 27          | 28        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.50176                        | 0.43712                       | 0.05                                       |
| 28          | 29        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.31664                        | 0.16128                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 29          | 30        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.60795                        | 0.60084                       | 0.05                                       |
| 30          | 31        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.19373                        | 0.2258                        | 0.05                                       |
| 31          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.21276                        | 0.33081                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 20        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 17          | 32        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |
| 24          | 28        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |

## 7.2.4 Test system S8

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                   | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Annualized<br>cost of<br>candidate<br>capacitor<br>[\$] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| 1000  | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   |  |  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.125                                      | 0.075  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.15                                       | 0.1  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.0375                                       |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.025  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.25                                       | 0.125  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.25                                       | 0.125  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.025  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.025  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.05625                                    | 0.0375                                       |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.04375                                      |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.04375                                      |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.15                                       | 0.1  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.0125                                       |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.025  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.025  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 17    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 18    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 19    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 20    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 21    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.15. Bus data: test system S8

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                   | Reference<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Annualized<br>cost of<br>candidate<br>capacitor<br>[\$] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|---|--|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| 22    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1125                                     | 0.0625                                       |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 23    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.525                                      | 0.25   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 24    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.525                                      | 0.25   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 25    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.03125                                      |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 26    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.03125                                      |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 27    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.025  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 28    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.15                                       | 0.0875                                       |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 29    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.25                                       | 0.75   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 30    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.1875                                     | 0.0875                                       |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 31    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.2625                                     | 0.125  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 32    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   | 0.075                                      | 0.05   |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2000  | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ | 1   |  |  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 200   | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               |   |  |  |   | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 805   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}, \Omega_{CAP}$                 |   | 0  | -0.2   | 9000  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 811   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}, \Omega_{CAP}$                 |   | 0  | -0.2   | 9000  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 831   | $\Omega_{ZCTE}, \Omega_{CAP}$                 |   | 0  | -0.2   | 9000  | 0.95   | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.16. Branch data: test system S8

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain                      | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] | Annualized<br>cost of<br>candidate<br>facility [\$] |
|-------------|-----------|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|---|
| 1000        | 1         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.05753                        | 0.02932                       | 0.05                                       |   |
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.3076                         | 0.15667                       | 0.04                                       |   |
| 2           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.22836                        | 0.1163                        | 0.04                                       |   |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.23778                        | 0.1211                        | 0.04                                       |   |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain                        | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] | Annualized<br>cost of<br>candidate<br>facility [\$] |
|-------------|-----------|---|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|---|
| 4           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$   | 0.51099                        | 0.44112                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 5           | 6         | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$   | 0.1168                         | 0.38608                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 6           | 7         | $\Psi_{SW}$   | 0.44386                        | 0.14668                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 7           | 8         | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.64264                        | 0.4617                        | 0.035                                      |   |
| 8           | 9         | $\Psi_{SW}$   | 0.65138                        | 0.4617                        | 0.035                                      |   |
| 9           | 10        | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$   | 0.12266                        | 0.04056                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 10          | 11        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.2336                         | 0.07724                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 11          | 12        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.91592                        | 0.72063                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 12          | 13        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.33792                        | 0.4448                        | 0.03                                       |   |
| 13          | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$   | 0.36874                        | 0.32818                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 14          | 15        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.46564                        | 0.34004                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 15          | 16        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.80424                        | 1.07378                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 16          | 17        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.45671                        | 0.35813                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 1           | 18        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.10232                        | 0.09764                       | 0.04                                       |   |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.93851                        | 0.84567                       | 0.04                                       |   |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.2555                         | 0.29849                       | 0.04                                       |   |
| 20          | 21        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.4423                         | 0.58481                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 2           | 22        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.28152                        | 0.19236                       | 0.04                                       |   |
| 22          | 23        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.56028                        | 0.44243                       | 0.04                                       |   |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.55904                        | 0.43743                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 5           | 25        | $\Psi_{SW}$   | 0.12666                        | 0.06451                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 25          | 26        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.17732                        | 0.09028                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 26          | 27        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.66074                        | 0.58256                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 27          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$   | 0.50176                        | 0.43712                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 28          | 29        | $\{\Psi_{C} \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$ | 0.31664                        | 0.16128                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 29          | 30        | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$   | 0.60795                        | 0.60084                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 30          | 31        | $\{\Psi_C \setminus \{\Psi_{SW} \cup \Psi_{CD}\}\}$   | 0.19373                        | 0.2258                        | 0.03                                       |   |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] | Annualized<br>cost of<br>candidate<br>facility [\$] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|---|
| 31          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.21276                        | 0.33081                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 7           | 20        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 8           | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 11          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 17          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.03                                       |   |
| 24          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.035                                      |   |
| 2000        | 200       | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.05292                        | 0.03226                       | 0.05                                       | 48000   |
| 200         | 13        | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.36593                        | 0.30952                       | 0.04                                       | 7800  |
| 200         | 15        | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.33778                        | 0.28571                       | 0.04                                       | 7200  |
| 13          | 8         | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.42223                        | 0.35713                       | 0.04                                       | 9000  |
| 9           | 21        | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.54748                        | 0.4742                        | 0.035                                      | 8400  |
| 15          | 26        | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.56297                        | 0.47618                       | 0.04                                       | 12000   |
| 15          | 30        | $\Psi_{CD}$                    | 0.60125                        | 0.52856                       | 0.05                                       | 11000   |
| 5           | 805       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |   |
| 11          | 811       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |   |
| 31          | 831       | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0                              | 0.001                         | 0.05                                       |   |

## 7.2.5 Test system S9

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain                   | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1000  | $\Omega_{SLACK}, \Omega_{REF}, \Omega_{ROOT}$ |  |  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 1     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.1  | 0.06   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 2     | $\Omega_{ICTE}$                               | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 3     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.12                                       | 0.08   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 4     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.03   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 5     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 6     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.2  | 0.1  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 7     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.2  | 0.1  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 8     | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 9     | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 10    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.045                                      | 0.03   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 11    | $\Omega_{ICTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.035  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 12    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.035  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 13    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.12                                       | 0.08   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 14    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.01   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 15    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 16    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 17    | $\Omega_{ICTE}$                               | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 18    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$                               | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 19    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$                               | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

#### Table 7.17. Bus data: test system S9

| Bus # | Set(s) to which bus pertain | Nominal<br>value of<br>active load<br>[MW] | Nominal<br>value of<br>reactive<br>load [MW] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>magnitude<br>[p.u.] | Lower<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] | Upper<br>bound for<br>voltage<br>angle [°] |
|-------|-----------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 20    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             | 0.09                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             | 0.09                                       | 0.05   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 23    | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             | 0.42                                       | 0.2  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 24    | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             | 0.42                                       | 0.2  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             | 0.06                                       | 0.025  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 26    | $\Omega_{ICTE}$             | 0.06                                       | 0.025  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
| 27    | $\Omega_{ICTE}$             | 0.06                                       | 0.02   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             | 0.12                                       | 0.07   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{ICTE}$             | 0.2  | 0.6  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{ICTE}$             | 0.15                                       | 0.07   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{ZCTE}$             | 0.21                                       | 0.1  | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |
|       | $\Omega_{PCTE}$             | 0.06                                       | 0.04   | 0.8  | 1.05   | -5   | 5  |

Table 7.18. Branch data: test system S9

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1000        | 1         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.05753                        | 0.02932                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 2         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.3076                         | 0.15667                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 3         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.22836                        | 0.1163                        | 0.05                                       |
| 3           | 4         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.23778                        | 0.1211                        | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 4           | 5         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.51099                        | 0.44112                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 6         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.1168                         | 0.38608                       | 0.05                                       |
| 6           | 7         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.44386                        | 0.14668                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 8         | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.64264                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 9         | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.65138                        | 0.4617                        | 0.05                                       |
| 9           | 10        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.12266                        | 0.04056                       | 0.05                                       |
| 10          | 11        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2336                         | 0.07724                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 12        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.91592                        | 0.72063                       | 0.05                                       |
| 12          | 13        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.33792                        | 0.4448                        | 0.05                                       |
| 13          | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.36874                        | 0.32818                       | 0.05                                       |
| 14          | 15        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.46564                        | 0.34004                       | 0.05                                       |
| 15          | 16        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.80424                        | 1.07378                       | 0.05                                       |
| 16          | 17        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.45671                        | 0.35813                       | 0.05                                       |
| 1           | 18        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.10232                        | 0.09764                       | 0.05                                       |
| 18          | 19        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.93851                        | 0.84567                       | 0.05                                       |
| 19          | 20        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.2555                         | 0.29849                       | 0.05                                       |
| 20          | 21        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.4423                         | 0.58481                       | 0.05                                       |
| 2           | 22        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.28152                        | 0.19236                       | 0.05                                       |
| 22          | 23        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.56028                        | 0.44243                       | 0.05                                       |
| 23          | 24        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.55904                        | 0.43743                       | 0.05                                       |
| 5           | 25        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.12666                        | 0.06451                       | 0.05                                       |
| 25          | 26        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.17732                        | 0.09028                       | 0.05                                       |
| 26          | 27        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.66074                        | 0.58256                       | 0.05                                       |
| 27          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.50176                        | 0.43712                       | 0.05                                       |
| 28          | 29        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.31664                        | 0.16128                       | 0.05                                       |

| FROM<br>bus | TO<br>bus | Set(s) to which branch pertain | Branch<br>resistance<br>[p.u.] | Branch<br>reactance<br>[p.u.] | Maximum<br>admissible<br>current<br>[p.u.] |
|-------------|-----------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| 29          | 30        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.60795                        | 0.60084                       | 0.05                                       |
| 30          | 31        | $\{\Psi_C   \Psi_{SW}\}$       | 0.19373                        | 0.2258                        | 0.05                                       |
| 31          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.21276                        | 0.33081                       | 0.05                                       |
| 7           | 20        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 8           | 14        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 11          | 21        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 1.24785                        | 1.24785                       | 0.05                                       |
| 17          | 32        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |
| 24          | 28        | $\Psi_{SW}$                    | 0.31196                        | 0.31196                       | 0.05                                       |

## 8 APPENDIX B: AN ALTERNATIVE MILP REFORMULATION OF THE ACOPF IN DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS

In the course of the research activities that led to the present dissertation, an alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems has been investigated. This alternative formulation has been abandoned at early stages of the research activities due to its performance being inferior, with respect to accuracy and computational requirements, to the formulation presented in sections 4.1 to 4.3 of this document. For the sake of didactics, the alternative formulation is thoroughly presented below. The nomenclature used for the presentation of the alternative formulation is consistent with that used in chapter 4, except when otherwise noted.

# 8.1 Main differences with respect to the formulation presented in chapter 4

The alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems is similar to that presented in chapter 4 in various aspects, but differs from it mainly with respect to the construction of piecewise-linear approximations of non-linear, non-convex functions. Each and every segment of the piecewise-linear approximations of non-linear functions in the formulation presented in chapter 4 is obtained by affine combinations of its vertices. In the alternative formulation, each segment of the piecewise-linear approximation consists of a *constant value*, which is deemed as representative of the values that the non-linear function assumes between the vertices of a partition of its domain. Figure 8.1 provides the reader with insight about the differences among the piecewise-linearization with affine combinations of the vertices and the piecewise-linearization considering constant values of the non-linear function. From this figure, it is clear that the piecewise piecewise-linearization obtained by considering constant values of the function within a partition of its domain has the approximate shape of a *staircase*. For that reason, we will refer to this as a *staircase-shaped piecewise-linear approximation* – or simply *SSPL approximation*.



Figure 8.1: Non-linear function  $f_{NL}(x)$  (a); piecewise-linearization f(x) via affine combination of vertices (b); piecewise-linearization f(x) considering constant values within the vertices of a partition of the domain (SSPL approximation) (c).

Figure 8.1 also points to a difference in the nomenclature used for defining the piecewise-linear approximations. In previous chapters of this dissertation we referred to the values  $\hat{f}^i - \hat{f}^1$  to  $\hat{f}^8$  in part (b) of Figure 8.1 – as *evaluated values* (the vertices of the linear segments). The SSPL approximation defined in this chapter no longer makes use of affine combinations of *evaluated values*, but rather employs *constant values* through which the function  $f_{NL}(x)$  is represented within the partition of the domain. These constant values will be referred to as *representative values* in this chapter, and will be denoted by  $\tilde{f}^j$ . As indicated in Figure 8.1, the representative value  $\tilde{f}^j$  is a single value chosen within the interval  $f_{NL}(\hat{x}^j) \leq \tilde{f}^j \leq f_{NL}(\hat{x}^{j+1})$ , where  $f_{NL}(x)$  is the non-linear function to be approximated.

This difference in the approximation of the non-linear functions requires the rewriting of several constraints of the ACOPF problem presented in chapter 4 – notably, those that relate power injections at buses with the correspondent current injections. By inspection of the constraints presented in this chapter 8, the reader will notice that the approximation of non-linear functions by *constant values* allows that the very nature of the functions being approximated changes: some of the functions for which piecewise-linear approximation were used in chapter 4 (such as  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$ ) need no longer to be approximated, as the (linear) constraints in which these functions were used are rewritten with a different arrangement of the decision variables. Particularly, as shown in section 8.2, the alternative MILP reformulation requires only the approximation of non-linear functions of a single decision variable in order to obtain the current injections demanded by *constant-power loads* and *generators*.

### 8.2 Mathematical formulation

Analogously to section 4.2, this section begins with the presentation of the constraints employed for modeling the behavior of the network and enforcing operating limits (subsection 8.2.1). For the constraints that do not demand any modification with respect to the formulation presented in chapter 4, we will simply make direct reference to the associated equations of section 4.2.1.

Objective functions for selected distribution system operations and expansion planning applications will be dealt with in subsection 8.2.2.

## 8.2.1 Constraints: modeling electrical behavior and enforcing operating limits

#### 8.2.1.1 Kirchhoff's Laws

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints presented in subsection 4.2.1.1. Thus, those constraints may be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.1.2 Operating limits

#### 8.2.1.2.1 Bounds on bus voltage magnitudes

The magnitude of the voltage at bus k,  $V_k$ , is a non-linear, non-convex function of the real and imaginary components of the voltage at this bus. Analogously, the squared value of the bus voltage magnitude,  $V_k^2$ , is also a non-linear, non-convex function of the associated real and imaginary components. As  $V_k$  may only assume nonnegative values, and as the square function is strictly monotonically increasing in the non-negative domain, bounding  $V_k^2$  within the interval  $(\underline{V}_k)^2 \leq V_k \leq (\overline{V}_k)^2$  equals bounding  $V_k$  within the interval  $\underline{V}_k \leq V_k \leq \overline{V}_k$ . This fact will be explored in the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems – as the term  $V_k^2$ will be used for the formulation of other constraints of the alternative MILP formulation, a choice is made to use a constraint analogous to  $(\underline{V}_k)^2 \le V_k \le (\overline{V}_k)^2$  to bound the bus voltage magnitudes.

In order to do that, the non-linear term  $V_k^2$  will be substituted by an auxiliary continuous decision variable,  $\mu_k$ . It is thus needed to approximate the following non-linear function:

$$\mu_k = (V_k^{re})^2 + (V_k^{im})^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(357)

It is clear that the non-linear function presented above is separable, and may be rewritten as:

$$\mu_k = \mu_k^{re} + \mu_k^{im} \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(358)

$$\mu_k^{re} = (V_k^{re})^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(359)

$$\mu_k^{im} = \left(V_k^{im}\right)^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(360)

where:

 $\mu_k^{re}$ ;  $\mu_k^{im}$  Auxiliary, continuous decision variables.

Thus, instead of approximating the non-linear function of two decision variables expressed by equation (357), it is only required to separately approximate each of the functions of a single variable expressed by equations (359) and (360), and to summate them to obtain  $\mu_k$ , as indicated in equation (358).

The approximation of the function  $\mu_k^{re} = (V_k^{re})^2$  will be dealt with first. A SSPL approximation will be used for the reformulation of this function. The first step for using a SSPL approximation is to discover *which partition of the domain* (which partition comprised within two consecutive vertices that correspond to *evaluation points*) corresponds to the value of the decision variable  $V_k^{re}$  (the argument of the non-linear function) at a given solution. In order to do that, the following constraints are employed:

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \lambda_k^{re,r} \cdot \hat{V}_k^{re,r} = V_k^{re} \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(361)

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \lambda_k^{re,r} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(362)

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} x_k^r = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(363)

$$\lambda_k^{re,1} \le x_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(364)

$$\lambda_k^{re,r} \le x_k^{r-1} + x_k^r \qquad , \forall \ r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{1\}\}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(365)

where:

 $\begin{aligned} \Gamma^{re} & \text{Set of indices for evaluation points } \hat{V}_k^{re,r} \text{ and associated variables;} \\ \hat{V}_k^{re,r} & \text{Evaluation points of real component of voltage at bus } k; \\ \lambda_k^{re,r} & \text{Weights used for expressing the value of the argument } V_k^{re} \text{ as an affine combination of the evaluation points;} \\ x_k^r & \text{Auxiliary binary decision variable.} \end{aligned}$ 

The reader will notice that the previous equations are very similar to those used in chapter 4 to ensure that the set of weights  $\lambda_k^{r,s}$  corresponds to a SOS2. Whenever these equations are enforced, it is possible to use the information of the auxiliary variables  $x_k^r$  to check in which partition of the domain the variable  $V_k^{re}$  is:

If x<sub>k</sub><sup>r</sup> = 1, with r ∈ {Γ<sup>re</sup> \ {|Γ<sup>re</sup>|}}, V<sub>k</sub><sup>re</sup> is within the partition defined by the interval V<sub>k</sub><sup>re,r</sup> ≤ V<sub>k</sub><sup>re</sup> ≤ V<sub>k</sub><sup>re,r+1</sup>;
If x<sub>k</sub><sup>|Γ<sup>re</sup>|</sup> = 1, then V<sub>k</sub><sup>re</sup> = V<sub>k</sub><sup>re,|Γ<sup>re</sup>|.
</sup>

By using the information of the partition of the domain within which the argument  $V_k^{re}$  is located, it is possible to employ the following disjunctive constraints to construct a SSPL approximation of the function  $\mu_k^{re} = (V_k^{re})^2$ :

$$M_{k}^{r,re,l} \cdot (1 - x_{k}^{r}) \leq \mu_{k}^{re} - \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re,r} \leq M_{k}^{r,re,u} \cdot (1 - x_{k}^{r}) , \forall r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), |\Gamma^{re}|\}\}, k \in \{\Omega_{B} \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(366)  
$$M_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), re,l} \cdot \left(1 - x_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1)} - x_{k}^{|\Gamma^{re}|}\right) \leq \mu_{k}^{re} - \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re,(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1)} \leq M_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), re,u} \cdot \left(1 - x_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1)} - x_{k}^{|\Gamma^{re}|}\right) , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{B} \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(367)

where:

 $M_k^{r,re,l}$ ;  $M_k^{r,re,u}$ 

Disjunctive constants. These parameters need to be defined only for  $r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{|\Gamma^{re}|\}\};$ 

 $\tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re,r}$  Representative values of the function  $\mu_{k}^{re} = (V_{k}^{re})^{2}$ , deemed as representative of the interval  $(\hat{V}_{k}^{re,r})^{2} \leq \mu_{k}^{re} \leq (\hat{V}_{k}^{re,r+1})^{2}$ . These parameters need to be defined only for  $r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{|\Gamma^{re}|\}\}$ .

Due to the specific characteristics of the distribution system, the decision variable  $V_k^{re}$  may only assume positive values for all buses in the system. Keeping this in mind, it is possible to define the following *tight* values for the disjunctive constants employed above:

$$M_k^{r,re,l} = \tilde{\mu}_k^{re,1} - \tilde{\mu}_k^{re,r} \qquad , \forall \ r \in \left\{ \Gamma^{re} \setminus \{ |\Gamma^{re}| \} \right\}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(368)

$$M_k^{r,re,u} = \tilde{\mu}_k^{re,(|\Gamma^{re}|-1)} - \tilde{\mu}_k^{re,r} \quad , \forall \ r \in \left\{ \Gamma^{re} \setminus \{|\Gamma^{re}|\} \right\}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(369)

Now, the approximation of the function  $\mu_k^{im} = (V_k^{im})^2$  is dealt with. A SSPL approximation will also be constructed for this function. Analogously to what has been done above, it is first necessary to discover *which partition of the domain* corresponds to the value of the decision variable  $V_k^{im}$  (the argument of the non-linear function). This is done with help of the following constraints:

$$\sum_{s\in\Gamma^{im}}\lambda_k^{im,s}\cdot\hat{V}_k^{im,s} = V_k^{im} \qquad , \forall \ k\in\{\Omega_B\setminus\Omega_{REF}\}$$
(370)

$$\sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \lambda_k^{im,s} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(371)

$$\sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} y_k^s = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(372)

$$\lambda_k^{im,1} \le y_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(373)

$$\lambda_k^{im,s} \le y_k^{s-1} + y_k^s \qquad , \forall s \in \left\{ \Gamma^{im} \setminus \{1\} \right\}, k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(374)

where:

$$\Gamma^{im}$$
 Set of indices for *evaluation points*  $\hat{V}_{k}^{im,s}$  and associated variables;

- $\hat{V}_k^{im,s}$  Evaluation points of imaginary component of voltage at bus k;
- $\lambda_k^{im,s}$  Weights for expressing the value of the *argument*  $V_k^{im}$  as an affine combination of the *evaluation points*;

#### $y_k^s$ Auxiliary, binary decision variable.

It is possible to use the information of the auxiliary variables  $y_k^s$  to check in which partition of the domain the variable  $V_k^{im}$  is:

If y<sub>k</sub><sup>s</sup> = 1, with s ∈ {Γ<sup>im</sup> \ {|Γ<sup>im</sup>|}}, V<sub>k</sub><sup>im</sup> is within the partition defined by the interval Ŷ<sub>k</sub><sup>im,s</sup> ≤ V<sub>k</sub><sup>im</sup> ≤ Ŷ<sub>k</sub><sup>im,s+1</sup>;
If y<sub>k</sub><sup>|Γ<sup>im</sup>|</sup> = 1, then V<sub>k</sub><sup>im</sup> = Ŷ<sub>k</sub><sup>im,|Γ<sup>im</sup>|</sup>.

With this information at hand, it is possible to use the following disjunctive constraints to construct a SSPL approximation of the function  $\mu_k^{im} = (V_k^{im})^2$ :

$$M_{k}^{s,im,l} \cdot (1 - y_{k}^{s}) \leq \mu_{k}^{im} - \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,s} \leq M_{k}^{s,im,u} \cdot (1 - y_{k}^{s})$$

$$,\forall s \in \left\{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \left\{\left(\left|\Gamma^{im}\right| - 1\right), \left|\Gamma^{im}\right|\right\}\right\}, k \in \{\Omega_{B} \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(375)
$$M_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1),im,l} \cdot \left(1 - y_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)} - y_{k}^{|\Gamma^{im}|}\right) \leq \mu_{k}^{im} - \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)} \leq M_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1),im,u} \cdot \left(1 - y_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)} - y_{k}^{|\Gamma^{im}|}\right) \quad \forall k \in \{\Omega_{B} \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(376)

where:

 $M_k^{s,im,l}$ ;  $M_k^{s,im,u}$ 

Disjunctive constants. These parameters need to be defined only for  $s \in \{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \{|\Gamma^{im}|\}\};$ 

 $\tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,s} \qquad Representative \ values \ of \ the \ function \ \mu_{k}^{im} = (V_{k}^{im})^{2}, \ deemed \ as$ representative of the interval  $(\hat{V}_{k}^{im,s})^{2} \leq \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,s} \leq (\hat{V}_{k}^{im,s+1})^{2}.$  These
parameters need to be defined only for  $s \in \{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \{|\Gamma^{im}|\}\}.$ 

Keeping in mind that the decision variable  $V_k^{im}$  may assume negative and positive values (and also the value zero), but that the function  $(V_k^{im})^2$  may only assume non-negative values, it is possible to define the following *tight* values for the disjunctive constants:

$$M_{k}^{s,im,l} = 0 - \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,s} \qquad , \forall s \in \left\{ \Gamma^{im} \setminus \left\{ \left| \Gamma^{im} \right| \right\} \right\}, k \in \left\{ \Omega_{B} \setminus \Omega_{REF} \right\}$$
(377)

$$M_{k}^{s,im,u} = \max\left\{\tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,1}, \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)}\right\} - \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,s}$$
$$, \forall s \in \left\{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \left\{|\Gamma^{im}|\right\}\right\}, k \in \left\{\Omega_{B} \setminus \Omega_{REF}\right\}$$
(378)

Finally, having obtained the values of  $\mu_k^{re}$  and  $\mu_k^{im}$ , bounds on bus voltage magnitudes can be enforced with help of the following set of constraints:

$$(\underline{V}_k)^2 \le \mu_k^{re} + \mu_k^{im} \le (\overline{V}_k)^2 \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_B \setminus \Omega_{REF}\}$$
(379)

#### 8.2.1.2.2 Bounds on the magnitude of branch currents

In section 4.2.1.4.2 of chapter 4, bounds on branch current magnitudes have been indirectly enforced by imposing bounds on the square root of the sum of the squared values of the decision variables  $\iota_{km}^{re}$  and  $\iota_{km}^{im}$ , which have been defined so as to be at least as high as  $I_{km}^{re}$  and  $I_{km}^{im}$ , respectively.

For the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems, it is possible to defined an auxiliary decision variable,  $\varpi_{km}$ , such that  $\varpi_{km} = (\iota_{km})^2$ . As  $\iota_{km}$  may only assume non-negative values, and as the square function is strictly monotonically increasing in the non-negative domain, ensuring that  $\varpi_{km} \leq (\overline{I}_{km})^2$  is the same as ensuring that  $\iota_{km} \leq \overline{I}_{km}$ .

Also, it is possible to define  $\varpi_{km}$  as:

$$\varpi_{km} = \varpi_{km}^{re} + \varpi_{km}^{lm} , \forall km \in \Psi_C$$
(380)

$$\varpi_{km}^{re} = (\iota_{km}^{re})^2 \qquad , \forall km \in \Psi_C$$
(381)

$$\varpi_{km}^{im} = (\iota_{km}^{im})^2 \qquad , \forall km \in \Psi_C \tag{382}$$

It is clear that both  $\varpi_{km}^{re}$  and  $\varpi_{km}^{im}$  are non-linear functions of a single variable. Thus, for the alternative formulation presented in this chapter, it is possible to construct SSPL approximations of these two functions, by writing equations analogous to those indicated in section 8.2.1.2.1. For the sake of conciseness, these equations, which are entirely analogous to the ones employed in section 8.2.1.2.1 to approximate  $\mu_k^{re} = (V_k^{re})^2$  and  $\mu_k^{im} = (V_k^{im})^2$ , will not be presented here.

After obtaining the SSPL approximations of  $\varpi_{km}^{re}$  and  $\varpi_{km}^{im}$ , the branch current magnitude is bounded with help of the following set of constraints:

$$\varpi_{km}^{re} + \varpi_{km}^{im} \le (\overline{l}_{km})^2 \qquad , \forall km \in \Psi_C$$
(383)

#### 8.2.1.2.3 Bounds on active and reactive power output of generators

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints presented in subsection 4.2.1.4.3, which may thus be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.1.3 Loads

#### 8.2.1.3.1 Constant-power loads that cannot be shed

Before presenting the linearized equations to be incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems, it is worth presenting an alternative formulation of the corresponding non-linear equations, in order to provide the reader with a better comprehension of the reformulation procedure employed here. In the following, equations (9) and (10) of section 2.2.1.3.1 are rewritten, with the substitution of the auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  by the corresponding functions of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ :

$$I_{d,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(384)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} = \left(V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(385)

By substituting  $(V_k^{re})^2 = \mu_k^{re}$  and  $(V_k^{im})^2 = \mu_k^{im}$  in the above equations and manipulating the expressions algebraically, we obtain the following, still non-linear, equations:

$$I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re} + I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im} = V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(386)

$$I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re} + I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im} = V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{PCTE}$$
(387)

The products of decision variables  $f_{d,k}^{re,re} = I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{re,im} = I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{im,re} = I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$  and  $f_{d,k}^{im,im} = I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$  need to be reformulated before the equations above can be incorporated into the alternative MILP formulation. For the reformulation of these products, we may take advantage of the fact that the variables  $\mu_k^{re}$  and  $\mu_k^{im}$ assume only values in a discretized values, which correspond to the *representative values* of the SSPL approximation described in section 8.2.1.2.1. Thus, the products above may be interpreted as products of a continuous variable (the current component) by a constant (the value assumed by  $\mu_k^{re}$  or  $\mu_k^{im}$ ). However, it is important to notice that this may assume different *representative values* (the *representative values* of the SSPL approximation for  $\mu_k^{re}$  and  $\mu_k^{im}$ , as described in section 8.2.1.2.1), depending on the partition of the domain in which the variables  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$  are. Clearly, we have once again disjunctions (partitions) of the decision space.

Thus, the following set of disjunctive constraints may be used to define  $f_{d,k}^{re,re}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{re,im}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{im,re}$  and  $f_{d,k}^{im,im}$ :

$$\begin{split} B_{k}^{r,re,re,l} \cdot (1 - x_{k}^{r}) &\leq f_{d,k}^{re,re} - I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re,r} \leq B_{k}^{r,re,re,u} \cdot (1 - x_{k}^{r}) \\ &, \forall r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), |\Gamma^{re}|\}\}, k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \end{split}$$
(388)  
$$B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), re, re, l} \cdot \left(1 - x_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1)} - x_{k}^{|\Gamma^{re}|}\right) \leq f_{d,k}^{re,re} - I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re,(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1)} \leq \\ B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), re, re, u} \cdot \left(1 - x_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1)} - x_{k}^{|\Gamma^{re}|}\right) , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \end{cases}$$
(389)  
$$B_{k}^{s, re, im, l} \cdot (1 - y_{k}^{s}) \leq f_{d,k}^{re, im} - I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im, s} \leq B_{k}^{s, re, im, u} \cdot (1 - y_{k}^{s}) \\ &, \forall s \in \{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \{(|\Gamma^{im}| - 1), |\Gamma^{im}|\}\}, k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \end{cases}$$
(390)  
$$B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}| - 1), re, im, l} \cdot \left(1 - y_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}| - 1)} - y_{k}^{|\Gamma^{im}|}\right) \leq f_{d,k}^{re, im} - I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im, (|\Gamma^{im}| - 1)} \leq \\ B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}| - 1), re, im, l} \cdot \left(1 - y_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}| - 1)} - y_{k}^{|\Gamma^{im}|}\right) , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \end{cases}$$
(391)  
$$B_{k}^{r, im, re, l} \cdot (1 - x_{k}^{r}) \leq f_{d,k}^{im, re} - I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re, r} \leq B_{k}^{r, im, re, u} \cdot (1 - x_{k}^{r}) \\ &, \forall r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{(|\Gamma^{re}| - 1), |\Gamma^{re}|\}\}, k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \end{cases}$$
(392)

$$\begin{split} B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}|-1),im,re,l} \cdot \left(1 - x_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}|-1)} - x_{k}^{|\Gamma^{re}|}\right) &\leq f_{d,k}^{im,re} - I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{re,(|\Gamma^{re}|-1)} \leq \\ B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}|-1),im,re,u} \cdot \left(1 - x_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{re}|-1)} - x_{k}^{|\Gamma^{re}|}\right) \quad ,\forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \quad (393) \\ B_{k}^{s,im,im,l} \cdot (1 - y_{k}^{s}) &\leq f_{d,k}^{im,im} - I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \tilde{\mu}_{k}^{im,s} \leq B_{k}^{s,re,im,u} \cdot (1 - y_{k}^{s}) \\ ,\forall \ s \in \left\{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \left\{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1), |\Gamma^{im}|\right\}\right\}, \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \quad (394) \\ B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1),im,im,l} \cdot \left(1 - y_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)} - y_{k}^{|\Gamma^{im}|}\right) \leq f_{d,k}^{im,im} - I_{d,k}^{im,(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)} \leq \\ B_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1),im,im,l} \cdot \left(1 - y_{k}^{(|\Gamma^{im}|-1)} - y_{k}^{|\Gamma^{im}|}\right) , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\} \quad (395) \end{split}$$

where:

 $B_{k}^{r,re,re,l}; B_{k}^{r,re,re,u}; B_{k}^{s,re,im,l}; B_{k}^{s,re,im,u}; B_{k}^{r,im,re,l}; B_{k}^{r,im,re,u}; B_{k}^{s,im,im,l}; B_{k}^{s,im,im,u}$ Disjunctive constants.  $f_{d,k}^{re,re}; f_{d,k}^{re,im}; f_{d,k}^{im,re}; f_{d,k}^{im,im}$ Auxiliary, continuous variables used for approximating the products

$$f_{d,k}^{re,re} = I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}, \qquad f_{d,k}^{re,im} = I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}, \qquad f_{d,k}^{im,re} = I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re} \qquad \text{and} \qquad f_{d,k}^{im,im} = I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}.$$

The definition of the disjunctive constants introduced above will not be dealt with here, for the sake of conciseness. Having defined the auxiliary variables  $f_{d,k}^{re,re}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{re,im}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{im,re}$ , and  $f_{d,k}^{im,im}$ , the constraints through which the current injections from constant-power loads that cannot be shed are related to the associated power injections may be written as:

$$f_{d,k}^{re,re} + f_{d,k}^{re,im} = V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(396)

$$f_{d,k}^{im,re} + f_{d,k}^{im,im} = V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \setminus \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(397)

#### 8.2.1.3.2 Constant-power loads that can be shed

As indicated in chapter 4, load shedding is considered to be a discrete decision: the load at bus k will be considered to be either energized ( $\rho_k = 0$ ) or de-energized  $(\rho_k = 1)$ . When the load at bus k is shed, it is obviously necessary to ensure that the current components  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  will be forcefully set to zero.

In order to do that and still be able to use constraints similar to these employed in section 8.2.1.3.1 in the alternative formulation, the auxiliary variables  $I_{l,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{l,k}^{im}$ , which correspond to the values of the load currents "before load shedding is taken into account", are defined. Also, disjunctive constraints that ensure that  $I_{d,k}^{re} = I_{l,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im} = I_{l,k}^{im}$  when  $\rho_k = 0$ , but that  $I_{d,k}^{re} = 0$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im} = 0$  when  $\rho_k = 1$ , will be introduced to the alternative MILP formulation. Before doing that it is necessary to deal with the definition of the auxiliary variables  $I_{l,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{l,k}^{im}$ .

In order to define the auxiliary variables  $I_{l,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{l,k}^{im}$ , a procedure similar to that employed in section 8.2.1.3.1 for the definition of  $I_{d,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im}$  will be used. That is to say, for each  $k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$ , the auxiliary variables  $f_{l,k}^{re,re}$ ,  $f_{l,k}^{re,im}$ ,  $f_{l,k}^{im,re}$  and  $f_{l,k}^{im,im}$  will be defined. These auxiliary decision variables will be used to approximate the products  $f_{l,k}^{re,re} = I_{l,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_{k}^{re}$ ,  $f_{l,k}^{re,im} = I_{l,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_{k}^{im}$ ,  $f_{l,k}^{im,re} = I_{l,k}^{im,im} + \mu_{k}^{re}$  and  $f_{l,k}^{im,im} =$  $I_{l,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_{k}^{im}$  – analogously to what has been done for the products  $f_{d,k}^{re,re} = I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_{k}^{re}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{re,im} = I_{d,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_{k}^{im}$ ,  $f_{d,k}^{im,re} = I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_{k}^{re}$  and  $f_{d,k}^{im,im} = I_{d,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_{k}^{im}$  in equations (388) to (395). The constraints used for the definition of the auxiliary variables  $f_{l,k}^{re,re}$ ,  $f_{l,k}^{re,im}$ ,  $f_{l,k}^{im,re}$  and  $f_{l,k}^{im,im}$  will not be written here, as they are absolutely analogous to equations (388) to (395).

Then, the following constraints will implicitly relate the values of  $I_{l,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{l,k}^{im}$  to the power injections of constant-power loads that can be shed:

$$f_{l,k}^{re,re} + f_{l,k}^{re,im} = V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(398)

$$f_{l,k}^{im,re} + f_{l,k}^{im,im} = V_k^{im} \cdot d_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot d_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(399)

where:

 $I_{l,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ .

 $f_{l,k}^{re,re}; f_{l,k}^{re,im}; f_{l,k}^{im,re}; f_{l,k}^{im,im}$ Auxiliary, continuous decision variables used for approximating the products  $f_{l,k}^{re,re} = I_{l,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}, \quad f_{l,k}^{re,im} = I_{l,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}, \quad f_{l,k}^{im,re} = I_{l,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re} \quad \text{and} \quad f_{l,k}^{im,im} = I_{l,k}^{im,im}$ 

Finally, the following disjunctive constraints ensure that  $I_{d,k}^{re} = I_{l,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im} = I_{l,k}^{im}$  when  $\rho_k = 0$ , but that  $I_{d,k}^{re} = 0$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im} = 0$  when  $\rho_k = 1$ :

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{re} - I_{l,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$
$$, \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(400)

$$M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,3} \cdot (1-\rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,4} \cdot (1-\rho_{k})$$
$$,\forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(401)

$$M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,1} \cdot \rho_{k} \leq I_{d,k}^{im} - I_{l,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,2} \cdot \rho_{k}$$

$$,\forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$

$$M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,3} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k}) \leq I_{d,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,4} \cdot (1 - \rho_{k})$$

$$(402)$$

$$\forall k \in \{\Omega_{PCTE} \cap \Omega_{SHED}\}$$
(403)

where:

$$\begin{split} & M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,1} ; M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,2} ; M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,3} ; M_{k}^{D,re,PCTE,4} \\ & M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,1} ; M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,2} ; M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,3} ; M_{k}^{D,im,PCTE,4} \end{split}$$

Disjunctive constants, whose definition will not be dealt with here, for the sake of conciseness.

#### 8.2.1.3.3 Constant-current loads that cannot be shed

The investigation of the alternative MILP reformulation presented in this chapter has been interrupted before the treatment of loads of the constant-current type, and therefore no definition of constraints for obtaining the current injections corresponding to these types of loads is currently available.

#### 8.2.1.3.4 Constant-current loads that can be shed

The investigation of the alternative MILP reformulation presented in this chapter has been interrupted before the treatment of loads of the constant-current type, and therefore no definition of constraints for obtaining the current injections corresponding to these types of loads is currently available.

#### 8.2.1.3.5 Constant-impedance loads that cannot be shed

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints presented in subsection 4.2.1.3.5, which may thus be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.1.3.6 Constant-impedance loads that can be shed

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints presented in subsection 4.2.1.3.6, which may thus be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.1.4 Generation

#### 8.2.1.4.1 Non-curtailable generators with no control over the active power output

Similarly to what has been done for loads, the first step for obtaining the constraints that will be used in the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF is to rewrite the original, non-linear equations that relate the current injections with the active and reactive power output of generators, substituting the auxiliary variables  $\xi_k$  and  $\zeta_k$  by the corresponding functions of  $V_k^{re}$  and  $V_k^{im}$ :

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(404)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \left(V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(405)

By substituting  $(V_k^{re})^2 = \mu_k^{re}$  and  $(V_k^{im})^2 = \mu_k^{im}$  in the above equations and manipulating the expressions algebraically, we obtain the following, still non-linear equations:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re} + I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im} = V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(406)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re} + I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im} = V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(407)

The products of decision variables  $f_{g,k}^{re,re} = I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$ ,  $f_{g,k}^{re,im} = I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ ,  $f_{g,k}^{im,re} = I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$  and  $f_{g,k}^{im,im} = I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$  need to be reformulated before the previous equations can be incorporated into the alternative MILP formulation. For the reformulation of these products, it suffices to define constraints analogous to those represented by equations (388) to (395). Then, the following constraints will implicitly relate the values of  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  to the power injections of constant-power loads that can be shed:

$$f_{g,k}^{re,re} + f_{g,k}^{re,im} = V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(408)

$$f_{g,k}^{im,re} + f_{g,k}^{im,im} = V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q \qquad , \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(409)

The reader will notice that equations (408) and (409) are still nonlinear, due to the products of decision variables<sup>14</sup>  $V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q$  and  $V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q$ . In order to reformulate these equations and allow their incorporation to the alternative MILP formulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems, these products are substituted respectively by the auxiliary decision variables  $m'_k^{Q,re}$  and  $m'_k^{Q,im}$ , and the equations (408) and (409) are reformulated as:

$$f_{g,k}^{re,re} + f_{g,k}^{re,im} = V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + m'_k^{Q,re} \qquad , \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(410)

$$f_{g,k}^{im,re} + f_{g,k}^{im,im} = V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - m'_k^{Q,im} \qquad , \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(411)

where:

$$\begin{split} f_{g,k}^{re,re} &: f_{g,k}^{re,im} :: f_{g,k}^{im,re} :: f_{g,k}^{im,im} \\ & \text{Auxiliary, continuous variables used for approximating the products} \\ & f_{g,k}^{re,re} = I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}, \qquad f_{g,k}^{re,im} = I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}, \qquad f_{g,k}^{im,re} = I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re} \qquad \text{and} \\ & f_{g,k}^{im,im} = I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}. \\ & m_k^{Q,re} \qquad \text{Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product } V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q; \\ & m_k^{Q,im} \qquad \text{Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product } V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q. \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> It is important to keep in mind that, for generators in  $\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \setminus \Omega_{CURT}\}$ , the active power output is a parameter of the optimization problem.

Finally, it is necessary to define the linear constraints through which the auxiliary variables  $m'_{k}^{Q,re}$  and  $m'_{k}^{Q,im}$  are bounded within the convex envelopes (more precisely, McCormick's envelopes) of the original products:

$$m_{k}^{\prime Q, re} \geq V_{k}^{im, min} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{im, min} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(412)

$$m_{k}^{\prime Q, re} \geq V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(413)$$

$$m_{k}^{\prime Q,re} \leq V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$m_{k}^{\prime Q,re} \leq V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(414)$$

$$m'_{k}^{Q,im} \ge V_{k}^{re,min} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{re,min} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(416)

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \geq V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(417)$$

$$m_{k}^{\prime Q,im} \leq V_{k}^{re,min} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{re,min} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$

$$(418)$$

$$m_{k}^{Q,im} \leq V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot g_{k}^{Q} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} - V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{Q} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{GEN}$$
(419)

#### 8.2.1.4.2 Curtailable generators with no control over the active power output

As indicated in chapter 4, generation curtailment is considered to be a discrete decision in the proposed formulation: the generator at bus k will be considered to be either energized ( $\tau_k = 0$ ) or de-energized ( $\tau_k = 1$ ). Therefore, it is necessary to ensure that, if the generator connected to bus k is curtailed,  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  will be forcefully set to zero.

In order to do that, the auxiliary variables  $I_{p,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{p,k}^{im}$ , which correspond to the values of the generator currents "before generation curtailment is taken into account", are defined. Also, disjunctive constraints that ensure that  $I_{g,k}^{re} = I_{p,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im} = I_{p,k}^{im}$  when  $\tau_k = 0$ , but that  $I_{g,k}^{re} = 0$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im} = 0$  when  $\tau_k = 1$ , will be incorporated to the alternative MILP formulation. Before doing that, it is necessary to deal with the definition of the auxiliary variables  $I_{p,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{p,k}^{im}$ .

This is done by defining the auxiliary variables  $f_{p,k}^{re,re}$ ,  $f_{p,k}^{re,im}$ ,  $f_{p,k}^{im,re}$  and  $f_{p,k}^{im,im}$ , and utilizing equations analogous to (388) to (395) to ensure that these auxiliary

variables correspond, respectively, to approximations of the products  $I_{p,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$ ,  $I_{p,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ ,  $I_{p,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$  and  $I_{p,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ . After that, the following equations are defined:

$$f_{p,k}^{re,re} + f_{p,k}^{re,im} = V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^p + m'_k^{Q,re} \qquad , \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(420)

$$f_{p,k}^{im,re} + f_{p,k}^{im,im} = V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - m'_k^{Q,im} \qquad , \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(421)

where the auxiliary decision variables  $m'_{k}^{Q,re}$  and  $m'_{k}^{Q,im}$  have already been defined – see equations (412) to (419).

Finally, the following disjunctive constraints ensure that  $I_{g,k}^{re} = I_{p,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im} = I_{p,k}^{im}$  when  $\tau_k = 0$ , but that  $I_{g,k}^{re} = 0$  and  $I_{d,k}^{im} = 0$  when  $\tau_k = 1$ :

$$M_{k}^{G,re,1} \cdot \tau_{k} \leq I_{g,k}^{re} - I_{p,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{G,re,2} \cdot \tau_{k}$$

$$, \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$

$$(422)$$

$$M_{k}^{G,re,3} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k}) \leq I_{g,k}^{re} \leq M_{k}^{G,re,4} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k})$$
$$, \forall k \in \{\Omega_{CTRO} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$$
(423)

$$M_{k}^{G,im,1} \cdot \tau_{k} \leq I_{g,k}^{im} - I_{p,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{G,im,2} \cdot \tau_{k}$$
$$, \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\right\}$$
(424)

$$M_{k}^{G,im,3} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k}) \leq I_{g,k}^{im} \leq M_{k}^{G,im,4} \cdot (1 - \tau_{k})$$
  
,  $\forall k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{CURT}\}$  (425)

where:

$$M_{k}^{G,re,1}; M_{k}^{G,re,2}; M_{k}^{G,re,3}; M_{k}^{G,re,4}; M_{k}^{G,im,1}; M_{k}^{G,im,2}; M_{k}^{G,im,3}; M_{k}^{G,im,4}$$

Disjunctive constants, whose definition will not be dealt with here, for the sake of conciseness.

#### 8.2.1.4.3 Generators with control over the active power output

In order to model these generators, it suffices to define the auxiliary variables  $f_{g,k}^{re,re}$ ,  $f_{g,k}^{re,im}$ ,  $f_{g,k}^{im,re}$  and  $f_{g,k}^{im,im}$  and use equations analogous to (388) to (395) to ensure that these auxiliary variables correspond, respectively, to approximations of the

products  $I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$ ,  $I_{g,k}^{re} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ ,  $I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im} \cdot \mu_k^{im}$ . After that, the following equations are defined:

$$f_{g,k}^{re,re} + f_{g,k}^{re,im} = m'_k^{P,re} + m'_k^{Q,re} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(426)

$$f_{g,k}^{im,re} + f_{g,k}^{im,im} = m'_{k}^{P,im} - m'_{k}^{Q,im} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(427)

where the auxiliary variables  $m'_{k}^{Q,re}$  and  $m'_{k}^{Q,im}$  have already been defined, and:  $m'_{k}^{P,re}$  Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product  $V_{k}^{re} \cdot g_{k}^{P}$ ;  $m'_{k}^{P,im}$  Auxiliary decision variable for modeling the product  $V_{k}^{im} \cdot g_{k}^{P}$ .

The following constraints are then employed to bound the auxiliary decision variables  $m'_k^{P,re}$  and  $m'_k^{P,im}$  within the convex envelope of the original products:

$$m_{k}^{\prime P, re} \geq V_{k}^{re, min} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{re, min} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(428)

$$m_{k}^{\prime P,re} \geq V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(429)  
$$m_{k}^{\prime P,re} \leq V_{k}^{re,min} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{re,min} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad \forall k \in \Omega_{creac}$$
(430)

$$m_{k}^{P,re} \leq V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad (430)$$

$$m_{k}^{P,re} \leq V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{re} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{re,max} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad (431)$$

$$m_{k}^{\prime P,im} \geq V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ} \qquad (432)$$
$$m_{k}^{\prime P,im} \geq V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ} \qquad (433)$$

$$m_{k}^{P,im} \leq V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad (133)$$
$$m_{k}^{P,im} \leq V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{im,min} \cdot \overline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad (434)$$

$$m_{k}^{\prime P,im} \leq V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot g_{k}^{P} + V_{k}^{im} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} - V_{k}^{im,max} \cdot \underline{g}_{k}^{P} \qquad , \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(435)

#### 8.2.1.5 Voltage reference buses

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints (145)-(148) presented in subsection 4.2.1.5, which may thus be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.1.6 Slack buses and buses without generators and/or loads

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints presented in subsection 4.2.1.6, which may thus be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.1.7 Radiality constraints

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the constraints presented in subsection 4.2.1.7, which may thus be promptly incorporated to the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

## 8.2.2 Objective functions for selected distribution system operations and expansion planning applications

#### 8.2.2.1 Minimization of costs of load shedding

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the objective function presented in subsection 4.2.2.1, which can therefore be promptly employed with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.2.2 Minimization of curtailment of non-controllable generation

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the objective function presented in subsection 4.2.2.2, which can therefore be promptly employed with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.2.3 *Minimization of generation costs*

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the objective function presented in subsection 4.2.2.3, which can therefore be promptly employed with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.2.4 Minimization of costs of power imports

If the magnitudes of the bus voltages at the buses at the interface with the external system,  $V_k^{ref} \forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$ , are parameters of the optimization problem, equation (199) of section 4.2.2.4 may be promptly used in the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF for distribution systems.

However, if this voltage magnitude is to be considered as a decision variable, it would be required to obtain approximations of the decision variables  $V_k$ ,  $\forall k \in \Omega_{ITFC}$ , before modeling the objective function related to the minimization of the costs of power imports. The reader will notice that, in the alternative MILP formulation presented in this chapter, the bounds on bus voltage magnitudes were enforced via the constraint  $(\underline{V}_k)^2 \leq \mu_k^{re} + \mu_k^{im} \leq (\overline{V}_k)^2$  – see equation (358) of section 8.2.1.2.1. Thus, no approximation of the bus voltage magnitudes,  $V_k$ , has yet been defined for the alternative MILP reformulation. The investigation of the alternative MILP reformulation presented in this chapter has been interrupted before any approximations for  $V_k$  were defined, and therefore no formulation of the objective function of minimization of the costs of power imports has been defined for the case in which the voltage magnitude at the interfaces with the external system are considered as decision variables.

#### 8.2.2.5 Minimization of costs of ohmic losses

In section 4.2.2.5, two alternative formulations of the objective function for the problem of minimization of ohmic losses have been defined.

The formulation of the objective function corresponding to equation (215) may be modified for its use with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, as follows:

• It is necessary to recall that the investigation of the alternative MILP reformulation presented in this chapter has been interrupted before constant-current loads had been treated. Therefore, it is necessary to remove the terms that relate to loads of the constant-current type from equation (215).

Also, the formulation of the objective function corresponding to equation (225) may be modified for its use within the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF, as follows:

- First, it is necessary to remove the terms that relate to loads of the constant-current type from equation (225), as the investigation of the alternative MILP reformulation presented in this chapter has been interrupted before these loads had been treated.
- Then, it is necessary to recall the approximation  $\mu_k = \mu_k^{re} + \mu_k^{im} \approx V_k^2$ has already been defined for the alternative MILP reformulation presented in this chapter. This term, which is employed in several equations of section 4.2.2.5, will be readily available when the alternative MILP reformulation is used.

#### 8.2.2.6 Minimization of costs of reinforcements to the distribution system

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the objective function presented in subsection 4.2.2.6, which can therefore be promptly employed with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.2.7 Minimization of costs of capacitor placement

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the objective function presented in subsection 4.2.2.7, which can therefore be promptly employed with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

#### 8.2.2.8 Minimization of circuit switching costs

The alternative formulation requires no modifications to the objective function presented in subsection 4.2.2.8, which can therefore be promptly employed with the alternative MILP reformulation of the ACOPF in distribution systems.

## 9 APPENDIX C: PIECEWISE-LINEAR APPROXIMATIONS OF GENERATOR CURRENTS

Constraints used for obtaining the currents injected into the network by generators have been presented in section 4.2.1.2 of this dissertation. The constraints presented in section 4.2.1.2 employ McCormick's envelopes to reformulate (and approximate) products of two decision variables. As discussed in previous sections of this dissertation, it is not possible to achieve an arbitrarily accurate approximation of bilinear products when McCormick's envelopes are used – the approximation accuracy is implicitly dictated by the bounds on the continuous variables that form the products.

However, it is possible to employ alternative formulations of the constraints used for obtaining the generator currents, completely eliminating the need to employ McCormick's envelopes. This alternative formulation is based in constructing piecewise-linear approximations of the generator currents with help of SOS2. This allows the user to arbitrate the accuracy of the approximation of the generation currents while determining the number and location of the *evaluation points*. However, it should be kept in mind that enhancing the accuracy of the piecewise-linear approximation by augmenting the number of evaluation points may result in additional computational requirements.

The alternative formulation for the constraints used for obtaining the generator currents are presented in the following sections. Section 9.1 deals with the generators with no control over their active power output, whereas generators that do control their active power output are treated in section 9.2.

# 9.1 Generators with no control over the active power output

The formulation presented below is based on treating the generator currents  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  as functions of three decision variables – i.e.,  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$  – and then constructing piecewise-linear approximations of these

functions with help of SOS2. In order to better understand why the currents of generators with no control over the active power output may be treated as functions of three (continuous) decision variables, the reader may refer to the following equations, which correspond to equations (75) and (76) of section 4.2.1.2.1:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\} \quad (436)$$
$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \left(V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad \forall k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\} \quad (437)$$

It is clear that, as  $g_k^p$  is a fixed value (a parameter) for generators that do not control their active power output,  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  are functions of three decision variables. In the following, the constraints used for constructing piecewise-linear approximations of these functions are presented:

$$\sum_{r\in\Gamma^{re}}\sum_{s\in\Gamma^{im}}\sum_{i\in\Gamma^{Q}}\varrho_{k}^{r,s,i}\cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{I}_{g,k}^{re,r,s,i}\\ \hat{I}_{g,k}^{im,r,s,i} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{g,k}^{re}\\ I_{g,k}^{im} \end{bmatrix} , \forall k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\}$$
(438)

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \sum_{i \in T^Q} \varrho_k^{r,s,i} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{V}_k^{re,r} \\ \widehat{V}_k^{im,s} \\ \widehat{g}_k^{Q,i} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V_k^{re} \\ V_k^{im} \\ g_k^Q \end{bmatrix} \quad , \forall \ k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\}$$
(439)

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \sum_{i \in T^Q} \varrho_k^{r,s,i} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{ \Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT} \right\}$$
(440)

where:

$$T^Q$$
Set of indices for evaluation points  $\hat{g}_k^{Q,i}$  and associated variables; $\hat{g}_k^{Q,i}$ Evaluation points of reactive power output of generator at bus k; $\hat{f}_{g,k}^{re,r,s,i}$ Evaluated values of function  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$ , for bus k; $\hat{f}_{g,k}^{im,r,s,i}$ Evaluated values of function  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$ , for bus k; $\hat{q}_k^{r,s,i}$ Evaluated values of function  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q)$ , for bus k; $\varrho_k^{r,s,i}$ Weights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex, non-linear functions.

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} d1_k^r = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(441)

$$\varrho_k^{1,s,i} \le d1_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ s \in \Gamma^{im}, i \in \mathbb{T}^Q, k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(442)

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,i} \le d1_k^{r-1} + d1_k^r$$

$$\forall r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{1\}\}, s \in \Gamma^{tm}, i \in T^Q, k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\}$$
(443)

$$\sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} d2_k^s = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(444)

$$\varrho_k^{r,1,i} \le d2_k^1 \qquad , \forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, i \in \mathcal{T}^Q, k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\} \qquad (445)$$

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,i} \le d2_k^{s-1} + d2_k^s$$

$$\forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \left\{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \{1\}\right\}, i \in \mathbb{T}^Q, k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(446)

$$\sum_{i \in \mathbf{T}^Q} d\mathbf{3}_k^i = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \left\{ \Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT} \right\}$$
(447)

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,1} \le d3_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, k \in \left\{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\right\}$$
(448)

$$\begin{aligned} \varrho_k^{r,s,i} &\leq d3_k^{i-1} + d3_k^i \\ ,\forall \ r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, i \in \{T^Q \setminus \{1\}\}, k \in \{\Omega_{CTRQ} \cap \Omega_{NCRT}\} \end{aligned}$$
(449)

where  $d1_k^r$ ,  $d2_k^s$  and  $d3_k^i$  are auxiliary binary decision variables.

## 9.2 Generators with control over the active power output

The formulation presented below is based on treating the generator currents  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  as functions of four decision variables – i.e.,  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$  – and then constructing piecewise-linear approximations of these functions with help of SOS2. In order to better understand why the currents of generators with control over the active power output are treated as functions of four decision variables, the reader may refer to the following equations, which correspond to equations (98) and (99) of section 4.2.1.2.3:

$$I_{g,k}^{re} = \left(V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^P + V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(450)

$$I_{g,k}^{im} = \left(V_k^{im} \cdot g_k^P - V_k^{re} \cdot g_k^Q\right) / \left(V_k^{re^2} + V_k^{im^2}\right) \quad \forall k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(451)

In the following, the constraints used for constructing piecewise-linear approximations of  $I_{g,k}^{re}$  and  $I_{g,k}^{im}$  are presented:

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \sum_{i \in T^{Q}} \sum_{j \in T^{P}} \varrho_{k}^{r,s,i,j} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} f_{g,k}^{re,r,s,i,j} \\ \hat{I}_{g,k}^{im,r,s,i,j} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{g,k}^{re} \\ I_{g,k}^{im} \end{bmatrix} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ} \quad (452) \\ & \sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \sum_{i \in T^{Q}} \sum_{j \in T^{P}} \varrho_{k}^{r,s,i,j} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \hat{V}_{k}^{re,r} \\ \hat{V}_{k}^{im,s} \\ \hat{g}_{k}^{Q,i} \\ \hat{g}_{k}^{P,j} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{k}^{re} \\ V_{k}^{im} \\ g_{k}^{Q} \\ g_{k}^{P} \end{bmatrix} \quad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ} \quad (453) \\ & \sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} \sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} \sum_{i \in T^{Q}} \sum_{j \in T^{P}} \varrho_{k}^{r,s,i,j} = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ} \quad (454) \end{split}$$

where:

$$T^P$$
Set of indices for evaluation points  $\hat{g}_k^{P,j}$  and associated variables; $\hat{g}_k^{P,j}$ Evaluation points of active power output of generator at bus k; $\hat{f}_{g,k}^{re,r,s,i,j}$ Evaluated values of function  $I_{g,k}^{re}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$ , for bus k; $\hat{I}_{g,k}^{im,r,s,i,j}$ Evaluated values of function  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$ , for bus k; $\hat{\varrho}_k^{r,s,i,j}$ Evaluated values of function  $I_{g,k}^{im}(V_k^{re}, V_k^{im}, g_k^Q, g_k^P)$ , for bus k; $\rho_k^{r,s,i,j}$ Weights for constructing piecewise-linear approximation of non-convex, non-linear functions.

$$\sum_{r \in \Gamma^{re}} d1_k^r = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(455)

$$\varrho_k^{1,s,i,j} \le d1_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ s \in \Gamma^{im}, i \in \mathbb{T}^Q, j \in \mathbb{T}^P, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(456)

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,i,j} \le d1_k^{r-1} + d1_k^r$$
(157)

$$\forall r \in \{\Gamma^{re} \setminus \{1\}\}, s \in \Gamma^{tm}, i \in \Gamma^{Q}, j \in \Gamma^{P}, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(457)$$

$$\sum_{s \in \Gamma^{im}} d2_k^s = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(458)

$$\varrho_k^{r,1,i,j} \le d2_k^1 \qquad , \forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, i \in \mathbb{T}^Q, j \in \mathbb{T}^P, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(459)$$

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,\iota,j} \le d2_k^{s-1} + d2_k^s$$

$$\forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \left\{\Gamma^{im} \setminus \{1\}\right\}, i \in T^Q, j \in T^P, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(460)$$

$$\sum_{i \in \mathcal{T}^Q} d3_k^i = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(461)

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,1,j} \le d3_k^1 \qquad , \forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, j \in \mathcal{T}^P, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(462)

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,i,j} \le d3_k^{i-1} + d3_k^i$$

$$\forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, i \in \{T^Q \setminus \{1\}\}, j \in T^P, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(463)$$

$$\sum_{j \in \mathbf{T}^P} d\mathbf{4}_k^j = 1 \qquad , \forall \ k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$
(464)

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,i,1} \le d4_k^1 \qquad , \forall \ r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, j \in T^P, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(465)$$

$$\varrho_k^{r,s,i,j} \le d4_k^{j-1} + d4_k^j$$

$$\forall r \in \Gamma^{re}, s \in \Gamma^{im}, i \in \mathbb{T}^{Q}, j \in \{\mathbb{T}^{P} \setminus \{1\}\}, k \in \Omega_{CTRPQ}$$

$$(466)$$

where  $d1_k^r$ ,  $d2_k^s$ ,  $d3_k^i$  and  $d4_k^i$  are auxiliary binary decision variables.